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PREFACE

As in the first volume of this study, this book explores the military strategy and operational developments of the Cold War—the process by which politicians and military officers designed, organized, and resourced military organizations and then deployed those organizations to deter or conduct conflicts within the context of the global antagonism between East and West.

That antagonism unified the entire period from 1945 to 1991, including major conflicts in China, Korea, Indochina, Africa, and the Middle East and more than forty insurgencies around the globe. During this epoch, virtually every military development in the world, even those whose motivations were ostensibly unrelated to the East-West rivalry, interacted with that rivalry at a military level. In Africa, South Asia, and the Middle East, the two sides provided weapons, advisers, training, and in some instances complete military units that had enormous influence. The regional conflicts and civil wars that ensued would have been vastly different, and perhaps impossible, without the intrusion of these outside resources. Even civil disorders and domestic demonstrations influenced and were influenced by the military developments of the Cold War.

For this reason, this volume includes a number of regional issues that, based strictly on their causes, might appear unrelated to the global confrontation. The Arab-Israeli conflicts involved extensive advisory efforts and military weaponry provided by the superpowers, as well as several confrontations between Moscow and Washington. Not only were the India-Pakistan wars intertwined with India’s Cold War confrontations with China, but those wars encouraged nuclear proliferation and influenced Pakistani alliances and Indian attempts at nonalignment. Even the Falklands/Malvinas war, like the Arab-Israeli conflicts, provided a testing ground for weapons such as Exocet missiles and Harrier fighters, with the Cold War antagonists drawing military conclusions from the conduct of this remote struggle. In a few instances, such as Indonesian expansionism, some local operations (i.e., in East Timor) are included to provide context for Indonesia’s Cold War–related conflicts against the Dutch and British. Moreover, Indonesia’s expansionism and political leanings figured significantly in American geopolitical concerns about the wider region.

Similarly, decisions made outside Moscow, Washington, London, Paris, and Beijing all affected the ongoing global rivalry. Cuban troops and Cuban exiles served on opposing sides of several conflicts, and in Angola Havana’s independent foreign policy drove the actions of the great powers. The United States and later India sponsored Tibetan exile forces that fought not only in their homeland but also in Bangladesh. Regional powers such as Israel, Egypt, India, Iran, North Korea, North Vietnam, and South Africa sought superpower aid but never abandoned their own independence, making them significant players rather than simple surrogates.

The purpose of this survey is twofold. First, an operational-level account of military forces and conflicts helps explain the larger developments of the period—whatever a head of state might wish to do, the realities of time, distance, resources, and military culture often constrained and diverted him or her. To ignore the military aspects of this period is to misunderstand what actually happened and why. Second, this entire period of quasi war and limited conflict is a complex case study in the relationship of policy and military force. In this strange period of semi-mobilization and limited war, both civilian and military decision makers made mistakes. Political leaders often intruded into military decisions, taking actions that were legal but ill-advised when those leaders were biased or uninformed. Similarly, senior officers, acting as proconsuls for their governments, made decisions that influenced national policy and strategy.

I do not pretend to contribute to the history of national strategy and diplomacy nor to account for the social experiences of populations. This study addresses such topics only tangentially, as it attempts to provide the context and effects of the central subject of military policy, forces, and campaigns.

With regard to sources, in many instances we now have authoritative information about the non-Western participants in these conflicts. For example, I have attempted to explain the Soviet, North Vietnamese, Libyan, and other opponent side of conflicts, although inevitably there is more information about the Western side. In discussing the events of the 1970s and 1980s, for which security classifications still restrict access to official documents, this volume of necessity relies more on reports by journalists or studies by officer students.

As in the first volume of A Military History of the Cold War, I have chosen to use contemporaneous Western transliterations of Asian and Arabic names, rather than more recent linguistic standards.

I gratefully acknowledge the assistance of my colleagues, including James Willbanks, David Glantz, Joseph Fischer, and especially John Kuehn, in reviewing chapters of the manuscript. I am also indebted to four research institutions: the Maughan Library of Kings College, London, the Ike Skelton Combined Arms Research Library of the Command and General Staff College at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, the Dwight D. Eisenhower Library in Abilene, Kansas, and the UK National Archives in Kew.

Although my experiences as a career army officer, intelligence analyst, and government historian informed my understanding of the Cold War, this book does not represent the official position of any government or agency. All errors are solely my responsibility.




ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS



	ABM
	anti-ballistic missile


	ARVN
	Army of the Republic of [South] Vietnam


	CIA
	Central Intelligence Agency


	CINC
	commander-in-chief (the senior officer of a major military command, esp. U.S.)


	DIA
	Defense Intelligence Agency


	DRV
	Democratic Republic of [North] Vietnam


	EPLF
	Eritrean People’s Liberation Front


	GLCM
	ground-launched cruise missile


	GRU
	Glavnoye Razvedyvatel’noye Upravleniye (Main [Military] Intelligence Directorate of the Soviet General Staff)


	GSFG
	Group of Soviet Forces ([East] Germany)


	ICBM
	intercontinental ballistic missile


	IDF
	Israel Defense Forces


	JCS
	Joint Chiefs of Staff (U.S.)


	KGB
	Komitet Gosudarstvennoy Bezopasnosti (Soviet Committee for State Security)


	LANTCOM
	U.S. Atlantic Command


	MAD
	Mutual Assured [nuclear] Destruction


	MIRV
	multiple independently targetable reentry vehicle


	NATO
	North Atlantic Treaty Organization


	NCO
	noncommissioned officer


	NKPA
	North Korean People’s Army


	PAVN
	People’s Army of [North] Vietnam


	PGMs
	precision-guided munitions


	PLAF
	People’s Liberation Armed Forces, aka Vietcong (Vietnamese Communists)


	RAF
	British Royal Air Force or Red Army Faction


	ROK
	Republic of [South] Korea


	RVNAF
	Republic of [South] Vietnam Armed Forces


	SACEUR
	Supreme Allied [NATO] Commander, Europe


	SADF
	South African Defence Force


	SALT
	Strategic Arms Limitation Talks


	SAM
	surface-to-air missile


	SDI
	Strategic Defense Initiative


	SEAD
	Suppression of Enemy Air Defenses


	SLBM
	submarine-launched ballistic missile


	STRICOM
	U.S. Strike Command


	TNI
	Tentara Nasional Indonesia (Indonesian military)


	TRADOC
	U.S. Army Training and Doctrine Command


	USACGSC
	U.S. Army Command and General Staff College


	USAF
	U.S. Air Force


	USMC
	U.S. Marine Corps


	VNAF
	[South] Vietnamese Air Force


	WMD
	weapons of mass destruction









CHAPTER 1

THE OPPOSING FORCES AT HALFTIME

Eastern Mediterranean, June 8, 1967

USS Liberty was steaming slowly west-southwest, about thirteen nautical miles (twenty-four kilometers) off the coast of Egyptian Sinai. The Liberty was a gray, 455-foot-long cargo ship built during World War II but converted to carry an array of antennae and radio receivers to intercept military and civilian radio signals. The U.S. Navy classified the ship as an auxiliary technical research vessel, or AGTR; the identifier “GTR 5” was painted in white near the bow on both sides.1

The Liberty was there to collect signals intelligence (SIGINT) on the developing situation in the Sinai Peninsula. Although the navy sometimes used warships for such missions, it considered nondescript vessels as more economical and less provocative.2 When the Department of Defense first dispatched the vessel to the region in late May, Egyptian President Gamal Abdul Nasser had already demanded the removal of the United Nations Emergency Force that had served since 1956 as a buffer between Israel and Egypt. With satellites still in their infancy, a floating SIGINT collector was one of the best sources of current information about a developing crisis. The ship had to be close to shore, in a direct line of sight with Egyptian antennae, to intercept very high and ultra high frequency (VHF/UHF) tactical communications.3 On June 7, 1967, Israel responded to Nasser’s threat by attacking its Arab neighbors. USS Liberty was now in the middle of a shooting war. The Joint Staff in Washington sent five different messages directing GTR 5 to move at least one hundred nautical miles from the coastline. However, the same limitations on communications that prompted the ship to be so close to Egypt also meant that it could not receive such orders directly, and attempts by the commander, Sixth Fleet, to relay this message were delayed by practical considerations. At the critical moment, the ship had received Sixth Fleet’s instruction to “take for action” the JCS order, but it had not yet received the original directive.4

Israel had its own communication problems. Early on the morning of June 8, Israeli Air Force (IAF) patrols spotted the Liberty. Although the pilots saw no flag, they noted the letters and numbers painted on the bow and reported that designation to the Israeli Navy liaison officer when they landed. That officer correctly identified the Liberty from the description and passed the information to the Israeli Navy command plotting board, although in doing so he remarked that Liberty might easily be confused with the smaller (275 ft.) Egyptian vessel El Quseir. Several hours later, a duty officer in the Israeli Navy headquarters removed the Liberty data from the command plot because the information was too old to be reliable. Subsequently, beginning at 1:58 P.M. on June 8, the IAF and Israeli Navy repeatedly attacked the Liberty, which suffered severe damage from rockets, bombs, aerial gunfire, and a torpedo. Thirty-four crew members died and 171 were wounded.

Authors have proposed multiple explanations for these attacks, ranging from Israel trying to conceal its planned attack on Syria to a Mossad-CIA conspiracy seeking a pretext for American intervention against the Arab states.5 Survivors of the attack were understandably incredulous of apparent cover-ups by both Washington and Tel Aviv. Israel insisted that its personnel did not see the large American flag hoisted on the ship or recognize the Roman alphabet designation on the bow of a supposedly Egyptian vessel.

There are many suspicious aspects of the entire incident, but the most likely answer is that the Israelis made a horrible mistake. Earlier that day, unexplained explosions behind Israeli lines in the Sinai prompted Israeli Chief of Staff Yitzhak Rabin to conclude, incorrectly, that an Egyptian vessel was shelling the coastline. He demanded that this imaginary ship be located and neutralized, and only expressed concern that Israel might accidentally engage a Soviet vessel.6 Eager to prove itself, the Israeli Navy dispatched motor torpedo boats, which, amazingly, concluded that the freighter Liberty, whose maximum speed was less than twenty-one knots, was moving so fast that it must be a warship. It called on the IAF, which, after hesitating about target identification, attacked. As in other instances of high stress, the participants saw what they expected to see—an enemy vessel—and either did not notice or did not believe evidence to the contrary. With remarkable heroism, the crew of the Liberty kept it afloat, spurned Israeli assistance, and reached Malta. Still protesting its innocence, Tel Aviv eventually paid the United States more than $12 million in damages. The ship’s inspirational captain was awarded the Medal of Honor.

The Liberty affair illustrates a number of often overlooked aspects of the Cold War. First, the naval dimension of the East-West rivalry included innumerable incidents and collisions between adversaries, although only a few such encounters were deadly. Second, the global confrontation between the USSR and the West was interwoven with regional rivalries and conflicts, especially in the Middle East. Third, in the days before satellite telephones and the Internet, even the most effective military services were at the mercy of unreliable communications that often involved vacuum tube technology and erratic radio signals. Fourth, one should note the pervasive presence and importance of intelligence in the conflict. Finally, this incident also underscored the vulnerability of intelligence collectors. Eight months after the Liberty attack, North Korea seized another, smaller SIGINT vessel, USS Pueblo (AGER-2), and in August 1969 Pyongyang shot down an EC-121 airborne intelligence collector.

Ground Forces

At one level, the Cold War was a standoff between two different sets of armed forces. A direct comparison of the assets on each side may be misleading, but it is a useful starting point to understand the balance of power. What follows, therefore, is a survey of various aspects of power during the mid-1960s, beginning with the armed forces and proceeding to command structure and intelligence.

In addition to three active marine corps divisions with their supporting air components, in late 1964 the United States had seventeen active army divisions: two in Korea, one in Hawaii, five in Germany, and nine in the United States.7 Two of the latter would soon merge together and deploy to Vietnam as the 1st Cavalry Division (Airmobile). In addition, the army had a number of separate units prepositioned in critical regions, such as the 173rd Airborne Brigade in Okinawa. The vast majority of soldiers, including both conscripted enlisted personnel and junior officers commissioned from the Reserve Officers’ Training Corps, served only two years on active duty, which meant that units suffered from a frequent turnover of personnel that degraded training and readiness.8 By the mid-1960s, most U.S. armored units in Germany had M-48A3 diesel tanks with 90 mm guns and were in the process of receiving M60s with 105 mm guns. Until this changeover was complete, however, only a handful of M103 heavy tanks with 120 mm main armament could be certain of defeating Soviet heavy armor. The M-113 tracked armored personnel carrier, introduced in 1960, was gradually appearing in mechanized units, but its thin armor protected only against small shell fragments.

In addition to this active force, the United States had one Marine Reserve and thirty-seven National Guard or Army Reserve divisions, plus a host of specialized support and service units, totaling perhaps 1 million ground force reservists. The 1961 partial mobilization over the Berlin Wall had demonstrated that many reserve component units were little more than cadres of leaders with inadequate weaponry. After extensive study, Defense Secretary Robert McNamara concluded that the United States could not afford either the manpower or the equipment to make this reserve force effective, a situation exacerbated by the buildup and deployment of additional divisions to Vietnam. McNamara tried to merge the National Guard and Reserve components of both the army and air force but encountered considerable resistance, especially from supporters of the Guard. In 1967, Congress and the Johnson administration compromised on a plan that sharply reduced the number of reserve component combat divisions in a bid to increase the effectiveness of the remaining elements. The National Guard retained eight such divisions, while the Army Reserve became primarily a support force, with only three separate infantry brigades and thirteen skeletal divisions, the latter dedicated to training draftees in the event of mobilization.9

The five American divisions of the U.S. Seventh Army were not alone in West Germany. By the mid-1960s, the West German Bundeswehr totaled twelve divisions, most of them armored or mechanized. They were joined by the British Army of the Rhine (four divisions), a Belgian corps (two divisions), a Dutch corps (two active divisions and one reserve), and a Canadian brigade group. With a few exceptions such as the British, over the next two decades these national units all acquired the German Leopard I tank, armed with the redoubtable British 105 mm main gun. Overall, NATO planners estimated that they could field twenty-seven divisions on the central front and, including other areas such as Greece and Turkey, would have sixty active and thirty reserve component divisions in case of war.10

Participating armed forces worked diligently to integrate themselves into a coherent defense under NATO leadership. This included not only the command structure and defense plans, but also standardized doctrine, ammunition, spare parts, and communications. In 1966, however, President Charles de Gaulle reasserted French sovereignty by withdrawing his forces from the unified structure of NATO,11 complicating the alliance’s coordination with the II French Corps based in southern Germany. More significantly, the French decision caused a major restructuring that eliminated most of NATO’s operational depth for maneuver and logistical support in the event of a conflict with the Warsaw Pact. Supreme Headquarters, Allied Command Europe, moved from Rocquencourt, near Versailles, to the vicinity of Mons, Belgium. The U.S./NATO logistical structure, constructed at considerable expense inside France, was also abandoned. This shift had the unintended advantage of forcing NATO to rethink its defensive plans.12

While these Western disagreements were aired in public, changes in Soviet and Warsaw Pact structure were more obscure. Intelligence estimates of Soviet strength during the 1960s varied from 140 to 175 divisions. However, each of these divisions was smaller than its Western equivalent and at least one-third of Soviet divisions were skeletons, waiting to be filled with reservists upon mobilization. If anything, such “Category III” divisions were less capable than those in the U.S. reserve components, which trained on a regular basis.13
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NATO/Warsaw Pact in Europe, c. 1965. Map by Erin Greb Cartography.



Still, the Soviets had a formidable capacity in central Europe. The focal point of this capacity was the Group of Soviet Forces, Germany (GSFG), including four field army headquarters, twenty Category I tank or motorized rifle divisions, and an artillery division.14 In the mid-1960s, GSFG ground units were equipped primarily with T-62 tanks, BTR-152 and -60 wheeled armored personnel carriers, and towed artillery pieces. Over the ensuing decade, while the U.S. defense budget was devoted largely to Vietnam, GSFG and other high-priority Soviet commands acquired a new generation of weapons systems, including T-64 tanks, BMP infantry fighting vehicles, 9M14 (NATO designation AT-3 Sagger) anti-tank missiles, fast-moving self-propelled artillery, and an integrated system of sophisticated surface-to-air missiles. One observer concluded that, in comparison to that of the United States, Soviet industrial capacity reached its maximum relative strength around 1970, only to decline when Western innovation surpassed it.15

In addition to GSFG, Moscow controlled the Northern (three to five divisions) and Southern (four divisions) Groups of Soviet Forces located in Poland and Hungary, respectively. After the 1968 invasion of Czechoslovakia, a Central Group was also formed there. Behind these groups were the three western military districts within the Soviet Union, including up to sixty additional divisions, often Category II formations with manning and equipment levels of 70 to 90 percent. The Soviet Union also maintained seven airborne divisions, to which, during the 1970s and 1980s, it added various helicopter-borne air assault brigades.

The non-Soviet members of the Warsaw Pact fielded their own armies of varying effectiveness and equipment, including six East German, eight Czech, eight Hungarian, fifteen Polish, ten Bulgarian, and nine Romanian divisions (or equivalent in separate brigades). In most instances, the garrisons of these divisions were located close to the western (or, for Bulgaria, southern) borders of the nation, poised for operations against NATO but not for control of their own territory.

The Warsaw Pact organization gave the Soviet Union much greater control over these troops than the NATO command structure ever achieved over its constituent elements. Moreover, at the insistence of Soviet leader Nikita Khrushchev, the Council for Mutual Economic Assistance (COMECON) increasingly directed which Warsaw Pact factories would produce what weapons systems.16 Such specialization allowed the satellite armed forces to receive 880 fighters, 555 helicopters, 6,075 tanks, and 17,000 other armored vehicles between 1962 and 1965, equipping them to a level comparable to at least Category II Soviet divisions.17 Only the Hungarians remained at cadre strength, in part as a holdover from their 1956 rebellion.18

This vast structure rested on conscript armies that had significant weaknesses. Equipment maintenance levels were usually low. In comparison to Western armed forces, the Soviets had almost no career noncommissioned officers, which meant a much higher proportion of commissioned officers at every level. A Soviet Army unit had perhaps three times as many officers as an equivalent Western unit. Beginning in the 1950s, Soviet officers underwent longer periods of precommissioning education; as the veterans of World War II reached retirement age in the 1960s, the Red Army officer corps became increasingly younger and better educated. The growth in officer academies also meant that most graduates of civilian universities were not required to serve on active duty, but instead became reserve officers. The ability to avoid active service in this manner became another advantage of the privileged “nomenklatura” who dominated Soviet society.19

A 1967 military service law reduced the length of conscripted service from three years to two in the ground and air forces and from four years to three in the navy. This shift made the lack of NCOs even more significant. While still in secondary school, Soviet youths learned basic military skills (land navigation, defense against chemical weapons, marksmanship) in preservice training conducted by the Voluntary Society for Assistance to the Army, Aviation, and the Fleet (Dubrovol’noe obshchestvo sodeistviya armii, aviatsii, i flout, or DOSAAF). This meant that, except for specialists, new conscripts reported to their troop units after perfunctory basic training. On the surface, this system saved both money and training time, but it also encouraged a system known as “Dedovshchina” (reign of grandfathers). Every six months, a new group of conscripts reported for duty. Soldiers in their fourth and final six months of active duty subjected newly arrived conscripts to an unofficial pattern of hazing and petty thievery that seriously weakened morale while creating an unacknowledged hierarchy that undermined officer authority.20 This system significantly degraded discipline and order. In sharp contrast to the well-maintained motor parks of the East German People’s Army, Soviet garrisons were often slovenly and disordered. In addition, ethnic groups other than Great Russians suffered from discrimination throughout the armed forces.

Naval Forces

The U.S. Navy of the mid-1960s was a mixture of both new and obsolescent vessels, totaling roughly 1,000 warships including fifteen fleet carriers. Micromanaged by the irascible Adm. Hyman G. Rickover, its nuclear-powered submarines (SSNs) were on the cutting edge of technology. In addition to fast attack submarines, the submarine fleet was closing in on its goal of forty-one ballistic missile submarines (SSBNs) each carrying sixteen A3 Polaris missiles with a range of 2,500 nautical miles. Contractors were already designing a new generation of Poseidon missiles, taking advantage of changes in the launching system to build larger weapons without expanding the launch tubes.21 (Britain and France had begun construction of their own SSBNs in the mid-1960s.) In addition, the U.S. Navy received a steady stream of new supercarriers, such as the Forrestal and Kitty Hawk classes, built during the 1950s and 1960s.22

However, the majority of American vessels dated from the 1940s, although some, such as the Essex class carriers, had received angled flight decks and other upgrades. Hundreds of destroyers, cruisers, and other ships still had World War II–era vacuum tube technology in their radar, sonar, and communications systems. Just as with the land forces, the expense of prolonged operations in Southeast Asia meant that the navy had difficulty maintaining its obsolescent equipment, let alone upgrading it.

This was in sharp contrast to the Soviet Navy. The Cuban missile crisis of 1962 had demonstrated the inadequacy of that navy, which except for its submarines was a littoral force of limited capacity. For decades, Soviet naval strategy had remained generally dedicated to the “Young School” idea of a smaller naval force that engaged in commerce raiding but could not achieve naval supremacy. After Khrushchev fell from power in October 1964, the Red fleet began decades of sustained construction and expansion. As naval commander-in-chief for thirty years (1956–85), Adm. Sergey Georgiyevich Gorshkov not only expanded the submarine force but also tried to build a blue-water surface fleet. In 1968, the Soviets completed the first vessel of the Moskva class, which could transport both helicopters and vertical-takeoff-and-landing aircraft and was apparently intended for anti-submarine warfare. In 1975, the Kiev entered service, the first of four cruisers with missile and torpedo launchers forward but slanted flight decks aft. By 1969, Moscow deployed the NATO-designated Yankee class, the first sixteen-tube SSBNs in the Soviet Navy (prior to this, the Golf class carried short-range, liquid-fuel R-11 or R-13 missiles launched from the surface).

This enormous expansion of the Soviet Navy came at a serious cost. Naval operations, especially those involving new submarine technologies, are inherently risky; the U.S. Navy, for example, lost the attack submarines USS Thresher (1963) and Scorpion (1968) to technical failures. However, the bureaucratic drive to field Gorshkov’s navy resulted in inexperienced crews manning vessels that posed unusual safety hazards. Soviet submarines suffered dozens of accidents, often fatal, far from their home bases. Perhaps the most extreme case was the submarine K-19, a Project 658 (NATO designation Hotel) missile submarine. In 1961, K-19 suffered a nuclear powerplant failure that resulted in at least nine radiation fatalities. In 1976, it collided with the Thresher class submarine USS Gato and also suffered onboard fires in 1972, 1976, and 1988. Each time, the Soviet Navy repaired the unlucky submarine. Rather than admit the technical problems, Moscow court-martialed and imprisoned the commanders of faulty vessels such as K-19.23 The pressure to field a blue-water Soviet Navy continued even after Gorshkov lost his political influence during the 1980s.

The sheer numbers and worldwide deployment of Soviet warships posed a challenge to aging, budget-constrained Western navies.24 Soviet naval ship-days of deployment in the Mediterranean grew from 1,800 in 1964 to 20,600 in 1973; the equivalent figures for the Indian Ocean were 0 in 1964 and 8,900 in 1973.25 To support these deployments in areas with few friendly ports, Gorshkov directed oceanographic research projects to find remote locations where replenishment ships could operate without detection. This included the installation of permanent anchors for such ships in the remote Fortune Bank area, southeast of the Seychelles Islands in the Indian Ocean.26 Soviet naval aviation also deployed patrol aircraft, including some three hundred Tu-16 Badgers armed with anti-ship missiles, at extreme ranges to shadow NATO vessels in the Atlantic.

The NATO and Soviet navies operated on a semiwar footing, maneuvering against each other both for training purposes and to gather intelligence about their opponent’s tactics and capabilities.27 When they located diesel-powered submarines, the opponent’s anti-submarine forces attempted to track such submarines until they were forced to surface because of depleted batteries. Each side’s attack submarines also tried to locate and track adversary missile boats without being detected themselves. These stressful exercises resulted in more than one collision, such as that between K-19 and USS Gato, although the U.S. Navy routinely refused to confirm such incidents.

Soviet submarines and naval aviation also attempted to locate and penetrate the defenses of NATO carrier battle groups, again resulting in fatal accidents. In 1968, for example, the combat air patrol of USS Wasp tried to nudge a Tu-16 away from the ship in the Norwegian Sea. Instead, the Soviet aircraft flew so close to the carrier that, when a U.S. helicopter unexpectedly took off, the Soviet pilot cartwheeled into the sea, killing all six crew members despite U.S. attempts to care for two men it recovered. Thus, the Cold War at sea was sometimes as fatal as an open conflict, as dramatized by the 1963 novel (and 1965 motion picture) The Bedford Incident.

Air Forces

During the 1950s, the U.S. Air Force had taken the lion’s share of budgets and new weaponry, but much of this effort was focused on strategic nuclear forces (see below). In the mid-1960s, the principal tactical fighter-bombers remained the F-100 Super Sabre and the F-105 Thunderchief (known colloquially as a “Thud”), both of which had been designed to deliver tactical nuclear weapons rather than conduct sustained conventional bombing. For example, early F-105s did not have self-sealing fuel tanks, making them vulnerable to adversary fighter cannon.

The Kennedy administration had inherited the controversial TFX (Tactical Fighter Experimental) project that attempted to field a single variable-wing aircraft to satisfy the needs of both the air force and the navy, a difficult task given the state of technology at the time. The TFX eventually led to the F-111 (unofficially “Aardvark”), which served as a penetration bomber rather than a tactical aircraft. In 1962 Secretary McNamara shifted his focus to the F-4 Phantom II, a multirole airframe that better suited the administration’s emphasis on “flexible response” to different forms of warfare from insurgency to nuclear conflict. The F-4 was an unusual design whose enormous jet thrust suited it to a variety of roles for both services over the next fifty years. However, the F-100 and F-105 remained in widespread service into the 1970s.28

Senior air force commanders were skeptical of the ability of part-time reserve component units to maintain and fly complex aircraft, but during the later 1950s budgetary and political realities led to a greater reliance on such units, especially Air National Guard fighter and tactical transport squadrons, even to reinforce Europe. By 1961, twenty-one air guard fighter squadrons provided runway alert using F-89J Scorpions as defensive interceptors for North America. Three such squadrons were even qualified to carry nuclear air-to-air missiles during the Cuban missile crisis the next year. McNamara’s efforts to merge the National Guard and Reserve were as unsuccessful in the air components as in the ground, but over time the reservists acquired more advanced aircraft. By the end of the 1960s, many air guard as well as active air force interceptor squadrons were equipped with the F-102 Delta Dagger and its successor, the F-106 Delta Dart.29 That said, some American and Canadian squadrons retained older aircraft such as the F-101/CF-101 Voodoo.

North American Air Defense Command controlled 279 radars and forty-two active interceptor squadrons in 1964, supplemented by twenty-nine Air National Guard fighter squadrons. Nike-Hercules surface-to-air missiles also surrounded American cities. The active U.S. Army had ninety-seven firing batteries while the National Guard, using full-time technicians as well as guardsmen, manned forty-four. In decreasing numbers, these missile defenses remained operational until 1974.30 Although the U.S. Army developed the more capable Nike-X missile and eventually the Safeguard anti-ballistic missile, the expense of such a system made it a political issue throughout the 1960s and 1970s (see chapter 13).

Apart from long-range, strategic bombers, most of the combat aircraft in the Soviet air force were assigned to thirteen tactical air armies, of which the premier was the Sixteenth Air Army in GSFG, equipped with more than 1,200 reconnaissance, fighter, and fighter-bomber aircraft. These air armies were collectively known as Frontal Aviation, because in the event of conflict they would be subordinate to the fronts, equivalent to army groups, in various theaters.31 In the 1960s and early 1970s, the majority of Frontal Aviation assets were MiG-17 (NATO designation Fresco) and MiG-19 (Farmer) aircraft. Their short operational ranges not only forced them to operate from vulnerable forward airfields, but also limited them to air defense and tactical air support roles.

As with the other services, however, the American focus on Vietnam offered an opportunity for Soviet qualitative improvements. By the mid-1970s, the forward tactical air armies had reequipped with longer-range, more capable aircraft. These included three variable-wing systems—MiG-23 (Flogger), Su-17 (Fitter), and Su-24 (Fencer)—as well as improved versions of more conventional planes such as the MiG-21N (Fishbed). At the same time, studies of the Vietnamese and Middle Eastern conflicts persuaded Soviet air commanders to relax the rigid, ground-controlled intercept form of operations in favor of allowing more initiative, as least for squadron leaders.

After 1948, the air defense of the Soviet homeland (voyska protivovozdushnoy oborony, or V-PVO) was a separate armed service divided by region into eight air defense armies. This system included up to 5,000 radar sites, 2,600 fighter interceptors, and almost 10,000 surface-to-air missiles, primarily the SAM-2 (NATO designation Guideline, Soviet S-75 Dvina) and SAM-3 (NATO Goa, Soviet S-125 Neva).32 In 1961, the Soviet Union’s massive investment in defensive systems also enabled its scientists to achieve the first successful interception of a ballistic warhead by a defensive missile.33 After extensive testing, this evolved into the A-350 (NATO ABM-1 Galosh) anti-ballistic missile system, deployed around Moscow in 1978.

One significant, but often overlooked, aspect of airpower was airlift. The ability of the USAF to provide both tactical and strategic transportation was critical in emergency and contingency operations, and it often moved third-nation troops and weapons even when the United States was not visibly involved in a conflict. The four-propeller C-130 tactical transport (1954) was joined by larger, jet aircraft such as the C-141 (1965) and C-5 (1970) series. The C-5 had significant developmental issues, but in a crisis it allowed the movement of outsized equipment, including armored vehicles. Parallel to these three, the Soviet air force developed its own transport aircraft, especially the AN-12 (NATO designation Cub, 1957) tactical transport and the AN-22 (Cock, 1967) and IL-76 (Candid, 1971) strategic aircraft.

Nuclear Forces

In late 1964, Secretary McNamara decided not to go beyond the then-current objectives of 1,054 intercontinental ballistic missiles (ICBMs), primarily Minuteman solid-fuel weapons in hardened silos, plus 656 submarine-launched ballistic missiles (SLBMs) and 615 B-52 bombers. The United States reached these objectives in 1967. McNamara had already discussed these goals with President Lyndon Johnson; the secretary believed that those delivery systems more than satisfied America’s deterrent needs, especially because the United States far outnumbered the USSR in such delivery systems. These three forms of delivery (ICBM, SLBM, and strategic bomber), each with its own strengths and weaknesses, were collectively described as the Nuclear Triad, a complex network that would survive any surprise attack. In 1964, the United States was already beginning to install multiple reentry vehicles (MRVs)—that is, multiple warheads on a single booster—on its Polaris A-3s. The advent of MRVs allowed McNamara to gradually retire some B-52 and B-58 bombers, and he had previously canceled the follow-on B-70 manned aircraft. However, MRVs made it difficult for either side to predict or intercept all the warheads aimed at it, gravely complicating both arms control negotiations and anti-ballistic missile design.34 The 1970 development of independently targetable reentry vehicles (MIRVs), which, as the name implies, could hit dispersed targets, only increased the complications.

The Soviet Union lagged behind the United States in terms of strategic delivery systems, due both to design problems and, in the case of manned aircraft, to the absence of forward air bases near North America. In 1966, Moscow controlled two SLBM vessels with a total of thirty-five missiles, plus 340 liquid-fuel ICBMs, of which the most common was the UR-100 (NATO SS-11 Sego).35 As in so many other areas, however, Moscow closed the gap on ICBMs while the United States was involved in Vietnam, reaching a total of 1,069 in 1969.36 Another independent armed service known as Strategic Rocket Forces controlled the Soviet Union’s ICBMs, while its Long Range Aviation (Dal’nyaya Aviatsiya, or DA) owned up to seven hundred long-range bombers. The majority of these aircraft were twin-engine Tu-16s (NATO Badger). During the 1960s, the DA extended the Badger’s 7,000-kilometer range by the development of wingtip air-to-air refueling and an air-to-surface, 650-kilometer range missile. This AS-1 (NATO Kennel) was replaced at the end of the decade by the AS-5 Kelt.37 Nonetheless, DA was notably less capable than the Strategic Air Command (SAC) with its vast fleet of bomber and refueling aircraft.

Similar technical problems limited the Royal Air Force’s nuclear bombers, of which the longest-lived were some 130 Vulcans, each with a range of 4,100 kilometers (2,550 miles). In 1962, the United States canceled the Skybolt air-to-ground missile on which the RAF had counted, forcing Britain to settle for the shorter-range (240-kilometer/150-mile) Blue Steel.38 The RAF also shifted to low-altitude flights to improve survivability.

While strategists such as McNamara imagined strategic deterrence based on Mutual Assured Destruction (MAD), military commanders on both sides focused on smaller, tactical or operational-level nuclear weapons, including missiles, artillery, and tactical aircraft, and even nuclear land mines. For NATO, tactical nuclear weapons appeared to be a cheap solution to the civilian government reluctance to field conventional armies. However, two political issues limited the value of tactical nuclear weapons. First, the United States maintained control of the nuclear weapons themselves, even when those warheads would be delivered by other member states; de Gaulle’s refusal to permit the United States to station such weapons on his territory was one of the issues that led to France’s withdrawal from NATO. Second, as Western Europe became increasingly urbanized, member governments were understandably reluctant to permit atomic detonations on their own territories. NATO planners therefore had to prepare for a conventional defense, at least at the outbreak of war, until such time as NATO’s council could agree to the necessity for nuclear fires.

The Soviet Union felt no such constraints. Publicly, Moscow denounced NATO nuclear weapons as a threat to peace and encouraged nuclear disarmament protests in the West. Privately, however, the Soviet armed forces proliferated the number of missiles and other delivery systems for such devices, including increased numbers of tactical missile units for the Warsaw Pact allies. In 1959–60, the Soviet General Staff concluded that nuclear fires were the only way to seize and maintain initiative on the battlefield. In a 1961 command post exercise codenamed Burya, the Warsaw Pact Supreme Command envisioned the use of more than 1,000 tactical nuclear weapons beginning on Day 1 of the war, permitting the eastern forces to reach the Rhine River by Day 5.39

Command and Control Structures

The preceding discussion has mentioned various headquarters, including Allied Command Europe, North American Air Defense Command, and the Warsaw Pact Supreme Command. The manner in which potential opponents coordinated or failed to coordinate their available forces was as significant as those forces themselves.

During and after World War II, the United States evolved a structure known as the Unified Command Plan.40 In origin, one department—Army/War, Navy, or Air Force—would serve as the executive agent to coordinate a specific military operation or theater of war, and that department normally functioned as the lead agency for a particular geographic command. The 1958 amendment to the National Security Act authorized the president to establish a chain of command through the secretary of defense to the various unified commands, bypassing the service departments. By 1964, there were seven unified or specified commands: Pacific (PACOM), Atlantic (LANTCOM), North American Air Defense (NORAD, a combined U.S.-Canadian headquarters), Southern (SOUTHCOM), Europe (EUCOM), Strike (STRICOM), and Strategic Air Command (SAC). The senior officer of each such command was designated as the commander-in-chief (CINC) for that headquarters, so that, for example, the commander of PACOM was designated CINCPAC. In turn, most (but not all) of these commands had subordinate service command headquarters, but the defense secretary, advised by the Joint Chiefs of Staff, determined which divisions, ships, and squadrons a CINC controlled for a specific operation. The most controversial of the unified commands was STRICOM, formed in 1961 with a dual responsibility. On the one hand, STRICOM was responsible for providing trained air and ground units to the overseas commands, but because of service concerns CINCSTRIKE did not actually command the Air Force Tactical Air Command (TAC) or the Continental Army Command (CONARC) in peacetime. In addition, however, CINCSTRIKE had de facto responsibility for contingencies in regions not clearly allocated to the other CINCs, especially Africa and the Middle East. This confused situation, combined with various service and personality rivalries, resulted in STRICOM becoming Readiness Command (REDCOM) in 1972; REDCOM lost the contingency responsibilities of its predecessor.

CINCEUR and CINCLANT were simultaneously the designated NATO commanders for Allied Command Europe and Allied Command Atlantic. When functioning as NATO rather than U.S. commanders, these individuals carried the title of supreme allied commander for their respective regions, viz., SACEUR and SACLANT.41 Underneath these two chiefs were a myriad of joint (multiservice) and combined (multination) headquarters, most notably Allied Forces North, Center, and South. In practice, the nationalities of commanders and principal staff officers in these headquarters were allocated among the allies by careful diplomatic negotiations. A successful supreme allied commander was at least as much a diplomat as a military planner.

Just as the Allied Command Europe had subordinate combined headquarters, so American CINCs might have subordinate or subunified commands, which in turn would have components from the different armed services. PACOM, for example, had the joint U.S. Military Assistance Command, Vietnam (USMACV, 1962–73) and U.S. Forces, Korea (USFK, 1957–present). Officially, all actions between Washington and these two headquarters passed through PACOM in Hawaii, but political leaders sometimes bypassed CINCPAC, especially during the Vietnam conflict. Moreover, because the Korean War had been fought, and the 1953 armistice signed, under the auspices of the United Nations, the USFK commander was also designated as CINC, United Nations Command (CINCUNC).

By contrast, the Soviet command structure was relatively simple until late in the Cold War, reflecting the traditional army dominance of Soviet military operations. As previously mentioned, there was a Warsaw Pact Supreme Command headquarters, but its Soviet head (from 1960 to 1967, Marshal of the Soviet Union Andrei Antonovich Grechko) was simultaneously first deputy minister of defense for the Soviet Union rather than an independent regional commander. In the event of war, major groups of Soviet forces (in central Europe) and military districts (within the Soviet Union) would become the headquarters of Fronts (army groups), controlling both the ground units and the Frontal Aviation in their respective areas. As noted in the previous discussion, V-PVO air defense, Strategic Rocket Forces, and Long Range Aviation all operated independently under the defense ministry, while the navy controlled its vessels and patrol aircraft through four fleet headquarters (Northern, Baltic, Black, and Pacific). For reasons of political security, the Soviet Committee for State Security (Komitet Gosudarstvennoy Bezopasnosti, or KGB) and Interior Ministry respectively controlled 250,000 and 350,000 paramilitary troops, in some instances equipped with heavy weapons, separate from the defense ministry.42

Not until 1978 did the Soviet Union create four regional high commands to improve operational and interservice integration—the Western and Southwestern High Commands in Europe, the Southern High Command for the Trans Caucasus and Middle East, and the Far Eastern High Command. At about the same time, Moscow also revived the 1940s concept of a theater of military operations (teatr voennykh deistvii, or TVD), each of which might control several fronts.43 The defense ministry dissolved the tactical air army headquarters in order to facilitate flexible transfer of air assets within a TVD, although in practice Frontal Aviation units remained subordinate to their respective groups of forces and military districts.

Civil-Military Relations

Washington and Moscow both witnessed considerable stress between civilian and military leaders during the 1960s. To some extent, this was the product of the inevitable tension between what military commanders believed necessary to keep the state safe and what civilian leaders thought that state could afford to spend on defense. As Andrew Krepinovich noted, the U.S. military felt a constant challenge to “stretch limited resources over seemingly unlimited requirements.”44 Yet, the tensions between these two groups went far beyond the issue of budgets and manpower. While the Cuban missile confrontation may have prompted John Kennedy and Nikita Khrushchev to work together to avoid a nuclear holocaust, that same confrontation left their military advisers alienated from the political leadership.

Having served as temporary junior officers during World War II, President Kennedy and many of his senior associates had a natural suspicion and even distaste for career military men. Robert McNamara, for example, had worked on the staff of Gen. Curtis LeMay, who became Air Force Chief of Staff (1961–65) when McNamara was defense secretary. Moreover, the Kennedy administration came into office seeking to implement the concept of Flexible Response—preparing to fight a spectrum of conflicts including insurgency and conventional combat rather than relying solely on nuclear deterrence. This strategy was associated with the intellectual Gen. Maxwell D. Taylor, whom Kennedy brought out of retirement to serve as chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff (1962–64) and then ambassador to Saigon (1964–65).45

Rightly or wrongly, Kennedy believed that the Joint Chiefs and Taylor’s predecessor as chairman, Gen. Lyman Lemnitzer, had failed him both in the 1961 Bay of Pigs disaster (which Kennedy had Taylor investigate after the fact) and in providing strategic advice.46 During the ensuing missile crisis, this suspicion resulted in a dangerous lack of communication between the Joint Chiefs and the White House. On October 1, 1962, Secretary McNamara and the Joint Chiefs learned of the first indications of Soviet offensive missile emplacement on the island. McNamara immediately told the assembled generals to intensify preparations for military options ranging from blockade to air strikes to invasion; the next day, he followed up these instructions with a detailed memorandum, in effect giving the military three weeks to prepare for war.47

Yet, the White House “Executive Committee” (EXCOM) had little contact with the Joint Chiefs, who continued to follow McNamara’s October 2 instructions long after political leaders swerved away from the military option. This gave rise to the myth that the Joint Chiefs were a group of warmongers, even though they were simply following instructions. As the administration’s trusted adviser, General Taylor described EXCOM deliberations to the Joint Chiefs in general terms, but only arranged one meeting (on October 18) between the generals and the president, a meeting that Taylor considered unproductive.48 He also gave his colleagues the impression that war remained an option even after civilian leadership had ruled that out.49 Although Taylor believed that he was representing the Joint Chiefs’ positions, a subsequent analysis of the EXCOM transcripts suggests that the chairman identified himself with the White House and distanced himself from the Joint Chiefs, whom he referred to as “they” rather than “we.”50 The result was a cascade of misunderstanding and confrontations that left McNamara determined to dismiss the Chief of Naval Operations and the president convinced that the recommendations of his military advisers were worthless. The crisis increased bitterness on both sides, an alienation that continued throughout the Johnson administration and significantly influenced Washington’s conduct of the Vietnam conflict.

What Eisenhower had called the military-industrial complex contributed to this friction. Following World War II, the United States had gradually sold off most of its arsenals and factories to private industry, creating a private munitions industry. Secretary McNamara accelerated this privatization trend, which critics blamed for the high costs of new weapons. By 1966, 66 percent of the defense research and development budget went to private corporations, many of which had retired flag officers on their payroll.51

Nikita Khrushchev was also at odds with his military advisers. Again, men such as Khrushchev and Leonid Brezhnev had been senior political officers—the equivalent of generals—during the German-Soviet conflict and felt that they understood defense matters at least as well as their generals. For several years prior to the missile confrontation, Khrushchev had reduced and restricted the Soviet Army and Navy, arguing that nuclear weapons provided adequate security at reduced cost and therefore permitted more expenditure on consumer goods. In the minds of many senior officers, the failure to establish offensive missiles in Cuba displayed the fallacy of this position. In the ensuing recriminations, Khrushchev demoted both the chief of the General Staff and the commander of Strategic Rocket Forces.52

The missile crisis and the resulting loss of military support were major determinants in Khrushchev’s removal from power two years later. As his successor, Brezhnev sought greater influence with the military by favoring those aspects of defense, such as mechanized vehicles and naval vessels, that Khrushchev had opposed, producing the armaments programs of the later 1960s. These programs continued during the 1970s as the price Brezhnev paid to get support for arms limitations talks. Marshal Grechko, defense minister from 1967 to 1976, not only got more weapons production but also, in 1973, became a full member of the ruling Politburo. Eventually, however, Grechko began to warn of perceived U.S. aggression, prompting Brezhnev to restrict his political role and encourage the career of Dmitriy Fëodorovich Ustinov, a defense industrialist with no prior military experience.53

While civil-military relations involved considerable friction during the 1960s, strategic intelligence was a less obvious but equally serious issue for governments.

The American Intelligence Community

The National Security Act of 1947 was a strange compromise between centralized and decentralized administration.54 It created a structure for sustained conduct of the Cold War, including a secretary of defense, a Director of Central Intelligence (DCI), and a National Security Council (NSC). However, the three armed services remained remarkably independent of the defense secretary—there was not even a Department of Defense until 1949, and the defense secretary did not have authority over command or budget until 1958. Similarly, the DCI, as his title suggested, was responsible for a coherent national approach to intelligence, but he had no control over the budget and operations of the defense department intelligence organizations, which collected the majority of information for the community. The third DCI, Lt. Gen. Walter Beedle Smith (1950–53), had sufficient bureaucratic influence to bring various activities, including most clandestine operations, under the aegis of the CIA. This in effect re-created the wartime Office of Strategic Services, producing an agency reputation for acting with few checks or controls.55

This reputation continued under the first civilian DCI, Allen W. Dulles (1953–61), who continued to focus on covert operations while resisting President Dwight Eisenhower’s efforts to make the DCI the manager of the intelligence community. That community grew with the creation of the National Security Agency in 1952 and, after the advent of U-2 and satellite imagery, the National Photographic Interpretation Center in 1961.56 Fortunately for American intelligence, Eisenhower backed a series of intelligence reform efforts, most notably the President’s Board of Consultants for Foreign Intelligence Activities (PBCFIA). Between 1956 and 1961, this board persistently pushed for improvements in all aspects of intelligence, ranging from better handling of indications and warnings to greater oversight of clandestine operations. The board was particularly effective in limiting the independence of the armed services with regard to communications intelligence (COMINT). On March 12, 1958, the chair of the PBCFIA persuaded Eisenhower to mandate the merger of COMINT and other intelligence agencies into a single committee, the United States Intelligence Board (USIB), chaired by the DCI.57

After the Bay of Pigs debacle, the Kennedy administration revived the PBCFIA with the same leadership but a slightly different title. As part of his drive for greater efficiency, Secretary McNamara took up the cudgel of intelligence integration. In July 1961, he persuaded President Kennedy to create the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) to provide military intelligence to the Joint Chiefs, the unified commanders, and the USIB.58

In March 1964, the military service representatives lost their voting rights in the USIB, with only DIA and NSA representing the Defense Department. Moreover, Dulles’s successor as DCI, John McCone, added his deputy director to the board to represent the CIA, symbolically satisfying the recurring demand that the DCI be separated from his agency. The resulting USIB therefore consisted of the DCI as chair, plus representatives of six intelligence agencies: CIA, DIA, NSA, Department of State, Atomic Energy Commission (for nuclear matters), and FBI.59

In practice, the different agencies retained considerable independence, notably the armed services, which needed access to communications and noncommunications intelligence for current operations. Neither the DCI nor the directors of NSA and DIA ever had complete control of their respective spheres of intelligence. Interagency disagreements about intelligence analysis remained constant throughout the Cold War and beyond. Nonetheless, the American intelligence community was beginning to mature during the 1960s. Indeed, the multiplicity of agencies, each with its own concerns and analysts, often identified threats that a single, monolithic intelligence community might have overlooked.

The Soviet Intelligence Community

Soviet intelligence was at the opposite end of the spectrum, so centralized and ideologically restricted that it often misunderstood the world it was attempting to explain. The KGB had numerous institutional rivalries both within itself and on occasion with the General Staff’s Main Intelligence Directorate (Glavnoye Razvedyvatel’noye Upravleniye, or GRU). Moreover, the International Department of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union often had its own interpretation of events in the so-called Third World.60 Still, all the agencies and their political masters shared certain values and preconceptions.

The overwhelming focus of the Soviet security services was domestic control.61 Having come to power as a small opposition group, the Bolsheviks feared that similar conspiracies, either homegrown or foreign inspired, would endanger their state. Consequently, most of the KGB’s senior leaders were counterintelligence and secret police officers rather than foreign intelligence experts. Throughout the Cold War, no chairman of the KGB had significant experience outside the Soviet Union itself until, in the wake of the failed 1991 coup, Mikhail Gorbachev briefly promoted the head of the foreign intelligence directorate.62

This focus on subversion and human intelligence had two additional corollaries. First, the secret police culture of Soviet intelligence resulted in constant efforts to murder Soviet defectors and opponents in the West, regardless of the political consequences of such acts. Perhaps the ultimate example of this attitude was the 1981 attempt, working through Bulgarian intelligence agents, to assassinate Polish-born Pope John Paul II.63

Second, Soviet intelligence often relied on human intelligence sources to make up for its deficiencies in other areas. Repeated internal reorganizations hampered KGB efforts at cryptography and computer analysis. Therefore, rather than imitating the NSA’s abilities in computer decryption, the Soviets relied on Western traitors to provide codes and cyphers.64 In the Stalinist era, the KGB and GRU were able to recruit reliable agents based on their ideological sympathies. By the 1960s, however, worldwide dissatisfaction with the Soviet regime meant that most new agents could only be recruited by large sums of money.

Third, most Soviet leaders had a very limited and distorted understanding of the outside world. Living in the echo chamber of Marxism, such men were ill-equipped to process accurate intelligence even when they received it. To cite one example: In July 1975, the Canadian KGB agent Hugh Hambleton met secretly with Yuri Andropov, chairman of the KGB and future head of the Soviet Union. Seeking to use Hambleton’s expertise, Andropov posed questions that displayed his own ignorance of the world, including asking about Jewish “persecution” in the United States and inquiring whether “progressive American youth” looked to the Soviet Union as the hope of the future.65 This bizarre conversation occurred at a time when the Soviet government punished any Jews who tried to emigrate to Israel, and when Europeans and Americans still remembered the 1968 Soviet repression in Czechoslovakia.

Andropov’s ignorance, together with the ideological belief in conspiracies, go a long way toward explaining Project RYAN, the massive 1981–84 intelligence search for indications that Ronald Reagan was planning a surprise attack on the USSR. Not only the KGB and GRU, but all the satellite intelligence agencies received this search as their first priority. This urgent effort significantly increased the opportunities for nuclear misunderstanding.66

Perhaps inevitably, therefore, Soviet intelligence reports came to reflect the beliefs of both decision makers and senior intelligence officials. By the time that Brezhnev became general secretary of the Communist Party in 1964, the politicization of intelligence reports had become so extreme that the KGB was generating imaginary intelligence to feed Brezhnev’s “increasingly preposterous vanity.”67 Station chiefs in foreign countries used their budgets to arrange flattering foreign journal reports and public demonstrations, allegedly in support of Brezhnev’s policies and speeches, when the non-Soviet world had no interest in such matters. By contrast, when those same agents obtained classified Japanese documents concerning foreign terrorism, “Moscow Centre” did not expend the resources to translate them.68 Even East German intelligence had to cater to the perceptions of communist leaders; insiders concealed their knowledge that NATO’s war plans were purely defensive, which did not comport with Marxist doctrine.69

American decision makers and intelligence analysts have received frequent criticism, some of it deserved, for their inability to understand foreign governments and cultures. Their Soviet counterparts were at least as culturally blind, making it impossible for Moscow to understand issues such as nationalism, democracy, and religious belief.

Other Intelligence Actors

In London, the tradition of collective governance by consensus, as exemplified by the cabinet, had produced the Joint Intelligence Committee (JIC), a unified body for the British national intelligence community. Born out of anxiety about the growth of Nazi Germany, the JIC operated under the auspices of the Foreign Office with a part-time chairman but, from 1941, a permanent joint intelligence staff to serve it. During the Cold War, the British lost the advantages of Ultra signals intelligence and free-ranging aerial photography, making it more difficult to understand opponents ranging from Marxists in Eastern Europe to nationalists in the British colonies. By the mid-1960s, London had given independence to most of the latter; its most pressing remaining issue was the Indonesian-backed insurgencies in Southeast Asia.70 Effective, consensus-based analysis continued to support Britain’s efforts to “punch above its weight” as a great power with restricted resources, although the British agencies were increasingly dependent on information gathered by their American counterparts.

The British intelligence system was also the victim of one of the greatest Soviet human intelligence coups, the so-called Cambridge Five. During the interwar period, both the Soviet and British intelligence systems spotted the talents of a number of promising university students, men who rose in the ranks of the British Secret Intelligence Service while simultaneously owing ideological allegiance to Moscow. During the purges of the 1930s, Stalin’s henchmen were so obsessed with conspiracy that they almost discarded the Cambridge Five as double agents.71 Eventually, however, these and other Soviet operatives deeply penetrated British intelligence and, through the British, their American counterparts. After embarrassing defections by three spies, in 1964 a fourth confessed secretly, confirming growing suspicions about the British security problem.72

The postwar occupation and division of Germany created an even greater espionage threat to Western security. Seeking information about the Soviet Union, the U.S. Army and later the CIA absorbed the so-called Gehlen Organization, the World War II German General Staff organization for “Foreign Armies East” directed by Maj. Gen. Reinhard Gehlen.73 Gehlen’s subordinates provided unmatched access to the Soviet bloc, but too many became double agents who provided false information and betrayed genuine Western agents. Subsequently, fraudulent defectors from East Germany infiltrated the West German government, military, and intelligence structure.74 The East German State Security Service (Staatssicherheitsdienst, usually abbreviated Stasi) proved even more effective than the KGB at both human intelligence abroad and secret policing at home. The Stasi often provided counterintelligence advisers to Soviet proxies in the Third World. Rightly or wrongly, Western intelligence agencies suspected that the Chinese Communist government had similar successes recruiting or inserting agents among the overseas Chinese populations of Southeast Asia, the United States, and elsewhere.

In short, the Cold War in the mid-1960s was an unstable stalemate at many levels, not just strategic nuclear deterrence. Both sides had vulnerabilities in terms of equipment, training, and logistics. The strain of constant semi-mobilization produced a stream of training accidents as well as civil-military friction in both Washington and Moscow. The United States and its allies had unmatched technical facilities to intercept electronic signals and photograph denied locations from overhead, but Soviet and Warsaw Pact espionage had numerous successes in penetrating Western security. Perhaps most fundamentally, the opposing alliances were often balanced in terms of military capabilities and budgets. When, in addition, the United States took on a prolonged regional conflict in Southeast Asia, it exposed itself to economic and psychological defeat. Later, when the U.S. economy and morale recovered, Washington in turn exploited the combined weaknesses of Soviet economics and intervention in Afghanistan.

Before examining the continuing rivalry between the superpowers and their proxies, however, we must first consider the effects of those rivalries in other regions of the world. Chapters 2 through 4 therefore consider, respectively, the military rivalries in Africa, Latin America, and the South Asian rimlands. All of these rivalries were directly or indirectly related to the Cold War, even if their ostensible causes were not. Within each region, events unfold in chronological order, backing up at the start of each new chapter. Chapters 5 and 6 are devoted to the central phenomenon of the Vietnamese conflict, while chapter 7 considers the interaction of the Arab-Israeli struggles and the greater Cold War rivalry. Chapter 8 surveys the dual issues of civil defense and domestic disorders. Thereafter, the remainder of this study will follow the U.S.-Soviet confrontation in roughly chronological order.




CHAPTER 2

POSTCOLONIAL AFRICA 1960–1988

Independence Comes to the Congo

Of all the colonies in Africa, perhaps the least prepared for independence was the Belgian Congo.1 From the time that King Leopold II gained international recognition for this colony in 1885, Belgian authorities had no intention of granting independence and therefore made no effort to educate the population or encourage self-rule. The highest positions available to Africans were those of clerks in European-run offices. Like most of the other African states, the Congo’s colonial boundaries made no allowance for ethnic or linguistic divisions, but instead enclosed a sprawling combination of modern cities and sparsely populated jungle. Fourteen million people were divided into seventy major ethnic groups and four hundred linguistic dialects, in a country with only thirteen university graduates as of 1960.2 Aside from a few airfields, there was little infrastructure to support civil administration or military deployments.

Pressured by Congolese and international criticism, during January–February 1960 the Belgian government held a roundtable on the colony’s future. At this meeting, the government abruptly announced that legislative elections would occur in May, followed by a brief interlude to write a constitution with formal independence occurring on June 30, less than five months away. Belgian politicians and the industrialists who had invested in the colony assumed that the Congolese were incapable of self-government, so they quietly arranged to retain control of the lucrative mining interests in the southern province of Katanga. The militarized police force (Force Publique) would continue to have European officers, with no African above the rank of sergeant major. To emphasize the supposed continuity between colony and independence, the commander of this force, Lt. Gen. Emile Janssens, allegedly wrote a slogan for his soldiers: “After Independence = Before Independence.”3

The Mouvement National Congolais (MNC, Congolese National Movement) won a plurality in the May elections; the MNC’s leader, Patrice Lumumba, became premier of the nascent government in the capital city of Leopoldville (later Kinshasa). Yet, even the president of the new state, Joseph Kasavubu, believed that the Congo should be a loose confederation of provinces and tribes.

Lumumba was an inspirational leader, a popular speaker with anti-imperialist and quasi-socialist beliefs. His popularity could not offset the self-fulfilling Belgian expectation that the Congo would become a failed state. Within five days of independence, the African soldiers of the Force Publique mutinied against their Belgian officers; Lumumba redesignated this paramilitary as the national army (Armée Nationale Congolaise, or ANC) with his uncle as its nominal commander. The true head of the ANC was Joseph Mobutu, a ruthless former sergeant major promoted to colonel and ANC chief of staff.

To safeguard American citizens, the U.S. government alerted two airborne companies of the 24th Infantry Division in Germany and dispatched four vessels carrying a marine corps battalion landing team to cruise off the African coast.4 Lumumba reluctantly approved a limited deployment of Belgian troops to protect Europeans from violence. On July 11, however, the Belgian army landed at the port city of Matadi, seeking a logistical base even though there were no Europeans remaining in the area. The ANC vainly attempted to repel the invaders, losing thirteen dead. That same day, Moise Tshombe, whose party dominated the provincial legislature of mineral-rich Katanga, rejected the national government and declared his province independent. The Belgian industrial group Union Minière du Haut-Katanga (UMHK) supported him and paid for Caucasian mercenaries, mostly Frenchmen, who became the officers of Tshombe’s gendarmerie. The rank and file came from the Lunda group in southern Katanga. The Brussels government also abetted Katangan separatism, maintaining Belgian troops there despite official denials.

Lumumba and Kasavubu were justly outraged at this foreign interference, but their inexperience made them impatient of the diplomatic and logistical realities that slowed any resolution of the crisis. In quick succession, Lumumba appealed to and then condemned the United Nations, United States, and Soviet Union. UN Secretary-General Dag Hammarskjöld concluded that Lumumba was irrational and moved to expand the UN’s military presence in the Congo. The result was a prolonged struggle that cost both Lumumba and Hammarskjöld their lives while almost bankrupting the UN and establishing a cycle of violence in the Congo that lasted for the remainder of the century and beyond.

The African Independence Conundrum

The Congo was only one of seventeen African states that gained independence in 1960 alone. Each new government had to deal with the accumulated frustrations, both political and economic, of its populace, who aspired to the type of life associated with Western industrialized societies. Although few new states were as ill-prepared as the Congo, many faced conflicts of equal significance. In some instances, the colonial period had interrupted long-standing ethnic or territorial disputes that resumed upon independence.

Some of the new states, especially former British colonies, inherited capable professional armies, while others had to maintain order and resist aggression with improvised forces. Small amounts of arms and small numbers of European mercenaries could have disproportionate effects on the political survival of these states. In a period of three years (January 1963 to February 1966), African military forces interfered with their own political processes on fourteen occasions; by the end of the decade, the number of coups approached thirty. In some cases, such as Joseph Mobutu (Congo), Idi Amin (Uganda), and later Samuel Doe (Liberia), the result was prolonged military dictatorship. Scholars have suggested numerous reasons for such frequent military coups. In addition to corruption and personal ambition, the armed forces of the new states developed the common military attitude of being separate from civilian life, without any tradition of deferring to civil authority.5

The Belgians were not alone in their paternalism and even racial prejudice toward Africans. Not only in the Congo but throughout sub-Saharan Africa, the former colonial masters as well as the United States assumed that they knew better than local leaders about how to administer the newly independent states. Although the Soviet Union claimed that it had no racism and supported Africans’ struggles for national liberation, in practice Soviet leaders as well as citizens exhibited strong racial prejudices.6

Joseph Stalin and Dwight Eisenhower had viewed the rest of the world in terms of geopolitics and a zero-sum Cold War competition. Neither had any patience with those states that, acting in their own self-interest, sought to maintain neutrality or exploited the competition to gain support from both sides. By the 1960s, however, John Kennedy and Nikita Khrushchev had more nuanced understandings of the Third World; they were willing to aid neutralist states whose interests coincided with their own. There were a few convinced Marxist leaders in the region, especially in the Horn of Africa. Many other new governments or political movements used the rhetoric of Leninism because they wanted an end to colonialism, but were more interested in independence, economic development, and Pan-African unity than in collectivization. Some Western intelligence analysts grasped these nuances, but many officials in Washington, Paris, Havana, and Moscow could not separate Cold War considerations from the local interests of the actors involved.

Analyzing the numerous coups, insurgencies, and conflicts in Africa would require several volumes. In the interests of space, therefore, this chapter will focus on those states that suffered significant military efforts involving foreign intervention related to the Cold War. These included the Congo, the Horn of Africa, the Caucasian settler government in Rhodesia, and the extended struggle in Angola. Before returning to the Congo, however, one civil war was so massive and genocidal that it cannot be ignored.

Biafra, 1967–1970

Nigeria was a case study in the stresses of postcolonial Africa. In direct contrast to Belgium, Britain had worked to prepare the rich, populous West African colony for independence. Beginning in 1950, London introduced local, regional, and then national democratic government, but this had the unintended consequence of teaching rival ethnic groups how to manipulate majority rule to gain spoils for themselves.7 Because the British had ruled through various major tribes, Nigeria’s Eastern Region was dominated by the Igbo tribe, which made up half of that region’s 14 million people. To compound ethnic rivalries, the Igbo were predominantly Christian whereas the northern portion of the country was Muslim. The year 1966 witnessed pro-and anti-Igbo military coups in Lagos as well as massacres of Igbos in other parts of the country. In August, the young army chief of staff, Yakubu Gowan, became head of state. Gowan believed in a federal state but attempted to limit Igbo power by dividing the four regions of Nigeria into twelve states.8

Instead, on May 30, 1967, the military head of the Eastern Region, Lt. Col. Chukwuemeka Odumegwu Ojukwu, declared the independent republic of Biafra.9 For three years, the two sides struggled in a war that claimed the lives of up to 3 million people. Nigerian federal forces initially advanced on the northern and southern axes into Biafra, leaving the middle undefended because the Midwestern regional government wished to stay neutral in the war. This allowed Ojukwu to launch Operation Torch (August 1967), an improvised advance into the Midwestern Region by fewer than 1,500 poorly equipped troops. Federal troops eventually contained and repulsed this advance, but their pursuit broke down when the Nigerian 2nd Division failed in a hasty crossing of the Niger River in October.10

Thereafter, Nigerian federal forces gradually constricted the separatists into increasingly smaller areas, cutting off access to the sea and flooding the Igbo heartland with refugees. The federal government had greater resources, and its claim to sovereignty discouraged overt interference by other states.11 Indeed, both the Soviet Union and Britain sold weapons to Lagos, seeking to enhance their influence. Biafra, however, had a disproportionately large portion of the career army officers serving it and skillfully used propaganda to depict itself as the victim of genocide. Egypt provided Ojukwu with a shoestring air force. For reasons of regional influence, France,12 Portugal, South Africa, and Rhodesia sent covert aid, primarily by air. This airlift contributed to a stalemate that prolonged the war for some months, while the Nigerian blockade caused massive starvation. Biafra also attracted numerous mercenaries, to little effect. In January 1970, Ojukwu fled the country and Biafra surrendered.
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Nigeria-Biafra, 1966–1970. Map by Erin Greb Cartography.



UN in the Congo, 1960–1964

Both the United States and the Soviet Union found it convenient to have a UN peacekeeping force, the ONUC (Organisation des Nations Unies au Congo), lead efforts to maintain order in the Congo. Although supporting the ONUC caused conflict with Belgium, the Eisenhower administration believed that the UN presence would reduce the possibility of direct Cold War confrontation and ward off accusations of neocolonialism. For Khrushchev, the UN umbrella also inhibited Chinese involvement at a time when the two major communist states were increasingly at odds. Moreover, Moscow attempted to have it both ways. On the one hand, it claimed public relations credit for giving food, transport aircraft, and other material aid to the Congolese government and, on occasion, to the UN. On the other hand, the Soviet Union refused to pay assessments for the costs of the ONUC, thereby avoiding both the foreign currency loss and the criticism of Africans who resented UN actions.

The ONUC grew rapidly to a peak of almost 20,000 troops, drawing from various African and other neutral countries. Initially, the secretary general relied on his Swedish countrymen, including Maj. Gen. Carl von Horn, the first commander of the military branch of the ONUC. Given the urgency of the situation in July 1960, the UN borrowed both von Horn and most of the Swedish battalion from the UN Emergency Force in the Middle East (UNEF), the buffer force on the Israeli-Egyptian border. Sweden later provided the headquarters that directed ONUC’s multinational air force.13

Logistics was the first major issue confronting the ONUC.14 The UN had no military intelligence, planning, or supply capability and had to purchase maps of the Congo from a Belgian company on Wall Street. Although numerous states offered light infantry troops, moving and supporting those units was far more challenging. As so often in the postwar period, the U.S. Air Force unobtrusively provided the strategic reach for the operation: it airlifted the first 2,600 troops into the Congo within ten days of Lumumba’s initial request and flew more than 1,300 transport sorties in the next eighteen months. The United States later provided ten C-47 transports for movement within the country, although over time most airlift was by civilian contractors.15 Initially, handwritten messages given to transport pilots were the only means of communication between field units and the ONUC headquarters in Leopoldville. The U.S. Army established the long-distance connections between UN headquarters, UN logistical nodes in the Mediterranean, and the Congo. A unit of Canadian tactical signalers partially addressed the need for bilingual (French-English) communicators. However, the frequent rotation of UN troops by their parent countries meant losing local expertise almost as soon as it developed. There were also recurring problems with resupply and repair of the many incompatible weapons and vehicles with which the ONUC units were equipped. Moreover, the limited road and bridge network hamstrung ground movements. The U.S. Defense Department responded to a UN request for tanks by pointing out the difficulty of moving such vehicles within the Congo; instead, a handful of armored cars provided the spearheads for tactical advances.
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Congo/Zaire, 1960–1978. Map by Erin Greb Cartography.



The ANC suffered from similar logistical issues plus a lack of planning, leadership, and discipline. In August 1961, Khrushchev provided Soviet transport aircraft, with crews, that enabled Lumumba to deploy troops against another separatist movement in the central province of Kasai, but this effort soon stalemated. The Soviets withdrew their aircraft after Lumumba was overthrown.16

This incident illustrated the even greater difficulty encountered by the UN and the great powers: the absence of a legitimate and effective Congolese government with which to cooperate. On September 5, 1961, President Mobuto fired Lumumba and six ministers; although the legislature rejected this move, Lumumba was never able to rule again. On the 14th, Colonel Mobutu, using bribes provided by the CIA station chief, deposed both Kasavubu and Lumumba and expelled communist bloc diplomatic personnel from the Congo. In turn, Belgium provided enough funds to pay the ANC, keeping Mobutu in control for the immediate future.17

Once he was out of office, Lumumba’s popular support and ill-considered remarks made him an apparent threat to the American and Belgian governments. While the CIA’s Larry Devlin had a sophisticated understanding of Lumumba’s motivations, Washington regarded the Congolese leader as an agent or tool of the communist bloc. The Belgian government sought to eliminate him as an obstacle to its resumption of government in the Congo. Ironically, Moscow also mistrusted Lumumba, whom it considered unreliable and unstable.18 Although the UN placed him in protective custody, Lumumba escaped in November 1960 and was soon captured, imprisoned, and tortured by Mobutu’s troops. With the active participation of Belgian intelligence and the knowledge of the CIA, Mobutu’s men turned Lumumba over to the Katangese separatists, who murdered him in January.19 His death aroused worldwide public criticism, a public relations failure for both the West and the Soviet Union.

Lumumba’s former deputy, Antoine Gizenga, had already formed a rival government in Stanleyville (later Kisangani); the USSR, China, Egypt, and other states recognized this regime. The ONUC commander, Irish general Sean McKeown, negotiated a neutral zone between the rival governments, although in February 1961 Gizenga tried to advance on Leopoldville. The Soviet Union attempted to finance Gizenga’s collapsing militia, but the CIA intercepted one of the payroll shipments. In July 1961, the surviving members of the Congolese legislature created a coalition government headed by Premier Cyrille Adoule, a splinter from Lumumba’s former party. Adoule eventually captured Gizenga, who acquiesced to the new regime, while Kasavubu remained president with little power.20

Regardless of the ongoing drama of Leopoldville’s government, the principal problem facing the ONUC was that the Congo in general and Katanga in particular could not be controlled without considerable use of military force. What the situation needed was peace making rather than peace keeping. The UN Security Council took time and painstaking diplomatic compromises to recognize this distinction. The two key steps were UN Security Council Resolution (UNSCR) 161 (February 21, 1961), which authorized “all appropriate measures,” including force as a last resort, to prevent civil war, and UNSCR 169 (November 29, 1961), which approved “the requisite measure of force” to remove foreign mercenaries from Katanga.21 Other African governments opposed these authorizations, because they seemed to condone interference in domestic affairs. Thus, even after these UNSCRs were passed, the political necessity to negotiate before fighting delayed UN action on the ground. Eventually, local ONUC commanders took the initiative and achieved success against Katanga.

In September 1961, the UN special representative in the Congo, Conor Cruise O’Brien, directed Indian troops to conduct Operation Morthor (Smash), a vain attempt to round up Katangan officials and mercenaries. O’Brien apparently acted without authorization from Secretary-General Hammarskjöld and lost his position in the ensuing diplomatic clamor.22 In the process, an Irish infantry company assigned to the ONUC fought to its last round and then had to surrender to Katangese mercenaries.

Tshombe’s rebel government had acquired four Fouga Magister jet trainers in February 1961. Although three of these aircraft were lost to crashes or capture, the single remaining jet interdicted UN transport aircraft and impeded ONUC ground advances. Allegedly, the Rhodesian air force also bombed ONUC ground troops inside the Congo. Seeking to negotiate a resolution, Hammarskjöld took a UN transport aircraft to Ndola, Northern Rhodesia (later Zambia), but all aboard died when the aircraft crashed on September 18.23

Some observers have speculated that the UMHK or other supporters of an independent Katanga were responsible for the crash. If this were the case, the plot backfired, because Hammarskjöld’s successor, U Thant, was even more willing to use force against Katanga. The key to ONUC’s success was developing a credible air component, including not only fighter-bombers but also reconnaissance aircraft. The United States offered eight F-84 fighters. However, to maintain the appearance of neutrality, Thant organized an ONUC “Air Division” of neutral aircraft in the fall of 1962.24 This division initially consisted of five Swedish J-29B fighters, four Ethiopian F-86s, and four Indian B-57 light bombers. Unfortunately for UN efforts, the Ethiopians withdrew when one of their aircraft crashed, and the Indians returned home after China attacked India’s border (see chapter 4). Sweden dispatched a few additional aircraft, including two photoreconnaissance versions to track Katangese capabilities. Simultaneously, the rebel Forces Aerienne Katangoise (FAK, Katangan air force) worked through the Caucasian governments of Portuguese Angola, Rhodesia, and South Africa to acquire a variety of aircraft flown by mercenaries. These planes ranged from T-6 Harvard trainers to obsolescent Vampire and F-51 fighters, although the latter never arrived in the Congo.

In November 1962, a Norwegian anti-aircraft battery arrived to protect the UN airfields, while the United States agreed to provide airlift for a major ONUC advance on Katanga. Maj. Gen. Perm Chaud, the Indian commander of ONUC troops opposite Katanga, convinced Thant of the need for a preemptive offensive (Operation Grand Slam) in the region. On Christmas Eve, inebriated Katanga gendarmes provided a pretext for this advance by shooting down a UN helicopter, wounding one crew member and beating the others. Beginning at 4:30 A.M. on December 29, 1962, the ONUC’s J-29s strafed the Kolwezi-Kengere airfield with 20 mm cannon. Despite some damage from ground fire, no UN fighters were lost. By the end of the day, six FAK aircraft were destroyed or disabled, and eventually twelve T-6s and Vampires were eliminated. ONUC fighter patrols also interdicted the Katangese air resupply from Portuguese colonies.

Thant supported the Congolese government’s call to embargo copper and cobalt produced in Katanga. On the ground, the 99th Indian Brigade advanced rapidly toward the key mines, but Tshombe threatened to blow those mines up. This produced unwelcome American interference, pressuring Thant to give Tshombe two weeks to agree to national union. General Chaud, however, soon resumed the advance, crossing a tributary of the Lualaba River and forcing the French mercenaries to flee. Although Tshombe publicly renounced secession on January 14, 1963, he later reneged on his promise, and he had to be coerced back to the bargaining table. The ONUC then swept the province to disperse remaining Katangese forces, and on May 31 Tshombe fled to Spain.25

U Thant seized on this apparent victory to announce that the ONUC would withdraw, although the last troops did not depart until June 1964. The ONUC had been controversial throughout its existence, and almost bankrupted the UN when peacekeeping costs exceeded the entire annual budget. Unfortunately for the Congolese, the end of the ONUC did not mark the end of disorders.

At the same time that the ONUC Air Division developed, the CIA provided the ANC with a limited air force, using T-6 and T-28 trainers and Cuban exile pilots.26 Subsequently, Belgium trained the ANC while the Israel Defense Forces helped create a small nucleus of paracommandos.27 Leopoldville would need all the military capacity it could muster to deal with future challenges.

Dragon Rouge

As if peace and order were a zero-sum game, opposition groups expanded as the UN forces drew down in late 1963 and early 1964. The economy and infrastructure continued to decline, making much of the population dissatisfied and open to radicalism. First, the grandiosely named Conseil National de Liberation (CNL, National Liberation Council) began a rebellion in September 1963, invoking the charismatic name of Lumumba. Using limited aid from Moscow and sanctuary provided by the neighboring state of Congo (Brazzaville), the CNL spread throughout much of eastern and southeastern Congo. Its violent supporters were known as Simbas (lions), and CNL leaders used drugs, “magic,” and mysticism to convince locals that the Simbas were invulnerable. They particularly terrorized missionaries, some of whom they accused of being Western spies. Soon thereafter, Pierre Mulele, a former associate of Lumumba who had studied in China, began a Maoist movement in the west-central province of Kwilu. With a few exceptions, units of the ANC abandoned their weapons and fled in terror when confronting the Simbas. By August 1964, more than one-third of the country was controlled by these Lumumbist rebels, whose military commander was the self-appointed “General” Nicholas Olenga. Only the CIA’s private air force impeded the spread of the CNL, and even this support was jeopardized when the New York Times publicized it, embarrassing President Johnson’s administration. On September 5, Christophe Gbenye, another former minister under Lumumba and a leader of the CNL, declared a People’s Republic of Congo.28

To add to the confusion, former separatist Moise Tshombe returned to the Congo just as the ONUC withdrew in late June 1964.29 President Kasavubu, recognizing that Tshombe had both financial backing and the approval of Belgium, made him premier and foreign minister. Johnson, distracted by a national election as well as a growing U.S. involvement in Vietnam, was willing to support Tshombe, who characteristically turned to foreign mercenaries to make up the deficiencies of the ANC. On August 30, 1964, CIA T-28s helped the first group of such mercenaries, led by former British soldier “Mike” Hoare, recapture the eastern town of Albertville; Albertville was one of the nodes through which communist aid had reached the Simbas. The American airlift and tactical air support for the ANC and mercenaries outraged General Olenga, who assembled up to 2,000 European and American citizens as hostages in Stanleyville. The embassy in Leopoldville briefly considered using its marine security guards to rescue the five remaining diplomats in the Stanleyville consulate but concluded that this would be too risky.30

Foreign intervention was not only unpopular with other African states but also politically difficult at the time of deepening American involvement in Vietnam (see chapter 5). The head of U.S. Strike Command (STRICOM), Gen. Paul Adams, proposed various options, but the most that the administration would accept was sending Joint Task Force Leo, including a single infantry platoon, three helicopters, and a small headquarters, to Leopoldville under restrictive rules of engagement.31 Beyond that, both the U.S. and Belgian governments preferred to deal with the Congo quietly. The Americans increased CIA and military adviser presence, while Belgian foreign minister Paul Henri Spaak arranged the assignment of Col. Frederik Van de Walle, former Belgian consul to Tshombe’s Katanga government, with some sixty Belgian advisers. Tshombe had Van de Walle form the 55th Mechanized Brigade, with 390 former Katangan gendarmes and South African mercenaries as a cadre for 3,800 ANC troops. Unfortunately for the hostages, however, organizing this force and the vehicles to transport it took several months. Secretary of State Rusk reluctantly agreed to the dispatch of seven additional T-28s and seven B-26K bombers, again using non-American pilots. The United States tried to restrict the use of these aircraft to avoid giving the rebels a pretext to execute hostages, but the Leopoldville government formed its own squadron of mercenary pilots with T-6s supplied by Italy.32 Assistant Secretary of State G. Mennen Williams refused Tshombe’s request for three U.S. airborne battalions to retake Stanleyville; U.S. officials insisted that any American involvement must be part of a broad, mostly African coalition. Understandably, however, the Organization of African Unity (OAU) believed that removing the mercenaries and non-African military forces would permit a peaceful resolution of the crisis.33

In October, the Leopoldville forces under Van de Walle began a difficult advance toward Stanleyville. Each column was led by armored cars and Caucasian mercenaries, but this advance was slowed by logistical issues as well as poor weather that hampered air support. A U.S. liaison unit, including Lt. Col. Donald Rattan and several Cuban exiles, joined Van de Walle as he approached his final objective.34 The CDL rebel leaders became increasingly hysterical, abusing and executing hostages whom they accused of being American spies.

In September, General Adams suggested a rescue plan (Golden Hawk) using special forces to enter Stanleyville covertly. Such an operation carried significant military and political risks, however. Adams followed this up on October 15 with a less risky but highly visible approach. STRICOM Operations Plan 519 called for a brigade of airborne infantry with a squadron of fighter-bombers and eighty troop transports to seize Stanleyville from the air. Just as in the Cuban missile crisis, this kinetic proposal, coming on the eve of the U.S. elections and with hostages in danger, appalled most planners in Washington. In Leopoldville, however, Ambassador G. McMurtrie Godley continued to press for stronger action.35

On November 8, Foreign Minister Spaak flew to Washington and suggested what became Operation Dragon Rouge (Red Dragon). Reinserting Belgian troops into the Congo would offend African sensibilities, but the Belgian planners who met their American counterparts in Brussels had unequaled local knowledge of the area. At daybreak on November 24, 1964, five U.S. C-130 aircraft dropped the Belgian 1st Parachute Battalion plus its regimental headquarters to seize the airport at Stanleyville. Once the runway was cleared, other aircraft landed jeeps, motorized tricycles, supplies, and a company of the 2nd Battalion. Anticipating such a landing, the CNL rebels had lined up 250 hostages on the road from the airport to the city; at least 33 of these hostages were killed before the Belgians secured the town. Having pushed forward at great risk during the night, leading elements of Hoare’s mercenaries linked up with the paratroops at 11:00 A.M. The parachutists and the USAF evacuated 1,650 civilians, including 150 Congolese. Yet, an estimated 600 Europeans or Americans, primarily missionaries, chose to remain, and many of these later died. After one follow-on rescue to another town, Washington and Brussels halted the operation because of international criticism.36 Ignoring rebel atrocities, African public opinion was outraged by Dragon Rouge and especially by the callous actions of the mercenaries.37

Enter the Cubans

The U.S.-Belgian intervention appeared decisive and saved lives, but it did not address the fundamental economic and political problems of the Congo. In the wake of Dragon Rouge, the CNL leaders Gbenye and Olenga fled to Sudan, but the fighting continued. Tshombe continued to rely on Caucasian mercenaries, and Mike Hoare used his troops plus the CIA’s Cuban-exile air force to cut rebel supply lines into the Congo.38 The Marxist states, especially Cuba, resumed and expanded their support to the rebels.

For almost three decades, Castro’s Cuba provided weapons, trainers, and complete troop units to support African anti-imperialists and radicals. Contrary to the belief of Western observers, the revolutionary regime in Havana was responsible for this aid, often independent of Soviet foreign policy.39 The Cubans had aided the National Liberation Front in Algeria as early as 1960, and in 1965 the Congo became the site for the first test of Ernesto “Che” Guevara’s revolutionary theories.

Guevara had been an effective tactical commander during the 1957–58 Cuban Revolution, but he drew the wrong conclusions from the ease of Castro’s victory. As an outsider from Argentina, Guevara ignored the decades of popular struggle that had preceded Castro’s revolution and instead concluded that most if not all pro-Western governments were as vulnerable as that of Fulgencio Batista.40 In Guevara’s view, amplified by the French journalist Régis Debray, a small nucleus (foco) of dedicated and ruthless revolutionaries could discredit such weak regimes, leading to revolution in a matter of months.41 This was a direct contradiction of Maoist theory, which featured years of political education and guerrilla warfare to wear down the forces of the defending regime. As an advocate of international socialist revolution, the Argentine also underestimated the ethnic and nationalist motivations of many would-be revolutionaries. Once Castro came to power, Guevara elaborated on his theory and sought an opportunity to test it.

A few months after the Belgian paratroops withdrew from Stanleyville, Guevara toured friendly African states.42 Leaders such as Nasser of Egypt advised him that the Congo was not ready for his brand of revolution, but in April 1965 Guevara disguised himself and flew to Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, to meet with Laurent Kabila, the twenty-six-year-old military head of the Lumumbist-CNL rebel movement. Over the next seven months, up to 180 Cubans, most of African descent, arrived to work with the Simba rebels, but the alliance did not prosper. Guevara became ill and quarreled frequently with Gbenye, Kabila, and other Congolese leaders, whose nationalist motivations were incomprehensible to the Cuban revolutionary. Alerted to the Cuban presence, the Johnson administration increased its covert aid to the Leopoldville regime. China and the USSR attempted to aid the rebels but could not project significant aid into the remote region.

Cuban-exile pilots, flying CIA B-26 and T-28 aircraft, strafed their own compatriots on several occasions. On June 29, 1965, Kabila insisted that a combined force of Cubans, Congolese, and Rwandans attack the town of Bendera, some thirty kilometers west of Lake Tanganyika. Bendera housed an ANC garrison with a nearby hydroelectric plant. The ANC proved to be more effective and aggressive than their opponents had anticipated, killing five Cubans and routing their local supporters.43 Meanwhile, Cuban-exile aircraft, joined in September by two exile-manned patrol boats, interdicted Cuban logistics across the lake.44

On November 18, 1965, the CNL agreed to a cease-fire, although Kabila moved the remnants of the Simbas into central Congo. Three days after this agreement, Guevara and the surviving Cubans boarded motorboats and withdrew in defeat across Lake Tanganyika. In a repetition of 1960 events, President Kasavubu attempted to dismiss Tshombe as premier, but the legislature refused to agree. Kasavubu also sought to placate African public opinion by promising to dismiss the mercenaries. In a second bloodless coup on November 24, 1965, General Mobutu overthrew Kasavubu and established his own dictatorial rule. Tshombe died under house arrest in Algeria, while Kasavubu retired quietly; Mobutu redrew the provincial boundaries to destroy local centers of political influence. One day after the coup, the new head of state ended Michael Hoare’s contract.45

Shaba I and II

In the decade after his second coup, Mobutu attempted to make the Congo into a center of African influence and power. As part of his image campaign, he replaced most of the colonial names with local terms. The Congo itself became Zaire, Leopoldville was renamed Kinshasa, and the ANC became the Forces Armée Zaïroises (FAZ, Zaire Armed Forces). With Western support, the dictator built up the FAZ and interfered in neighboring Angola, where his troops suffered a major defeat in late 1975. In fact, Mobutu was so concerned about a possible coup that he had deliberately disorganized the FAZ and purged competent leaders. The FAZ was a victim of poor leadership and training, irregular pay, and corruption. Its expensive air force was chronically short of fuel and spare parts.46

More generally, Zaire remained a disjointed economy of multiple ethnicities. The mineral wealth of Katanga (renamed Shaba in 1971) initially financed the government, but declining copper prices, plus the wartime destruction of the Benguela Railroad that had previously exported minerals through Angola, increased economic distress. Zaire’s foreign debt reached $3 billion by 1976, and the next year inflation ran at 250 percent.47

Such economic weakness provided an opening for Mobutu’s opponents, especially the Congolese National Liberation Front (Front de la Libération Nationale Congolaise, or FLNC) formed in 1968. The FLNC contained a hard core of former Katangese gendarmes, who had fought against both the ONUC and the ANC, augmented by refugees (primarily Lunda people) from southern Katanga.48 Driven into exile in 1967, these troops at first served the Portuguese in Angola. A former Belgian sergeant and Kolwezi police chief, Nathanael Mbumba, revitalized the force in the early 1970s; their Portuguese nickname of Tigres echoed the Simba term of the previous decade.

In December 1974, after revolution in Portugal signaled the independence of its African colonies, Mbumba reached an agreement with the Marxist-Leninist MPLA (Movimento Popular de Libertação de Angola, People’s Movement for the Liberation of Angola). The Tigres would help the MPLA in the looming Angolan civil war in return for which the FLNC could use Angola as a base for attacks into Zaire. Well-trained FLNC battalions supported the Cubans and MPLA in subsequent military campaigns against both Mobutu’s invading FAZ and the Western-supported UNITA (União Nacional para a Independência Total de Angola, National Union for the Total Independence of Angola). These troops received some weapons and training from the Soviets, Cubans, and possibly East Germans, but the FLNC remained a Congolese tribal group rather than a Soviet proxy. After meeting Mbumba in 1976, the head of the Cuban mission in Angola was skeptical about the Katangan leader’s ideology and refused to provide heavy weapons.49 In the ensuing crises of 1977–78, the MPLA government of Angola, already hard-pressed to deal with South Africa and other opponents, denied any responsibility for FLNC actions.

Beginning on March 8, 1977, 1,500–2,000 Tigres entered southern Shaba on two axes, one along the road and rail connection leading to the mining town of Kolwezi, and the second moving northward to seal off any roads by which Mobutu’s government might reinforce the threatened area.50 Although the FLNC claimed to be seeking to overthrow Mobutu, it made no serious effort to win Congolese public opinion. Gizenga had met with Mbumba prior to the invasion, but there was no coordination between the two movements.

Moving by foot and bicycle, the Tigres closed in on Kolwezi; the 1,000 FAZ troops in the area offered little resistance. The Western powers and indeed the Kinshasa government had no accurate intelligence on the situation, but Mobutu appealed for Western assistance, depicting the FLNC as a Soviet proxy. Washington and Brussels were concerned for the safety of their citizens in Kolwezi but were reluctant to intervene, given the previous history of colonialism and the backlash from Dragon Rouge.

Such considerations carried far less weight in Paris. Indeed, throughout the period from 1960 to 1991, France was second only to Cuba in the number of troops deployed to sub-Saharan Africa. Paris used economic and military agreements to control its former colonies and intervened militarily more than thirty times in sixteen countries. The greatest commitment was to Chad, where French troops operated in 1968–75, 1977–80, and 1983–84; in that instance, Paris supported various factions in a civil war so as to offset the equal interference—including regular troops—of Muammar Ghaddafi’s radical, Pan-Arab regime in Libya.51 With that exception, however, based on its painful experience in Algeria, France preferred to stabilize a situation quickly and then withdraw, sometimes leaving advisers and trainers.

France used this short-term model in dealing with Zaire; by logical extension, Paris regarded the former Belgian colony as part of the Francophone region. Moreover, President Valéry Giscard d’Estaing found a mechanism to make intervention more palatable to other African nations. Beginning on April 7, 1977, France airlifted some 1,500 Moroccan soldiers to Zaire. King Hassan II of Morocco cited the OAU policy protecting the territorial integrity of any state. Anwar Sadat also dispatched pilots and technicians to operate and repair Zaire’s derelict French fighter jets. French intelligence operatives established communications in Kolwezi but maintained a low profile.52 Buoyed by this show of foreign support, the FAZ was able to aid the Moroccans in a counteroffensive beginning on April 14. By the end of May, the FLNC, having missed its opportunity, withdrew from Shaba in good order. The entire operation gained France diplomatic credit for using an inexpensive “African” solution, while the Carter administration in Washington had sent only nonlethal aid by chartered civilian aircraft, thus avoiding another objectionable military intervention.

Belgium, France, and the United States provided advisers to retrain the FAZ, which Mobutu reduced in strength ostensibly to make it more effective. However, in February 1978 the dictator arrested some 250 of his officers, many of them graduates of foreign military schools, because of an alleged coup attempt. Thus, the FAZ remained disorganized and demoralized. Government reprisals drove at least 50,000 refugees into Angola, providing additional recruits for the FLNC.

Agostinho Neto, head of the MPLA, pressured General Mbumba and Laurent Kabila to form a unified council of liberation for Zaire, but only the FLNC had effective military capability. Based on the previous year’s events, Mbumba concluded that a future operation must combine both conventional and insurgent tactics and achieve surprise by quickly reaching its objectives. In the spring of 1978, he dispatched several thousand insurgents to infiltrate the Kolwezi area and recruit local supporters among the Lunda. In early May, a larger conventional force, consisting of 10,000 men in ten light infantry battalions, moved through northern Zambia to approach Shaba from its eastern border. This not only achieved tactical surprise but also permitted the MPLA government to deny involvement in the “Shaba II” invasion.

Despite the presence of a brigade of the FAZ’s Kamanyola Division, Mbumba’s conventional and unconventional forces took control of Kolwezi in a matter of hours on May 13, 1978. Simultaneously, two other FLNC battalions blocked the railroad in Shaba. The invaders also captured the local airport, destroying two helicopters and four Aeromachi jets. Fleeing FAZ soldiers took hostages among the 2,150 Europeans in Kolwezi.

The FAZ response was marginally better in 1978 than it had been the previous year. The French had trained the 313th Airborne Battalion as a rapid response force. Mobutu squandered one company of this battalion in a brave but futile parachute landing, but the remainder moved by land, recapturing the Kolwezi airport by the evening of May 17 and then holding it against FLNC counterattacks.53

Shaba II aroused a much stronger Western response than the previous incursion. Cynics and Marxists would attribute this response to the threat to mining interests in Kolwezi, but the Belgian government, at least, was more concerned with protecting its citizens than with controlling the mines. Already alarmed by a growing Soviet and Cuban presence in Africa, the Carter administration seized on this incident as an example of communist aggression. Yet, the CIA believed that Cubans had only helped in preparation rather than accompanying the invasion. In fact, both Cubans and the MPLA government had tried to delay the Shaba II attack, and the MPLA placed Mbumba under house arrest for the duration of the operation. Still, Washington was looking for an opportunity to send a message to Moscow and Havana.54

France was already overcommitted, with troops deployed in Chad, Mauritania, and with the UN’s Lebanon peacekeeping force. It scraped together a battalion of foreign legionnaires (2e Régiment étranger de parachutistes), but both the French and Belgians had to rely on USAF airlift and logistical support. Nor, despite a planning meeting in Germany, were the two forces coordinated, because Brussels was interested only in protecting Europeans and not in supporting the Kinshasa government. Seventeen hundred Belgian troops flew to Kamina and then advanced by road toward Kolwezi with instructions not to fire unless fired upon. Meanwhile, seven hundred legionnaires flew to Kinshasa, where they had to learn how to use American parachutes. With limited airlift and daylight running out on May 18, about four hundred French parachutists, without heavy weapons, dropped near Kolwezi. Fortunately for the Frenchmen, the main FLNC force had already withdrawn under pressure from the Angolan government. The French met only scattered opposition from Zairian deserters, looters, and FLNC irregulars.55

By the end of the month, the two European forces had withdrawn, replaced by a Moroccan regiment, a Senegalese battalion, and smaller teams from Togo and Gabon. A combination of American, French, and Belgian aircraft moved these troops, which were financed by the United States, France, and Saudi Arabia. Two months later, Agostinho Neto visited Kinshasa, where both sides promised to stop aiding hostile groups. Angola then expelled the FLNC leaders, and the force dispersed.56

As always, the local populace suffered the most from the Shaba II campaign, including an estimated 800 civilians and 150 FAZ killed, along with 160 foreigners, 200 FLNC, and 3 French legionnaires.57 Instability continued for the next four decades.

The Horn of Africa

Some 2,500 kilometers to the northeast, the arid terrain of the Horn of Africa witnessed times of economic and social instability, as well as great power interventions, that sometimes resembled those of the Congo. In previous eras, the conflicting policies and actions of France, Italy, Britain, and Ethiopia multiplied the negative effects of colonialism.

It was the last of these, the cultural and political imperialism of Ethiopia, that provoked the most prolonged insurgency of the Cold War.58 Under United Nations auspices, in 1952 the largely Muslim coastal area of Eritrea was federated with the Coptic Christian Ethiopian Empire. Over the next decade, however, Emperor Haile Selassie eliminated legal distinctions between the two regions and imposed Amharic as the official language. This aroused several resistance movements, of which the most effective were the Eritrean People’s Liberation Front (EPLF) in the coastal region and, immediately south of Eritrea, a separate Tigray People’s Liberation Front. When Britain granted independence to Somalia in 1960, the emperor acquired a third, weaker opponent in the form of ethnic Somalis living inside northeastern Ethiopia.
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Ethiopia’s prolonged counterinsurgencies against these groups, especially the EPLF, exacerbated the political and economic problems of its empire. In the process of modernization, the emperor eliminated his traditional bases of power and was thus easily dethroned on September 12, 1974. After violent disagreements between intellectuals and mutinous soldiers, the latter retained control. The Provisional Military Administrative Council, or Derg, formed the new government; over the next decade its onetime vice chairman, Maj. Mengistu Haile Mariam, became the head of a one-party, socialist dictatorship. Mengistu, the son of an army sergeant, was ambitious, shrewd, and incorruptible, but privately insecure.59 Both the Ethiopian government and its principal opponent, the EPLF, were avowedly Marxist-Leninist, but for Mengistu the unity of Ethiopia was paramount, whereas the EPLF, like many Cold War insurgencies, considered ethnic independence to be at least as important as socialism.

Under Haile Selassie, the Ethiopian armed forces had been well trained and equipped primarily with American weapons. Yet, quite apart from equipment losses against the insurgents, these forces became outdated and poorly maintained, especially after the Carter administration terminated aid because of Ethiopian human rights violations. Morale was poor. Both the Ford and Carter administrations misjudged the strength of the Ethiopian regime, believing it would soon fall. The American refusal to assist Mengistu accelerated his drift toward socialism and communist aid.60

Across the border, another revolutionary council, headed by Maj. Gen. Mohammed Siad Barre, seized power in Somalia on October 21, 1969. Siad Barre had been trained in Italy but espoused a mixture of Marxism and Islam. He traded Moscow the use of Somali port facilities for military aid but placed too much trust in the durability of this relationship. Still, the Somali armed forces received significant numbers of effective Soviet weapons, including T-34/85 and T-55 tanks, wheeled BTR-152 armored personnel carriers, plus thirty MiG-21 and ten MiG-17 fighters. In comparison to Ethiopia’s M-41 light and M-47 medium tanks, Somalia’s tank fleet was both larger and more capable, although Ethiopia’s F-5A fighters were generally superior to its opponent’s. At 22,000 men, the Somali army was less than half the size of its Ethiopian counterpart but was more mechanized. It was prepared to conduct a short war of maneuver, but if that failed it could be overwhelmed by its larger opponent.61

Siad Barre and his advisers called themselves Marxists but were primarily motivated by irredentism. They had a strong claim to the desert area opposite Somalia’s border, an area named for the Ogaden, the dominant Somali clan. However, the Somali generals also claimed a much larger, multiethnic area that included such cities as Harar and Dire Dawa. They even coveted Djibouti, which gained independence from France in 1977.

The Ogaden War

Having trained insurgents for several years, in 1975 the Somalis began to infiltrate their proxies into the Ogaden. Ostensibly, this was a spontaneous uprising of the Western Somali Liberation Front (WSLF) and, for other ethnicities, the Somali-Abo Liberation Front, but in fact Somali regular army officers led the troops on the ground. A secret society known as gode (axmen) formed the infrastructure to link fighters to the populace. By early 1977, the Ethiopian government had little control over the region, and convoys between garrison towns were often ambushed. Nonetheless, when Somali army units attacked those towns in June, they were initially driven off.62

On July 13, 1977, the Somali army began an overt offensive against the Ethiopians in the southern Ogaden, while the WSLF intensified attacks farther north to tie down the defenders.63 The invaders had excellent intelligence from their insurgents and overran eastern Ethiopia despite Ethiopian air superiority. Fortunately for the defenders, the Somalis did not attack the city of Dire Dawa, which controlled communications lines to the east, until mid-August, giving the Ethiopians time to prepare. The poorly prepared 2nd Militia Division rallied after almost losing the city to two Somali motorized brigades; when Ethiopian F-5s destroyed sixteen Somali T-55 tanks, the attackers fled in disarray. The Somalis had more success at Jijiga, taking it on August 12 after a bitter struggle. The invading mechanized forces then pursued the defenders beyond the Marda Pass, the loss of which compromised any Ethiopian plan to hold the Ahmar Mountains, the natural defensive position in the region. Yet, the Somalis had difficulty supplying their forward troops, and Soviet-designed vehicles had a high rate of mechanical failure in the harsh terrain and climate.

For five months, beginning in October 1977, the front stalemated. The Somalis attempted to trap the Ethiopian 3rd Division in a bulge southeast of Harar, committing one tank brigade and five motorized brigades. However, the invaders found themselves stymied in repeated frontal attacks against prepared positions. Two Ethiopian paracommando brigades proved especially tenacious, causing the Somalis to withdraw twenty-four kilometers in late November.64

Mengistu’s main contribution to the defense had been to execute suspected “traitors”—a frequent form of motivation in the revolutionary Ethiopian armed forces. Nonetheless, the invasion had galvanized the defenders in a way that insurgency had not. By mid-November, Somali logistical problems combined with Ethiopian nationalism and F-5 strikes to halt the invaders. This gained time for foreign intervention plus superior Ethiopian numbers to regain the initiative.

For their own reasons, Israel and South Africa provided Ethiopia with aid including aircraft maintenance. Moscow and Havana went much farther to help Addis Ababa in this crisis. Perturbed by the prospect of two “socialist” regimes fighting each other, Brezhnev and Castro had tried and failed to mediate between the two. When the communist states refused to provide further aid, Siad Barre expelled the Soviets, confident that the United States would welcome his overtures. Instead, President Carter pursued his policy of noninterference while his advisers were divided as to the significance of Soviet involvement.65 Washington’s refusal to become involved, in combination with Ethiopia’s avowed socialism, enabled Brezhnev to increase Soviet influence in the Horn of Africa. It also allowed the Soviet Army to test some of its military concepts.

Between late October 1977 and mid-January 1978, the Soviet Union delivered weapons and equipment equivalent to the flow it had provided Egypt and Syria during the 1973 war. Ethiopia acquired four hundred T-54/55 tanks plus BMP-1 infantry combat vehicles, BTR-152 armored personnel carriers, BM-21 122 mm multiple rocket launchers, AT-3 Sagger anti-tank missiles, and a variety of field and anti-aircraft artillery. Fifty MiG-17 and MiG-21 fighters, along with Mi-6 and Mi-8 helicopters, also arrived. Libya reportedly paid for some of these weapons, but Ethiopia received most of the $1 billion aid package on credit. By contrast, Somalia received only limited aid from conservative states such as Egypt, Saudi Arabia, imperial Iran, and Pakistan.66 Viewed as the aggressor, Siad Barre’s regime got little international support.

With this Soviet equipment came an influx of foreign military personnel, including 18,000 Cubans, 2,000 Soviets, 2,000 South Yemenis, and 1,000 East Germans. While Havana contributed both trainers and mechanized brigades, Moscow provided the key commanders and staff, many of whom had previously advised the Somalis, to plan the counteroffensive. Gen. Vasili Ivanovich Petrov, first deputy commander of Soviet Ground Forces, chaired the Soviet-Cuban-Ethiopian Combined Supreme Military Strategy Committee. A veteran of World War II and former Somali adviser, Petrov applied current Soviet concepts to the operational problem in Ethiopia.67

On February 1, the defenders portrayed a notional attack south of Dire Dawa to draw Somali forces away from that city. The next day, the Ethiopian 9th Division with two Cuban mechanized brigades conducted a flanking attack, and by February 4 the equivalent of two divisions converged on Jarso. On February 15, the shaken Somali leadership declared national mobilization while its forces withdrew from the area.68

Having cleared the western heights of the Ahmar Mountains, the Ethiopians and Cubans then sought to outflank the Somali defenses at Marda Pass. Again, a deception plan portrayed an imaginary frontal assault on the pass. The Ethiopian 10th Division, plus a Cuban brigade equipped with T-62 tanks, went through the Shebele Pass, fifty–sixty kilometers to the northwest. Human and mule transportation had to resupply the force across mountainous and marshy ground. Reflecting the renewed Soviet interest in air mobility, Mi-8 helicopters airlifted men, fuel, ammunition, and light armor to a plateau northeast of Jijiga, linking up with the 10th Division’s ground advance to take that town. Two lightly equipped Ethiopian brigades moved laterally through the mountains to take Marda Pass from the flank on March 4. Meanwhile, the 69th Militia Brigade, reinforced with tanks and field artillery, outflanked Jijiga and cut the main supply route behind the Somalis. Pounded by Ethiopian and Cuban air strikes, six Somali brigades defended Jijiga for five days before withdrawing, allowing its capture on March 5. The fall of Jijiga was the culmination of the war, followed by three frantic weeks of movement as the Somalis withdrew to their border. The pursuit was not without loss, of course. Water was so scarce in this region that sometimes the thirsty troops had none left for their vehicle batteries and radiators. The Somalis also fought a brilliant delaying battle, mauling the 9th Ethiopian Brigade.69

Thus ended the most significant military campaign of the Cold War in Africa. Ethiopia lost up to 20,000 people killed and wounded, including 160 executed for failure in battle. Cuba acknowledged 163 dead, while Yemen lost an estimated sixty killed.70 Somalia suffered far fewer casualties than Ethiopia, but the losses in experienced troops and equipment rendered the invading army ineffective, and several hundred thousand refugees from the Ogaden further weakened the fragile state. A 1991 civil war led to the overthraw of Siad Barre and set the stage for the chaos that Somalia endured for decades thereafter.

American nonintervention had left the field open for Soviet exploitation. The victorious commander, Petrov, became both a marshal and a Hero of the Soviet Union. Unlike in Angola, Soviet and Cuban policy was well coordinated during the Ogaden War. Subsequently, however, Havana refused to have its troops fight in the continuing counterinsurgency efforts against Eritrea and Tigray, although the continued presence of Cuban forces throughout the 1980s freed more Ethiopian troops to conduct those campaigns.71

Triumphant in the Ogaden War and successful in the ensuing elimination of the WSLF, the Ethiopian regime believed it could now eliminate other insurgencies. A series of major clear-and-hold operations ensued, but the forced relocation and brutalization of the populace only increased resistance. The turning point was Operation Red Star in 1982. Soviet advisers planned the concentration of fourteen Ethiopian divisions, totaling sixty-three brigades, to defeat an estimated ten brigades of the Eritrean People’s Liberation Army, the military arm of the EPLF. By this time, however, the insurgents had captured so many weapons that the operation was more a conventional battle than a counterinsurgency effort. In three months of bloody but fruitless attacks, the government suffered 43,000 killed and wounded, as compared to perhaps 13,000 of the enemy.72 In 1991, the Ethiopian Marxist regime collapsed, and Eritrea achieved independence.

The Rhodesian Bush War, 1965–1980

Attempting to arrange an orderly independence process for its colonies, the British government found itself stymied by Rhodesia. Created as a protectorate by magnate Cecil Rhodes, the colony evolved to the point where only Caucasian landowners could vote. In 1965, this government, headed by Prime Minister Ian Smith, unilaterally declared independence from Britain. Having rejected a forcible resolution, British Prime Minister Harold Wilson found himself in a diplomatic quandary. London lobbied at the UN and elsewhere to ensure that no country recognized Smith’s regime, while also opposing the efforts of numerous African states to insist on universal suffrage, a requirement that seemed to make any compromise impossible.73

This deadlock opened the way for two rival insurgency movements. The Zimbabwe African People’s Union (ZAPU) and its military arm, the Zimbabwe People’s Revolutionary Army (ZIPRA), were Soviet oriented, but in 1963 part of this movement broke away as the Zimbabwe African National Union (ZANU) with the Zimbabwe African National Liberation Army (ZANLA), which gained Chinese backing. Because of these Soviet and Chinese backers, many Caucasians in Rhodesia, and indeed some in Western governments, regarded the insurgents as manifestations of communist expansionism. Again, revolutionary motivation was a mixture of nationalism and Leninist anti-imperialism.
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At first glance, Smith’s government, which represented only 3 percent of the population of Rhodesia, should have gone down to rapid defeat. However, in addition to controlling the levers of national power, the European settlers were initially skillful in dealing with their opponents. Although the government did not really seek the support of the African population, it did apply other counterinsurgency procedures developed in Malaya and Kenya.74 These included the creation of joint operations centers to integrate police, civil, and military efforts at a tactical level, although Smith never allowed his senior commander, Lt. Gen. Peter Walls, the kind of independence enjoyed by Gerald Templer in Malaya or Walter Walker in Borneo.

Normal police procedures, including obtaining intelligence from informers, defeated insurgent attempts at urban terrorism. Special Branch intelligence was equally effective during the 1960s, penetrating the leadership of ZANU and ZAPU. The national law enforcement structure, historically known as the British South Africa Police (BSAP), organized anti-terrorism units to react to threats. In rural areas, the BSAP’s fourteen company-sized “troops” convoyed civilian traffic, while 30,000 volunteer police reservists acted as static guards and, as in Kenya, flew light surveillance aircraft in the Police Air Reserve Wing.

However, neither Special Branch analysts nor BSAP officers were fully prepared for rural counterinsurgency. Apart from conscripted national servicemen, who did not serve actively until late in the conflict, the Rhodesian army was severely limited in manpower and resources, fielding only two conventional and several special operations organizations. The two (later three) battalions of the Rhodesian African Rifles (RAR) had Caucasian officers and African noncoms and soldiers.75 The RAR’s cadre included veterans of a 1956–58 rotation to the Malayan Emergency. Many RAR recruits came from the northern Ndebele people, a Bantu tribe related to the Zulus who strongly identified themselves as warriors and members of the regiment. The principal Caucasian-only army organization was the Rhodesian Light Infantry (RLI), a single battalion of four small companies that attracted soldiers of fortune from numerous countries. With 2,000 regulars in seven squadrons of obsolescent aircraft, the Rhodesian Air Force was equally small for the task at hand.76

At the start of the insurgency, Rhodesia had a single squadron (company) of Special Air Service (SAS), some of whom had trained with the British 22nd SAS. Former members of this squadron furnished both agents for cross-border intelligence missions and trainers for subsequent special operations units. Because of the initial demand for experts to track infiltrating insurgents, the Rhodesian SAS expanded to a regiment of four squadrons, and Rhodesia organized other, unique formations such as the horse-mounted Grey’s Scouts. The largest special operations unit was the Selous Scouts, a mixed-race organization that included defectors from the insurgents. This unit specialized in false flag operations, including pseudo gangs to identify and eliminate genuine insurgent infrastructure. In August 1976, the Selous Scouts conducted a motorized penetration (Operation Eland) of Mozambique, posing as part of Mozambique’s domestic insurgents, or FRELIMO, until they reached and destroyed a ZANLA training base.77 This type of deception led to accusations that Selous Scouts were committing crimes within Rhodesia to blame on their opponents. Many Rhodesian soldiers focused on killing insurgents, even prisoners, regardless of headquarters orders about fair treatment.78

With this small but skilled array of units, the Rhodesian security forces dominated their opponents between 1965 and 1969. Four-man SAS teams tracked the poorly trained insurgents on either side of the Rhodesian border, then called in a “fire force” consisting of four Alouette III helicopters. Three of these each carried four soldiers to dismount, while the fourth contained the Rhodesian army and air force leaders who directed both the dismounted troops and fixed-wing air support. Such tactics destroyed almost every attempt at infiltration before it even contacted the local people, many of whom were either indifferent or afraid of government reprisals. Special Branch and later Selous Scout operations encouraged dissension and distrust within the insurgent ranks. Although land mines hampered military and civilian movement within Rhodesia, the insurgents were effectively stymied.79

The two insurgent armies paused to retrain, based on the different orientations of their patrons. In 1966, ZANLA withdrew from combat for extensive retraining in Maoist insurgency, conducted by Chinese advisers. Decimated by the struggle, the rival ZIPRA withdrew its forces in 1969 and began retraining in Zambia for a Soviet-equipped conventional invasion of Rhodesia. Rhodesian external intelligence identified the training centers involved, leading to long-range raids that repeatedly disrupted ZIPRA’s efforts. ZIPRA then shifted to terror attacks on civilians, attacking rural civilians in Rhodesia and launching SA-7 shoulder-fired missiles to shoot down two Rhodesian airliners in 1968–69.80

With Chinese training and FRELIMO cooperation, in late 1971 the reorganized ZANLA began to operate out of Mozambique, recruiting or coercing the African populace along the Rhodesian border. For almost a year, such operations continued undetected by the Rhodesian forces. By the time ZANLA resumed overt attacks, it had sufficient control of the populace to gather information against its enemy while punishing informers. Rhodesian intelligence responded with a clever ploy, appealing to those who resented FRELIMO actions to join a false front organization called Mozambique National Resistance (Resistência Nacional Moçambicana, or RENAMO). This produced such a flood of recruits that Rhodesia, with its limited resources, had to ask South Africa to train and equip RENAMO, which attacked a number of targets inside Mozambique.81 Despite this, the retrained ZANLA, headed by Robert Mugabe, made significant inroads within Rhodesia.

Larger factors doomed the settler regime in Rhodesia. Quite apart from the long-term effect of economic sanctions, the 1974 military coup in Lisbon signaled the end of Portuguese colonial rule in Angola and Mozambique. Slow to recognize the effect of this coup, Prime Minister Smith failed to compromise with moderate African activists within his state.82 In 1975, Portugal granted independence to its former colonies, leaving Rhodesia almost surrounded by hostile regimes with only South Africa to support it. Eventually, South African Prime Minister Johannes Vorster decided to cut his losses, seeking a compliant African government in Rhodesia.83

Smith’s government did not collapse overnight. Mozambique and especially Angola experienced their own civil wars after independence. Between 1974 and 1979, Rhodesia attacked ZANLA and ZIPRA in at least forty-one external operations of increasing depth and visibility. In November 1977, for example, ninety-seven SAS and ninety-five RLI troops with tactical air and helicopter gunship support raided ninety kilometers inside Mozambique, claiming to have killed 2,000 of the enemy for the loss of only one soldier. The next day, the Rhodesians conducted another raid against Tembue, Mozambique, a distance so great that the raiders had to use two successive refueling points to get their helicopters to the objective.84 Yet, such brilliant tactical successes did not change the overall strategic balance.

A British-supervised election led to a new government under Mugabe in 1980, but the three opposing armies were difficult to integrate into a new armed force. In February 1981, the 1st Battalion, RAR, fought one more time, still wearing its former insignia, to control a rebellious ZIPRA force in the Battle of Bulawayo (also known as the Entumbane Uprising); thereafter, the former Rhodesian armed forces were disbanded.85

Postindependence Angola

The three armies inside Rhodesia were simpler to understand than the multiplicity of players involved in Angola. The prolonged insurgency that led to Angolan independence had left it with a multitude of armed forces, domestic constituencies, and foreign patrons.86

Even table 2.1 is an oversimplification, because supporters and alliances shifted frequently both before and after independence. In 1962, Nikita Khrushchev almost recognized Holden’s claim to govern Angola, apparently unaware of Holden’s American support. After Neto compromised with Holden to form a united front a decade later, the Soviets became so suspicious that Moscow did not initially support Neto when Portugal granted independence.87 Politically, the MPLA and SWAPO used Marxist-Leninist terminology and organization, while the FNLA was Maoist based on Savimba’s training in China. In practice, CIA analysts understood that the principal Angolan leaders had similar goals in terms of independence, agricultural reform, and an end to colonialism. The ensuing civil war was as much about sharing power and spoils as it was about ideology. The Ford administration, however, regarded the possibility of an MPLA government in Angola as a Soviet gain in the Cold War, a gain that required U.S. efforts to at least retard MPLA victory.88


TABLE 2.1. Angolan Factions
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This same possibility of a socialist Angola fueled South Africa’s sense of threat. Prior to 1974, Pretoria had treated insurgency in occupied Southwest Africa (Namibia) as a police matter rather than a military concern. At the time, the South African Defence Force (SADF) had largely obsolete, World War II–era weapons and doctrine. Just in time for Angolan independence, the SADF resurrected the traditional Boer emphasis on maneuver warfare expressed in terms of combined arms, mechanized “battle groups” (battalion task forces). Doctrinally, the professional leaders recognized that military means alone could not defeat insurgencies, although the heavy-handed treatment by citizen reservists and police forces that occupied Namibia often alienated the populace.89

By the Alvor Agreement of January 18, 1975, the MPLA, FNLA, and UNITA agreed to a coalition government. Encouraged by their different patrons, the three groups quickly fell out, leading to civil war. The MPLA initially controlled the capital, Luanda, as well as most of the provincial capitals, and thus declared itself the government of the new nation. The United States and South Africa undertook deniable operations to reverse this situation.
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The “Second Liberation War,” 1975–1976

Beginning in July 1975, the United States expended more than $31 million, its entire clandestine budget, to arm and support FNLA and UNITA forces (Operation IA Feature). Much of this aid was funneled through Zaire. CIA advisers, euphemistically termed intelligence collectors, attempted to train the insurgents, but poor maintenance rendered many weapons inoperative. As the scheduled independence date of November 11 approached, a small army advanced on Luanda from the north. It included the 4th and 7th FAZ Airborne Battalions, several hundred FNLA insurgents, and a hundred Angolans who had formally served in the Portuguese commando forces. The invasion also included twelve armored cars, six 106 mm recoilless rifles, four 5.5-inch (140 mm) guns (manned by South Africans) and two North Korean copies of the Soviet M46 (130 mm) gun, with both CIA and South African advisers. Some 180 miles to the east, advancing on a parallel road, were four FNLA battalions and a FAZ regiment, in total perhaps 2,000 men.90 The MPLA government appeared to be on the edge of defeat.

At the same time, one hundred miles southeast of Luanda, a South African armored column backed a UNITA advance toward the capital (Operation Savannah).91 One battalion-sized element advanced along the coastline, seizing ports, while the other moved parallel to it but farther inland. Although Prime Minister Vorster hoped that this small, unacknowledged effort would overthrow the MPLA government, Pretoria’s main concern was to protect both Namibia and the large hydroelectric plant that it had constructed in southern Angola.

Cuba had a long-standing but low-key relationship with the MPLA and had sent equipment and a few advisers in July 1975, supervised by the Cuban Military Mission (Misión Militar de Cuba en Angola, or MMCA).92 The dual advance on Luanda threatened not only the new government but also Cuba’s entire investment in African socialist movements. On November 3, the MPLA council urgently requested Cuban reinforcements. Havana responded within hours, launching Operation Carlota. With one significant exception, Castro conducted this deployment using his own assets, without Soviet support. Fortunately for the Cubans, over the previous three years their army had benefited from extensive Soviet training and equipment, transforming a revolutionary light infantry force into a trained mechanized army.

In the short run, this Cuban operation had two key components. The Cuban government sent an elite battalion of the Interior Ministry (MININT) by air, using Bristol Britannica civilian transports whose limited range required numerous refueling stops. More urgently, Cuba had just trained its first crews on the BM-21 multiple rocket launcher (MRL); twenty experienced crewmen flew to Angola immediately to operate them. To move the necessary weapons, a Soviet pilot risked his crew by landing a heavy transport aircraft on an unsafe runway at Pointe Noire in Congo (Brazzaville), from which a Cuban ship transferred six MRLs to Angola.93 None of the participants in the anti-Portuguese insurgency had ever encountered this type of firepower before, and the BM-21’s twelve-mile (19.3 km) range outdistanced most of the obsolescent weapons used by the MPLA’s opponents.

These emergency deployments had a disproportionate effect on the defense of Luanda. A single BM-21 salvo hit the leading vessel of a riverine attack south of Cabinda, breaking up that attack with the aid of Mbumbe’s FLNC troops. More significantly, on November 11 a Cuban-cadred MPLA battalion, backed by several BM-21s, shattered the Zaire-FNLA force at Quifangondo. Most of the attackers fled in panic and later vented their anger by abusing local villagers, further strengthening support for the MPLA.94 The FNLA never recovered from this defeat, and Roberto’s desperate attempts to hire European mercenaries only produced a series of atrocities.95 The U.S. Congress, which was already investigating the CIA, concluded that the agency had misled it about the nature of American involvement in Angola. The Tunney and Clark Amendments blocked U.S. assistance to Angolan opposition groups until repealed in 1985.96

Halting the capable South African force was more difficult. The first company of the Cuban MININT battalion blew up three bridges over the Queve River on November 13, 1975, but overlooked a fourth, allowing SADF Battle Group Foxtrot to continue its exploitation. Ten days later, Foxtrot came to an abrupt, bloody halt at the Ebo crossing over the Mabassa River. Two companies of the MPLA’s military arm, the FAPLA (Forças Armadas Populares de Libertação de Angola, People’s Armed Forces of Liberation of Angola), backed by a BM-21 battery and a single 76.2 mm gun, mauled the leading SADF company, claiming seven armored cars destroyed and thirty opponents killed. Foxtrot regrouped, and on December 11–12, having repaired a damaged bridge, it decimated a FAPLA battalion. By this time, however, Pretoria had decided to halt its advance, due in part to worldwide condemnation and a sense that Washington had used South Africa as a scapegoat. In late January, the South Africans withdrew from southern Angola.97

The Cuban-MPLA success in halting their adversaries reaped great prestige for the two regimes. Fidel Castro, whose star had been eclipsed during the 1970s, again became a respected leader of the Third World. Yet, the cost for both Cuba and Angola proved to be unimaginably high.

Stalemate

By the time Pretoria withdrew its forces, the long-term Cuban response to Angola had begun to take effect. Having mobilized thousands of reservists, Cuba deployed a larger, more heavily equipped force behind its initial airlifted elements. Between November 1975 and March 1976, the Cuban armed forces sent 42,000 troops with their equipment. Once the Clark Amendment indicated that Washington would not intervene, Moscow provided more capable aircraft to move Cuban troops and offered vast quantities of weapons, including T-34 and T-54 tanks, BM-21s, and armored vehicles, for the FAPLA.98

With Operation Carlota a success, by mid-1976 Castro sought to withdraw from Angola. Ironically, however, the Cubans, who had long trumpeted their success as guerrillas, found themselves trapped in a counterinsurgency that they labeled, echoing the Batista regime two decades earlier, as a “struggle against bandits.” The Cuban government continued to portray its mission as defending Angolans from external aggression, and the majority of MMCA troops remained in garrisons. These were strung along an east–west line located eighty to one hundred miles north of the Namibian border, ostensibly blocking South African invasion with twenty combat regiments. The continued survival of the FNLA and especially of UNITA, in combination with periodic SADF raids against SWAPO camps in southern Angola, made it politically difficult for Havana to withdraw. Between 1975 and 1991, some 430,000 Cubans served as soldiers, airmen, medics, or teachers in Angola, a phenomenal investment for a nation of fewer than 10 million.99

Pretoria was trapped in this situation as much as Havana. Especially after the failure of the Caucasian government in Rhodesia, South Africa felt besieged by threats that it labeled as communist because of the rhetoric of its opponents. The most significant of these groups were SWAPO in SADF-occupied Namibia and the military arm of the African National Congress, Mkhonto we Sizwe (Spear of the Nation, MK) within South Africa itself. Each side sponsored insurgencies against the other, but neither side could achieve a definitive military victory. Moreover, the rhetoric of national liberation and Marxism-Leninism constantly reinforced the Boers’ sense of a vast communist threat to their survival. As early as 1977, Pretoria had accepted that Namibian independence was unavoidable, but a Marxist SWAPO regime was unacceptable.100 The Angolan civil war became a stalemate, with periodic incidents of mechanized conventional warfare punctuating ongoing insurgencies.

Like the Rhodesian settler government, much of South Africa’s military was composed of citizen reservists with limited training, so that the burden of the conflict fell primarily on a few professional units. Based on Operation Savannah, the SADF eventually created permanent mechanized task forces, especially 61 Mechanized Battalion and various units from 1 South African Infantry Regiment. Like most African militaries, these units were equipped primarily with wheeled armor, especially the Ratel infantry fighting vehicle. Such vehicles could move rapidly along primitive roads and weak bridges but became stuck in trenches or rainy weather. A group of former FNLA troops known as 32 Battalion, based in Namibia under SADF leaders, conducted deniable cross-border operations against SWAPO and later MK.101

In Namibia itself, South Africa stalled and contained SWAPO in the early 1980s. The SADF adopted the tracking and fire force tactics of the Rhodesians, while also attempting to win the support of the local populace. An oversized 101 Battalion, drawn from the same Ovambo tribe as the insurgents, became very effective, and other tribal groups provided only limited support to SWAPO. Security forces rather than SWAPO initiated up to 85 percent of tactical contacts, and the number of land mine and other attacks declined during the 1980s. What Pretoria could not achieve was an end to Angolan support for the insurgents.102

The United States pursued a varied and sometimes contradictory policy on Angola. The Reagan administration sought to eliminate what it regarded as the communist satellite government of Angola, yet American petroleum companies provided much of that government’s income. In 1985, the U.S. Congress repealed the Clark Amendment and resumed aid to UNITA, even though Washington still held Pretoria at arm’s length. Echoing similar aid in Afghanistan, the Reagan administration began to provide TOW anti-tank missiles and Stinger surface-to-air missiles to UNITA, reducing the effectiveness of Cuban armor and air support.

In early 1984, the Soviet Union used its leverage in finances and airlift to take control of military decisions in Angola. Several billion dollars in additional equipment followed, including SA-8 (NATO designation Gecko) air defense missiles, T-62 tanks, MiG-23 and Su-22 fighters, and Mi-24 attack helicopters. Although the Soviets expected Angola to pay for this, the new state was too poor. In three successive conventional campaigns (1985–87), Soviet commanders attempted to mass FAPLA forces to occupy southeastern Angola and eliminate UNITA. Each time, the combination of fragile logistics, inexperienced leaders, and SADF spoiling actions wrecked the Soviet plans.103 Soviet tactical advisers were competent and brave, but overall these campaigns failed. In July 1985, twenty FAPLA brigades with T-62s, Cuban air support, and Soviet advisers to battalion level advanced on the UNITA “capital” of Mavinga. South Africa airlifted UNITA troops to the threatened area and provided air and ground fire support to halt the advance; a SADF Mirage shot down an aircraft filled with Soviet planners, sent to reorganize the offensive. The next year, a series of UNITA and SADF raids unhinged the attackers’ air defense and logistical networks. Finally, in Operation Saludade Octubre (Saluting October) in the summer of 1987, the Soviets planned to use two pincers, each of two reinforced brigades, to take Mavinga, but bogged down quickly. The MPLA government, desperate to eliminate UNITA, had supported this plan, wrongly believing that Soviet air defense missiles would neutralize the South Africans.104

Recognizing that covert responses were insufficient, the SADF mounted Operation Modular (August–October 1987), in which 20 Brigade tried first to thwart the FAPLA advance and then, after initial success, to destroy all the FAPLA forces east of the Cuito River. As in the initial campaign twelve years before, Pretoria had no consistent strategy or overall objectives.

By October 3, 1987, the SADF had effectively destroyed 47th FAPLA Brigade, with an estimated six hundred dead and 127 armored vehicles destroyed. Overall, Saludade Octubre cost 4,000 FALPA casualties plus twenty Cuban and four Soviet dead. Elated, SADF leaders reinforced 20 Brigade with 4 Infantry Battalion Group, including SADF’s newest artillery (G6 self-propelled guns) and armor (the Olifant variant of Centurion tanks).105

Cuban forces became involved in the widening struggle, and Castro saw an opportunity to regain his leading role in strategy and international relations, not to mention reenergizing younger Cubans with revolutionary zeal. Responding to MPLA pleas, Castro not only committed the MMCA troops against South Africa but ordered the deployment from Cuba of the Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias’ best unit, the 50th Division, as well as his best-trained fighter pilots.106

The result was a series of engagements, collectively known as the Battle of Cuito Cuanavale, between November 1987 and March 1988. Both sides claimed victory;107 and given their vast numerical superiority, the MMCA and FAPLA should have easily overcome one reinforced brigade. Certainly, the arrival of Cuban units and cadres helped restore the shaken morale of the FAPLA defeated in previous battles. In practice, however, Cuito Cuanavale was a draw, at least at the operational and strategic levels. On February 14, 1988, the South Africans ambushed and virtually destroyed a Cuban-led tank battalion. Thereafter, each time the SADF task forces advanced, Cuban-planned minefields slowed and canalized the attackers, after which air and artillery support brought them to a halt in front of prepared defenses.

Facing mounting casualties without any clear objective, both sides sought a negotiated settlement. Castro falsely claimed enormous victories, which made it possible politically for Cuba to sign the New York Accords of December 22, 1988. By this agreement, Cuban forces withdrew from Angola over the next thirty months, while Pretoria evacuated Namibia. At the MPLA’s insistence, however, UNITA and SWAPO were not party to these agreements, so fighting staggered on for years.

This chapter has considered only the most significant conflicts in postcolonial Africa. The degree to which such campaigns were part of the Cold War depends on the eye of the beholder. Although there were genuine Marxist-Leninists among African elites, many leaders placed independence and national or tribal identity above ideological purity; they accepted communist bloc aid and espoused communist rhetoric primarily to achieve their own ends. As Nelson Mandela observed at his 1963 trial, “It is true that there has often been close cooperation between the [African National Congress] and the Communist Party. But cooperation is merely proof of a common goal—in this case the removal of white supremacy—and is not a proof of complete community of interests.”108 Similarly, Soviet theorists insisted that they were aiding the anti-imperialist struggle rather than engaging in a Cold War rivalry.109

In practice, however, such distinctions meant nothing to the governments of Western powers and of Caucasian settler regimes. Even when officials recognized that African leaders were acting in their own interests, the zero-sum logic of the Cold War meant that regimes supported by the communist bloc and insurgencies espousing Marxist-Leninist rhetoric were presumed to be opponents of Western values and trade.

Quite apart from that, the Western and Soviet bloc flow of weapons, advisers, and even combat troops supercharged local rebellions and wars, making those conflicts far more lethal and enduring than they might otherwise have been. Considering only the selected instances discussed in this chapter, the Soviet Union expended more than $4 billion in military aid in Africa over three decades, and Western military aid, while difficult to quantify, probably approached the same level. The Cold War was also responsible for the injection of thousands of foreign troops, including pro-and anti-Castro Cubans, Soviet bloc and Western military advisers, and mercenaries in the Congolese and Rhodesian armed forces.

Millions of Africans paid the price for this well-intentioned military assistance, a price exacted in killed, wounded, and displaced. Even today, decades after the confrontation in Angola, land mines continue to claim innocent victims in that country.




CHAPTER 3

LATIN AMERICA 1960–1988

10:00 P.M., April 29, 1965

Maj. Gen. Robert York, commander of the 82nd Airborne Division, came forward to the flight deck of the C-130 transport aircraft piloted by Col. William Welch, the USAF commander of the airlift. Behind them were the blinking navigation lights of 143 other C-130s, carrying two airborne infantry battalions plus supporting troops from Pope Air Force Base, North Carolina, southward over the Atlantic. The force was headed for Ramey Air Force Base in northwestern Puerto Rico, where it would prepare for possible further deployment to strife-torn Santo Domingo in the Dominican Republic.

Now, however, York learned that Deputy Defense Secretary Cyrus Vance had diverted the brigade in midair; the Dominican situation was deteriorating so rapidly that Vance believed the United States had to intervene that night, without stopping at Ramey. Despite this urgency, a concern for public relations perceptions trumped practical considerations. The brigade was rigged for a combat parachute drop, with its vehicles and equipment lashed to pallets and surrounded by packing materials to absorb the shock of hard landings. Yet, the Johnson administration had decided that such a drop would appear too warlike. Instead, the C-130s would land at San Isidro airfield, east of the capital city, after which the 82nd would have to disentangle itself from its airborne paraphernalia, adding further confusion to a situation that was already muddled at best. For the third time in four years, U.S. leaders believed they were confronting revolutionary Cuba, but there was no clearly identifiable enemy on the ground.1

The Dominican Problem

The thirty-one-year dictatorship of Rafael Trujillo Molina ended with his assassination in 1961. A series of short-lived regimes followed, of which the most significant were those of the moderate Joaquin Balaguer, defeated in elections in December 1962, and Juan Bosch, his more liberal but inept successor, who was overthrown by a military coup in September 1963.2

The leader of that coup was Col. (later general) Elias Wessin y Wessin, a rabid anti-communist who controlled the Armed Forces Training Center (Centro de Entrenamiento de las Fuerzas Armadas, or CEFA), a 2,000-man separate army and air force based on San Isidro. To satisfy the United States, the new military rulers promised free elections, appointing a provisional government that was eventually headed by Donald Reid Cabral. Reid’s independence and anti-corruption policies offended the Dominican military, which therefore remained neutral when his government was threatened in 1965.

To discourage a new dictatorship, the U.S. used military demonstrations, such as a treetop-level overflight of marine aircraft near Santo Domingo that persuaded Trujillo’s brothers to go into exile instead of seizing power. More fundamentally, however, the poverty of the Dominican people made them potential supporters of Bosch and more radical groups inspired by communist Cuba. In anticipation of such a threat, President Johnson’s advisers prepared various options if intervention became necessary. The responsible unified headquarters, Atlantic Command (LANTCOM), included these options within Operations Plan (OPLAN) 310–2.3 Like most contingency plans, however, it became obsolete, in part because it was too highly classified for effective study by the people who would execute it. In early 1965, LANTCOM published a revision identified as OPLAN 310–2/65. Neither the XVIII Airborne Corps nor the 82nd Airborne Division had received copies of this version when they were alerted on April 26, 1965, which caused more misunderstandings.4 In any event, the plan was really a set of deployment options without specific objectives or tactical concepts; the political situation changed so frequently that the U.S. government lacked a detailed understanding of the situation on the ground. Perhaps as a result, the planners expected that the intervention would be a brief show of force rather than the prolonged peacekeeping effort that ensued.

The U.S. military of the 1960s was still decades away from developing interservice integration at a tactical level. Underneath LANTCOM the commander, Second Fleet, headed Joint Task Force (JTF) 122, which would have to coordinate the assigned elements of the four separate services. The marine corps regularly worked with naval transports and the XVIII Airborne Corps practiced with USAF transport aircraft, but once they reached their destination, the four services were unfamiliar with procedures for mutual support.5 The most skilled and knowledgeable officers avoided assignment to such joint headquarters because those assignments took them away from traditional career paths within their parent services.

The Dominican crisis also reflected the continuing friction between American civilian and military leaders. President Johnson shared with his predecessor a belief that soldiers were too parochial to make strategic decisions. Without the stature that the intellectual Maxwell Taylor had enjoyed as chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, his successor, Gen. Earle Wheeler, often found himself bypassed by the Johnson administration. There was no legal obligation to consult Wheeler, but bypassing him denied civilian leaders the best advice as to how to achieve their policy objectives. As their experience grew, Defense Secretary Robert McNamara and his deputy, Vance, involved themselves more directly in operational matters. No military officers participated in discussions at the White House until late on April 29, five days after the crisis began. Instead, Dean Rusk’s State Department attempted to manage the crisis without knowledge of the military problems involved in rapid deployment.6

On Thursday, April 22, President Reid dismissed seven officers whom he suspected of plotting to restore the exiled Juan Bosch to power. Three days later, while U.S. Ambassador William T. Bennett and most of the American military advisers were out of the country, a military coup arrested Reid. The rebels styled themselves as “Constitutionalists” because they sought to restore Bosch’s government. Wessin y Wessin had no desire to see Bosch reinstated, but he failed to take decisive action against the plotters. In the confusion, numerous rebels and ordinary hoodlums seized weapons and began to terrorize the city.7

While the White House and State Department tried to assess the shifting situation, the Joint Chiefs of Staff and Adm. Thomas H. Moorer, commander-in-chief, Atlantic (CINCLANT), took a number of precautions. On Sunday, April 25, Moorer ordered the Caribbean Readiness Group to sail from Vieques Island (an exercise site off the coast of Puerto Rico) toward Santo Domingo. This group of six vessels carried the 6th Marine Expeditionary Unit (MEU), a battalion task force with supporting arms and aviation, including helicopters. Late the next day, the JCS alerted two battalions of the 82nd Airborne. By Wednesday the 28th, Moorer decided to activate JTF 122 and dispatch the Second Fleet commander, Vice Adm. Kleber Masterson, by air to assume command on the spot. Until his full staff could arrive on the command ship Newport News, Masterson had only a small nucleus including several army officers.8

In the interim, on Tuesday, April 27, the 6th MEU evacuated 1,000 Americans and other foreign nationals without an armed landing, but many more Americans remained trapped in the worsening situation. Fearing that radicals would dominate the Constitutionalists, on Wednesday Ambassador Bennett requested that the 6th MEU land five hundred marines, anticipating Johnson’s 6:00 P.M. decision to authorize intervention. Secretary McNamara again bypassed the Joint Chiefs in directing the move.9 This unilateral American intervention irritated the Organization of American States (OAS), which had been debating a multinational action.

Ostensibly, the marine landing was to facilitate evacuation and reinforce the embassy guard, but in fact Rusk and Johnson were concerned by the possibility of a communist conspiracy. This concern grew as the crisis developed, and veterans later insisted that they had captured weapons whose serial numbers matched those the United States had once sold to Cuba. The true extent of any communist threat is open to conjecture, and critics have dismissed it as a myth. Nevertheless, the 1965 Dominican crisis proved far bloodier and longer-lasting than previous such situations, and the administration sincerely believed that the island was vulnerable to a pro-Castro takeover.10

This concern led to the deployment of the 82nd Airborne troops, but their commander, General York, had to develop his own mission statement without intelligence or guidance from Washington. He had opted to prepare for a parachute assault, even though this was riskier than landing administratively, because he had no idea what reception the U.S. troops would encounter.11 Yet, any parachute landing on the hard surfaces around the airfield was likely to produce numerous injuries. While still airborne, York received another message appointing him commander of all U.S. ground forces in the Dominican Republic, even though he had no knowledge of marine dispositions nor any means of communicating with them.12
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Santo Domingo, 1965–1966. Map by Erin Greb Cartography.



Fortunately for the safety of the parachutists, Admiral Masterson had dispatched several naval aviators by helicopter to San Isidro to reconnoiter that evening. Finding the airfield closed for the night, these officers turned on the runway lights and talked down the first aircraft. All the troop-carrying aircraft, plus 46 of the 111 equipment and supply C-130s, crowded onto the airfield, filling the parking aprons while the troops cut their equipment loose with axes and unloaded the aircraft by hand. The remaining planes had to return to Ramey, their original destination, where unfamiliar ground crews performed the same heavy labor, then reloaded the aircraft for conventional landing at San Isidro the next day. This shuffling inevitably delayed USAF efforts to return the aircraft to North Carolina, service them, and then lift follow-on elements of the division. Still, by dint of such efforts, the 3rd Brigade, 82nd Airborne Division, was ready to begin operations at dawn on April 30.13

Armed Diplomacy

When Admiral Masterson finally met with General York, the two found that they had independently arrived at the same operational concept, under which the available marines would secure the western portion of Santo Domingo while the 82nd Airborne pushed out from San Isidro, located east of the city, and secured the critical Duarte Bridge. Until additional U.S. troops arrived, they would have to rely on Dominican loyalist troops to bridge the gap. By helicopter, York flew first to the U.S. Embassy and then to the junta headquarters at San Isidro to coordinate this plan. Although Washington claimed to be neutral in the political crisis, U.S. troop movements on the ground were increasingly identified with the loyalist junta against the Constitutionalists. Both sides wore the same uniforms, which hampered American efforts to identify friend from foe.

Early on the morning of April 30, 1st Battalion, 508th Infantry, reinforced with reconnaissance, engineers, and a company from another battalion, left San Isidro and secured the Duarte Bridge at a cost of five wounded. Soon thereafter, the papal nuncio, equivalent to an ambassador, negotiated a cease-fire that would have left the two American forces divided permanently. Johnson’s personal emissary, Ambassador John B. Martin, compounded this problem on Saturday, May 1, when he negotiated with the head of the Constitutionalists, Col. Francisco Caamaño. Working from an Esso oil company roadmap and with no American military adviser present, Martin agreed to leave Caamaño’s forces in control of most of the city.

Such was the situation when Lt. Gen. Bruce R. Palmer Jr. arrived on May 1 to become commander of the expanded land forces component (JTF 120). Anxious to resolve the crisis as quickly as possible, President Johnson had instructed General Wheeler to send whatever forces were necessary and find “the best general in the Pentagon” to head the operation. Because the XVIII Airborne Corps commander was on the verge of retirement, Wheeler chose Palmer, then the army’s deputy chief of staff for operations. Officially, Wheeler explained, the mission was to protect American lives and property, but in addition he wanted Palmer to “prevent another Cuba” and avoid a prolonged conflict such as that in Vietnam. The chairman also told Palmer to report directly to him, bypassing Admirals Moorer and Masterson.14

Palmer traveled to Fort Bragg, North Carolina, where XVIII Airborne Corps provided him with a small staff and communications. The new JTF commander reached San Isidro soon after midnight on May 1, despite a failure of runway lights that forced the C-130 pilot to land on a darkened strip in a driving rainstorm. General York was somewhat irked by his sudden replacement as head of the joint ground forces, but Palmer and his staff could now shield York’s division headquarters from many of the political and joint staff duties they had been performing.

Neither general was satisfied with the cease-fire agreement, which Palmer attributed to the papal nuncio and refused to recognize where it blocked his mission. Palmer had the 82nd send out a strong patrol to contact the marines, demonstrating at the cost of two dead paratroopers the possibility of a linkup. Ambassador Martin recognized the military value of this action but believed the United States would be blamed for the resulting bloodshed. The diplomatic protests and adverse publicity produced by this action prompted Johnson to hesitate about sending the additional combat forces that commanders on the ground had requested. Later that same day, May 1, the president asked for estimates of the forces and casualties involved if the two U.S. forces linked up permanently. Fortunately, Ambassador Bennett strongly seconded Admiral Masterson’s request for reinforcements, but the final plan had to be approved by Bennett, Martin, the Joint Chiefs, Admiral Moorer, and an OAS committee that arrived on the scene. After all these debates, the linkup operation was anti-climactic. Beginning at one minute after midnight of May 3, the three battalions of the 82nd Airborne Division’s 2nd Brigade leapfrogged through each other to secure a corridor to the marines. The only shooting occurred when a rebel sniper instigated a firefight between the two American forces at their linkup point; General Palmer walked forward personally to stop the firing. The Constitutionalists were now confined to the southeastern corner of Santo Domingo. However, the Americans’ use of obsolete maps meant that the airborne advance unwittingly bypassed Radio Santo Domingo, which remained a rebel propaganda tool for weeks.15

Dominican Communications and Logistics

Unlike the flexible satellite and Internet links of the twenty-first century, the fragile communications available in 1965 further complicated American operations in the Dominican Republic. Because of the piecemeal implementation of OPLAN 310–2/65, Strike Command’s joint communications team, specifically intended for such contingencies, never deployed to Santo Domingo. Instead, marine radios flown into the American embassy on April 28 proved unable to contact the ships offshore, so that the embassy had to rely on an amateur (“ham”) radio operator on the staff. Because the Constitutionalists controlled the underwater cable to Puerto Rico, as late as May 7 Ambassador Bennett’s conversations with President Johnson were subject to eavesdropping. Admiral Masterson’s ships had frequent communications interruptions with LANTCOM in Norfolk, Virginia, and the helicopter carrier USS Boxer had to lower some antennae each time it conducted flight operations. General Palmer could only contact Fort Bragg and the Pentagon through his Special Security Office team; secure voice communications with Wheeler or Johnson were only possible by visiting an Air National Guard EC-130 aircraft stationed at San Isidro. Not until mid-May did army and air force planners establish long-range links with higher headquarters.16

Frequent changes in the command structure also resulted in misrouted messages. Ultimately, on May 7 Palmer was designated commander, U.S. Forces Dominican Republic (USFORDOMREP) with the USAF and USN elements remaining separate but in direct support of him; JTF 122 was dissolved.17

By that point, Palmer had the entire 82nd Airborne Division plus the 4th Marine Expeditionary Brigade (with three battalions) in Santo Domingo. The rush to deploy combat units delayed the arrival of essential communications and support elements. Eventually, however, Palmer controlled much of the 7th Special Forces Group and 5th Logistical Command as well as several psychological operations and civil affairs units. A utility helicopter company slated for Vietnam was also diverted southward. Two USAF fighter squadrons and a reconnaissance unit deployed to Puerto Rico in early May, establishing air patrols over the area and searching for signs of Cuban infiltration.18

From American Intervention to International Peacekeeping

Although Washington had initially intervened to support a specific political faction, its troops soon assumed a more neutral role, maintaining the peace until a new government coalesced. The corridor Palmer had created on May 3 became a buffer zone between loyalists and Constitutionalists, with airborne troops manning checkpoints. To discourage violence, General Palmer severely restricted the American use of deadly force. He forbade the employment of all mortars and other indirect fire weapons and limited small arms to direct responses to hostile fire. Dominican snipers pushed the limits of these rules, openly carrying weapons when they approached American checkpoints, secure in the knowledge that the Americans would not fire first. Eventually, Palmer widened the corridor to discourage sniping. The U.S. troops also assisted international agencies in providing relief aid, and the local populace soon offered more smiles than rocks to the Americans.19

On May 13, the loyalist “Government of National Reconstruction,” headed by Col. Antonio Imbert, launched an offensive to clear the Constitutionalists on the northern side of the American corridor. When this advance resulted in great loss of life, President Johnson ordered the American forces to block the runways at San Isidro, preventing Dominican F-51 fighters from supporting the ground attack. Thus, the American force thwarted a military solution by either side.

This American neutrality was part of an administration effort to gain Latin American support for the intervention. On May 6, 1965, Washington pressured the OAS into creating an international headquarters that became known as the Inter-American Peace Force (IAPF). Six Latin American nations provided forces, but with the exception of Brazil these small contributions were an added logistical burden, transported and supported by the United States.

From the viewpoint of Admiral Moorer and General Palmer, such logistical requirements were far less significant than the sacrifice of control when the United States agreed that Brazilian Gen. Hugo Panasco Alvim would be the IAPF commander, with Palmer as his deputy. Although Palmer’s U.S. headquarters provided the bulk of the staff and support for the new organization, Alvim brought his own Brazilian operations officer. General Alvim was a dedicated anti-communist who was far from being a figurehead, although as head of the largest troop contingent, Palmer continued to exercise great influence.20

As another incentive to gain OAS approval, the Johnson administration had promised to reduce the American presence in the Dominican Republic. The withdrawal began with the 4th Marine Expeditionary Brigade, which departed completely by June 6, 1965. This withdrawal not only simplified logistics but also removed the aura of gunboat diplomacy associated with the historical role of marines in the Caribbean.21

The heaviest fighting of the entire intervention occurred ten days after the marine departure. On June 15–16, Colonel Caamaño launched a new attack, apparently intended to inflict casualties that would put the IAPF into question. Yet Caamaño lost heavily in the ensuing engagement. The Brazilian troops responded with a heavy volume of fire, and the 82nd Airborne reacted promptly, clearing fifty-six blocks of the city before Palmer halted them to maintain the appearance of political neutrality. In addition to five Americans killed, the engagement cost thirty-six American and five Brazilian troops wounded, while the Constitutionalists lost sixty-one dead, eighty-one wounded, and 353 detained.22

This IAPF victory strengthened the compromise efforts of the OAS commission led by Ambassador Ellsworth Bunker. To ensure close cooperation with Bunker and Bennett, General Palmer located his headquarters adjacent to the American embassy. By contrast, General Alvim became increasingly uncomfortable with IAPF policies and diplomatic maneuvers.

Over the next seven months, the OAS commission negotiated a provisional government under Hector Garcia-Godoy, who was inaugurated on September 3, and moved toward democratic elections. Military force had to support every step of this process. On September 9, for example, Palmer and Brig. Gen. John R. Deane Jr. had to walk into Wessin y Wessin’s fortified headquarters and persuade him to accept exile. A month later, on October 13–14, American troops escorted the remnants of Constitutionalist forces out of Santo Domingo to begin the gradual reintegration of the armed forces. When the Dominican police hesitated to occupy rebel areas, the 82nd Airborne did so without firing a shot by another night advance on October 25. The IAPF then removed most of its checkpoints within the city, concentrating in base camps with reaction forces on call. On November 21–22, a company of 2nd Battalion, 508th Infantry, accompanied Dominican troops to the city of Santiago in a show of force that discouraged Constitutionalist resistance. More delicately, on December 19 the same battalion had to extricate Colonel Caamaño from a confrontation with the loyalists. The loyalists had surrounded Caamaño and 150 other armed rebels attending a rebel memorial service, but the Americans inserted between the two sides defused the crisis.

General Alvim resisted President Garcia-Godoy’s requests for the IAPF to enforce the new government’s authority.23 On January 6, 1966, Alvim refused to recapture Radio Santo Domingo from loyalist troops who had attempted a coup; Ambassador Bunker broke the deadlock by telling Alvim that U.S. troops would conduct the operation anyway, while General Palmer persuaded the armed forces minister, Adm. Francisco Rivera, not to resist Garcia-Godoy. This was the final incident for Alvim, who objected to protecting “communists” such as Caamaño while removing anti-communists such as Wessin y Wessin and Rivera. Bunker arranged a face-saving compromise whereby both Alvim and Palmer departed the country on January 17, to be replaced, respectively, by Brazilian Maj. Gen. Avaro Brago and Palmer’s chief of staff, Brig. Gen. Robert Linvill.

Throughout this period, the U.S. Army practiced its new doctrine of stability operations, using a combination of civic action, training of local armed forces, and psychological warfare. CIA and special forces teams found little political resistance in the provinces, while army engineers and civil affairs units provided assistance to the poor of the Dominican Republic.

In June 1966, Joaquim Balanguer defeated Juan Bosch in a presidential election monitored by the OAS and the UN. With democratic rule restored, the OAS voted to withdraw the IAPF. General Linvill boarded the last aircraft on September 21, ending the eighteen-month intervention.

The Dominican intervention cost the United States 27 killed in action, 20 noncombat fatalities, and 172 wounded, for a total of 219 casualties. The Latin American contingents of the Inter-American Peace Force lost an additional 17 wounded and 1 noncombat dead.24 As in the Lebanon intervention seven years earlier, the need for a joint land forces headquarters meant that the U.S. Army provided the bulk of both troops and staff officers, the latter taken primarily from the headquarters of XVIII Airborne Corps. This prolonged deployment placed even greater demands on the army’s resources during the buildup for Vietnam.

The Dominican Republic also provided an early example of the diplomatic and peacekeeping roles that dominated American military operations during the 1990s. Both marines and soldiers found that plans and training for combat operations provided poor preparation for the difficult role of peacekeeping, and that even “stability operations” required diplomacy as much as military security. In such situations, local commanders had to develop their own missions and rules of engagement, their own means of distinguishing friend from foe, and their own procedures for protecting the troops without using excessive force.

Bolivia, 1967

The overt political confrontation in the Dominican Republic proved to be the exception during the 1960s, when the examples of China, Vietnam, and Cuba inspired young leftists to launch popular insurgencies more often than conventional wars and revolutions. Given the widespread poverty and growing anti-American nationalism of local populations in Latin America, both the leftists and their opposing governments anticipated similar uprisings throughout the region. Several thousand idealists, most of them university educated, visited Cuba for guerrilla training in the early 1960s, while the United States trained numerous Latin American officers in counterinsurgency.25 Marxist groups organized two different guerrilla efforts in Venezuela (Revolutionary Left Movement, 1961, and Armed Forces of National Liberation, 1963) as well as insurgencies in Peru (National Liberation Army, 1962), Colombia (National Liberation Army, 1964), Guatemala (Rebel Armed Forces, 1962–65), and Nicaragua (Sandinistas, 1961). Yet, contrary to the boasts of Castro and Guevara, these groups found it difficult to build popular support among the often conservative populations.26 Only the Sandinistas survived, and it took them eighteen years to achieve victory over a particularly unpopular regime.

The traditional, Moscow-oriented communist parties of Latin America opposed guerrilla efforts, believing correctly that conditions for insurgency did not yet exist. The Bolivian effort was in part Castro’s response to this, to demonstrate the correctness of his plan. He and Guevara conceived of a strategy to overthrow the various governments of the Andes, beginning with Bolivia simply because it would form a central base for other efforts. In November 1966, a disguised Guevara moved to rural southeastern Bolivia, where with eighteen veterans of Cuban revolutionary struggle he established the Ejército de Liberación Nacional de Bolivia (National Liberation Army of Bolivia, or ELN).27 He attracted three Peruvians and (at various times) up to twenty-nine Bolivian followers, many of them urban intellectuals who were not physically hardened for the struggle. In December, the head of the Bolivian Communist Party met with Guevara but disagreed with both the guerrilla concept and the idea of a foreigner leading it. Given his experience advising the Congolese, Guevara demanded complete control over the Bolivian effort; he received no support from the local party, while the CIA penetrated Cuban efforts to create an urban base in La Paz.28

After four months of clandestine training, the ELN began to attack the Bolivian army with considerable success, including capturing the first company commander sent to pursue it. Yet, these attacks did not provoke the kind of government overreaction that would drive the populace to support the rebels. Instead, both the American and Bolivian governments took sophisticated steps, applying emerging counterinsurgency doctrine based in part on a careful study of Guevara’s own writings. The Bolivian army sought to confine the rebels to a narrow space and then flood the area with patrols, seizing the initiative. The army’s efficiency improved noticeably with the arrival of CIA intelligence experts (mostly Cuban exiles) and a U.S. Army Special Forces instructor team. The latter began to teach the 2nd Ranger Battalion, but even before this battalion completed training, on August 31 the Bolivians trapped and destroyed Guevara’s rear guard.29

More fundamentally, Guevara never attracted local support, while the Bolivian government of René Barrientos had considerable legitimacy. Barrientos, an air force general, had become vice president in a 1964 military coup but resigned and was elected president the following year. Barrientos’s troops killed eighty-seven striking miners in 1967, but even this gave the government a reputation for decisiveness. The president was of mixed Spanish and Quechua (native American) descent, and his ability to speak native dialects gave him credibility with the peasantry. By contrast, the Argentine Guevara spoke the Spanish of the conquistadors rather than the language of the local peoples, who began to report his activities to the army.30

Guevara’s foco declined steadily from a high of forty-five members in March to only sixteen in September, while the army swept the area with troops. Captured on October 8, 1967, Guevara was executed the next day before the U.S. ambassador even learned of the event. The Bolivian government was unwilling to listen to Washington’s counsels of moderation, having been irritated by American efforts to save the captured agent, Régis Debray.31 Paradoxically, however, Guevara’s death transformed a failed guerrilla into a legendary martyr.

Still, Guevara’s abject failure, together with Moscow’s opposition, discredited Cuban advocacy for focoist insurgencies. During the 1970s, more traditional, protracted revolutionary efforts blossomed in the Americas, targeting vulnerable military regimes.32 The most effective of these insurgencies was in Nicaragua (see below).

Alternative Insurgencies

Even before Guevara’s death, some Latin American leftists regarded the foco model as impractical, preferring to develop their own methodologies. Many of these alternatives resembled the European and Middle Eastern terrorist movements of the later Cold War, although in Latin America terrorism had its own independent tradition.

Military coups in Brazil (1964) and Argentina (1966) prompted a flow of political refugees to Montevideo, Uruguay, which became a haven for radicals ranging from socialists to Peronists.33 A number of theorists, including the refugee Spanish anarchist Abraham Guillén, argued for an urban more than rural insurgency. Guillén’s ideas, which called for a united popular front of all political hues, became influential in Latin America and Western Europe.34

After various attempts at political change and escalating violence, by 1970 the Movimiento de Liberación Nacional-Tupamaros (MLN-T) adapted this approach in Uruguay, specializing in kidnapping for ransom and other terrorist tactics. Named for Túpac Amaru, the last Inca leader, who was executed by the Spanish in 1572, the Tupamaros inspired similar movements in other Latin American countries. In 1996, for example, a Peruvian group using the Túpac Amaru name took hundreds of foreign hostages at the Japanese ambassador’s residence in Lima but was unable to build on this success.

In its original incarnation, the Tupamaro uprising had some success against the Uruguayan police, so the government turned to the military in 1971. Because the Uruguayan armed forces had little understanding of counterinsurgency, they resorted to massive violence against the populace. By 1972, the Tupamaros were in retreat, but in the process of their defeat the Uruguayan defense budget skyrocketed and the military escaped from civilian control.35 Military dictatorship ensued until 1985. Perhaps because of this tragedy, the MLN-T gained credibility as a political party when democracy returned.

By contrast, the Peruvian Sendero Luminoso (Shining Path) used both urban terrorist and rural Maoist tactics but remained much closer to the Marxist creed. Beginning in 1962, former professor Abimael Guzmán built up a clandestine network of followers but only began active operations in 1980, when the military rulers of Peru permitted democratic elections.36 Rather than fighting a traditional guerrilla insurgency, Shining Path set out to discredit the democratic government, using highly visible tactics such as wrecking the electric power grid in Peru’s major cities. The movement published lists of its enemies, causing the targets to flee for fear of retribution. Guzmán funded his activities by extorting funds from businesses; narcotics traffickers also paid “taxes” in return for freedom to operate. The Peruvian military response was ineffectual, often alienating the populace by excessive violence, while heavy-handed U.S. efforts to repress narcotics also angered the inhabitants. Not until 1991 did the Peruvian government begin a systematic program of population control, and Guzmán’s capture in 1992 weakened his movement.

The connection between rebellion and narcotics trafficking was a frequently recurring issue in Latin America. In some instances, such as drug cartels in Mexico and Colombia, the narcotics trade was the center of efforts, with the drug lords acting militarily only to the extent that they sought to prevent their respective governments from interfering with the trade. Other movements were a mix of revolution and crime, in which the U.S. and local governments identified the rebels as narcotics traffickers to deny the political legitimacy of the opposition. The most persistent case of such narco-terrorism was the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia–People’s Army (Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia—Ejército del Pueblo, or FARC-EP), which was active in Colombia for more than fifty years beginning in 1964.37 The FARC-EP started as a typical insurgency, causing thousands of casualties but rarely threatening government rule. It endured for years through narcotics trading and kidnapping for ransom, actions that alienated much of the Colombian population. Instead, the locus of revolutionary insurgency shifted to Central America.

Nicaragua, 1974–1979

Beginning in 1909, the United States repeatedly intervened in Nicaraguan affairs, seeking to stabilize the country in support of American business interests.38 Among the persistent opponents of this intervention was Augusto Sandino, a populist who had learned the rhetoric of Marxism in the Mexican oil fields. The United States created the Nicaraguan National Guard as a gendarmerie to maintain order. The American-educated Anastasio Somoza Garcia rose through the ranks of this organization to assume command by the time the U.S. Marines departed. In 1934, he violated a truce by murdering Sandino, and in 1937 solidified his control over the government. Except for brief periods of weak democratic rule, Somoza’s family controlled the country for the next four decades, while aiding the United States in Guatemala, Cuba, and the Dominican Republic.

The Somoza family amassed great wealth, but its last dictator, Anastasio Somoza Debayle, reached new heights of exploitation, including embezzling international funds intended for relief after a 1972 earthquake in Managua. A global economic downturn, fueled by the oil crisis, ensued in the later 1970s, increasing discontent throughout the region. Pedro Joaquin Chamorro, a liberal newspaper editor, led the moderate opposition until his assassination in January 1978. Chamorro’s death incensed the population, which increasingly supported the long-standing leftist insurgency. The Frente Sandinista de Liberación Nacional (FSLN, Sandinista National Liberation Front) was named in honor of the legendary guerrilla Sandino. The National Guard inflicted mass punishment on areas of the country that supported the FSLN, further alienating the populace. In August 1978, the most militant faction of the FSLN took the National Assembly hostage, touching off another round of strikes and violence.39
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Just as in Iran (see chapter 10), the Carter administration attempted to pressure the Nicaraguan government into less repressive policies but only succeeded in weakening Somoza. The U.S. intelligence community concluded that the dictator was so unpopular that continued American support would be counterproductive. Cuba, which had previously been circumspect about its assistance to the Sandinistas, openly supported an insurgent offensive that began in May 1979.40 In June, Carter urged Somoza to resign but was still reluctant to endorse the leftist revolution. On July 17, the dictator fled to the United States.

A broad-based provisional government took power in Managua, seeking to implement social reforms within a pluralistic framework. Within months, however, real power had passed to the FSLN and its leaders, Daniel Ortega and Moises Hassan. They turned to Cuba and the Soviet bloc for aid, receiving an estimated $5.2 billion between 1980 and 1988.41 As in Angola, Cuban medical and educational assistance significantly improved life in Nicaragua. The Sandinistas also conducted a pluralistic election in 1984, which in turn produced a new constitution the following year.

The Sandinistas had internal divisions both before and after taking power, but a number of decisions irritated even former Sandinista supporters.42 Especially during the early 1980s, the revolutionary regime substituted state control for private ownership of land and banks, and then delayed giving peasants title to their new lands. The government also offended many by efforts to impose restrictions on the Catholic Church.43

The 1979 Nicaraguan revolution, followed shortly by the Iranian seizure of hostages and the Soviet occupation of Afghanistan, represented a major setback for American global influence. Regardless of the realities on the ground, both East and West regarded the ensuing Central American conflicts as part of the Cold War. President Carter halted economic aid to Nicaragua and pressured the CIA for covert action, but the Sandinista regime appeared to be well entrenched.

Sandinistas and Contras

Like their Soviet contemporaries in Afghanistan, the Nicaraguan leftists were so convinced that their cause was correct that they could not conceive of genuine opposition to that cause. They persuaded themselves and others, including many in the Western democracies, that the opposition—usually known as Contras—consisted of American-backed thugs from the former Somoza regime. It is true that Presidents Carter and Reagan backed the Contras, and that former officers of the National Guard provided experienced leadership to this movement. Revisionist analysis, however, has suggested that widespread resistance began among peasants, especially native Americans, as early as 1980, even before U.S. and National Guard efforts started. Political scientist Robert Hager, in particular, has argued that Soviet Marxist theorists encouraged the largely urban leadership of the Sandinistas to impose strong central controls that offended former members of the Sandinista movement.44 By 1983, the Contras were a loose coalition of a dozen groups, both domestic and exile, united by little more than opposition to the Sandinista regime.45 Post–civil war election results indicate that the Sandinistas had a major but not overwhelming base of popular support.

Beginning in 1982, the perception that the Contras were American mercenaries, plus concern about U.S. involvement in the Nicaraguan civil war, prompted the U.S. Congress to restrict aid to the insurgent group.46 In turn, the Reagan administration’s desire to support these Nicaraguans gave rise to the Iran-Contra affair of 1985–87. With the knowledge of President Reagan, staff members of the National Security Council, including several active-duty officers, violated three different laws: First, they negotiated with Iran to free seven American hostages held by Hezbollah in Lebanon; second, to free the hostages, they sold weapons, including Hawk anti-aircraft and TOW anti-tank missiles, to the Iranians, using Israel and Panama as go-betweens; and third, they transferred the resulting funds to the Contras in violation of congressional mandates. In the process, Iranian negotiators repeatedly lied and cheated their American counterparts. The secretary of defense objected to the illegal arms transfers but was ignored.47

Throughout this period, the Contras used Honduras as a sanctuary and supply base for operations in Nicaragua. In March 1988, Sandinista troops crossed the border into Honduras in an effort to eliminate this base, provoking what was arguably the last U.S. deployment of the Cold War. On March 17, 1988, the Reagan administration launched Operation Golden Pheasant, intended as a show of force to discourage the Nicaraguan incursion. The 7th Infantry Division (Light) in Fort Ord, California, and the 82nd Airborne Division in Fort Bragg, North Carolina, each sent two infantry battalions plus supporting troops to Honduras. This hasty deployment encountered numerous practical difficulties, in part because the two divisions also had to maintain standby troops for a possible intervention in Panama. Moreover, the controversy in Washington about aid to the Contras caused some congressional staff to suspect, falsely, that Golden Pheasant was a deception to cover illegal weapons transfers. Still, the deployment achieved its objective without direct contact between American and Nicaraguan troops; both sides withdrew from Honduras a few weeks later.48

El Salvador

The Sandinistas provided both inspiration and aid for another prolonged struggle in neighboring El Salvador. For decades, traditional landowners dominated an export economy based on coffee, sugar, and cotton that left much of the population extremely poor. Most members of the upper classes and of the officer corps were conservative and anti-communist.49 Unrest increased after coffee prices plunged in 1978, and a group of junior officers overthrew the government in October 1979. Their reform efforts foundered in the face of conservative opposition. A year later, five Salvadoran opposition groups merged to form the Farabundo Martí National Liberation Front (Frente Farabundo Martí para la Liberación Nacional, or FMLN), named for a Marxist who died in a failed 1932 uprising.

The ensuing dozen years of civil war resulted in at least 75,000 dead, most of them civilians. Both sides used extreme violence for political effect, but it was the Salvadoran police and security forces that gained a worldwide reputation for excessive force. This was especially true during the period 1979–81, when the government halted the first efforts of the FMLN but drove many Salvadorans into the arms of the rebels.50 The Salvadoran armed forces were divided among themselves, with various shades of reform and reaction.51 The most conservative officers regarded any criticism as a symptom of communism and were responsible for death squads that murdered opposition politicians and Catholic priests and nuns. For a time, the American embassy staff was similarly divided, with some representatives of intelligence agencies willing to countenance extreme repression.52 As in other counterinsurgency efforts, local military leaders rejected American advice about how to gain the support of the rural populace; unlike British counterinsurgency efforts in Malaya and elsewhere, the United States was not the legal government yet received criticism for the actions of the Salvadoran military, which it could not control.

In the crisis, Carter felt he could not deny equipment and advisers to the Salvadoran government, but thereafter both the Carter and Reagan administrations restricted aid in a vain effort to improve the military’s record on human rights. Although U.S. military schools taught them the necessity of respecting and protecting the local populace, some Salvadoran officers persisted in trying to win through terror. The year 1981 saw 13,000 political murders, culminating in December when a U.S.-trained battalion tortured and murdered 767 villagers in El Mozote.53 Conservatives in the Salvadoran legislature repeatedly reversed efforts to offer sharecroppers an opportunity for land ownership.

Horrified by the actions of the death squads, the U.S. Congress restricted financial aid, requiring Reagan to periodically certify progress in human rights and democracy. In addition, imperfect memories of Vietnam prompted Congress to limit U.S. military personnel in El Salvador to fifty-five at any one time, which in turn handicapped American efforts to defeat the insurgents and limit government violence. The Department of Defense implemented creative alternatives to troops on the ground. A Defense Intelligence Agency working group in the Pentagon analyzed the tactical situation for both governments. At Soto Cano Air Base in neighboring Honduras, the U.S. Joint Task Force Bravo controlled aviation and intelligence collection assets that supported the advisers in country.

A reduction in state-sponsored terror and the 1984 election of José Napoleón Duarte as president gave the government some public support, but the FMLN remained effective in the field, defeating government units of up to battalion size. The war became semiconventional, with perhaps 12,000 armed insurgents opposing security forces that grew to more than 56,000. American advisers complained that some Salvadoran officers conducted a “nine to five” war, avoiding night and weekend operations.54 As in Vietnam, local military commanders operated semi-independent fiefdoms, with little shifting of troops or interservice cooperation. Beginning in 1984, a major influx of American weaponry, especially helicopters, fighter-bombers, and 105 mm howitzers, gave government forces sufficient firepower to break up large-scale FMLN attacks. This forced a return to more traditional insurgency, but the war stalemated while civilian casualties mounted.

In 1987–89, the FMLN turned to urban terrorism to discredit the Salvadoran and U.S. governments. Car bombs, rocket attacks, and ambushes of civilians became common in the capital, San Salvador.55 This culminated on November 11, 1989, when the FMLN launched a major new offensive in the cities, holding some positions for more than a week. Although the populace failed to support the rebels, neither was the Salvadoran military able to defeat them. This uprising, with its echoes of the 1968 Tet offensive, provoked renewed criticism of the security forces by both the American and Salvadoran governments. Alfredo Cristiani, a businessman who had succeeded Duarte as president in June of 1989, initiated serious diplomatic discussions with the FMLN.56 The violence was slow to end, however, as reactionaries continued to attack critics of their policies. On November 16, 1989, Col. Guillermo Benavides dispatched troops from a rapid-response battalion to the Central American University in the capital, leading to the murder of six Jesuit priests and two bystanders. Intense American pressure eventually led to the unprecedented arrest and conviction of Benavides and four assistants, but other senior officers escaped punishment.57

The end of the Cold War contributed to a change in political atmosphere. Ultimately, the two sides signed a UN-brokered peace agreement in Mexico City on January 16, 1992. El Salvador gained a measure of democracy from this long struggle, but only at enormous cost.

Falklands/Malvinas

In a region where insurgencies dominated the later twentieth century, there was one conventional, interstate conflict that had implications for the United Kingdom in particular and the Cold War in general.

Throughout the Cold War, the British government struggled, with considerable success, to maintain its status as a great power while reducing its defense expenditures. The abandonment of conscription in 1960 was part of a general reduction in the British worldwide military presence. Maintaining a commitment to NATO defense, in conjunction with the military involvement in Northern Ireland, mandated further cuts in 1981. The government disestablished one division headquarters in the British Army of the Rhine, but the Royal Navy suffered 57 percent of the budgetary cuts, including reduction of frigates and destroyers, the essential protectors of a maritime nation, from sixty to forty-two. Some politicians believed that Britain could no longer afford the high costs of aircraft carrier construction and new aircraft for those carriers.58 Had Argentina not invaded the Falklands Islands on April 2, 1982, within a few years the Royal Navy might well have lost all its carrier airpower.

The causes of the 1982 confrontation are difficult to summarize. The British neither understood the Argentinean emotional claim to the Falklands/Malvinas nor deterred the invasion.59 Similarly, the Argentinean military junta led by Lt. Gen. Leopoldo Galtieri did not foresee that Britain would feel compelled to use force to regain the islands, nor that Europe and the United States would support the British. Argentina made no plans for defense until the invasion force sailed, very publicly, from Britain.60

The initial Argentinean invasion, by special forces and the 2nd Marine Infantry Battalion, was effective, and the marines turned over the islands to a small army garrison. In anticipation of arrival of the British force, the Argentines made a disjointed series of deployment decisions; in some instances General Galtieri interfered personally, dispatching troops without informing local commanders and without considering logistical requirements. Eventually, some 12,000 Argentinean military personnel were on the islands. The initial Argentinean troops, both army and marine, had appropriate training and equipment for the Antarctic region, having been based in Patagonia. However, subsequent troop assignments included the 3rd Brigade from semitropical Corrientes Province in northern Argentina. Both the 3rd and 10th Brigades were trained for mechanized operations, but they arrived by air without their heavy equipment, and only a few cargo vessels reached the islands before the British implemented their blockade. The defenders were hampered both by the difficult terrain and by the shortage of transport vehicles, making resupply and maneuver difficult.61

If Argentina had difficulty moving troops and supplies to the Falklands, the challenge of distance was far greater for Britain, more than 7,800 miles (12,550 kilometers) away from the theater of war. To provide tactical air cover, the Royal Navy used both its available carriers (HMS Hermes and Invincible) and a container ship (Atlantic Conveyor) that served as an improvised platform for helicopters and vertical takeoff and landing Sea Harriers. The navy also used ocean liners and cargo ships to move the invasion force and supplies. Given commitments to NATO and Northern Ireland, the British could only assemble two infantry brigades with supporting arms—3rd Marine Commando (three battalion-sized marine commandos plus two parachute battalions) and 5 Brigade (two battalions of foot guards and one of Gurkhas).62

The sea and air aspects of the conflict were a test of late Cold War technology, with violent results. Engaging targets by radar led to instances of mistaken identity. French-built Exocet missiles and conventional ordnance sank the Atlantic Conveyor and at least five additional British vessels while causing significant damage to numerous other ships; these air strikes would have been far worse were it not for repeated failures of Argentinean bombs to explode. Argentina lost fewer vessels, including a submarine and the light cruiser ARA Belgrano (former USS Phoenix). Considerable controversy arose concerning the legality and necessity of a British submarine sinking the Belgrano at the edge of a declared war zone, but the cruiser’s loss with 323 deaths deterred further action by the Argentine Navy.63

Rotary-wing aircraft were essential for British movement, and the loss of the Atlantic Conveyor left the task force with only one Chinook medium lift helicopter. Sea Harriers proved remarkably effective in a variety of roles, but the air forces of both sides preferred to conduct independent strikes. Except for transports and Pucará light attack aircraft, the Argentine Air Force operated from continental bases, patrolling and attacking without coordinating with the navy, even though its aircraft had difficulty locating the British. Although the Argentinean government created both a joint theater command and a joint operations center, in practice the three services conducted their own wars.64

The Royal Air Force also attempted an independent campaign under the cover name Black Buck, using Vulcan strategic bombers based on Ascension Island in the South Atlantic. The extreme distance involved—3,900 miles or 6,300 kilometers one way—and the vagaries of navigation at such latitudes required as many as twelve refueling aircraft to put a single Vulcan over the Falklands. Of the five successful Black Buck missions, three struck the Port Stanley airfield and the remaining two used anti-radiation missiles against Argentinean radars. The Argentines rapidly repaired damage from these raids, but the threat of strategic bombing may have forced them to retain Mirage III fighters for home air defense.65

Britain was short of ammunition and supplies, due in part to austere defense budgets. Still, Argentinean passivity gave the initiative to the attackers. To minimize the exposure of the Royal Navy, the landing on May 20 occurred at San Carlos on the eastern island, far removed from Port Stanley, but that location in turn increased the distance that British troops had to travel across difficult terrain. Moreover, the landing gave the Argentine Air Force a definite location to engage the Royal Navy, which paid a high price during the first days of the invasion.66

Whatever the internal problems of the British forces, overall they exhibited better coordination and initiative than their opponents. The defenders of Port Stanley outnumbered the attackers, but Argentinian commanders were so risk-averse that they forbade local counterattacks. The British eliminated individual company-sized positions that were too far apart for mutual support, while other Argentinean troops were passive spectators. Individual Argentinean units performed well, but their improvised defenses failed; large portions of three regiments surrendered without having fired a shot.67

This lopsided defeat contributed to the collapse of the Galtieri junta, which had murdered some 11,000 Argentines under the guise of repressing pro-Peron and pro-communist insurgents. The post-1983 government attempted to punish the officers responsible, provoking four attempted military uprisings between 1987 and 1990. The Argentinean officer corps, like its Turkish counterpart, repeatedly asserted its self-defined role as defender of the nation, making democratic civilian rule difficult.68

The brief Falklands/Malvinas conflict also provided ample evidence for advocates of specific military capabilities, including aircraft carriers, strategic air and sea lift, light infantry, and air defense, all of which had military implications for the Cold War. Certainly, Britain’s rapid reaction contrasted favorably with its slow and ineffectual response to the 1956 Suez Canal crisis.69

This same response exhibited the inability of international bodies to impede unilateral actions by great powers. The American support for the British offended many of the newly independent states of the Global South. Although Moscow criticized the British action as imperialist, the Soviets failed to aid Argentina even in the UN Security Council. Long-range Soviet reconnaissance aircraft based in Angola tracked British movements but did nothing to stop them. The Soviet Union’s inaction earned it no credit with the rest of the world.70 Later confrontations of the 1980s, especially in Grenada, drove home the same conclusion that regardless of revolutionary victories the Soviets could not project power effectively in the Western Hemisphere.




CHAPTER 4

THE SOUTH ASIAN RIMLANDS 1958–1975

Indonesia and Its Army

When it gained independence from the Netherlands in December 1949, Indonesia had the potential to be a regional power. The new state had a large population with vast resources of oil, tin, and agricultural products. Its geographic position, astride key trade routes and wrapping around Southeast Asia, made it strategically important to the major powers during the Cold War. From the viewpoint of the British, American, and Australian governments, any failure of containment in Southeast Asia would make the straits of Indonesia the key choke point at which to oppose further Chinese or Soviet expansionism.

What Indonesia lacked was unity. It was divided by geography (1,700 islands), religion (the largest Muslim population in the world with significant minorities of Christians, Buddhists, and others), cultures (at least twenty), and languages (more than seven hundred).1 The largest ethnic group, the Javanese, dominated culturally and politically, a dominance resented by other groups. The location of Sumatra, the largest island entirely within the new state, had made that island the historical entry point for religions and foreign influences.2 Generalizing broadly, the various religious and ethnic groups on Sumatra were more conservative than the Javanese, who included the largest proportion of the Indonesian Communist Party (PKI).

Indonesia’s armed forces—the Tentara Nasional Indonesia (TNI)—reflected this divided nation. In addition to the religious, cultural, and ethnic divisions, TNI officers also had a variety of different backgrounds, some beginning in the Royal Dutch East Indies Army and others in Japanese-sponsored paramilitary forces, before uniting in the postwar resistance movement against the Dutch. The TNI claimed with considerable justification that it was not the instrument of the state but the actual founder of that state.3 As a practical matter, however, this meant that at the time of independence the TNI was a huge guerrilla force headed by leaders from different ethnic groups; one of the challenges for the new government was to reduce this army to a manageable size, in the process dispossessing regional military leaders.4 This also meant that the officer corps had little unity in its education or training; it was a politicized, diverse group with extensive economic interests.5

Sukarno and Permesta

These divisions were exacerbated by the charismatic Javanese leader of Indonesia from 1945 until 1966, Sukarno. Between the world wars, Sukarno was a nationalist agitator whose strident anti-colonialism could be mistaken for Leninism.6 He borrowed the concept of a pan-Malay union including what is now Malaysia, Indonesia, and the Philippines, sometimes termed “Maphilindo.”7 Sukarno later cooperated with the Japanese occupiers to promote Indonesian nationalism and became the first president of the new republic. In the 1950s, Sukarno dismantled parliamentary democracy, making himself a virtual dictator. He played off different factions, especially the PKI and the TNI, to retain power.

In foreign policy, the Indonesian president opposed all Western influence in the region, which he considered to be a form of neocolonialism. He followed a policy of Konfrontasi (Confrontation), a combination of diplomacy, propaganda, and military threats. For the British and Americans, this attitude suggested that, even if they halted communist expansionism in Laos and Vietnam, they might “lose” Indonesia.8 At the expense of the British and Dutch, the Kennedy administration attempted to gain Sukarno’s support by recognizing his nationalist aspirations, but by 1964 Lyndon Johnson returned U.S. policy to the narrower lines of Cold War containment.9 Thus, although Sukarno brought a sense of unity to the new state, his aggressive expansionism, together with a willingness to accept Soviet and Chinese military aid, made him a significant threat to Western interests in the region. These factors also led Indonesia into low-level conflicts that endured for more than five decades.

The first American response to the Indonesian threat was an attempt to weaken the Jakarta government by exploiting Indonesia’s internal divisions.10 On December 1, 1956, Sukarno’s Muslim, Sumatran vice president, Mohammad Hatta, resigned from office, having been sidelined by the Javanese leaders of the government. Over the next several months, this resignation prompted TNI officers in Sumatra (to the west of Java) and Sulawesi (to the east), already threatened with losing their commands as part of the central government’s reduction of the army, to revolt. The rebels included a wide variety of religious and ethnic groups but managed to form a semblance of government. This movement, generally known by its Sulawesi acronym of Permesta (Universal Charter), spoke the rhetoric of anti-communism and democracy, thereby attracting covert aid from the United States and Nationalist China. In practice, however, the rank and file had more local concerns and initially showed little desire to fight.

The struggle was prolonged because both the CIA and the TNI had difficulty projecting power into remote areas. In March 1958, Sukarno’s army chief of staff, Abdul Nasution, skillfully used a few companies of paracommandos and small amphibious units to recapture the key oil facilities in Sumatra, driving the remaining rebels on that island into guerrilla operations.11 Sulawesi proved more difficult. As part of Operation Haik, the CIA flew in heavy weapons, especially .50 caliber machine guns and mortars, which gave the rebels considerable ability for both air and ground defense. A few CIA liaison officers and trainers also arrived. More significantly, a handful of World War II–era aircraft, primarily B-25 medium bombers and P-51 fighters, for a time stymied the central government. Flown by exiles from Eastern Europe and later by CIA-recruited Americans and Filipinos, this thinly disguised “revolutionary air force” interdicted government shipping and strafed forward airfields for several months in the spring of 1958. Eventually, the Jakarta government assembled nine aircraft to destroy the CIA air force. In the process, government forces captured a pilot whose papers led back to the United States. Eisenhower’s Director of Central Intelligence, Allen Dulles, promptly “pulled the plug” on the entire operation, and the United States shifted to a policy of seeking closer relations with the TNI as the best means of checking communist leanings in Indonesia. Ironically, the Permesta rebels were more credible and more effective as guerrillas without American support; their resistance continued until 1961.12

West New Guinea/Irian

When Indonesia gained its independence, the Netherlands refused to surrender one portion of its colonial empire, the western half of the island of New Guinea. Between the world wars, The Hague had tried to colonize this area using Eurasian settlers from Sumatra and Dutch nationalists from Europe. Few of these colonial efforts succeeded, but the Dutch felt obligated to support them and Australia wished to avoid having Indonesia as a close and threatening neighbor.13

Despite The Hague’s contention that the Papuans resident in New Guinea were ethnically different from Indonesians, Sukarno was determined to absorb what he termed “West Irian.” In 1957, he seized Dutch assets in Indonesia, and in 1960 broke off diplomatic relations with the Netherlands. Three years later, the TNI began to infiltrate both proxies and its own troops into West New Guinea. Meanwhile, Nikita Khrushchev gave Sukarno generous credit terms to purchase some of the Warsaw Pact’s most advanced weapons, including Project 613 (NATO designation Whiskey class) diesel submarines and Tu-16 long-range bombers.14
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The Dutch were alert, repeatedly tracking down infiltrators. This culminated in January 1962, when Dutch destroyers intercepted a landing force and sank an Indonesian patrol boat, killing some fifty Indonesian troops. Sukarno relieved the commander of the Indonesian air force, who admitted that his crews were incapable of responding. By some accounts, Khrushchev agreed to provide Soviet-crewed submarines and bombers to support the Indonesian offensive, and Soviet officers helped draw up an operations plan. This may well have been Khrushchev blustering, but Sukarno leaked the news to the United States to increase pressure on the Dutch.15

Regardless of the seriousness of the Soviet threat, Sukarno achieved his strategic goal. While the Indonesian forces had failed at the tactical level, the Dutch government reluctantly acceded to Indonesian and U.S. pressure. After a brief transitional period under UN control, in 1963 West New Guinea passed into Indonesian control with no consideration for the rights of the Papuans. Unfortunately for regional peace, this sacrifice only whetted expansionist appetites in Indonesia.16

The Borneo Emergency

Sukarno’s next target was more ambitious, the destruction of the nascent state of Malaysia. Great Britain had won decisively in the Malayan counterinsurgency (1948–57),17 but thereafter the British national debt and the end of conscription forced London to reduce its defense obligations in Southeast Asia. By the early 1960s, the growing presence of the United States in the region encouraged Australia and New Zealand to align their policies toward Washington rather than London. These governments did participate in a regional reserve, 28 Commonwealth Brigade, but the host Malayan government as well as the three participants put limits on its employment.

The British solution to maintain influence was to transform colonial interests into a regional ally, encouraging the formation of Malaysia.18 After extensive power-sharing negotiations, this federation officially came into existence in September 1963, including Malaysia, Singapore, and two areas of North Borneo: Sabah in the northeastern portion of the island and Sarawak to the west. These two areas were separated by the oil-rich sultanate of Brunei, then a British protectorate. The inclusion of northern Borneo was intended, in part, to provide ethnic balance for the large Chinese population of Singapore. As Malaysia took form in 1962–63, it had the potential to be a regional power that would still host British forces and influence. Although reluctant to become involved in this region, Australia and New Zealand publicly committed to defend the new federation against invasion or subversion. Washington was equally skeptical, regarding the growing confrontation with Indonesia as a distraction from Vietnam. In February 1964, Prime Minister Alexander Douglas-Home and President Lyndon Johnson mutually endorsed each other’s involvements in the two conflicts but without promising support.19

The formation of Malaysia outraged Sukarno, fresh from his diplomatic victory in New Guinea. The new state was a direct challenge to his concept of a unified regional power. The PKI also condemned Malaysia as a form of neocolonialism, adding a tinge of communist menace to the situation.20 Thus, instead of allowing Britain to maintain regional influence at reduced expense, Malaysia led London into a prolonged conflict that it could ill afford.

In contrast to Western New Guinea, the former British colonies on Borneo offered two opportunities to Sukarno.21 First, these provinces shared a poorly defined jungle and mountain border, 970 miles in length, with the Indonesian provinces of Kalimantan, which facilitated infiltration. Secondly, 31 percent of the population of Sarawak and 28 percent of Sabah were ethnic Chinese, of whom a significant portion, perhaps 25,000 people, supported what the British Army termed the “Clandestine Communist Organization” (CCO). The CCO was motivated at least in part by opposition to the looming creation of Malaysia.22 While most of these dissidents favored self-rule, they still offered a useful resource for Sukarno, who flirted politically with his own communists, the PKI. Fortunately for the defenders, most of the Borneo populace was either favorable to the British or neutral, governed by an efficient British-trained administration.

In December 1962, Indonesia backed a rebellion in Brunei, but the British airlifted Gurkha and Highlander battalions in response. Attempted border crossings by the weak “North Kalimantan National Army” were equally ineffective, so that by April 1963 Indonesian troops began their own raids into Sarawak and Sabah.23

The defense of Borneo fell to Maj. Gen. Walter Walker, an outspoken and tenacious Gurkha officer who had commanded battalions in both World War II and the Malayan Emergency. An advocate of Gerald Templer’s techniques in the latter conflict, Walker had been the founding director of the British jungle warfare school in Malaya. In late December 1962, he became the joint commander of British forces and director of operations in Borneo. This gave him the responsibility for civil-military coordination, although he lacked the free political hand that Templer had enjoyed. Because of a recent change in British doctrine, Walker also had a rare opportunity as joint tactical commander of all British—and later Malaysian and Commonwealth—forces. This sometimes placed the general in the middle of political and interservice rivalries; during the Borneo “Emergency,” the Royal Air Force was waging a bureaucratic fight against Royal Naval aviation, but Walker found that the navy was much more cooperative about providing helicopters to support ground commanders. Once Malaysia came into being, the general also had to respond to the new Malaysian Commonwealth’s defense council, a difficult task for a famously undiplomatic officer.24

Both sides in this conflict suffered from shortages of forces and especially of transportation, but the Commonwealth, being on the defensive, was more visibly under-resourced. Britain was trying to reduce its Far East commitments while most of its defense resources were focused on the Cold War defense of Germany. Initially, Walker had only five infantry battalions, equipped with uniforms and weapons that were suitable for European operations but physically too heavy for jungle operations. Only a few years after Malaya, the British had forgotten some of its lessons; Walker had to lobby not only for more soldiers but also for lightweight Australian jungle uniforms and American AR-15 rifles, weapons that the Indonesians already had.25 Fortunately for the Commonwealth forces, he gained the ears of Adm. Lord Louis Mountbatten, chief of the Defence Staff, and visiting politicians.

By the time George Lea succeeded Walker in 1965, the Commonwealth defenders had a total of thirteen infantry battalions with engineers, armored cars, and a composite battalion of Special Air Service troops (including Britons, Gurkhas, Australians, and New Zealanders). Walker dispersed his available artillery in single gun emplacements to cover the long border. There were also a variety of locally recruited scouts and police.26 Some of these scouts, along with four-man SAS teams, patrolled the border to provide early warning of infiltrations.

Such warning was essential, given the overstretched nature of the Commonwealth defenses. The British government repeatedly instructed Walker to avoid any escalation of the conflict, so he relied on intelligence and tactical mobility to thwart the Indonesian attackers. Fewer than eighty helicopters and forty small transport aircraft, especially the short takeoff and landing “Beaver,” were available to resupply and redeploy the defenders. General Walker made a virtue out of necessity, rejecting the American idea of air assault tactics (see chapter 5) as “galloping over the jungle canopy in helicopters.”27 Instead of risking his scarce aircraft on the battlefield, he used them to redeploy platoons and companies that would dismount to ambush infiltrators reported by his scouts.

Fortunately for the defenders, the Indonesians had even greater transportation problems, with an inadequate number of riverine transports and only a handful of Soviet-built helicopters. Over the course of 1964 and 1965, however, the attackers increased in both numbers (up to 30,000 troops) and proficiency, to the point where Walker equated the resulting struggle to fighting the Japanese in Burma. In turn, this made British platoons more vulnerable, requiring more company-level operations controlled by battalion headquarters. Beginning in August 1964, Indonesia also tried small amphibious and airborne landings in Malaya itself, but the local population refused to assist the invaders, who were quickly mopped up.28

Despite victories at the tactical level, Britain and the Commonwealth could not afford to maintain the equivalent of a reinforced infantry division in an open-ended defensive engagement. Beginning in April 1964, the cabinet authorized British forces to use artillery interdiction and hot pursuit to a depth of 5,000 yards (4,572 m) beyond the border. In succeeding months, Walker won approval for deeper incursions into Indonesian territory. The resulting “Claret” raids were designed as deniable, covert attacks to keep the Indonesian forces off balance, but the British rarely struck key targets such as base camps and logistics.29

While the British and Malaysian armies held off the intruders, police and civil administrators focused on winning the support of the local population. In this respect, General Walker’s insistence on minimizing civilian casualties and providing security, medical care, and other assistance undoubtedly helped the defenders’ cause. Given that the senior officers were all veterans of the Malayan campaign, the temptation to apply the “lessons” of that campaign to an apparently similar situation created friction with police, administrators, and the populace.

After the fact, the British commanders spoke with justifiable pride about their achievements in conducting a limited war that appeared to stymie Indonesian aggression. They believed that their excellence in small unit operations had achieved psychological dominance over their jungle opponents. One British minister later described the defense of Borneo as “one of the most efficient uses of military force in the history of the world.”30 More recently, Emile Simpson has cited this campaign as an example of how the skillful use of military force can change the psychological perceptions and strategic narrative of a situation. Simpson noted not only Walker’s role on the ground but also the use of deterrence, when Britain deployed Vulcan bombers and a large naval task force after the Indonesians raided the Malaya Peninsula.31

There is considerable validity in this portrayal of the situation. However, Christopher Tuck has argued convincingly that, when Indonesia agreed to an armistice in August 1966, the defending commanders were not confident of the victory they later claimed. Although Claret and related operations had inflicted significant Indonesian casualties, there was no immediate proof that the TNI had found the struggle too costly. On the contrary, intelligence collected when Indonesian forces continued to cross the border that summer suggested that Jakarta had not abandoned its long-term objectives but might simply wait until the overcommitted British forces departed.32 In a war of propaganda, perceptions, and skirmishes, the truth was more elusive than it might otherwise seem, and the Western perception of this victory came after the fact.

Sukarno to Suharto

Whatever the Commonwealth efforts in Borneo, one major reason for the armistice was an event inside Indonesia, the failed coup of September 30, 1965.33 By this time, Indonesia was on the verge of crisis. Its economy was in disarray, with significant inflation rates and trade disrupted in part by Sukarno’s pressure tactics against Malaysia. This disruption contributed to the TNI’s logistical difficulties in Borneo, where the confrontation produced no measurable progress for Indonesia.34

As in many Cold War situations, understanding this coup and its aftermath requires a recognition of the pervasive Western concern for the spread of communism. Not only was the United States committing large units to the Vietnamese conflict, but the PKI appeared to be on the verge of taking control in Indonesia. It was in this situation that the commander of Sukarno’s bodyguard, Lieutenant Colonel Untung, claimed that he was acting to preempt a TNI anti-communist coup. On September 30, he placed guards at the houses of General Nasution and other commanders, and several generals friendly to the United States were killed. Untung announced a “30 September Movement” that eventually claimed to be defending Sukarno against the plotters.

The head of the army’s Kostrad (strategic reserve corps), Major General Suharto, used the Army Para-Commando Regiment (RPRAD) to regain control of the situation.35 TNI senior commanders were divided in their loyalties to Sukarno, but this bungled coup reinforced a widespread belief that the PKI must be eliminated. Over the ensuing months, the military arrested or murdered thousands of suspected communists, destroying whatever power the PKI might have had. This purge distracted RPRAD units previously assigned to Sarawak, reducing the effort against Malaysia.36

Although the CIA had been cultivating TNI officers, there is little evidence that the United States was responsible for internal Indonesian turmoil. U.S. officials were cautious in dealing with Suharto during the next months, unsure as to his intentions and still concerned by the apparent strength of the PKI. There were, however, minor American contributions to the TNI purge of communists. The embassy’s political officer passed several lists of known PKI members to the new regime. In November, the 303 Committee, the Johnson administration’s covert operations structure, authorized the U.S. defense attaché to provide medical supplies and radios requested by the generals.37

In a series of political maneuvers during 1966–68, Suharto eased Sukarno out of power and began his own thirty-year career as head of state. Suharto was openly anti-communist and anti-Chinese. His assumption of power did not immediately end the Indonesian confrontation in Borneo, but he and his colleagues apparently concluded that they needed to consolidate power at home. Yet, Indonesian expansionism had another act to play.

East Timor

There was one vestige of colonialism that rankled Indonesian nationalists: the Portuguese colony of East Timor.38 However, just as in West New Guinea and Borneo, activist elements in East Timor sought self-rule rather than absorption into Indonesia. East Timor included a variety of non-Indonesian ethnic groups, and the Catholic Church had converted a significant number of locals, making it a poor fit for predominantly Muslim, Malay Indonesia. These facts did not deter the TNI, and indeed the Indonesian government, from seeking annexation.

Still, that annexation was a low priority in Jakarta until the Portuguese military revolution of April 25, 1974.39 The Armed Forces Movement (MFA) seized power in part to end the prolonged counterinsurgencies in Portugal’s African territories; it was therefore predisposed to grant independence to East Timor once a local government had been established. Several local political parties quickly emerged in the colony. One such party evolved into the Revolutionary Front for an Independent East Timor (Frente Revolucionária de Timor-Leste Independente, or Fretilin), which identified itself strongly with the interests of the rural poor, assuming a somewhat Maoist rhetoric while advocating more limited measures such as agricultural cooperatives. A rival, more urban and conservative party, the Timorese Democratic Union (União Democrática Timorense, or UDT) was equally interested in self-government but was so apprehensive about Fretilin that it believed Indonesian allegations that the latter party had received arms from China and was preparing a pro-communist coup.40

This agitation was the work of Brig. Gen. Ali Murtopo, President Suharto’s political adviser and head of Indonesian special operations.41 In addition to manipulating internal Timorese politics, in February 1975 the TNI conducted a very public war game in southern Sumatra. This was meant to pressure Portugal and the Timorese into peaceful surrender. The overall plan for East Timor, Operasi Komodo (Operation Komodo Dragon), appeared to be a repetition of previous Indonesian expansionism, with special operators infiltrating into the Portuguese colony beginning in early 1975. These soldiers trained recruits from the Timorese Popular Democratic Association, the only group that favored union with Indonesia.42 Despite Indonesian pressure, the Portuguese government continued to seek a consensus between the different parties on a transitional government.43

On the night of August 11, 1975, UDT leaders co-opted local police in an attempt to seize power in the port of Dili, East Timor, including the arrest of some Fretilin leaders. Indonesia may have instigated this attack to provide a pretext for intervention, but if so the plan backfired. With broad public support, Fretilin leaders quickly regained control and seized a Portuguese arsenal in Dili, enabling them to form a rudimentary army. This force pursued pro-UDT forces westward; General Murtopo cleverly required that, as a condition of receiving sanctuary in Indonesia, these refugees must all sign a petition asking for “integration” with Indonesia. The colonial governor had only three hundred ethnically Portuguese troops, and in any event Lisbon had instructed him not to take sides, so he acquiesced in the countercoup.44

Over the next several months, Indonesia continued to infiltrate East Timor while claiming that its attacks were instances of local resistance to the new regime. Fretilin established effective governance in most of the territory, and on November 27 declared East Timor to be independent. Coincidentally, President Gerald Ford and Secretary of State Henry Kissinger visited Jakarta ten days later, and Suharto told them that Indonesia intended to invade East Timor. Anxious to shore up Western influence and contain communism after the fall of Saigon the previous May, the American leaders made no objection. Kissinger urged Suharto to move quickly, creating an accomplished fact so that there would be no political issues about the misuse of American military aid.45 Underestimating the sophistication and dedication of its Timorese opponents, the Indonesian military was confident that it could seize the territory in short order.

Operasi Serola (Operation Lotus) began on December 8, 1975, with the naval bombardment and airborne seizure of Dili. Two days later, the Indonesian military used a similar technique to seize Baucau, the other significant port on the northern coast of East Timor, some forty-five miles (seventy-two kilometers) east of Dili. By the end of the year, Indonesia had moved 25,000 troops into East Timor. As they occupied various towns, these soldiers rounded up and often massacred the male population, especially those who were ethnically Chinese. The TNI told its troops that they were conducting a jihad against communists.46

Such brutality failed to cow the defenders. Regardless of Fretilin’s political hue, its leaders had studied Chinese Communist techniques of protracted insurgency. For the next two years, Indonesia controlled only the coastal towns, while Fretilin effectively governed much of the interior. In 1977, the TNI began a series of encirclement and destruction campaigns, supported by widespread chemical defoliant and bombing attacks, which weakened Fretilin control but laid waste to the populace and food supply. Indonesian forces also embezzled much of the international humanitarian aid.47 By 1985, the Fretilin guerrillas admitted to reporters that military victory was impossible but continued to harass the occupiers.48 In fact, an increase in Indonesian casualties between 1983 and 1987 suggested greater Fretilin resistance. East Timor proved to be Indonesia’s bloodiest campaign since independence, costing the government 3,600 killed and at least 10,000 wounded.49 Jakarta belatedly initiated economic efforts that reduced the suffering in East Timor, but it continued to blame its opponents for the situation.

Convinced of the correctness of their cause, TNI leaders rigged elections and staged public ceremonies claiming that the Timorese wanted to join Indonesia. As Michael Vatikiotis observed about Suharto’s own seizure of power during the 1960s, the generals apparently believed that “the mere fact that elections are held, and more important run smoothly with no significant show of dissent, is enough to prove the ideals of democracy are being served.”50 The Indonesian government as a whole supported this attitude, endorsing harsh and ineffectual repressive tactics. The TNI used similar tactics, with equally negative results, in fighting subsequent uprisings in West New Guinea/Papua and in Aceh, in northern Sumatra. As for East Timor, after twenty-four years of occupation the population voted overwhelmingly to reject any status within Indonesia.51

Indonesia is by no means unique in this failure to recognize the legitimacy of opposing political beliefs; modern counterinsurgencies abound in such misperceptions. Yet, for three decades this attitude cost both Indonesia and its rebel provinces enormously in terms of blood and treasure.

India and Pakistan

While the TNI conducted this long sequence of insurgencies and counterinsurgencies during the 1960s and 1970s, even larger conflicts erupted in the South Asian subcontinent. The postcolonial politics of this region are beyond the scope of this study, but a brief explanation is necessary to place the ensuing wars in context.

The British Indian Empire included a patchwork of different ethnic and cultural groups, but the most prominent division was between Muslims and Hindus. Beginning in 1930, various Muslim intellectuals proposed the idea of a separate state, both to protect Muslim rights and to fulfill what they perceived as their cultural destiny.52 Muhammad Ali Jinnah was a founder of the Indian movement for independence from Britain, but in 1940 he convinced the Muslim League party to endorse the idea of Pakistan. Jinnah may have intended this as a negotiating tool to improve Muslim status in a federated India, but Islamists seized on the idea in part because they felt threatened by Hindu and Christian efforts to proselytize Muslims. By 1947, a separate government appeared to be the only means of minimizing sectarian violence. The result was an artificial state in two parts—East and West Pakistan—that included multiple ethnic and tribal groups.

The division of the subcontinent was by no means simple or bloodless, especially in the semiautonomous state of Jammu and Kashmir, located adjacent to West Pakistan in northern India.53 Jammu and Kashmir was a sprawling entity that reached into the Himalayas, but its core was in the Kashmir Valley, which had a Muslim majority. When independence took effect in 1947, the local (Hindu) maharaja first hesitated, then accepted Indian sovereignty in return for military aid. The new Indian army airlifted troops into the region in October, and each state regarded the other as the aggressor. Pakistan had previously backed local insurgents but now intervened overtly, resulting in an indecisive conflict throughout 1948. The UN Security Council negotiated a cease-fire, but a full plebiscite on the future of this region was never achieved, leaving India in control of three-quarters of the former Jammu and Kashmir.

This disputed territory, in addition to broader issues of prejudice between religious groups, was a major determinant in the subsequent history of Pakistan. The perception of being wronged and threatened by India influenced much of the new state’s politics. Pakistan’s military and intelligence apparatus supported insurgents and terrorists not only in Kashmir but also within other areas of India. On several occasions, the Pakistan Army tried without success to retake portions of Kashmir by open conquest yet never learned from its failures.54

The perceived need for military weapons against India prompted Pakistan in 1954 to join the Southeast Asia Treaty Organization (SEATO), part of U.S. efforts to create regional alliances. A year later, Islamabad also joined the Baghdad Pact (later known as the Central Treaty Organization, 1955–79), a coalition with Britain, Iran, Iraq, and Turkey. The Eisenhower administration welcomed Pakistan as a key link in its containment of Moscow and Beijing.

By contrast, India, with much greater resources than Pakistan, tended to measure itself against China rather than its Muslim neighbor. Under Jawaharlal Nehru, prime minister from 1947 until his death in 1964, India sought to follow an independent path. Just as in the case of Nasser’s Egypt, this neutralist stance offended the Eisenhower administration, where Secretary of State John Foster Dulles viewed the Cold War in starkly moralistic terms.55 Nehru responded to U.S. support for Pakistan by seeking closer relations with China and the Soviet Union, including Soviet weapons. Not until 1958 did Dulles finally arrange significant loans and foreign aid for New Delhi.

Dividing the Armed Forces

During World War II, the British Indian Army had grown to 2.5 million men, although much of it was demobilized after victory. As independence approached, the British at first resisted dividing this force, believing that Pakistan could not afford to maintain an adequate defense establishment.56 In any event, the armed forces tried to maintain order during the sectarian turbulence that surrounded Britain’s departure, turbulence that killed thousands of people. Once division became inevitable, the two governments named an armed forces reconstitution committee to negotiate the exact ratios and process, with the British mediating between the two sides. Out of eighteen infantry regiments, eight of them, each with 50–75 percent Muslim troops, were allocated to Pakistan, after which Sikh and Hindu companies were detached from those regiments and transferred to India.57 Later, individuals of one religion whose units were assigned to the other state had the option of choosing their future service. It is a tribute to the strength of unit identification that these regiments survived such dismemberment. Overall, the Indian Army, Navy, and Air Force transferred roughly one-third of their assets to Pakistan, in part because Britain remained concerned about the new state’s ability to defend itself against the USSR. British officers, who had occupied most senior command positions prior to independence, initially predominated in those positions even after 1947. The first commander-in-chief of the Pakistan Army was Gen. Sir Frank Messervy, who had previously commanded a corps in the Burma campaign and headed the Northern Command in India; of 134 senior positions under Messervy, there were 19 Muslim, 3 Hindu, and 112 British officers.58 Over time, the Pakistani and Indian armed forces developed their own senior commanders, although British doctrine predominated for two decades.

As Pakistani and Indian officers replaced the British in senior positions, they developed very different relationships with their respective governments. The Indian Army officer corps was closely knit and recruited heavily from a few provinces such as Punjab, but several factors inhibited military interference in politics. Not only did the Congress Party have a broad-based political legitimacy, but these politicians systematically weakened and controlled the influence of senior military leaders. For example, the senior army officer was coequal with the heads of the other two services, without a chairman to coordinate strategy. Unfortunately, this policy was too effective, muzzling military advice to the government and contributing to India’s defeat in 1962, as discussed below.59 By contrast, the Pakistan Army repeatedly intervened in politics. In the name of national security, army commanders seized power in 1958, 1969, 1977, and 1999; lower-ranking officers also attempted several coups.60

Tibet

Although the fundamental dynamic in South Asian military conflicts was the rivalry between Pakistan and India, other powers became involved because of the Chinese occupation of Tibet. For two decades, this occupation became a major intersection of opposing Cold War interests.61

Numerous aggressors had invaded Tibet over the centuries, but the region’s high altitude, rugged terrain, and remoteness usually prevented effective foreign control.62 Beginning in 1950, however, the People’s Republic of China began to make the traditional Han Chinese claim to Tibet a reality. In 1951, Beijing forced the Tibetan national assembly and the country’s dominant religious figure, the fourteenth Dalai Lama, to acknowledge Chinese sovereignty. For the next four years, the occupiers were relatively conciliatory in their dealings with the Tibetans in Lhasa. By 1955, however, China had made significant progress on the construction of a network of paved roads connecting the remote province to the lowlands. Once these routes made troop and logistical movements simpler, the occupiers began to impose the same standards obtaining in the rest of the PRC, including disarming the populace, teaching atheism in the schools, and collectivizing agriculture. Thousands of Tibetans became internally displaced or emigrated to India and Nepal. In March 1959, the Dalai Lama fled Lhasa for India. En route, he appointed the businessman Gompo Tashi Andrugtsang as commander of the resistance army.

Even before the Dalai Lama escaped, the Central Intelligence Agency had begun dealing with his brother, Gyalo Thondup, to train agents to organize Tibetan resistance.63 Beginning in October 1957, these agents parachuted back into Tibet with radios and small arms. At the end of 1959, the shoestring CIA operation expanded in terms of agents inserted, air missions flown, and weapons parachuted to support the resistance. Although there was significant Tibetan support for this effort, the People’s Liberation Army was far more competent than its opponents. Led by veterans of the Chinese Civil War and the Korean War, the PLA easily defeated the Tibetans, who tended to stand and fight in large groups rather than following guerrilla tactics. The resistance army found itself pushed across the Indian border, while the PLA rapidly killed or captured most of the CIA-trained Tibetans. The influential American ambassador to New Delhi, John Kenneth Galbraith, was a vocal critic of the CIA effort, and in 1961 the new Kennedy administration severely reduced insertions, although the United States continued to train and supply various insurgent groups.

The Chinese-Indian Conflict, 1962

India’s role in the Tibetan resistance is subject to debate, but it became intertwined with the Chinese border issue and thus, indirectly, with the Cold War.64 While providing sanctuary to refugees, including the Dalai Lama, New Delhi recognized Chinese ownership of the disputed territory and discouraged creation of a Tibetan government in exile. In 1960, however, Bhola Nath Mullik, head of the Indian Intelligence Bureau, discreetly informed the CIA that he wanted the agency’s Tibetan operations to continue.65 Regardless of the extent of Indian government involvement, Mao Tse-tung (Zedong) was frustrated by continuing Tibetan resistance and apparently suspected that Nehru was supporting the rebels. Moreover, in 1962 China had just undergone the Sino-Soviet split and the disastrous Great Leap Forward. For Mao, foreign threats served to motivate radicalism at home, contributing to the ensuing Cultural Revolution. Midway through 1962, however, the United States apparently reassured Beijing that it would not permit Nationalist China to attack, thereby freeing the Chinese government to focus on Tibet.66

Beijing’s suspicions about New Delhi’s role in Tibet reinforced disagreements concerning India’s borders with China and Tibet. Both governments professed contempt for the British colonial boundaries, including the Macartney–MacDonald Line in the north, near Kashmir, and the McMahon Line east of Bhutan.67 The Chinese made repeated gestures to negotiate, but the Indian government became committed to maximalist, nationalist claims.68 Beijing followed suit, believing that the disputed Aksai Chin plain, located just east of Jammu and Kashmir, was essential for the road it was building to supply western Tibet.

After several border incidents, the Indian government turned defense over to the army, which assigned 114 Brigade to the Ladakh area near the Aksai Chin and the understrength 4 Indian Division to the disputed Tawang area east of Bhutan. Having claimed publicly that China was occupying Indian territory, the government felt obligated to reassert its control of that territory even though its land claim was debatable. In November 1961, Nehru ordered a “forward policy,” the deployment of tiny outposts in any disputed area that the Chinese had not physically occupied. Much of 4 Division was strung out in groups as few as ten soldiers that were unsupportable tactically or logistically. In the Northeast Frontier Agency (NEFA), the eastern half of India’s disputed border, 7 Brigade grew to four infantry battalions but had only two 75 mm guns for support. Opposite this brigade, Lt. Gen. Zhang Guohua, a corps commander in the Chinese Civil War and now military commander of Tibet, concentrated the equivalent of three divisions.69 The Indian Western Command, defending the mountainous area of Ladakh, was equally outnumbered: 114 Brigade had no artillery, unlike its opponents. Indian infantrymen were still armed with the Lee-Enfield bolt-action rifle, whose British design dated to 1895, whereas the Chinese were equipped with a version of the legendary AK-47 assault rifle.
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As early as 1951, the Chinese occupation of Tibet had prompted Indian military leaders to urge a major upgrade of border defenses. However, the Indian government was convinced that there was no danger of significant conflict with China and that these outposts were simply symbols in a diplomatic negotiation. This was especially true of Defense Minister V. K. Krishna Menon, a Fabian socialist who suspected that most senior officers held biased, Western views of the Cold War. Menon rejected military advice and prevented senior officers from warning the prime minister. More generally, as part of the government policy to avoid military coups, Menon bullied some officers while playing favorites with others. Among these favorites was Lt. Gen. Brij Mohan Kaul, an officer with close ties to Nehru who had spent much of his career in support positions. In 1961, Kaul became the second-highest army officer as chief of the general staff, where he seconded Menon by punishing dissenting officers.70

Nehru was apparently unaware of the domestic volatility in China or the weakness of his own defenses. Moreover, Chinese public statements on the border question had embarrassed the prime minister and angered Indian nationalists. Both sides escalated their military and diplomatic confrontation, until on September 8, 1962, the Chinese crossed Thagla Ridge, which the Indians considered to be the border in the NEFA. On October 10, the People’s Liberation Army ambushed an Indian patrol in this area, bringing matters to a crisis. Defense Minister Menon had recently reassigned General Kaul to command the newly created IV Corps with orders to expel the Chinese in the NEFA. By this point, Menon had moved from occupying empty posts to directing attacks on the Chinese, all without a formal decision of the Indian government. Kaul was a conscientious soldier who damaged his own health when he visited the high-altitude front lines. Both sides prepared to attack, but the Chinese struck first.71

In the first of two offensives, the PLA attacked along the entire front just after dawn on October 20, 1962.72 Using infiltration tactics, within five days the Chinese surrounded and overran the isolated, unsupported Indian outposts in both the west (Ladakh) and east (NEFA). General Kaul repeatedly failed to make timely decisions to withdraw, exposing subordinate units to defeat in detail. On October 23, the PLA entered the Buddhist center of Tawang unopposed. The chief of the Indian Army Staff, Gen. Pran Nath Thapar, wanted to defend the remaining forward positions, but the IV Corps staff ordered the remnants of 4 Division to withdraw to Bombdi, fifty miles (eighty kilometers) farther south.

This unexpected defeat aroused widespread nationalistic sentiment in India, which limited Prime Minister Nehru’s options in response, and indeed his comments to the press suggested a wider war. Within days, Defense Minister Menon and several senior officers were forced to resign, yet General Kaul remained, attempting an ill-planned local counterattack on November 14. In six hours of fighting, an Indian battalion lost half its strength. Frantic reshuffling of assets meant that three different brigade headquarters had command of the same battalions over a ten-day period.73 Nehru appealed to the United States, which was in the midst of the Cuban missile crisis, for assistance. President Kennedy authorized the transfer of modern small arms and military equipment, including automatic rifles, mortars, recoilless rifles, and tactical radios. By November 2, up to 160 tons of such equipment was arriving at New Delhi daily, while the Royal Air Force transported additional aid. Meanwhile, USAF C-130s shuttled these and other supplies farther forward to support the Indian defenders, who rushed 48 Brigade to the NEFA to reinforce 4 Division.74 However, the Indians had no time to acclimate new troops for high-altitude operations, let alone to train on the newly supplied weapons. There was also little opportunity to accumulate supplies, which would expose the Indians to strangulation if the PLA interdicted supply routes.

Nehru and his colleagues apparently did not understand Beijing’s objectives, believing that the first offensive would not be repeated. Chinese Premier Chou En-lai (Zhou Enlai) again urged Nehru to negotiate while trying to convince other neutral nations that India was at fault. Regardless of his disagreements with Beijing, Nikita Khrushchev publicly had to support his fellow Marxists in the crisis, including reneging on a previous promise to provide MiG-21 fighters to New Delhi. Meanwhile, as the Indians struggled to deploy and supply a few battalions in the two contested areas, the PLA moved entire divisions into the region. Zhang Guohua’s eastern sector command was augmented by the experienced 54th Corps headquarters with its 130th Division.75 Using its improved road network, the PLA also built up supplies for a renewed offensive.

On November 17, the Chinese attacked the single battalion that provided a covering force outside Se La (Se Pass) in the NEFA. This battalion repulsed five attacks, but another battalion suffered serious damage when it was hastily withdrawn later that day.76 The main blow of the second offensive fell November 18, with a preplanned attack on both Indian military regions. In the NEFA alone, the PLA’s first echelon included eight infantry and three artillery regiments, far more than the Indians could field.77 General Kaul, returned to duty after his illness, again failed to issue timely instructions for withdrawal. By 3:00 A.M. on November 20, 4 Division and its remaining 48 Brigade ceased to function.78

The Indian defense was somewhat more effective in the west, where Western Army commander Daulet Singh had planned a defense in depth and deployed the equivalent of another division before the second attack began. A bitter Indian defense of the pass at Rezang La halted the Chinese offensive, with heavy casualties on both sides.79

Throughout this series of defeats, the Indian Air Force provided only airlift to support the army, refusing the requests of IV Corps for close air support. The air staff recommended against any form of air intervention, believing that it would be ineffective against dispersed infantry in the rugged terrain of the battle area. Moreover, Indian intelligence feared that such intervention would provoke an escalation by the PLA Air Force, even though that air force had been only marginally effective during the Taiwan Strait confrontations.80 Now, however, Nehru discarded any idea of neutralism by suggesting a major escalation, asking for U.S. military intervention. On November 19, he wrote two letters to President Kennedy, with similar requests to British Prime Minister Harold MacMillan. In the second letter, he requested twelve squadrons of USAF fighter jets with American crews to fly defensive air cover over India’s cities, freeing the Indian Air Force to attack the PLA. In addition, he wanted two squadrons of B-47 strategic bombers to be based in India.81

Fortunately for all concerned, Beijing declared a unilateral cease-fire on November 21, 1962, and withdrew its forces to the positions it had always claimed in the border dispute. This meant retaining a significant portion of Indian-claimed territory in the west, but nothing in the east. This outcome not only secured the strategic roads that China had built but also avoided a confrontation with the United States and supported Beijing’s claim, as later made by Chou En-lai to Henry Kissinger, that the PRC was a responsible great power that should have its permanent seat on the UN Security Council.82

India lost 1,383 soldiers killed, 1,696 missing, and 3,968 captured, with 26 of the latter dying in Chinese hands before they could be repatriated.83 The consequences of the 1962 conflict went far beyond the casualties or the disposition of the barren land involved. The prompt and effective American military aid was less than India aspired to, yet sufficient to anger Pakistan, which argued that these weapons could be used against it. As a result, Washington lost influence in Islamabad without gaining it in New Delhi. The Indians did cooperate to some extent with the CIA, creating their own Tibetan exile force that operated for three decades, long after the United States withdrew from that effort.84

Shaken out of its sense of security and satisfaction, India launched a major military buildup, with its defense budget increasing from 2.81 billion rupees in 1961–62 to 8.67 billion two years later. India’s armed forces expanded over the next decade, with the army growing from 458,000 in ten divisions to 825,000 in twenty-one divisions.85 The air force expanded to forty-five squadrons. The Chinese conflict also energized Indian nuclear ambitions.

While Indian politicians remained wary of any political intervention by the military, they were realistic enough to acknowledge that political domination of the senior officer corps had contributed to the failure of 1962.86 The army also had to recognize that it had failed in strategic assessment and planning, skills on which the military worked assiduously over the next several years. Much of India’s success in 1965 and 1971 may be attributed to its defense expansion and improved civil-military cooperation after 1962.

India versus Pakistan, 1965

If there were a specific reason for the 1965 conflict, it lay in the mutual belief that the adversary was plotting a major attack. Pakistan’s foreign minister, Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, played on Indian fears by claiming that China would again attack India if war broke out in the subcontinent. Moreover, as viewed from Rawalpindi, the Indian defense buildup was clearly aimed at Pakistan, encouraging Pakistani leaders to strike before the newly formed Indian divisions became fully capable. Thus, Cold War proxy issues became enmeshed with the regional rivalry. The reciprocal perception from New Delhi must have recognized that the Pakistan Army was also experiencing difficulties in absorbing newly supplied American weapons; after a decade of U.S. military training and arms, Pakistan’s 6 Armored Division was still incomplete, while its 1 Armored Division had difficulty with basic procedures such as scheduling the refueling of tanks before committing them to battle.87 Although India did not seek a conflict, it like Pakistan believed that delays would only increase its adversary’s capabilities.

On paper, in 1965 India had almost 800,000 active and 47,000 reserve troops organized into fifteen infantry or mountain divisions plus one armored division, while Pakistan had perhaps 200,000 soldiers and 70,000 irregulars, formed into five infantry and two armored divisions plus the equivalent of another division in independent brigades. However, the actual forces on the battlefield were almost equal. Not only was much of the Indian Army newly formed, but half of that army, including the mountain divisions that received most of the new American weapons, was committed elsewhere, containing a single Pakistani division in East Pakistan and the still active Chinese along the northern border. At the border between West Pakistan and India, therefore, the force ratio was seven Pakistani division equivalents to eight Indian. Of the 1,100 Pakistani tanks, 200 were modern M-47 and M-48 main battle tanks (both known as Pattons), while the remainder were obsolescent M-3 Sherman (medium), M-24 Chaffee (light), and similar vehicles. The Indian Army’s 1,450 tanks also included obsolescent vehicles except for 200 modern Centurions that, unlike the Pattons, did not have infrared night vision devices.88 In the air, overall numbers were again misleading, with two hundred Pakistan aircraft in twelve squadrons versus five hundred Indian aircraft in twenty-five squadrons. Courtesy of the United States, Pakistan had one squadron of F-104As, four squadrons of F-86Fs, and two squadrons of B-57B bombers. By contrast, India had only received seven of the promised MiG-21s from Moscow, and lack of parts grounded most of these. In the first day of air operations, F-86s shot down three Vampire fighters and forced a Dassault Toofani (Ouragan) to land, after which the Indians withdrew nine squadrons equipped with these first-generation jets.89 Both sides were apparently concerned about the possibility of unrestricted bombing of civilians and generally limited their air forces to battlefield operations.

The 1965 conflict developed sequentially in three distinct locations: the remote Rann (desert) of Kutch, Kashmir, and the Punjab. Indeed, the sequence of events was so disjointed that each side claimed that the other was the aggressor.90 The first clashes occurred almost by accident in January–April 1965 in the Rann. This area of mudflats and salt marshes lay on the southeastern border of West Pakistan, some ninety miles (145 kilometers) from Karachi. In January, Indian police attempted to enforce their claim to this disputed area by blocking patrols of Pakistani border guards. The confrontation escalated quickly to multibattalion army operations supported by tanks and artillery, with 93 Indian and up to 350 Pakistani casualties. India’s responses were limited both by the remoteness of the area and by the impending monsoon season, which would soon make the Rann impassable. Unfortunately for the peace, such a limited response only reinforced Pakistani beliefs that the Indians were unwilling to defend their claims. The ensuing war derailed plans for an arbitrated settlement of Kutch.
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Far to the north, Pakistan was preparing another effort by its Kashmiri irregular forces. The immediate issue in this ongoing dispute was India’s December 1964 announcement that Kashmir would be administratively integrated with the other provinces of India, indicating that New Delhi had no intention of compromise.91 After a crescendo of border incidents during the first five months of 1965, on May 17 an Indian battalion temporarily seized three Pakistani observation posts on the Kargil Heights, apparently to interdict infiltration routes and warn its opponents.

Although Islamabad has always denied responsibility, UN and other observers strongly suggested that the Pakistani army provided cadres, training, and equipment for these irregulars, based in the Pakistani area known as “Azar [free] Kashmir.” The result was eight to ten battalion-sized irregular forces, poised to infiltrate Indian Kashmir. Directing this large force was Maj. Gen. Akhtar Hussain Malik. The fact that Malik also commanded Pakistan’s 12 Division, responsible for all conventional operations in Kashmir, suggests that he and his staff were overwhelmed by an excessive span of control.92

At the direction of President Ayub Khan, Malik developed two plans, Operations Gibraltar and Grand Slam. Under Gibraltar, Malik’s irregulars began to infiltrate Indian Kashmir in early August. Their plan was to assemble in the principal city of that province, Srinagar, and launch an uprising. However, although the residents of the city had frequently protested Indian oppression, few of them were willing to risk everything in a revolt for abstract political issues.93 Instead, the Pakistani irregulars engaged in widespread ambushes and other attacks. In response, India launched limited attacks across the cease-fire line in late August.

With Gibraltar achieving no decisive results, on September 1 Pakistan launched two infantry brigades and seventy tanks in a conventional attack near Bhimbar-Chhamb, Operation Grand Slam. Their apparent objective was a bridge at Akhnoor, whose seizure would disrupt Indian logistical support throughout the region. Although this axis had been chosen to facilitate mechanized maneuver, the combination of multiple river obstacles and Indian defenses eventually halted the Pakistan advance four miles west of Akhnoor. In addition, the Pakistanis committed their available armor piecemeal rather than concentrating it at the point of penetration.94 The second phase of the 1965 conflict ended as indecisively as the first.

On September 6, the Indian Army chief of staff, Gen. Jayanto Nath Chaudhuri, launched his long-planned counterthrust in the Punjab, where both sides had most of their available forces. The geographic aims of this attack were the cities of Lahore and Sialkot, the latter being a key logistics center for the Pakistan Army. However, India’s true purpose in this offensive was to divert Pakistani units away from the Akhnoor front, seeking to attrit them by a major battle in a location of Indian choosing. This objective was clearly achieved at the operational level, but the offensive represented a decisive widening of the war without regard for the consequences or for international opinion.95

I Pakistani Corps defended the Punjab region with the reinforced 8th Infantry Division along the front and the understrength 6 Armored Division as reserve. Its counterpart, the newly formed I Indian Corps, began the offensive with 1 Indian Armored Division plus 6 Mountain and 14 and 26 Divisions.96 The mountain division made the initial penetration across the border, after which 26 Division was supposed to contain the defenders of Sialkot while 1 Armored Division advanced toward Lahore. Although both sides claimed victories, the Pakistan Army suffered from hesitant commanders who committed their forces piecemeal. On September 7, for example, four tank regiments attempted to attack the Indian left flank, but the local commander feared a trap and hesitated to exploit initial success. The Pakistanis did achieve a local success on September 8–9, when their 1 Armored Division, having shifted south in response to the Indian threat, used its Patton tanks in a night counterattack that caused the Indians to pause for several days. At least one regiment of the Pakistani division blundered into an ambush of anti-tank guns and recoilless rifles, losing up to forty tanks. Meanwhile, the Indian chief of staff apparently maneuvered part of his armored force from the Lahore front northward to Sialkot.97 Although this resulted in another drawn battle near the village of Samba, overall the Indian Army was more effective at operational maneuver than was its opponent.

Despite the vast amounts of modern weaponry involved, the conflict was indecisive and limited. Except in Kashmir, where Pakistan again failed to reverse the 1947 outcome, neither side appeared to have strategic objectives. Indeed, the stalemate provided some measure of reassurance for each side’s security worries. When the smoke cleared, each army held a limited portion of its opponent’s border regions, which they exchanged after a Soviet-brokered agreement at Tashkent in January 1966.98

The East Pakistan Conundrum

From its inception, West Pakistan was a jumble of ethnicities loosely joined by religion and geography. East Pakistan, however, was not only more populous but more homogeneous—while there were other ethnicities, the population consisted primarily of 44 million Bengalis, of whom about 32 million were Muslim.99 Despite this, the West Pakistani elites insisted on Urdu as the sole national language, displacing Bengali. These same elites believed that the Punjabis and Pathans were “martial races” who were inherently superior to both Hindu Indians and Bengalis “corrupted” by the Hindus. Bengal had a long history of democratic self-government, whereas Britain had used martial law to control much of what became West Pakistan. In short, belief systems, ethnicity, and history divided the two halves of the country.100

The 1956 constitution of Pakistan neutralized the votes of the more numerous Bengalis by the “One Unit Scheme,” which counted all the provinces of West Pakistan as equal to the single province in the East, regardless of population size. This changed in 1969, however, when the commander-in-chief of the army, Gen. Agha Muhammed Yahya Khan, became chief martial law administrator and then president of Pakistan.101 Determined to return control to a civilian government, Yahya Khan indicated that he would eliminate the One Unit Scheme and arranged democratic elections on December 7, 1970. Contrary to most expectations, a single Bengali party, the Awami League, won 160 of East Pakistan’s 162 seats in the National Assembly, giving that party an outright majority to govern. Results in West Pakistan were less uniform, but the largest group in that portion of the country was the Pakistan People’s Party headed by Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, one of the architects of the 1965 conflict.

The Awami League’s leader, Sheikh Mujibur Rahman, considered the election results as a mandate to implement his Six-Point Demand, a distillation of Bengali aspirations that called for a federal government in which each half would have its own administration, budget, and currency, united only by foreign and defense policy.102 Bhutto’s demands that his party share power only contributed to the army’s alarm at what it perceived as an Awami threat to the survival of the state. After failed negotiation efforts, in March 1971 President Yahya Khan responded by refusing to convene the new assembly in Dacca, as Sheikh Mujibur had expected. The West Pakistanis were unprepared for the mass civil disobedience that resulted; the central government virtually ceased to function in the East. The Pakistan Army flew in one and one-half infantry divisions, rightly suspecting that the eastern police and military would not act against the local populace. The president and Sheikh Mujibur made some progress in negotiating a resolution, but eventually the army concluded that the Awami League intended to destroy Pakistan. On March 25, Yahya Khan launched Operation Searchlight, a failed attempt to restore central control and neutralize the league. He arrested Sheikh Mujibur, but most other leaders of the Awami League escaped to establish a government in exile. When West Pakistani troops attempted to disarm local military units, the army’s East Bengal Regiment and the East Pakistan Rifles (border guards) fought their way out to sanctuary in India.
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Insurgency and India

While the political pressure grew in East Pakistan, the armies of both India and Pakistan continued their expansion after the 1965 conflict. Recognizing a shortage of infantry, Pakistan formed three additional divisions in the late 1960s. Perhaps more importantly, the Pakistan Army formed two additional corps headquarters to improve operational command and control.103 Much of this gain was offset by the virtual dissolution of police and military forces in East Pakistan, which forced Islamabad to deploy thousands of police and soldiers from the West. Meanwhile, India reached its planned target of twenty-one divisions and forty-five squadrons, with training levels improving over time.

Both armies suffered from the reluctance of the great powers to sell them modern weapons after the 1965 war. The United States, for example, attempted to maintain a form of logistical neutrality by selling basic weapons (such as armored personnel carriers) to Pakistan but limiting its sales of sophisticated aircraft to replacing only noncombat losses of F-104s and B-57s. Once Yahya Khan began his crackdown in East Pakistan, even these sales dried up. However, the Pakistan Army took delivery of its first Type 59 tanks, a Chinese version of the Soviet T-54A. India had even more difficulties obtaining foreign weapons until Prime Minister Indira Gandhi arranged limited Soviet sales in return for a Treaty of Peace and Friendship.104

These sales were just in time to assist India as it prepared to enter the political confusion in East Pakistan. Viewed from New Delhi, intervention was inevitable once Yahya Khan refused to negotiate further with the Awami League. This stalemate created a huge outpouring of refugees that not only strained Indian aid resources but encouraged radicalism, including various Marxist parties, in eastern India.105 Indira Gandhi could not afford prolonged instability in the region, nor could she wait for the Bengalis to achieve their freedom without assistance. Instead, she sought to create a moderate democratic government in the rebellious province.

The Indian Special Frontier Force (SFF), originally formed to incite insurgency in Tibet, was the logical organization to take control of the Bengal resistance movement, known as Mukti Bahini (Liberation or Freedom Fighters). From the Pakistani viewpoint, Mukti Bahini was an Indian puppet organization of terrorists, but in fact thousands of Bengalis sought to free their country. To accelerate the process of insurgency, the SFF committed 3,000 of its Tibetan troops, who had more training and heavy weapons than their Bengali counterparts. The Tibetan exile government reluctantly agreed to this, and the exiles suffered forty-nine killed inside East Pakistan.106

While the insurgency continued, the Indian Army Staff planned for a more conventional role in freeing East Pakistan. The chief of the army staff, Gen. Sam H. F. J. Manekshaw, had impressed Indira Gandhi during the waning days of the 1962 conflict, and he was therefore able to convince her of the requirements for a swift victory.107 First, the army needed at least six months to concentrate troops and supplies around East Pakistan. Second, the offensive had to be delayed for several months after the end of the monsoon season in September, so that the flooded rivers could fall to normal levels. Delaying until late in the year also meant that winter snows would prevent Chinese intervention in the Himalayas, freeing more Indian troops for use in East Pakistan. However, such mountain divisions needed additional bridging assets to operate in the dense river network of Bengal. The resulting delays gave India’s diplomats time to convince other powers that there was no peaceful solution to the violence and human rights transgressions in East Pakistan.

India eventually concentrated three corps plus a fourth, ad hoc, headquarters, between them controlling seven divisions and two separate brigades, to surround the four Pakistani divisions in the East. General Manekshaw originally planned to attack various Pakistani strongpoints but avoid the difficult urban terrain of the capital, Dacca. However, the chief of staff of Eastern Army Command, Maj. Gen. Jack F. R. Jacob, argued successfully for the opposite approach, bypassing Pakistani units at the border to seize Dacca, an approach that permitted the Indian Army to conduct a successful war of maneuver.108

Most leaders in West Pakistan believed from the start that India was responsible for the domestic unrest in the East. As a result, Pakistan gradually mobilized its forces in the west during September–October, and that mobilization provided New Delhi with an excuse to conceal its own military preparations in the East. The Pakistani president dealt directly with his field commanders, bypassing the army chief of staff.109

On November 21, the Indians shifted from raids to progressive infiltration of East Pakistan while continuing to insist that only the Mukti Bahini were involved. New Delhi had originally planned to announce open warfare on December 6, but Pakistan preempted this with an air strike on six forward Indian airfields three days earlier.110 Once again, each side could claim that the other had started the war.

Pakistan may have hoped that a surprise air strike would equal the Israeli success of 1967, but its planners had difficulty operating at the operational level. Instead of committing its entire force, as Israel had done four years earlier, the Pakistan Air Force sent only thirty-two aircraft—10 percent of its fleet—on a limited strike that left most of the Indian bases untouched and inflicted only temporary damage.111

The Pakistani attack prompted India to accelerate its offensive, attacking toward Dacca on December 5. The Indian Air Force had air superiority and the navy blockaded both halves of Pakistan. The Pakistan Army had already been fighting a counterinsurgency for six months, and now faced severe logistical problems. President Yahya Khan required the governor of East Pakistan, Lt. Gen. Amir Abdullah Khan Niazi, to defend every inch of the region. Moreover, General Jacob allowed a television news crew to film the embarkation of an Indian paratroop regiment, causing the Pakistanis to exaggerate the airborne threat when a battalion dropped northwest of Dacca. Nonetheless, the conquest was not easy—the defenders fought with determination, especially in the northwest part of the province, and the many rivers of Bangladesh (as it now became) restricted maneuver even in the dry season. Niazi did not surrender until December 16.112

Diplomatically, it was easier for India to halt at that point, justifying its intervention as a means to protect and free the Bengalis. However, the Pakistani military believed that East Pakistan could only be defended by offensive action in the west. The opposing armies “straightened the border” by capturing various small salients, some being the same territory they had seized and then traded six years earlier. On December 3, two Pakistani divisions attacked in the Kashmir area but ground to a halt within two days. The Indians fired anti-tank missiles at any disabled Pakistani tanks, converting temporary losses into permanent ones. Pakistan’s II Corps, which controlled 1 Armored Division, waited in vain for an opportunity to counterattack. Farther south, Prime Minister Gandhi authorized a limited offensive in Sind Province, including the previously disputed Sialkot area, thereby tying down the Pakistan forces in the area. Once again, the Pakistan Army had difficulty coordinating the combat arms at the tactical level, and even more problems with operational maneuver. Because of aircraft ranges and available bases, the Pakistan Air Force had superiority in the north and the Indian Air Force farther south; both air forces inflicted significant equipment losses on their opposing armies. Once East Pakistan surrendered, however, the western conflict became pointless and came to a halt.113

Just as in 1965, the great powers were unable to influence the conflict in any meaningful way. The United States made the usual gesture of dispatching a carrier battle group into the Indian Ocean, but Washington was already withdrawing from Vietnam and had no will to intervene. At most, it counterbalanced the Soviet naval presence in the region.114 In this instance, therefore, the balanced faceoff of the Cold War prevented any great power intervention that might have limited the conflict.

West Pakistan’s rigid political position concerning the East doomed its efforts from the start. Zulfikar Ali Bhutto, who had contributed to this rigidity, profited from the disaster by replacing Yahya Khan as head of state. Despite the army’s unrealistic demands in Kashmir, in 1972 Bhutto persuaded Gandhi to restore relations, return the lost West Pakistani territory, block war crimes trials in Bangladesh, and assume control of all prisoners remaining in Bangladesh’s custody. The cease-fire line in Kashmir became a formal Line of Control, and Pakistan agreed to use peaceful means to resolve the issue.115 In practice, that resolution never came, and in 1999 Pakistan again risked war by occupying poorly defined ground along the Line of Control.

Sam Manekshaw became India’s first field marshal, yet even he was subject to the government’s distrust of senior officers. When the prime minister asked him if he were planning a military coup, Manekshaw reportedly inquired whether she wanted him to resign on grounds of mental instability.116 The Indian subcontinent retained its potential for violence.




CHAPTER 5

SECOND INDOCHINA WAR

The Problem, 1954–1967

Saigon and Hanoi

On July 21, 1954, the Geneva Conference reached a compromise agreement on the future of Southeast Asia. The Democratic Republic of [North] Vietnam (DRV), the People’s Republic of China, France, the USSR, and Britain all signed the accords. Although the United States and the newly independent State of (South) Vietnam had attended the conference, neither signed the agreement, which divided Southeast Asia into Laos, Cambodia, North Vietnam, and South Vietnam. Undersecretary of State Walter Smith, Dwight Eisenhower’s wartime chief of staff, issued a separate note in which the United States promised not to disturb the accords so long as they did not interfere with American national security.1

Following the model used in Korea the previous year, the vaguely worded accords created a temporary demilitarized zone between the North and South, with an International Control Commission (ICC) composed of India, Poland, and Canada to monitor the cease-fire. The accords established a three-hundred-day period of free movement, with Viet Minh communist forces withdrawing to the North and French Union, non-communist forces moving to the South. Hundreds of thousands of northerners, especially Vietnamese Catholics, went south. An unsigned final declaration of the conference called for reunification elections, presumably supervised by the ICC, but the DRV never accepted the ICC’s authority, and the South Vietnamese government in Saigon refused to conduct such elections at all. The Eisenhower administration did not attempt to dissuade Saigon from that decision, and Western powers soon acted as if the temporary division of Vietnam were permanent, marking two different states rather than two halves of the same nation.

Neither side regarded Geneva as an end to conflict in the region. Washington backed Saigon’s efforts at propaganda and sabotage in the North, even as both sides redeployed their forces and supporters to their respective zones in Vietnam. On January 22, 1955, Hanoi’s party leader in the South, Le Duan (1907–86, born Le Van Nhuan), ostentatiously boarded a Polish ship to sail northward. That night, however, Le Duan paddled a canoe back into the Mekong Delta; his deputy, Le Duc Tho (born Phan Dinh Khai), continued northward to represent his boss. While ostensibly following the official party line put out by Hanoi, these two men actively encouraged renewed insurrection in South Vietnam.2

The View from Saigon

Meanwhile, Ngo Dinh Diem (1901–63) struggled to build a separate state in the South. Bao Dai, the former emperor and head of the newly created State of Vietnam, had appointed Diem as prime minister just before the Geneva talks, but by October 1955 Diem used a rigged plebiscite to parlay his weak position into the first president of the Republic of [South] Vietnam (RVN). In the process, Diem and his closely knit family forced both Bao Dai and the head of the South’s army, Gen. Nguyen Van Hinh, into exile while repressing rebellions by several volatile militias in the South.3

Ngo Dinh Diem was a man of considerable abilities, but virtually all of his strengths were also potential weaknesses.4 He was thoughtful and well educated, the product of a mixture of French Catholic and Vietnamese Confucian schools. However, this background placed him at odds with both the Buddhist majority of his countrymen and his pragmatic American allies. Personally honest and even puritanical, Diem was either unaware of or (more likely) too tolerant of the corruption of his closest advisers, especially his brother Ngo Dinh Nhu. Diem was a genuine nationalist who had repeatedly stood up to the French and the communist Viet Minh, and who had organized a significant movement of mass support for his cause. However, his nearly messianic faith in his own judgment, reinforced by repeated victories over his opponents, made him inflexible and arbitrary. In combination with the Vietnamese tradition of resistance to foreigners, this left the new president ill-equipped to compromise with his American partners. He regarded American advice as amateurish and balked at any attempt to place conditions on the foreign aid he received.

The Ngo family also had a condescending, paternalistic attitude toward their fellow Vietnamese. Even his fellow members of the urban, Europeanized elite seemed so incompetent that any liberalization or democratization of the South would be pointless. Like the early American settlers, the new leaders in Saigon tried to convert their local minority, the Hmong or Montagnards, into conventional peasant farmers. Perhaps most significantly, Philip Catton has argued, the Ngo brothers believed in an obscure French philosophy called “personalism” that sought to create group identity through collective effort and moral regeneration. For example, Diem declined to provide significant arms or assistance to local self-defense groups, expecting those groups to seize weapons from their opponents while building their villages through forced labor. Neither the general Vietnamese population nor American officials understood this philosophy.5

The United States moved quickly to substitute its own military influence for that of France in the new South Vietnam. French public opinion demanded an end to the struggle in Southeast Asia. Moreover, Paris had depended heavily on American military aid to conduct its war in Southeast Asia, so when Washington sharply reduced that aid, the French had little choice but complete withdrawal from the region; in April 1956 they dissolved their Far East Command. Meanwhile, under cover of a mission to recover American-supplied military equipment, 350 U.S. troops established American procedures for logistics.6 Eager to eliminate French control, President Diem encouraged this transition, insisting that the United States assume training for his army beginning in January 1955. Within two years, this force, redesignated the Army of the Republic of Vietnam (ARVN) in December 1955, had replaced French uniforms, rank insignia, salutes, and officer training structure with their American counterparts. Learning the English language took longer, and French culture actually reasserted itself during the 1960s.7 The most senior ARVN leaders remained products of French training and the First Indochina War.

At first, the United States limited its funding of the ARVN to 75,000 men, preferring to rely on the collective security of the Southeast Asia Treaty Organization (SEATO) formed in the wake of the French defeat. Within SEATO, however, only the right-wing Thai government supported active defense measures. Meanwhile, Vietnamese insurgents intermittently targeted American advisers. On October 22, 1957, a bomb injured Americans at the offices of the Military Assistance Advisory Group (MAAG) and U.S. Information Service; several Americans died during a July 8, 1959, attack on Bien Hoa airfield.8 Washington soon felt obliged to increase both the level of aid and the size of the ARVN.

During 1956–57, the Diem government launched a number of grandiose reform plans, including limiting the amount of rent a landlord could charge and expropriating some landlords, ostensibly to redistribute land to the peasants. Diem himself believed that these reforms were working, but implementation was slow and the government alienated many of its citizens by forcibly resettling them onto unused land in the Mekong River Delta. It then demanded that these settlers provide free labor to construct their villages, dubbed “Agrovilles.” When such projects failed, Diem refused to believe that the people were unhappy, instead attributing the failure to communist infiltration of the Agrovilles.9

In addition to such reform efforts, the Saigon government sought to repress all forms of opposition, especially the remaining communists in the South. Presidential Ordinance No. 6, issued in January 1956, authorized the detention, without trial, of anyone for up to two years. Arrests and torture, in combination with an internal purge of the communist Vietnamese Workers’ Party in the South, reduced the strength of that party by 90 percent by the end of the year. However, the indiscriminate oppression of innocents aroused continued resistance. In 1959, Diem went further, making any political opposition punishable by life imprisonment.10

Contrary to legend, not all Americans were blind to the threat of insurgency. Lt. Gen. Samuel T. Williams, the outspoken head of the MAAG from 1955 to 1960, urged Diem to give the ARVN responsibility for the conventional, border defense mission while converting the Civil Guard, which suffered more casualties than the ARVN in the later 1950s, into a well-equipped paramilitary force for internal defense. Williams disagreed with Diem on numerous issues and opposed a Washington proposal to suspend aid to the Civil Guard.11

The Republic of Vietnam struggled forward during the decade as armed opposition attacks grew in frequency and scale. American politicians were aware of this threat but focused on the immediate issue of warfare in Laos.

The View from Hanoi

Despite its victory over the French, the newly independent Democratic Republic of Vietnam faced as many problems as its southern counterpart. Although the communists blamed France for the illiteracy and starvation they inherited, they now had to create a new state and rebuild their economy. Urged on by their Chinese advisers, the DRV leaders made matters worse by collectivizing farming. This provoked such widespread peasant resistance that the People’s Army of Vietnam (PAVN), already stretched to help in farming and reconstruction, had to divert significant troops to restore order. Even the PAVN’s official history later conceded that there had been “errors in implementing the land reform program.”12 The failure of collectivization advanced the career of Le Duan when he returned from the South at the end of 1955. Unassociated with the controversial policies, he found himself in charge of correcting them, a path that facilitated his rapid ascent in party circles. Supported by Le Duc Tho and others, the southerner joined the ruling Politburo and in 1960 succeeded the aging Ho Chi Minh as general secretary of the Party Central Committee.13

The PAVN set out to reinvent itself as a conventional armed force, emphasizing training and education. By the end of 1956, the PAVN counted fourteen infantry divisions and four mixed artillery and anti-aircraft divisions. Its equipment, however, lagged behind its aspirations, remaining a mixture of captured Western and Chinese-supplied weaponry. Between 1956 and 1963, Beijing transferred 270,000 infantry weapons, 10,000 guns and mortars, fifteen aircraft, and twenty-eight small naval vessels to Hanoi, but motorization and mechanization remained in the future for the PAVN.14 Still, this growing conventional army partially explains the frequently criticized decision to make the South Vietnamese military into a similar army rather than a light counterinsurgency force.

The widening Sino-Soviet split also distracted Hanoi, as different factions favored Beijing and Moscow. With such concerns, the DRV government had few resources to devote to liberating the South. The weak Vietnamese economy prompted the renowned military leader Vo Nguyen Giap, victor of Dien Bien Phu, to advise delay in resuming the struggle. However, Saigon’s continued efforts to suppress southern communists played into Le Duan’s hands. After a secret trip to assess the situation in the South, in January 1959 the rising party leader convinced a Party Plenum to sanction renewed struggle there. Party Resolution 15 endorsed both political and military action in the South.15

In May of that year, the PAVN established Military Transportation Group 559 to oversee movement of personnel and equipment southward. Although this headquarters initially directed separate battalions dedicated to overland and seaborne infiltration, early attempts at sea movement failed. The overland route, via Laos and the Annamite Mountains to the highlands of central South Vietnam, later became famous as the Ho Chi Minh Trail. By the end of 1959, Group 559 reported transporting 542 personnel (cadre members, trainers, cryptographers, and maintenance workers) with 1,667 infantry weapons and 188 kilograms of explosives. To ensure the deniability of this operation, the weapons were initially of Western manufacture and the personnel were primarily southerners who had withdrawn to the North under the Geneva Accords. The numbers of personnel and supplies increased rapidly in subsequent years.16

When he became general secretary in 1960, Le Duan sponsored a new five-year economic plan to focus Hanoi’s resources for the new war. He also created the National Liberation Front (NLF) as the umbrella term for those fighting, thereby reasserting northern control over the peasant uprisings in the South.17 In 1961, Hanoi reactivated its management structure as the Central Office on South Vietnam (COSVN), which in turn renamed the southern branch of its Marxist party as the “People’s Revolutionary Party” to conceal its relationship to Hanoi. Entire PAVN units eventually went south with deceptive designations as Vietcong (VC) organizations. Some communist units were designated as People’s Liberation Armed Forces (PLAF), but they typically had strong PAVN command cadres.18

The Theory of Struggle (Dau tranh)

To understand Hanoi’s conduct of the ensuing war, one must first consider the Vietnamese interpretation of Mao Tse-tung’s protracted revolutionary warfare. This version is most commonly referred to by the Vietnamese phrase for struggle (Dau tranh), a term that carried with it many of the emotional, ideologically driven connotations of self-sacrifice more recently associated with the Islamic concept of jihad.19

Like Mao’s original theory, Dau tranh envisioned an insurgency that was primarily political in nature, focusing on converting and motivating the populace to support the effort. While clearly Marxist-Leninist-Maoist in its intentions, this appeal also includes strong elements of Vietnamese nationalism. As Giap wrote in a 1964 essay,

The people’s revolutionary war [is] the war of a people made up mainly of peasants, which is aimed at overthrowing imperialism and feudalism, reconquering independence for the nation and giving land back to the tillers. . . . Marxism-Leninism never disowns the history and the great constituent virtues of a nation; on the contrary, it raises these virtues to new heights.20

In addition to proselytizing the peasants, Vietnamese Communist organizers did not hesitate to ensure compliance by using intimidation and assassination, especially against village leaders. During the initial period of organization (1959–63, equivalent to Phase I in Maoist theory), up to 90 percent of communist cadres in South Vietnam were dedicated to political rather than military activities.21 This political struggle, Dau tranh chinh tri, included not only administration of “liberated” areas but also actions to influence and recruit both civilians and soldiers controlled by the enemy. The party referred to these political programs collectively as the van programs. Under this heading, Hanoi also conducted skillful propaganda operations to discredit enemy actions such as bombing campaigns against the North.

In theory, the political struggle worked in concert with armed struggle (Dau tranh vu trang). Like Mao’s original version of protracted revolutionary warfare, the Vietnamese concept of armed struggle was not confined to guerrilla tactics but included all levels of warfare from terrorism through high-tempo mechanized war. Until the USSR provided advanced weaponry, however, the PAVN and its southern wing, the PLAF (usually referred to by U.S. and ARVN troops as “Vietcong”), operated primarily at the lower, unconventional end of that spectrum of violence. In particular, the PAVN/PLAF pioneered the concept of “sapper” units and tactics, groups of specially trained forces that infiltrated enemy defenses to disrupt and confuse their opponents while the main insurgent forces attacked from the outside.

One of the key differences between Mao’s theory and that of the Vietnamese Communists lay in their expectations concerning how the insurgency would end. For Mao, Phase III, or mobile warfare, consisted of a combination of conventional and insurgent tactics that would ultimately defeat the enemy force in a series of campaigns. While not rejecting such a vision, the Vietnamese leadership placed great faith in the general uprising, or khoi nghia. As Douglas Pike has suggested, this uprising was a version of the French general strike of workers transferred to a rural, peasant setting.22 Convinced that the entire people supported their revolution, the North Vietnamese leaders repeatedly sought to telescope Mao’s Phase III into a brief, intense period in which the entire nation would rise up and overthrow the foreign oppressors and their “puppet” forces. Unfortunately for the success of their revolution, this myth blinded the DRV’s leaders, causing them to launch premature attempts at final victory while their opponents were still strong in military terms. Vo Nguyen Giap had attempted to do this in the spring of 1951, when he committed three divisions against prepared French defenses in the Red River Delta. The resulting failure cost Giap 12,000 of his best troops and set back the Vietminh insurgency by several years. This experience made Giap more cautious and skeptical about the possibility of a single, cataclysmic victory, but Le Duan and Le Duc Tho tried the same approach three times—in 1964, 1968, and 1972—each time with costly results. Even the final success in 1975 was lacking in popular support.23

The Growing Insurgency

Meanwhile, the ARVN and its American advisers cooperated to create a defense force for South Vietnam. In 1959, the ARVN reorganized into seven infantry divisions, four separate armored battalions, an airborne brigade, and a marine group. Although an ARVN division had relatively few heavy weapons—generally one battalion each of 105 mm howitzers and 4.2 in. mortars—those weapons were sufficient to confine the troops largely to roads so that the artillery could accompany them. The Vietnamese Air Force (VNAF) included one fighter-bomber squadron, two C-47 transport squadrons, and two squadrons of light observation aircraft, while the navy contained only small vessels such as subchasers, minesweepers, and landing craft.24

The ARVN was hampered by numerous problems, not least the corruption that diverted much American aid into the pockets of senior officers. Moreover, even though a number of Vietnamese officers attended military schools in America, most did not believe that American military methods were applicable to their situation at home. The language barrier continued to impede cooperation, with few American advisers becoming fluent in Vietnamese. While some ARVN units were brave and well led, many lacked training and motivation. ARVN leaders operated like feudal lords, controlling troops, budgets, and patronage in a geographic area. Under such circumstances, conducting an open-ended and growing military effort against the resistance was disheartening. During a three-month period of early 1960, for example, the ARVN lost more than 1,300 weapons, ranging from pistols to light mortars, while it reported capturing only 150.25 Meanwhile, ARVN soldiers were susceptible to Vietcong propaganda and intimidation.

When John F. Kennedy took office in 1961, he and his administration, with their preference for counterinsurgency as part of a wider spectrum of military “Flexible Response,” initially emphasized the communist insurgency in Laos. Soon, however, the new administration focused more on the South Vietnamese case. In January, the outgoing administration had sent Brig. Gen. Edward Lansdale, who had previously worked with both the Philippine and South Vietnamese governments, on an inspection tour of Saigon. Lansdale’s report convinced Kennedy of the threat posed by the Vietcong, and the president increased funding for both the ARVN and the Civil Guard. Additional American advisers, both conventional officers and Special Forces teams, soon followed.26

Yet, the new administration remained cautious, perhaps because of continuing disagreements with the Diem government. In April 1961, Deputy Defense Secretary Roswell Gilpatric, advised by Lansdale, recommended a two-division increase in the size of the ARVN, together with 4,000 additional advisers, but got nowhere with the president. Two months later, President Diem asked to increase the ARVN from 170,000 to 270,000, but the administration agreed to finance only an additional 10,000 troops.27 When Kennedy’s favorite soldier-intellectual, Gen. Maxwell Taylor, visited South Vietnam in October 1961 along with Lansdale and policy planner Walt W. Rostow, Taylor concluded that Diem was isolated from his countrymen but could not be abandoned. The president rejected a proposal to insert U.S. troops into the country under the guise of flood relief, as well as Defense Secretary McNamara’s November 8 memorandum to deploy 205,000 American troops (six divisions) in a combat role. Kennedy did authorize dispatch of a USAF combat crew training squadron, a special operations organization equipped with T-28 and B-26B aircraft. This squadron put ground attack missions ahead of its ostensible mission to train the VNAF. Eventually, American airmen flew attack missions under the cover term Farm Gate, often carrying one Vietnamese airman on each aircraft to maintain the fiction that the USAF was training and assisting the local aviators. Because the USAF had neglected this type of ground attack in favor of strategic bombing, the Farm Gate crews had to reinvent the tactics involved.28

Even McNamara recognized that Vietnam represented a difficult problem that did not lend itself to conventional or special warfare solutions. This lack of clarity convinced the secretary to view intelligence reports about the war as attempts to justify increased resources for the war, prompting him to disregard such intelligence.29

The Kennedy administration continued with its incremental approach, including dispatch of several scarce helicopter units as well as M-113 armored personnel carriers to provide greater tactical mobility for the ARVN. After prolonged bureaucratic maneuvers to satisfy State Department concerns about its ambassador’s authority, in February 1962 the administration upgraded the MAAG in South Vietnam to a full-fledged headquarters, the U.S. Military Assistance Command, Vietnam, or MACV. This title reflected the fundamental disadvantage under which the U.S. forces operated in Vietnam—to avoid the appearance of colonialism, MACV never officially controlled ARVN units but instead advised and assisted local commanders. Moreover, the first commander of MACV (1962–64), Gen. Paul D. Harkins, was a skilled conventional soldier rather than a counterinsurgency expert.30

Under Harkins, the number of American advisers grew to 15,000 by the end of 1962, while the ARVN expanded in fits and starts and Vietcong attacks changed from pinpricks to larger-scale ambushes and raids.31 Many bright young American officers, such as then-Capt. Colin Powell, volunteered as advisers to gain experience in war. They encountered a problem common to all advisers: how to establish a working relationship with their local counterparts without losing their objectivity about the overall situation. The adviser could not direct any action, and indeed his Vietnamese counterparts often had much more combat experience than did the American. Many ARVN commanders valued their advisers primarily because an American voice on a tactical radio was more likely to get prompt fire support than would a Vietnamese making the same request.

An American often spent only five to seven months with a unit, and naturally wanted rapid change, whereas the ARVN, engaged in unending low-intensity combat, operated at a slower pace and had lower expectations of success. After contact with the enemy, the adviser had to find tactful ways to recommend improvements while avoiding outright criticism of his counterparts. Most significantly, the American adviser chain of command expected accurate reports and visible results, while the ARVN troops inevitably tended to exaggerate successes and minimize failures.32

The desire for measurable results produced innumerable different systems intended to quantify the progress of the war, culminating in the voluminous Hamlet Evaluation System that the United States implemented in 1967. Many thoughtful participants and observers recognized the difficult, subjective nature of any metric, especially when true progress, if it occurred at all, might take years if not decades to achieve. However, the short duty tours of American advisers—and later of American company and battalion commanders—drove even the most sophisticated officers to focus on a simple but flawed measurement, the so-called body count, to give at least some appearance of success. When a unit suffered casualties and lost weapons to the enemy, it naturally sought to place those losses in context by comparing them to what the enemy had suffered. Unfortunately for the accuracy of such measurements, the Vietcong and later the PAVN were adept at evacuating their own casualties and carrying away any weapons, leaving the American adviser or commander to make a highly subjective estimate of enemy losses, often based on something as debatable as pools of blood on the ground.33

Not content with defensive actions, the United States attempted covert operations into North Vietnam in 1962. Initial efforts by the CIA in cooperation with the Saigon regime were susceptible to infiltration by double agents as well as compromise of operational plans. Moreover, the agents were inserted over a broad area of the North rather than concentrating in one area, and aerial resupply was easy for the DRV to track and interdict. As a result, twenty-five of the first thirty attempted insertions failed. This poor success rate reinforced President Kennedy’s low opinion of the CIA after the 1961 Bay of Pigs failure. In 1963, therefore, the Defense Department assumed control of the CIA’s efforts in Vietnam, including not only covert missions into the North but also Special Forces teams working with Hmong mountain people to interdict PAVN infiltration along South Vietnam’s long land frontiers. After considerable delay due to the change of administration when Kennedy was assassinated, in January 1964 President Lyndon Johnson approved a new covert program, Operations Plan (OPLAN) 34A. The direction of this scheme fell to a newly formed staff section of MACV, a section with the cover name of Studies and Observation Group (SOG).34

Meanwhile, misunderstandings and disagreements continued between the Diem regime and the United States. Based on the British experience in Malaya, consultant Robert Thompson had recommended the creation of fortified, mutually supporting villages offering improved government services. Diem, however, radically changed this premise when he launched the “Strategic Hamlet” Program in early 1962. Neither Diem nor his brother Nhu wanted to further alienate the populace by forcible resettlement, so the new hamlets were not concentrated in one area for mutual defense. Instead, the Saigon government scattered these hamlets over large portions of the territory with relatively few resources or weapons to assist in their development. Once again, the Ngo brothers tried to accomplish too much too quickly, declaring more than 6,000 villages to be Strategic Hamlets by April 1963. With Nhu in charge of the program, the brothers used their own party followers, the Republic Youth Movement, in a vain effort to indoctrinate villagers. Rather than providing just a secure environment with government services, the Strategic Hamlets were supposed to defeat communism while promoting economic development and group unity through struggle and self-help. American officials reluctantly went along with this program but had no control over it. The Vietcong infiltrated many hamlets, while others were abandoned or overrun in the fall of 1963.35

American officials disagreed not only with the methods used in the Strategic Hamlets but also with the basic focus on pacification. While acknowledging the need to control the countryside, some officials emphasized the North Vietnamese infiltration threat rather than the native resistance movement.36 As the war escalated, both threats grew in severity. By the summer of 1963, the National Liberation Front claimed 300,000 supporters and organized its forces into units as large as regiments.37

In the spring of 1963, the Ngo family’s isolation from their countrymen increased with religious controversy. Diem’s older brother, Ngo Dinh Thuc, was the Catholic archbishop of Hué, the former imperial capital of Vietnam, while his brother Ngo Dinh Nhu believed that communists had infiltrated the Buddhist majority in South Vietnam. Growing friction between the government and Buddhists came to a climax on May 7, 1963. On that day, celebrated as Buddha’s birthday, the Catholic provincial governor enforced an obsolete rule forbidding the display of a Buddhist flag. The next day, government forces opened fire on Buddhist demonstrators, killing nine. In turn, this led to the highly publicized suicides of various Buddhist monks, who set fire to themselves in front of television cameras to draw attention to persecution.38 On August 21, Nhu engineered a series of attacks on Buddhist temples that killed dozens if not hundreds of civilians.39

The View from Washington

The Kennedy administration became increasingly frustrated by Diem’s conduct of the war, while the Vietnamese president offended or alienated many of his constituents. For his part, Diem resented American attempts to dictate policy to him and sought to reduce his dependence on U.S. aid. In October 1963, Kennedy suspended various aid payments to the Saigon government, while Gen. Tran Van Don sounded out a CIA officer about an American response to a potential coup against Diem. Although senior CIA officials wanted the United States to remain neutral, Ambassador Henry Cabot Lodge concluded that the Ngo brothers must be removed from office. Lodge in effect encouraged the revolt, which on November 1–2 besieged the presidential palace and then murdered Diem and Nhu.40 The result was severe political instability in Saigon at precisely the time when the PAVN/PLAF were winning the struggle in the countryside. Coup followed coup in Saigon for more than three years, ending only in September 1967 with the rigged election of two rivals—ARVN Gen. Nguyen Van Thieu and Vietnamese Air Force commander Nguyen Cao Ky—as president and vice president, respectively.

For all of his shortcomings, Diem had genuine credentials as a nationalist and some legitimacy, if only among the educated elites, as a head of state. His successors lacked even this credibility. The Republic of Vietnam government was a slender reed upon which to build a government that could obtain the trust of the populace, especially when that populace was under growing and violent pressure to support the opposition.

Sensing victory after Diem’s death, Le Duan attempted to tighten Hanoi’s control of the war and launch a final effort in the South. At the Ninth Party Plenum in December 1963, he proposed abandoning protracted warfare in favor of a “General Offensive–General Uprising” for 1964. The PAVN brought its troops up to wartime strength and began to send the 325th Division, along with additional weapons, southward down the Ho Chi Minh Trail.41 Among the new weapons were large numbers of Chinese-made copies of the Soviet AK-47 assault rifle, a marked improvement over the aging French, Japanese, and American weapons that the PLAF had used to date.42 In early 1964, two PAVN engineer regiments built a vehicular road with rest stations and communications nodes, greatly improving the trail. PLAF attacks continued to expand, including multiple terror bombings of Americans in Saigon. On May 2, 1964, sappers sank the USNS Card, an escort aircraft carrier used to shuttle helicopters to Vietnam, while it was moored at Saigon.43

To conduct this expanded war, Le Duan backed Gen. Nguyen Chi Thanh, former head of the PAVN’s political office and since 1951 an outspoken critic of Vo Nguyen Giap. In mid-1964, Thanh went south, enforcing control of the NLF in support of Le Duan’s strategy of maximum effort.44

For more than eighteen months, the different agencies of the American government struggled to develop a coherent policy for this convoluted situation in which even basic facts were subject to debate. The Joint Chiefs of Staff repeatedly urged direct intervention by American forces, while Defense Secretary McNamara proposed various lesser measures, such as new weaponry and ARVN “hot pursuit” of communists across the Laotian border. McNamara recognized that Johnson wanted to avoid widening the war, not only because of the open-ended nature of the conflict but also because the president wished to focus on domestic issues such as civil rights and his “Great Society” reforms. Different factions alternately blamed or applauded various actors, including Ambassador Lodge, the MACV headquarters, and the series of military rulers in Saigon.45

Gulf of Tonkin

In the midst of this muddled policy debate, an unexpected event gave activists within the Johnson administration a pretext for decisive action. In addition to Army Special Forces units, the U.S. Navy had also dispatched special operators—Sea, Air, Land (SEAL) platoons and their supporting small craft—to Vietnam in 1962. By 1963, the SEALs were actively involved in infiltrating agents and ARVN commandos into North Vietnam as part of OPLAN 34A.

On the night of July 30–31, 1964, South Vietnamese or American gunboats, operating under OPLAN 34A, raided several islands off the North Vietnamese coast. In an apparently unrelated operation labeled DeSoto, U.S. Navy destroyers periodically conducted electronic surveillance of the North, sailing within eight nautical miles of the coastline in an era when the United States defined the limit of territorial waters as three miles. Whatever the actual American involvement in the coastal raids, North Vietnamese authorities apparently concluded that the destroyers were somehow providing cover and support to the special operations raids. On August 2, North Vietnamese PT boats attacked the destroyer USS Maddox at a time when the U.S. ship believed it was some twenty-five miles off the Vietnamese coast. The destroyer, supported by aircraft from the carrier USS Ticonderoga, returned fire. Two nights later, the Maddox, accompanied by another destroyer, USS Turner Joy, patrolled in the same area. Decrypted DRV communications suggested that the North was preparing for another attack, possibly against the DeSoto patrol. Unbeknownst to officials in Washington, the South Vietnamese and SEALs were planning another coastal raid that same night. Given the unreliable radar and sonar on the two aging American vessels, it is possible that no second attack occurred on the night of 3–4 August, but there is no convincing evidence that the administration deliberately faked the incident. Certainly, Johnson believed that the attack required a forceful response.46 Indeed, after months of dealing with an ill-defined situation, the Gulf of Tonkin attacks appeared to be a clear-cut challenge that could be met with conventional means.

Adm. U. S. G. Sharp, commander-in-chief, Pacific (CINCPAC), recommended retaliatory strikes as soon as he heard about the second incident involving destroyers. The confused nature of the incident, together with the need to maneuver an additional aircraft carrier (USS Constellation) into range, delayed this attack until the afternoon of August 5. These initial air strikes were directly related to the perceived attack, focusing on DRV PT boat bases and a petroleum storage facility at the coastal city of Vinh, midway along the North Vietnamese coast. At a cost of two Navy aircraft, the strike caused considerable damage.47

Had the incident stopped there, it would not be even a footnote in history. However, the Johnson administration used this pretext to persuade Congress to pass—in what was an almost unanimous vote—what became known as the Gulf of Tonkin Resolution on August 7, 1964. Johnson’s advisers had drafted a similar resolution in June, but until the naval incidents, the president lacked political support for such an action. Now, however, the Gulf of Tonkin Resolution gave political cover to the administration’s actions. Using the dubious premise that the DRV had attacked American ships on the high seas and conducted unprovoked aggression, this resolution authorized “all necessary measures” to repel future attacks. In the midst of his reelection campaign, Johnson got a virtual blank check, although he was reluctant to cash that check. Coming on the heels of the air strike, the Tonkin Gulf Resolution and the administration’s response gave the misleading impression that the United States could apply measured amounts of force against specific DRV pressure points, whereas in fact Washington remained as divided as ever concerning the means and ends the United States should employ in Vietnam.48

Prelude to Intervention

While Johnson went on to an overwhelming victory in the 1964 election, the PAVN/PLAF continued to grow in effectiveness and boldness. September 18 saw yet another incident involving destroyers on DeSoto patrol, but McNamara concluded that the evidence was too muddled to justify a response. On November 1, a mortar attack on Bien Hoa airfield killed four Americans, wounded seventy-two, destroyed five B-57 bombers, and damaged a further thirteen aircraft. Maxwell Taylor, who had become ambassador to Saigon after retiring as chairman of the Joint Chiefs, urged another retaliatory air strike, but Johnson, on the eve of election day, resisted, in part because of the continuing instability of the South Vietnamese government.49

ARVN attempts at counterinsurgency, focusing primarily on large-scale search operations, had little effect other than to alienate the populace. In a series of engagements between December 28, 1964, and January 4, 1965, the ARVN struggled to retake Binh Gia, a village some forty miles east of the capital, after several PLAF regiments seized it. In the process, the South Vietnamese forces sustained 201 killed and 104 missing but could find only thirty-two Vietcong bodies. The ARVN began to suffer record numbers of desertions—as many as 7,000 per month—as its morale declined further. Ambassador Taylor, who sensed that the United States was losing the conflict, tried to convince the president to deploy American forces, but Johnson resisted attempts to limit his freedom of action.50 The president consistently deferred decisions and sought lesser options to avoid becoming involved in a wider war.

Gen. William C. Westmoreland, who had succeeded Harkins as commander of MACV in June 1964, repeatedly requested U.S. troop units to protect American helicopter and other bases in Vietnam. On February 7, 1965, these requests took on new urgency when a series of PLAF attacks targeted American installations. As a forerunner of events three years later, the attacks occurred immediately after the lunar new year celebrations, when ARVN security was lax. In the most serious of these incidents, the 409th Sapper Battalion attacked the U.S. 52nd Combat Aviation Battalion at Camp Holloway, part of the ARVN airfield at Pleiku in the highlands area of north-central South Vietnam. Seven Americans died and 109 were wounded. Once again, the Johnson administration hesitated because of possible escalation; Soviet Premier Andrei Kosygin had just arrived in Hanoi to promise more aid. Eventually, the United States responded with a targeted air attack (Operation Flaming Dart) on four barracks near the southern border of North Vietnam. Nguyen Cao Ky sent a parallel raid of VNAF fighter-bombers to hit other DRV targets. This attempt to use military force as a warning gesture failed to deter the DRV’s continued expansion of the war, and the PLAF attacked again on February 10, killing twenty-three Americans and wounding twenty-one at Qui Nhon.51

Regardless of the real significance of these attacks, President Johnson again felt that he had to respond, this time with a more prolonged effort rather than just a military gesture. The initial air strikes on February 11 were a hurried, confused effort to respond to Qui Nhon, although for the first time the U.S. government did not specifically cite that attack in explaining its response.52 Within days, however, the United States announced a more systematic bombing campaign under the rubric of Rolling Thunder. Another attempted coup in Saigon, followed by bad weather, delayed the start of these strikes until March 2. The U.S. military also began aerial reconnaissance and eventually bombing of the Ho Chi Minh Trail in Laos.

More significantly, the Johnson administration finally concluded that U.S. forces were necessary to defend the South from the influx of PAVN forces. On April 6, 1965, the president signed National Security Action Memorandum 328, authorizing a marine brigade and HAWK anti-aircraft missile battalion to defend certain bases in South Vietnam, together with increased logistical support. Soon thereafter, Westmoreland obtained approval to deploy the 173rd Airborne Brigade from Okinawa to Vietnam, where it would serve as a general reserve for the ARVN.53 Secretary McNamara, who had sought to avoid wider U.S. involvement and focus on pacification in the South, reluctantly acquiesced, apparently convinced that the United States had to not only save South Vietnam but convince the world that it would halt such unconventional forms of aggression.54
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By September 1965, the JCS had requested a total of 210,000 U.S. troops for Vietnam, with which the president had concurred; 131,700 were already in country. As the PAVN buildup continued, so did requests for U.S. troops. On November 23, Westmoreland asked for a total of more than 400,000.55 By January 1968, 331,098 soldiers and 78,103 U.S. marines were in country. In addition to the 1st and 3rd Marine Divisions, this force included the 1st Cavalry (Airmobile), 1st, 4th, 9th, 23rd, and 25th Infantry, and 101st Airborne (Airmobile) Divisions, 173rd Airborne and 199th Infantry Brigades, 11th Armored Cavalry Regiment, and 5th Special Forces Group, plus massive support and logistical formations.56 Many of the support units were as important as the more visible combat elements. For example, because only two of the army’s seven deployed divisions had a full complement of helicopters, most airmobile movements were dependent on the 1st Aviation Brigade, with over 23,000 troops in almost one hundred company-sized units.

During 1965–66, Australia deployed both advisers and a brigade-sized element with a New Zealand artillery battery, while the Republic of Korea (ROK) eventually sent 45,000 men in two divisions—the Capital (“Tiger”) and 9th Divisions—plus a ROK marine brigade. The ROK forces and other, smaller third-country contributions cost Washington considerable sums of economic and military aid. Thailand, with its strongly anti-communist government, produced an 11,500-man division.57

Le Duan had expected that the attacks on Bien Hoa and Pleiku would discourage U.S. involvement in the war, but this clearly backfired. Yet, the DRV leader and his chosen commander in the South, General Thanh, decided to continue their maximum effort, seeking to match or exceed the deployments of American troops.58 Fortunately for Le Duan, a number of issues retarded the American buildup, permitting the PAVN to keep pace.

Obstacles to the Buildup

First, President Johnson did not want to disrupt American society or his domestic reforms by a major war effort in Southeast Asia. Johnson therefore tried to avoid troop movements that might provoke Chinese intervention or congressional criticism. Although he eventually deployed well over half a million troops there, he resisted any attempt to mobilize the country. Secretary McNamara loyally supported his boss, questioning every new troop request and repeatedly asserting that the increases were only temporary.59

Second, just as in the case of the Korean conflict, Vietnam was not America’s only military commitment at the time. For most observers, it was a strategic sideshow compared to deterring the Soviets in Europe. The United States also needed to maintain a strategic reserve to conduct contingency operations, such as the intervention in the Dominican Republic that occurred simultaneously with the first U.S. unit deployments to Vietnam. Quite apart from the president’s preferences to keep the conflict low-key, much of the National Guard and Reserves were earmarked for Europe, making it militarily as well as politically unwise to deploy those forces to Vietnam.

This meant that, after the initial deployments, the U.S. Army and Marine Corps had to create new divisions and separate brigades to restore the strategic reserve and then, as Westmoreland’s need increased, to deploy to Vietnam. Yet, the army had a very thin crust of specialists and leaders with which to form new units. The majority of junior officers were products of Reserve Officers’ Training Corps (ROTC) in various colleges and universities, while many enlisted personnel were draftees or draft-motivated, short-term “volunteers.” Both ROTC officers and draftees generally served only two years of active duty before reverting to the reserve components. The initial commitment of Special Forces and helicopter units had already siphoned off pilots, technicians, and leaders needed to maintain the training base, and forming additional units required an agonizing management of shortages.

These shortages were exacerbated by two other factors. Since the late 1940s the army’s career officers had been divided between regulars, who served thirty or more years so long as they continued to win promotions, and reserve component officers, who in most instances were limited to twenty years of active-duty commissioned service. This dichotomy was based on the pretense that the army had only a temporary requirement for more leaders than Congress had authorized in the permanent, regular force. Many of those temporary “Army of the United States” officers had begun their army careers during or immediately after World War II, so that they reached their mandatory retirement dates in the mid-1960s, just as the army needed them to provide the leavening of experience for new units destined for Southeast Asia.60 Moreover, the growing demand for junior officers at a time when ROTC enrollment was declining (due in part to opposition to the war) prompted the army to recruit large numbers of its best NCOs to attend expanded officer candidate schools, reducing the supply of experienced sergeants. By the late 1960s, the army had to introduce schools to make newly enlisted soldiers into instant, or “shake and bake,” NCOs.

Personnel studies conducted during World War II had concluded that servicemen lost efficiency and motivation after prolonged service in combat; after 180 days of sustained combat, the loss rate for veteran combat soldiers exceeded that of new replacements. Yet, the heavy demands of combat in that war and in Korea impeded any systematic attempt to rotate soldiers.61 In Vietnam, however, the army personnel system implemented an individual rotation policy under which all but the highest-ranking soldiers served a twelve-month tour of duty. The marine corps stretched this to thirteen months, but the effects were the same. Thus, as the Vietnamese conflict dragged on beyond 1966, increasing numbers of soldiers, including critical leaders and specialists, rotated home with the expectation that they would not return to Vietnam for several years if at all. Some potential career soldiers took advantage of this respite to complete their enlistments and leave the service before they could be reassigned to Southeast Asia. The twelve-month policy for enlisted soldiers, in conjunction with a decision to spread combat experience by limiting most officers to six months in command, meant that unit cohesion declined sharply, with individuals often more concerned for themselves than for their units.62 A steady stream of personnel moved into and out of line companies that were sometimes held together by a few NCOs.

Nowhere were these personnel problems more evident than in the engineer units that had to arrive early to build the bases and infrastructure that would support the growing force in Vietnam.63 The construction of the huge base complex around Cam Ranh Bay required eighty battalion-months’ worth of engineer effort, and this was by no means the only urgent demand. Yet, the bulk of engineer units resided in the reserve components, which were not mobilized. Between 1965 and January 1968, the army deployed sixteen of nineteen active-duty, nondivisional engineer combat battalions, all four engineer construction battalions, and dozens of separate engineer companies and detachments previously based in the United States. The demand for personnel was so great that in many instances basic trainees went directly to their troop units and learned construction specialties on the job, all while being subject to enemy attack at any moment. This was in addition to the ongoing need for combat engineers to construct firebases, clear mines from roads, and accomplish other dangerous chores.

Ultimately, the U.S. armed forces proved unable to satisfy all these conflicting requirements with available resources. By 1967, the military could only meet the pace of replacement and new unit deployments by shortening stateside training.64 One overlooked result is that the deployment of conventional troop formations placed a heavy demand on the available infantry and artillery officers, who naturally wanted the career-enhancing opportunity to command combat units in their own branches. This meant that increasing numbers of officers assigned to advise the ARVN between 1966 and 1970 were from other branches, such as armor or air defense. No matter how qualified such men were, they would encounter even more difficulties gaining acceptance in the South Vietnamese units.

More significantly, the increasing demand for troops meant growing numbers of conscripts, which brought the war home to American households. Although there were probably draftees or draft-induced volunteers assigned to every American unit sent to Vietnam, by 1966 the overall shortages of military manpower produced an increase in monthly draft calls from 10,000 per month to 30,000. In turn, this growth led to concerns that local draft boards were discriminating against minorities and the less educated, often poorer young men. Once drafted, such men had service obligations of only two years, making them more likely to be assigned to infantry and other combat jobs than were volunteers who incurred larger obligations in return for schooling in support specialties. By one calculation, only 16 percent of American battle deaths were draftees in 1965, when the active army first deployed, but this proportion increased to 21 percent in 1966 and 33 percent in 1967.65 Moreover, career-minded volunteers, especially African Americans and Hispanics who had few options in the civilian workforce, were more likely to serve in infantry and airborne units that had lower educational expectations and higher promotion opportunities. Thus, even during 1965, disproportionate numbers of minority soldiers went to Vietnam. To exacerbate the issue, enlisted soldiers typically spent their entire year in a single troop unit while many (primarily Caucasian) officers were limited to six months in command. This contributed to the perception of disproportionate risks and deaths among minorities assigned in the combat zone.

There was some basis to this perception, although not to the extremes often depicted. African Americans, both volunteer and draftee, accounted for 24 percent of combat deaths in 1965. In response to public criticism, the Department of Defense made a conscious effort to reduce this proportion by changing assignment patterns, so that in 1970 only 9 percent of those killed were black. While the racial effects of conscription are somewhat difficult to measure definitively, the draft did discriminate economically. One (possibly biased) survey concluded that young men from low-income backgrounds were twice as likely (15 versus 7 percent) as their middle-and upper-class peers to go to Vietnam and experience combat.66

The larger issue was that, even at its peak, the American effort in Vietnam did not need all the young men of the “Baby Boom” generation who came of age during the 1960s. Of 26,800,000 such men, only 8,615,000 served (voluntarily or involuntarily) during the Vietnam Era, and only some 2,150,000, or 8 percent of the available pool, went to Vietnam.67

Under such circumstances, Selective Service truly became selective, and more-privileged youths had a significantly lower probability of sacrifice. In previous conflicts, graduates of elite colleges had served their country out of patriotism or noblesse oblige. In the later 1960s, however, skillful Dau tranh propaganda reinforced sincere moral concerns about the war, while protests closed ROTC units on prestigious campuses. The well-to-do were simply better placed to acquire educational deferments, conscientious objector status, and coveted positions in the National Guard. While some elements of every class and ethnicity served willingly, the burden of conscription fell disproportionately on the poor and disadvantaged.

A Strategy of Attrition?

To this day, there is much debate as to the purpose of this enormous American effort. Critics have described U.S. Army leaders and specifically General Westmoreland as being so committed to conventional, firepower-intensive tactics that they refused to consider a holistic, political-military-economic approach to counterinsurgency, attempting instead to attrit the PAVN/PLAF into surrender or at least a negotiated settlement. One of the most articulate proponents of this interpretation was Andrew Krepinevich, who described “The Army Concept,” the U.S. Army’s perception that war ought to be waged conventionally, using large amounts of matériel to minimize casualties and consistently rejecting the efforts of Kennedy and McNamara to reorient the force for counterinsurgency.68 The soldier-biographer Lewis Sorley followed a similar argument, entitling his study of the MACV commander Westmoreland: The General Who Lost Vietnam.

There are elements of truth in this critique. Of necessity, given its limited resources and available training time, the U.S. Army tended to prepare for its most serious challenge—fighting the Soviets in Europe. A series of changes in organization and doctrine between 1957 and 1965, including the Pentomic, Reorganization Army Objective, and Airmobile division concepts, had all claimed to prepare the army to fight multiple contingencies, but the potential conflict in Europe remained the main focus of these changes.69 It is also true that, to minimize friendly casualties, American commanders throughout the Cold War substituted firepower for risky maneuvers. As Krepinevich has suggested, the airmobile concept allowed the U.S. Army to increase the tactical value of infantry soldiers by moving them rapidly from place to place, but this ability interfered with the need to interact with the population.70 Such concepts and organizations were, indeed, ill-suited to the process of rural development and pacification needed to “win the hearts and minds” of the South Vietnamese people.

Yet, this critique is overly simplified. Pacification was the basic task and goal of the effort in the South but did not occur in a vacuum. Le Duan continued to flood the country with cadres and fully formed units from North Vietnam. The PAVN’s official history records that almost 50,000 troops, including seven infantry regiments and various specialized units, went south in 1965, equal to the total number of troops the North had dispatched in the preceding six years. In the second half of 1966 alone, the Central Military Party Committee sent an additional two infantry divisions, four separate infantry regiments, two rocket-armed artillery regiments, and numerous smaller, specialized units.71 This was in addition to the large PLAF units, often built around PAVN cadres, formed within the South. As Westmoreland saw it:

A basic difficulty was that the ARVN simply lacked the numbers to be everywhere at once. If ARVN units sought or chased the enemy’s big units, local guerrillas could move in and regain control in the face of a militia that was poorly equipped, poorly led, and poorly motivated. Yet without defeat of the big units there could be no security.72

This combination of a large, conventional or semiconventional force and a partisan guerrilla force is sometimes called compound warfare. Throughout 1965 and 1966, Le Duan’s search for a quick victory meant that even PLAF/Vietcong units actively sought major engagements with their opponents.73 The combined PAVN/PLAF force presented the dilemma that Westmoreland described—the counterinsurgent force could either mass to fight the conventional foe or disperse to control the insurgents, but not both.74 Under such circumstances, Westmoreland was only one of a number of American officials who believed that the Republic of Vietnam was being swamped by “foreign” and domestic opponents at precisely the time when its government was too unstable to offer a coherent, credible alternative. The United States had to take this pressure off the ARVN, and that meant attriting the opposition in the field, away from large population centers.

Moreover, given the American ignorance of Vietnamese culture and language, it seemed a logical division of labor to have the U.S. Army fight the large PAVN/PALF units while the ARVN dealt with its own people in the more retail form of internal defense and development. One must acknowledge, of course, that many American officials tended to regard their role as the more important one, as if they were pushing the ARVN aside so that the United States could fight the “main” or “real” war. This division of labor robbed the ARVN of experience in large combined armed operations, an experience it would need badly once U.S. forces withdrew.75 It would also be reasonable to object that Westmoreland and U.S. administrations in general waited too long to shift the balance of forces and resources toward pacification and away from stemming the tide. That is not the same, however, as claiming that the United States was blind to the importance of pacification and development. However belatedly, by 1967 Westmoreland and his subordinates focused holistically on both attritional fighting and pacification.76

Nor was Westmoreland the narrow-minded conventional soldier depicted by critics. As Gregory Daddis has pointed out, Westmoreland was a product of a more nuanced background. He had been General Taylor’s executive officer from 1955 to 1958, when Taylor as chief of staff struggled to develop a force structure that could combat both local and high-intensity wars. From 1960 to 1963, Westmoreland was the superintendent at the U.S. Military Academy, where he introduced fifty-four hours of counterinsurgency instruction into the curriculum and formed an interdisciplinary committee to provide readings in all aspects of the subject.77 Moreover, when he assumed command of MACV in 1964, the general urged the South Vietnamese to focus their pacification efforts around Saigon and then gradually expand their area of control, as the British had done in Malaya. Westmoreland also made repeated, if vain, efforts to get the successive American ambassadors to Saigon to integrate the various military, civilian, economic, and informational activities into a coordinated structure at provincial and national levels. Like the American effort he attempted to coordinate, Westmoreland is more properly regarded as a hybrid figure whose intellectual understanding of counterinsurgency did not completely immunize him, in practice, from the error of trying to apply conventional firepower to an unconventional conflict.78

Command and Control

Indeed, while Westmoreland has come to personify the conflict, he never had complete control of it, but was only one arm of a hydra of different headquarters and decision makers.

Quite apart from the fact that MACV could only advise rather than command the independent military forces of the Republic of Vietnam, that headquarters and its commander were, by American policy, subordinate to the U.S. ambassador, who was always the senior American official in a specific country. This policy was unquestionably a reality when the ambassadors had the prestige of Henry Cabot Lodge Jr. (ambassador 1963–64 and again 1965–67), a prominent Republican and candidate for his party’s presidential nomination, or Maxwell Taylor (ambassador 1964–65), the retiring chairman of the JCS and a close adviser to Presidents Kennedy and Johnson. Similarly, all American military policies affecting Laos and Thailand were subordinated to the U.S. ambassadors to those states: William Sullivan and Graham Martin, respectively. Westmoreland openly joked, without rancor, that this policy made the ambassadors “field marshals” who outranked a mere general.79

Within the context of the Department of Defense Unified Command Plan, MACV was technically a joint, subunified command; that is, it was supposed to control all U.S. armed forces within a particular geographic area but was subordinate to the unified commander for that region of the world, in this case CINCPAC. However, the fact that Vietnam appeared to be primarily a ground conflict, coupled with the personal preferences of the first commander of MACV, General Harkins, meant that most of the principal staff positions were occupied by army officers, and the army provided half or more of all personnel assigned to the headquarters. This situation rankled the USAF and USN, contributing to friction about control of the air war and a reluctance to fill staff positions within MACV.80 Similarly, while routine matters concerning Vietnam usually passed through CINCPAC headquarters in Hawaii on their way to and from Washington, the political significance of the war encouraged many officials in the Johnson administration to bypass CINCPAC on major issues, talking directly to the Saigon embassy or MACV.

As the subordinate air component of MACV, the USAF’s Second Air Division, which expanded to become Seventh Air Force in 1966, was in theory responsible for all air elements involved in the war. In practice, not only the Vietnamese Air Force but the U.S. Army and USMC air elements operated separately. Army and marine helicopters were tied to their ground units, and both marine corps leaders and the CINCPAC, Admiral Sharp, opposed subordinating marine tactical aircraft to the air force. Marine doctrine insisted on a unified air-ground combat team in which marine air elements were subordinate to their own ground commanders. These recurring interservice disagreements about the centralized control of airpower were exacerbated by the nonlinear nature of the struggle in Vietnam, which made it impossible to assign different areas of the terrain to different flying elements. The issue created a disjointed “system” that violated USAF conceptions of unified command and control. Especially during the early years, there were disconnects between U.S. Army helicopters and U.S. Air Force air support, resulting in duplication of effort.81

More significantly, control of the air war against North Vietnam and Laos was equally disjointed. CINCPAC and its subordinate Task Force 77, part of Seventh Fleet, controlled carrier-based aircraft, although in 1966 Admiral Sharp gave MACV some input to nominate the targets the navy attacked in the southern panhandle of the DRV. Pacific Air Forces kept its Thailand-based tactical aircraft (primarily F-4s, F-105s, and F-111s) outside of MACV’s control, using a shifting combination of the Seventh and Thirteenth Air Force headquarters.82 Finally, in those instances where B-52 bombers operated over Southeast Asia, the aircraft remained under the Strategic Air Command, flying primarily from Guam and Thailand. Westmoreland and his successor, Creighton Abrams, controlled the targeting of such missions only within South Vietnam.

In short, the U.S. command structure for Southeast Asia was as disjointed and unfocused as its strategy and policy.

The Air War in the North, 1965–1968

The popular conception of the American bombing effort against North Vietnam is one of President Johnson bending over aerial photographs, personally designating targets to be struck. This image of micromanagement is exaggerated, but it is true that the “air campaign” was hamstrung by a fundamental disagreement as to its purpose. On the one hand, Admiral Sharp and Gen. Harold K. Johnson—the CINCPAC and army chief of staff, respectively, from 1964 to 1968—advocated a conventional campaign of interdiction, destroying and delaying the movement of all war materials the DRV might send southward.83 On the other hand, many civilians within the Johnson administration sought to use Rolling Thunder as a “carrot and stick” approach to demonstrate American resolve, pressuring Hanoi into halting its infiltration and negotiating some form of compromise. Such an approach was in keeping with the Cold War concept of graduated response.84 Moreover, some administration officials feared that excessive escalation might widen the war and prompt the Soviet Union or China to intervene militarily. As official historian Edward Drea observed, Johnson and McNamara “viewed unrestricted air bombardment as a war-expanding, not a war-ending strategy.”85 Thus, while the air force wanted to strike a list of ninety-four targets in only twenty-eight days, and the JCS supported the same targets over three months, the administration frequently delayed and restricted attacks, watering down their intended effect and giving the adversary time to adjust.86

In late October 1965, the Defense and Central Intelligence Agencies reported that the severely limited nature of targets attacked to date—which did not include petroleum or transportation facilities—meant that the bombing had had little effect on the DRV. On December 18, the president, his secretaries of defense and state, and various civilian advisers decided on a temporary bombing halt over Christmas, a pause that eventually extended for thirty-seven days. When the Joint Chiefs objected, Secretary McNamara asked for specific evidence that this pause was affecting American operations in the South, something that was difficult to prove over a short period of time. Bombing did not resume at previous levels until after the president approved Rolling Thunder 49 on February 26, and there were further delays before the administration approved key targets such as petroleum storage facilities. The United States did not actually strike such targets until June 29, 1966, by which time the DRV had dispersed fuel storage into barrels and barges.87 A similar cycle of compromise decisions recurred several times over the next two years, although later bombing pauses were shorter.

Unfortunately for the United States, no amount of signaling or discouragement was sufficient to dissuade Le Duan and his colleagues from pursuing what was, to them, an existential goal—the unification of the Vietnamese nation under socialist rule. It was as if Washington were trying to raise the stakes in a game of poker, while Hanoi was attempting to purchase a vital medication such as insulin regardless of cost; the two sides had completely different perceptions and priorities. Every time that the United States reduced the scale or restricted the targets struck in North Vietnam, the DRV government took advantage of the respite to rebuild and further its war effort.

Quite apart from this difference between sending diplomatic messages and actually defeating the DRV, air force leaders also weakened the effort by a confused approach to the Rolling Thunder mission. On the one hand, targeting North Vietnam’s industrial capacity in accordance with traditional strategic bombing doctrine was ineffectual, because so much of Hanoi’s war material came from its Chinese and Soviet allies. Yet, even when air strikes sought to interdict the Ho Chi Minh Trail, those attacks assumed that the PAVN, like its U.S. counterpart, was heavily dependent on a robust supply line. Perhaps the American perception of the DRV as an outside aggressor subconsciously obscured the nature of the conflict for policy makers. In fact, the communist forces obtained much of their food and other supplies by taxing the South Vietnamese peasantry or capturing supplies from their opponents. The same was true for rank-and-file soldiers. Le Duan had indeed intensified north–south infiltration, but impeding that infiltration would only weaken, not eliminate, the insurrection in the South. To be truly effective, therefore, the interdiction of the Ho Chi Minh Trail would have required a far more intensive and accurate attack than was possible with available technology.88

Despite all the restrictions, Rolling Thunder grew in magnitude during 1966. By the end of the year, the U.S. military had flown 79,000 sorties against the DRV and the Ho Chi Minh Trail, dropping 136,000 tons of bombs.89 When Rolling Thunder operations formally ended on October 31, 1968, the USAF and USN had flown 304,000 tactical and 2,380 B-52 sorties, dropping 643,000 tons of ordnance on North Vietnam’s industry, transportation, and air defenses. At one point, the United States had expended all its available 750-pound bombs and had to borrow some from NATO stocks and buy back others that had been sold as surplus scrap metal. Throughout his term in office, Secretary McNamara tried to meet Johnson’s demands to contain the defense budget by juggling inventories and purchasing only what was clearly necessary in that fiscal year; the result was a series of ordnance shortages for operations in Southeast Asia. By the fall of 1966, the U.S. reserve components had relinquished so much equipment for the war effort that the Joint Chiefs believed those components could not mobilize effectively.90

The armed services also ran short of aircraft and aircrews. USAF policy directed that any one pilot would fly only one hundred missions against the North. While this was an equitable distribution of risk from the individual’s point of view, it had the same effect on the air war that the twelve-month rotation had on the ground war—frequent turnover in units and higher training costs for less-experienced combatants. By contrast, the navy had no such policy, and one pilot racked up five war cruises totaling 625 missions.91

Rolling Thunder occurred at a time of transition in air tactics and weaponry, producing a mixture of new and old aerial combat. Many U.S. tactical air units were armed and trained to conduct air-to-air missile engagements at extended ranges, but the PAVN Air Force, flying obsolescent MiG-17s and more-capable MiG-21s, tried to make brief, surprise engagements at close range. American fliers had to reemphasize dogfighting, with later models of F-4s and other aircraft armed with 20 mm Gatling-style rotary cannon. PAVN fighter pilots also attempted to catch heavily laden F-105 fighter-bombers, flying northeastward from Thailand, at low altitudes so that the American pilots would jettison their bomb loads prematurely. The USAF solution to such tactics was the use of airborne early warning and control aircraft, a technique which is now virtually standard for air operations. EC-121D planes flew elliptical orbits over the Gulf of Tonkin, warning of PAVN air actions and monitoring American aircraft that strayed close to the Chinese border. For similar purposes, the navy eventually posted a cruiser, code-named Red Crown, off Haiphong to feed its radar data to the carrier combat information centers.92

The bill payers for these indecisive air operations were the American aircrews and the civilian inhabitants of Vietnam and Laos. Between 1964 and 1973, Task Force 77 lost 377 naval aviators killed in action or operational accidents, 64 missing in action, and 179 prisoners of war, plus an additional 205 officers and men lost during three major fires on board carriers.93 Overall air force losses in Southeast Asia from 1962 through 1973 were 2,118 killed, 218 missing, and 368 POWs.94 Vietnamese casualties, both civilian and military, were several orders of magnitude greater.

North Vietnam probably would not have survived as a nation-state had it not been for an unheralded Chinese intervention in the war. Between 1965 and 1970, Beijing not only provided food and small arms but rotated major troop units, especially engineer construction and anti-aircraft units, through the DRV, maintaining an average of 150,000 men in country at any one time. Most of the Chinese anti-aircraft forces remained north of Hanoi. However, one division of the “Chinese People’s Volunteer Engineer Force” repaired Vietnamese railroads, while three others rebuilt more than 1,200 kilometers of road and 395 bridges. A signal brigade installed 895 kilometers of telephone cable. In turn, these Chinese workers freed the DRV’s own engineers to concentrate on expanding the Ho Chi Minh Trail into an elaborate system of hard-surfaced roads, rest camps, and communications facilities. The Chinese began to withdraw in 1969 because they disagreed with Hanoi’s decision to negotiate with the United States.95 Still, this skilled Chinese labor, in conjunction with massive influxes of Soviet-manufactured weapons, allowed the beleaguered North Vietnamese state to continue functioning while its armed forces markedly improved their capabilities.

The Soviet Union provided an estimated $4 billion to $6 billion in economic and military aid from 1965 through 1973.96 This not only modernized and mechanized the PAVN but also built a phenomenal air defense system in the DRV. By the end of 1966, the North Vietnamese had an estimated 4,400 anti-aircraft guns plus up to 150 SA-2 air defense missile sites. Statistically, however, it took an average of thirty-three SA-2s launched for each American aircraft downed.97

Ia Drang Valley

While the indecisive air war raged in the North, ground combat intensified in the South, especially after the arrival of large numbers of U.S. Army and USMC troops in 1965. Although the marines fought a number of battles near the coast, the U.S. Army experienced its first major clash in the Ia Drang Valley during October–November of that year. In this battle, the newly deployed 1st Cavalry Division (Airmobile) tested its heliborne capabilities against the 320th, 33rd, and 66th PAVN Regiments, the latter having just arrived from the North.98 (Note: in the following account, several battalions carried the historical designations of U.S. Cavalry regiments, but in practice they were light infantry units.)

The book and motion picture We Were Soldiers Once, and Young have immortalized one dramatic element of this battle: the defense of Landing Zone (LZ) X-Ray by the 1st Battalion, 7th Cavalry, using massive airpower on November 14–16, 1965. In fact, the Ia Drang struggle began four weeks earlier. On October 19, the 33rd PAVN Regiment attacked a Montagnard Civilian Irregular Defense Group, cadred by U.S. Special Forces, at the remote camp of Plei Me. Rather than simply overrunning the camp, the PAVN troops were following a practiced tactic, launching a limited attack and then ambushing ARVN relief columns. This time, however, the relief column, including armored vehicles, survived the ambush with heavy casualties and reached Plei Me on October 25, by which time the United States and VNAF had flown 422 supporting sorties. Each side claimed to have inflicted huge losses on its opponents.99

In the aftermath of Plei Me, General Westmoreland committed the 1st Cavalry Division to pursue the attackers. Helicopters allowed the U.S. troops to penetrate rapidly into the misty jungles of the Vietnamese highlands, but the result was a disjoined series of encounters without definable “front lines.” On November 1, scouts from the 1st Squadron, 9th Cavalry, discovered a PAVN field hospital, capturing maps and other data that permitted the squadron to ambush company-sized elements of the 66th Regiment as it withdrew from the area. On November 6, however, Company B of the 2nd Battalion, 8th Cavalry, encountered a well-entrenched PAVN platoon in an action that grew as both sides committed reinforcements. Although the U.S. military claimed seventy-seven PAVN bodies, this engagement cost U.S. forces twenty-six killed and fifty-three wounded, leaving Company B unfit for further action. The 952nd Sapper Battalion also raided a brigade headquarters of the 1st Cavalry Division.

Thereafter, the PAVN military command for the Central Highlands ordered all three regiments to concentrate some twenty-five kilometers southwest of Plei Me in preparation for another attack on that camp. Simultaneously, the 1st Cavalry’s commander, Maj. Gen. Henry Kinnard, directed his 3rd Brigade to search this same area. It was this coincidence that led to the epic defense of LZ X-Ray, involving some 8,000 rounds of artillery fire and 350 USAF and army air sorties. Although successful, this defense cost the 1st Battalion, 7th Cavalry, seventy-one killed and twenty-one wounded. Moreover, on November 17 its sister 2nd Battalion, sweeping northward to another LZ known as Albany, walked into an ambush laid by the 8th Battalion, 66th PAVN Regiment. Out of some 450 soldiers in the 2nd Battalion, 151 died and 121 were wounded. A significant proportion of these casualties were apparently the result of friendly fire in a confused battle that continued all afternoon and evening.100

Both sides suffered heavily during the Ia Drang campaign, and both claimed victory whereas the honors were roughly equal. At LZ Albany, the PAVN/PLAF forces successfully used a hugging tactic, reminiscent of Stalingrad, that they labeled “Grab their belts to fight them,” in which the side with lesser firepower closes the range between himself and his foe to prevent the enemy use of indirect fire and air support. Moreover, the remote location of these encounters meant that the 1st Cavalry Division could only support one of its three brigades at a time. At best, each side had to conclude that quick victory in the war was unlikely.

Search and Destroy, 1966–1967

Most accounts of the Vietnamese conflict depict an endless and seemingly pointless series of “search and destroy” missions, a term that Westmoreland belatedly realized had been misinterpreted to mean random property destruction rather than the elimination of enemy units. In fact, both U.S. and ARVN forces pursued a mixture of defensive pacification and offensive force attrition goals. Westmoreland had originally hoped to stop the losing tide of events during 1965 and then turn to an open-ended “Phase II,” destroying enemy main force units and restoring pacification efforts in priority areas such as the Saigon region.101 This schedule proved too optimistic. The continued infiltration of PAVN forces and recruitment of local PLAF recruits during 1965–67 meant that, at best, the attritional battles succeeded only in maintaining a relative parity between the opposing sides.

The sense of stalemate, skillfully exploited by DRV propaganda, gave Americans the impression that the entire effort was pointless. This feeling of hopelessness for the counterinsurgent force is a key part of protracted insurgency theory. However, even the DRV was subject to some frustration. Where PAVN/VC units made quasi-conventional attacks on U.S. and ARVN units, the communist side frequently suffered disproportionately high casualties without tactical success.102 Even allowing for each side exaggerating the casualties it inflicted on the other, Le Duan’s high-stakes approach had not achieved rapid victory. In 1966, Generals Giap and Thanh publicly debated the conduct of the war in print and radio. Giap, privately supported by Ho Chi Minh, argued that Thanh’s attacks on U.S. troops were wasteful. Giap advocated a return to traditional guerrilla tactics. Le Duan and Thanh undercut and marginalized the famous general in internal debates.103

The nature of this war, without clearly defined front lines, prompted the U.S. forces to organize on an area basis. Signal detachments and artillery batteries often operated from firebases created on hilltops; such bases were established only temporarily, usually within supporting range (10,000 meters for a 105 mm howitzer battery) of each other.104 Brigades and divisions operated out of more-permanent base camps. Meanwhile, special forces detachments working with Montagnards remained isolated along the border, trying in vain to check infiltration.

The ARVN divided the Republic of Vietnam into four “corps” areas or military regions, numbered from north to south with I Corps immediately south of the demilitarized zone, II Corps including the Central Highlands, III Corps around Saigon, and IV Corps responsible for the Mekong Delta. To avoid confusion, therefore, Westmoreland had to use alternative terminology when he established corps-level tactical headquarters in 1966. III Marine Amphibious Force performed that function in I Corps, while the U.S. Army’s I Field Force and II Field Force were the equivalent tactical headquarters in II and III Corps areas, respectively. The commanders of their headquarters were dual-hatted as the senior advisers to their ARVN counterparts.

General Westmoreland wanted to expand his searches into known enemy base areas. The first instance of this was Operation Attleboro, in October–November 1966.105 The location was “War Zone C,” a PAVN/PLAF area in the northern half of Tay Ninh Province. Situated adjacent to Cambodia and some ninety kilometers northwest of Saigon, War Zone C was a major area to support operations against the South Vietnamese capital. It was defended by the 9th PLAF Division, commanded by Sr. Col. Hoang Cam, and housed the 82nd Rear Service Group. General Thanh had reinforced the 9th Division with the specific mission of defeating the 196th Light Infantry Brigade, a recently arrived unit with a relatively inexperienced commander, Brig. Gen. Edward de Saussure.

The American brigade preempted Cam’s intentions on October 23 by stumbling upon a cache containing tons of rice. As the troops evacuated and destroyed the rice, they also found a document indicating the location of other supply bases, as well as the fact that the enemy was organizing an area defense. On November 3, Saussure launched a complicated advance northward from the cache site, using four jungle routes and two companies of the 1st Battalion, 27th Infantry, in separate air assaults. These forces ran into the 101st PAVN Regiment, which held its fire in prepared positions until the troops were fully committed. The ranges were too close for the employment of air strikes, and initial encounters cost the Americans the deaths of a battalion commander and several company commanders. Maj. Guy S. Meloy III, the wounded commander of 1st Battalion, 27th Infantry, maintained control of the battle, but General Saussure’s complicated dispositions delayed the rescue of the trapped separate companies. Senior commanders put the head of the 1st Infantry Division, Maj. Gen. William S. DePuy, in charge of the battle and later replaced Saussure. Not until November 6 was Meloy able to break contact and unscramble his companies. The battle cost sixty American dead (the enemy claimed six hundred) and 159 wounded, although one battalion of the 101st PAVN Regiment was also heavily damaged.

After this inauspicious start, a routine brigade sweep turned into a major effort by II Field Force, eventually involving eighteen maneuver battalions. Rather than pushing forward through the jungle in vulnerable columns, General DePuy sought to insert aerially his units as close as possible to their objectives. More than 100,000 artillery rounds and 1,600 sorties, including 225 by B-52s, supported the maneuver. The 101st PAVN Regiment suffered serious damage, the 272nd Regiment had moderate casualties, and the 82nd Rear Service Group lost thousands of tons of stored rice and munitions. Operation Attleboro became the forerunner for a series of similar major operations in 1966–67.106

Most operations did not involve such dramatic consequences. Frequently, in fact, the only contact would be when PAVN/PLAF snipers fired a few rounds at an advancing ARVN or American infantry column, prompting the column to stop, deploy, and maneuver, thereby giving the opposition time to withdraw. The U.S. forces tried various expedients to surprise the enemy and avoid such delays. In 1967, for example, a joint command, composed of the amphibious vessels of River Assault Flotilla 1 and the troops of 2nd Brigade, 9th Infantry Division, took shape in the Mekong Delta. This force had considerable initial success in the restricted waterways of the delta, but eventually its opposition developed early warning techniques and other means to stymie the riverine force.107

Hearts and Minds

The United States was equally innovative about pacification efforts, although disagreements within the Johnson administration and with the Saigon regime made progress in this area difficult. A group of reform-minded officials, notably John Paul Vann and Robert W. Komer, urged that the war effort must include economic and political development to offer a real alternative to the communist message. Komer, a dogged bureaucratic infighter, finally persuaded the president that all efforts needed to be integrated under a single manager who would in turn be subordinate to Westmoreland, making MACV responsible for the effort. In May 1967, Komer arrived in Saigon with the unique job of Westmoreland’s civilian deputy for pacification. As such, he headed the inter-agency Civil Operations and Revolutionary Development Support (CORDS), which unified all Americans involved in nonmilitary operations. Komer eventually won the support of the Thieu government as well. In turn, the U.S. senior adviser in each of Vietnam’s forty-four provinces had a deputy head for area development. Historians differ as to the degree of success that CORDS achieved, but Komer and his successor, William Colby, made strenuous and sophisticated efforts to develop popular support for the RVN.108

Even more controversial than CORDS was the Phoenix (Phung Huong) program, which evolved in December 1967 from one of Komer’s previous innovations, the Intelligence Coordination and Exploitation Program.109 Phoenix is often stigmatized as a rogue assassination program that allowed Vietnamese government officials to murder those with whom they disagreed. The program was an effort to use local police and militia to arrest and convict the Vietcong infrastructure (VCI) agents who controlled the population in each village. Although provincial Phoenix heads were sometimes corrupt and torture did occur, the legal standard in Vietnam required three separate sources to convict a person accused of being VCI. The results were ambiguous. Between 1968 and 1972, the program “neutralized” 81,740 VC, of whom 26,369 were killed, often by conventional military forces. Live suspects produced more intelligence than dead ones, and even Hanoi officials acknowledged that Phoenix contributed to at least partial success in pacification of rural areas.

As is often the case in counterinsurgency, all of these efforts, from Westmoreland’s war against large PAVN units to the Phoenix efforts to eliminate Vietcong agents, took time. Moreover, weakening the insurgent infrastructure did not necessarily mean increasing popular support for the Saigon government. As the war dragged on, so too did the opportunities for corruption by the ARVN and its government. South Vietnam illustrates the truism that protecting the populace, while essential to counterinsurgency, is only a prerequisite for political resolution of fundamental issues.

At the same time, the presence of almost 600,000 American and allied foreign troops in South Vietnam was a convenient excuse for their opponents to claim that the Saigon government and its forces were puppets of imperialism. Any cultural errors, indiscipline, or excessive use of force by the Americans further alienated the populace from that government.110

Despite such caveats, the combined United States–Republic of Vietnam war effort was having some success by the end of 1967. Even that limited success appeared illusory when the PAVN/PLAF launched the infamous Tet offensive on January 31, 1968.




CHAPTER 6

SECOND INDOCHINA WAR

The Resolution, 1968–1975

On January 31, 1968, 80,000 PAVN and PLAF troops launched a major offensive across South Vietnam. Whereas previous urban attacks had been confined to terror bombings, the communists now attempted to seize thirty-six of forty-four provincial capitals, five of six major cities, and 64 of 242 district capitals.1 The attacks, timed to coincide with the unofficial cease-fire of the Tet new year’s celebration, failed militarily but had a profound psychological effect on the conflict.

Preparing for Tet

Many Western observers attributed this offensive to Vo Nguyen Giap, but both Ho and Giap had counseled caution. Le Duan, however, argued that the United States could not continue the conflict indefinitely. Supported by the ambitious political officer Gen. Van Tien Dung, the premier proposed the offensive in mid-July 1967. Le Duan pushed his concept through the party and government, then appointed Dung to replace the deceased General Thanh as chief of the General Staff. That fall, a search for traitors in Hanoi provided an excuse to purge opponents; Ho and Giap prudently took prolonged trips outside the country.2

In preparation for the shift to urban warfare, COSVN not only concentrated troops and supplies but reinforced the political infrastructure in South Vietnamese cities. However, even the Vietnamese official history acknowledges that the time available was insufficient for the planned uprising.3

PAVN/PLAF shaping operations were more effective. Beginning in October, a series of probing attacks attracted allied attention to I and II Corps and rural portions of III Corps. Near the Demilitarized Zone, the PAVN attacked various outposts and seemed to threaten the USMC bases at Khe Sanh and Con Thien, while the 1st PAVN Division spent November attacking hills near Dak To in the highlands. These efforts prompted General Westmoreland to focus on the northern part of the country. However, intelligence warnings impressed Maj. Gen. Frederick Weyand, who commanded II Field Force, the U.S. corps-level command inside III Corps Tactical Zone. Weyand persuaded Westmoreland to redeploy some units near Saigon. The American commanders also convinced the Vietnamese chief of the joint staff, Gen. Cao Van Vien, to limit the Tet cease-fire and leaves to thirty-six hours. Nonetheless, Vietnamese officials refused to give up the holiday.4

Tet: The Military Battles

The communists’ hasty preparation became apparent from the start of the offensive, when troops in seven provincial cities attacked prematurely, one day before the scheduled start. The main attacks began shortly after midnight on January 31, 1968. In the Saigon area, thirty-five communist battalions initiated contact—the 9th Vietcong (PLAF) Division and several sapper battalions attacked various headquarters at Tan Son Nhut Air Base, while others tried to block roads into the capital. In the center of the city, 4,000 soldiers, most of them local force VC, attacked U.S. and South Vietnamese offices. One of the attacks occurred outside the American embassy, where marine security guards and military police killed nineteen sappers who entered the embassy grounds, although other buildings were penetrated. Within hours, U.S. and ARVN forces defeated most of the attacks.5

Contrary to North Vietnamese expectations, the population did not join the uprising. Le Duan and his colleagues fundamentally misunderstood the people they claimed to lead.6 American officials have often suffered criticism for their supposed ignorance about the war on the ground, but the same could be said of their North Vietnamese counterparts. Moreover, systematic PAVN/PLAF efforts to detain and kill government supporters backfired, causing widespread revulsion. An estimated 13,000 civilians died during the Tet offensive, while 27,000 were wounded and up to 600,000 were internally displaced.7 Vietcong units and infrastructure suffered disproportionately during the offensive, causing speculation that Hanoi had deliberately sacrificed them to ensure its control of the anticipated unification.

The principal communist success was in the ancient capital of Hué, where the ARVN 1st Division had few troops to secure its headquarters. Working with various ARVN units, elements of the 1st and 5th Marine Regiments took a month to clear the enemy from houses and especially from the old citadel of the city. The PAVN did not order a withdrawal until February 28, and fighting ended several days later.8 COSVN persisted long after the offensive had failed, launching a second and third wave of the Tet offensive on April 5 and August 17, respectively. Having lost the element of surprise, continued communist efforts in cities had little effect other than to increase casualties on both sides. By the end of September, the weakened PAVN/PLAF halted major operations.9

Many of these communist losses were incurred at Khe Sanh, where the marine defenders withdrew in July after a five-month siege. The U.S. and South Vietnamese forces plus massive air strikes had inflicted major casualties on their opponents. Nonetheless, the withdrawal from Khe Sanh marked the end of the only major strategic initiative Johnson had issued, the creation of a barrier across the Demilitarized Zone.10

In the countryside, the U.S. and ARVN forces were more successful in a number of large-scale clear-and-hold operations. President Thieu’s political decisions limited the effect of such operations, however. After the Tet attack, Thieu abolished village-level elections and resumed government appointment of local officials. Left-wing students also spread propaganda among the displaced civilian population, while the confusion put a temporary halt to the Phoenix program.11

Tet: The Results

Militarily, the Tet offensive proved to be a costly failure for Hanoi. Politically, however, this effort indirectly achieved almost everything Le Duan had desired. American journalists, especially the influential CBS anchorman Walter Cronkite, became openly skeptical about the course of the war, and Westmoreland suffered criticism for allegedly misleading the public about the enemy’s capabilities. Then and later, military officers complained of biased press coverage and inadequate administration efforts to win public support.12

That public was undoubtedly dismayed by the strength of the enemy offensive, although in a key opinion poll, public support for the war declined by only 4 percent, from 46 to 42, between December 1967 and February 1968. Rather, as William Hammond argued, casualties drove opposition to the war; support for the war dropped 15 percent each time American casualties grew by a factor of 10.13

The real effect was on the Johnson administration itself. Prior to the Tet offensive, Secretary McNamara had become convinced that the war was stalemated; he was scheduled to depart the Defense Department in February 1968. In December 1967, the president had already ruled out either a bombing halt or a major troop increase, which appeared to be his major options.14

The offensive, coupled with journalistic criticism, forced Johnson to reassess the strategic situation.15 For two years, the civilian leadership had made decisions on the war with only token input from their military advisers. Now the Tet offensive appeared to reopen basic questions, including the need for American military mobilization. On February 12, 1968, General Westmoreland requested an additional marine regiment plus a brigade of the 82nd Airborne Division, one of only two ready divisions remaining in the United States. The Joint Chiefs opposed this unless the strategic reserve were reconstituted, which implied mobilization of reserve components. The JCS chairman, Gen. Earle Wheeler, visited Saigon on February 23–25. By this point, the Tet battles were over except in Hué, but Wheeler concluded that even their heavy losses in that battle had not defeated the enemy. He convinced Westmoreland to request an additional 206,000 troops, although Wheeler may have intended that the preponderance of such troops would go to reconstitute the strategic reserve. Upon returning to Washington, Wheeler presented Johnson with five options for troop strength. One of these choices envisioned increasing U.S. troop strength, including mobilization of some 250,000 National Guardsmen and reservists.16 This realistic statement of the actual requirements for controlling South Vietnam shocked the president, who had sought to limit involvement based on domestic political considerations. Nonetheless, Wheeler continued to defer to Johnson’s reluctance to send additional troops.17 The president was also under significant political pressure, including a simultaneous threat in Korea (see below) and strong anti-war sentiment in the March 12 New Hampshire presidential primary.

On March 28, 1968, Washington approved a new ceiling of 549,500 troops, an increase of approximately 30,000. Three days later, President Johnson called for a negotiated peace and announced that he would not run for reelection.18 Hanoi regarded this decision as an admission of weakness. Badly damaged by the Tet campaign, North Vietnam agreed to discussions in Paris, but stalled on the question of including the Saigon government. Finally, on October 31, Johnson agreed to halt the Rolling Thunder bombing campaign.19

Mao was outraged by the decision to negotiate, which he blamed on Moscow’s influence. This action contributed to declining relations between Beijing and Hanoi, accelerating the withdrawal of Chinese engineer and anti-aircraft forces from the North.20 In fact, however, Le Duan was equally opposed to genuine negotiations. Fearing another diplomatic failure similar to the 1954 Geneva Accords, he continued to make extreme demands in Paris while seeking a military victory. Similarly, in June South Vietnamese President Thieu declared a general mobilization to replace losses and expand his security forces to 555,000.21

Interlude: The Second Korean Conflict

One reason why the Johnson administration had difficulty responding to the Tet offensive was that this event coincided with another crisis on the Korean Peninsula. Kim Il-Sung, the dictator of North Korea, had not abandoned his desire to conquer the South and regarded the Vietnam conflict as an opportunity to achieve that goal while U.S. resources were focused elsewhere. Rather than a renewed conventional war, which might provoke a response from Washington, Kim attempted to subvert the South Korean state while scoring propaganda victories against the United States.

The 1953 armistice had only suspended the Korean conflict, and both sides remained in a state of semi-mobilization. In the mid-1960s the North Korean People’s Army (NKPA) had 420,000 regulars and a much larger militia, supported by a large (720 aircraft) air force equipped with MiG-17s, -19s, and -21s as well as older, propeller transports. The regular Republic of Korea (ROK) Army was approximately the same size, but because it incorporated ready reservists in some units, the total strength was nominally 620,000. Moreover, Seoul had a smaller air force and had contributed more than two divisions to aid South Vietnam. Both armies were armed largely with World War II weapons.22 In addition to artillery, air defense, and other force multipliers, the U.S. contribution to the defense of South Korea consisted of two understrength infantry divisions, the 2nd and 7th. As the demands of Vietnam increased, the United States withdrew one brigade of the latter division and detached engineers and other specialists from both formations, sending them temporarily to Southeast Asia.

Although most of the Korean Demilitarized Zone (DMZ) was protected by ROK troops, the U.S. 2nd Division provided guard posts and patrols near the truce negotiations site at Panmunjom, thirty miles north of Seoul. On November 2, 1966, the NKPA ambushed a patrol from 1st Battalion, 23rd Infantry, south of the DMZ, killing six American troops and wounding one. Over the next two years, more than thirty other Americans and well over one hundred Koreans died in other attacks. Gradually, the combined ROK/U.S. responses to this threat improved, often ambushing infiltrators without friendly losses.

Meanwhile, the NKPA 124th Unit, a special operations force, began to infiltrate agents into South Korea. This culminated on January 21, 1968, when thirty-one men from the 124th, dressed in ROK uniforms, were stopped only eight hundred meters from the Blue House, the presidential palace in Seoul. The belief that this force had infiltrated through the American portion of the DMZ strained relations between the two allies.23 One unconfirmed account claims that South Korea readied its own special operations forces for a similar attack in Pyongyang but never executed that plan, due to American opposition.24

The Blue House raid was overshadowed by a different crisis two days later, when a U.S. signals intelligence ship was seized off the coast of North Korea. USS Pueblo, AGER-2, was smaller (177 versus 456 ft.) and slower (12 versus 21 knots) than the Liberty, which Israel had attacked seven months earlier. The AGER class was intended primarily to collect operational-level information for the U.S. Navy, which in 1967 began to establish a continuous presence of such vessels in the western Pacific. Although it had undergone a major refitting for its intelligence role during 1966–67, the Pueblo had significant problems with its steering, generators, internal communications, and even intercept electronics. In response to the Liberty attack, the U.S. Navy had directed that such vessels be armed. Unfortunately for the Pueblo’s crew, it received only two of three authorized caliber .50 machine guns, both of which were the Army M2 version with which even the gunner’s mate was unfamiliar. The ship’s captain, Cdr. Lloyd Bucher, conducted firing practice to correct this deficiency, but he was unable to obtain an explosive charge so that he could rig the sensitive SIGINT spaces for destruction in the event of capture. Much of the Pueblo’s crew was disgruntled about Bucher’s policies, and the intercept technicians regarded their mission to collect intelligence off North Korea—similar to 1964 patrols off North Vietnam—as an ill-conceived training exercise.25

Despite a National Security Agency advisory that North Korea would react strongly to vessels near its coast, the intelligence agencies in Washington regarded the Pueblo deployment as low risk, and the chain of command assumed, incorrectly, that Pyongyang would respect international law. The United States had no contingency plans to respond to an attack.26 Shortly after noon on January 23, 1968, North Korean ships and aircraft surrounded the Pueblo and fired upon it, wounding four; the ship offered no resistance when it was boarded and taken into port. As in the case of the Liberty attack, poorly defined chains of command and communications issues prevented a rapid response to protect the vessel. Threatened and beaten, Bucher and members of his crew made various false confessions to satisfy the North Koreans. In December, the U.S. representative at Panmunjom signed a similar propaganda statement as the price of obtaining the crew’s release. A board of inquiry recommended court-martial for Bucher and his executive officer, as well as letters of reprimand for their superiors. Navy Secretary John B. Chaffee overturned these recommendations, but the careers of those involved were ruined.27

President Johnson saw the attacks on the Pueblo and the Blue House, which occurred just days before the Tet offensive, as a coordinated communist bloc action, intended to force both South Korea and the United States to reduce their strength levels in Southeast Asia. This conclusion ignored intelligence assessments that Pyongyang was an independent actor. Still, the net effect of the North Korean attacks was to further stretch available U.S. forces. Secretary of State Dean Rusk, with decades of experience on Korea, hoped that a strong U.S. response might shock Kim Il-Sung into reconsidering his aggressive intentions. Johnson therefore decided on a show of force that diverted 303 aircraft to the Korean area, including the 4th Tactical Fighter Wing with three squadrons of F-4s from North Carolina. The Seventh Fleet temporarily deployed seven submarines, six aircraft carriers, and additional escort vessels to the region in a show of force called Operation Formation Star. Moreover, the president authorized continued surveillance activities, including the deployment of another AGER vessel, USS Banner, off the Korean coast. The sudden appearance of this large force near Vladivostok prompted the Soviet Navy to sortie several cruisers and use both surface vessels and aircraft to monitor the Americans. U.S. naval aviators intercepted as many as thirty Badgers per day trying to approach the carriers. As was typical in such situations, Soviet vessels violated the accepted rules of navigation, provoking numerous close encounters with American vessels. On February 1, the destroyer USS Rowan suffered a gash near its bow when the Soviet merchant vessel Capitan Vislobokov cut too closely in front of the Rowan.28

To backfill the aviation sent to northeast Asia, on January 25, 1968, Johnson authorized the mobilization of 14,787 reserve component sailors and airmen with 372 aircraft. Given the worldwide shortage of American soldiers, however, Gen. Charles H. Bonesteel, the U.S. Forces Korea commander, failed in his request to bring his units up to 90 percent strength. Defense Secretary Clark Clifford and the Joint Chiefs did eventually persuade the president to mobilize ground units as well, although this call-up was intended for Vietnam rather than Korea. The JCS advocated mobilizing 136,000, but on May 13 only 22,786 reservists and guardsmen were activated. In addition to individual reservists, this included eighty-eight units, primarily specialized support formations that were scarce in the active-duty force. After being brought up to strength and trained, forty-three of these ground units ultimately deployed to Vietnam. The largest of these was the 69th Infantry Brigade of the Kansas National Guard.29

Meanwhile, on March 17, 1969, the United States conducted another show of force, Exercise Focus Retina, to demonstrate its ability to reinforce South Korea. The 2nd Brigade, 82nd Airborne Division, flew directly from North Carolina to conduct a parachute drop. Four tactical fighter wings also deployed to support the exercise.30

The improved security of U.S. and ROK units discouraged further infiltration along the DMZ. Instead, the North Koreans turned to amphibious infiltrations, seeking to exploit the lesser vigilance of rear area ROK troops. The Seoul government sent civic action teams into remote areas to gain local support for the ROK and thereby discourage support for any northern-inspired insurgency. The United States, which officially commanded all forces in South Korea, also improved coordination with its Korean ally. On October 30, 1968, the 124th Unit attempted to land a total of 120 troops at eight locations along the east coast between Ulchin and Samchok. The contrast between the helpful civic action teams of the ROK Army and the brutal invaders ensured that the 124th received little local support. Instead, the ROK’s anti-infiltration battalions swarmed into the area and eliminated the infiltrators within six weeks.31

This disaster ended Kim Il-Sung’s attempts to ignite an insurrection in the South, and he purged several commanders as scapegoats. Still, the dictator sought further propaganda victories against the United States, and his subordinate generals apparently wanted to justify their positions. On April 15, 1969, two North Korean MiGs shot down a U.S. Navy EC-121 Constellation reconnaissance aircraft while it was flying ninety miles from the Korean coastline. All thirty-one people aboard were killed. This time, the USAF scrambled fighters within fourteen minutes of the incident, but that was far too late to save the crew.32

As a presidential candidate, Richard Nixon had criticized the Johnson administration for its tepid reaction to the Pueblo seizure, so both the new president and his national security assistant, Henry Kissinger, favored a strong response to the latest provocation. A National Security Council meeting considered various options for retaliatory attacks but concluded that such attacks risked a major North Korean response without any assurance that they would deter Pyongyang in the future.33 Moreover, Kissinger was concerned about the effect of such a retaliation on Congress and on the Paris peace talks concerning Vietnam. Beyond a protest at Panmunjom, the United States conducted a further show of force, removing all three carriers then on Yankee Station off Vietnam and replacing them, with only one day’s hiatus, with two carriers recalled from resting in port. For the remainder of 1969, armed fighter aircraft went aloft whenever reconnaissance aircraft flew over the Sea of Japan. Nixon also kept at least one carrier, with all-weather A-6 bombers, on call in the region so that he might retaliate more quickly to future incidents.34

The U.S. inability to respond to and deter North Korean aggression reflected both the strained state of American armed forces and the intractability of dealing with its violent and unpredictable adversary. Admiral John McCain Jr., as CINCPAC, was particularly perturbed that the United States had failed to punish Pyongyang, while General Bonesteel, the unified commander in Korea, was largely a spectator in both crises.35

Overall, the North Korean provocations prompted the United States to reinforce the Korean Peninsula while delaying the drawdown of forces implied in Nixon’s decision to place the burden of defense on his allies. Indeed, the combination of infiltration attempts and intelligence collection attacks gave South Korea ammunition to argue against any U.S. drawdown. When the United States withdrew the 7th Infantry Division in March 1971, it left behind the division’s equipment for the ROK Army, together with large military assistance appropriations.36

My Lai

As described in chapter 5, U.S. forces in Vietnam already had significant problems of leadership and morale prior to the Tet offensive. Washington’s decision to negotiate contributed to the reluctance of soldiers to take risks in battle. Many American units continued to function effectively in the field, depending on loyalty to each other and their commanders. In other units, poor leadership, substance abuse, and racial animosities reinforced a growing sense that the United States was making no progress. In turn, this caused a decline in discipline and combat effectiveness. Disgruntled troops attempted to murder leaders whom they considered incompetent or overly aggressive, using fragmentation grenades or other lethal means. MACV recorded 126 instances of such “fragging” in 1969, escalating to 333 by 1971.37

Although it did not become public knowledge until 1969, the massacre at the hamlet known as My Lai (4) on March 16, 1968, was an early indicator of this decline. The atrocity reinforced Hanoi’s propaganda efforts about the immorality of American involvement.

Company C, 1st Battalion, 20th Infantry, was the unfortunate product of the U.S. Army’s chronic shortage of leaders.38 The army had formed the 11th Infantry Brigade, of which this company was a part, from whole cloth in Hawaii during 1967. Its training, both before and after deployment, was subject to frequent personnel turnover, so that, unlike organizations that deployed earlier in the war, the brigade did not even begin its deployment as a coherent unit. Law of War training was almost nonexistent.39 The company commander, Capt. Ernest Medina, was an experienced and energetic noncommissioned officer who graduated from Officer Candidate School in 1964 but never served as a platoon leader. The continuing dearth of experience meant that most of Medina’s subordinate NCOs were either “shake and bake,” school-created sergeants or specialists fourth class given stripes temporarily. The company’s NCOs had a median age of twenty-two. Medina’s most ineffectual platoon leader, 2nd Lt. William Calley, had enlisted to avoid the draft and trained as a company clerk prior to attending OCS. These and other leaders did not shirk their duty, but they proved woefully ineffective and amoral, obeying orders without questioning their legality.

As part of an ad hoc task force of elements from three different battalions, Medina’s company had experienced six weeks of frustration in Quang Ngai Province, just south of the boundary between I and II Corps. Repeated patrols cost the company numerous casualties, primarily caused by mines and booby traps, while the enemy remained elusive.40 Although MACV policy emphasized the need to protect and respect the populace, the leaders of the 11th Brigade encouraged their troops to demonize the local villagers and seek revenge for their losses.41 Some troops developed a racial contempt for the Vietnamese. In particular, the soldiers believed with some justification that women and children helped PLAF troops by hiding weapons and providing intelligence. When Charlie Company helicopter-assaulted into the My Lai district on March 16, 1968, all involved expected a stiff fight with the 48th Local Force Battalion of the PLAF. There were a few insurgents intermixed with the local populace, but the 48th had dispersed well before the American troops arrived. There was no resistance.

In a disjointed landscape of four small hamlets and dense foliage, no one in the air or on the ground had a grasp of the entire situation. Individual squads and platoons became intermingled and leaders lost control of their troops. Calley later testified that Medina had categorized the entire population as enemy combatants and impatiently ordered the lieutenant to “get rid of” a large group of villagers whom he was guarding.42 The company murdered as many as five hundred Vietnamese civilians and raped numerous women.

Such atrocities are regrettably common in history, but the horror of My Lai was compounded by consistent efforts to suppress the truth, with as many as fifty officers involved in the cover-up. The brigade and task force commanders filed false reports alleging that, along with 128 insurgents, twenty civilians had died accidentally. Not until a year later did the persistent efforts of a veteran prompt the U.S. Army to investigate. This investigation ultimately charged seventeen officers, of whom several were court-martialed but only Calley was convicted. The responsible division commander, Maj. Gen. Samuel W. Koster, was demoted and retired.43

Vietnamization

On January 20, 1969, Richard Nixon became president. He was committed to finding a solution to the Vietnam issue, although contrary to public belief he had no specific plan. On his first full day in office, he issued National Security Study Memorandum (NSSM) 1, asking all government departments and agencies to respond to a series of detailed questions about the war.44 Although the president had expected disagreements, the responses to NSSM 1 showed deep divisions concerning all aspects of Vietnam’s future. Perhaps the only thing that commanders and agencies agreed on was that South Vietnam could not, in its current state, conduct a sustained defense against the combined threat of internal insurgency and conventional PAVN attacks.

Yet, that idea of Saigon standing on its own against a compound threat was precisely the basis of the new administration’s policy. Melvin Laird, Nixon’s new defense secretary, visited Saigon in February 1969 and came away convinced that Saigon could defend itself while the United States extricated most of its forces. He became the main advocate of what he called “Vietnamization” of the war, a term the South Vietnamese resented considering that they had been fighting continuously for two decades. Effective August 15, 1969, MACV’s mission statement changed to emphasize turning the war over to the Republic of Vietnam Armed Forces (RVNAF) while assisting in pacification and interdicting enemy supply lines.45

Gen. Creighton Abrams, who became commander of MACV in June 1968, had continued Westmoreland’s gradual shift to emphasize pacification and assign the best available officers as advisers. His slogan of American-ARVN cooperation in “One War” reflected this but was also an attempt to control the narrative in the American press.46 Abrams also tried to use intelligence to improve targeting for air strikes.47 Under Vietnamization, he supervised a plan to develop the RVNAF as a balanced force, upgrading their weapons and communications to American standards. However, he assumed that there would be a residual U.S. force to support the RVNAF. Saigon developed its own proposal, increasing overall military and security forces to almost 1 million men, including two new armored brigades, three additional armed cavalry squadrons, M-48 tanks, and expanded artillery, air transport, and naval vessels. In August 1969, Laird approved the so-called Midway Increase, a modification of the Vietnamese requests, but also asked Abrams to focus on improving Vietnamese leadership.48 This proved to be a legitimate concern; ARVN leaders had a wealth of knowledge in counterinsurgency operations up to the brigade level, but almost no experience in the type of division and larger-scale combined arms operations that the United States habitually conducted.

By 1972, the ARVN was one of the best-equipped forces in the world, but its ability to maintain and maneuver its divisions did not keep pace with this expansion. As the United States pressed forward with negotiations that year, it redoubled efforts to arm the RVNAF. In two armament programs labeled Enhance and Enhance Plus, Washington provided a wealth of new weaponry, including 192 M-48A3 tanks, 117 M-113 armored personnel carriers, 100 TOW anti-tank launchers, 95 guns and howitzers (including 39 of the long-range, accurate 175 mm guns), 1,726 trucks, 60 transport aircraft, 282 jet fighters, 356 helicopters, and 7 naval vessels. This largesse was only the final phase of sustained American military aid. Unfortunately for Saigon, the recipients often lacked trained pilots and other key personnel to use these weapons, some of which remained in storage.49

Simultaneously, the PAVN used Soviet-supplied weapons to develop its own conventional capabilities, building tank regiments and increasing its artillery while 8,000 trucks plied the Ho Chi Minh Trail. Military schools reoriented to train staffs and technicians to employ the new capabilities. In February 1970, the Central Military Party Committee directed the formation of corps-level headquarters for combined arms operations.50 Thus, both sides prepared for more conventional warfare while continuing the insurgency/counterinsurgency struggle in the provinces.

In June 1969, Nixon announced the first reduction in American troop levels. This was a political necessity in the United States, but the North Vietnamese Politburo concluded that the United States had lost the will to fight. As National Security Assistant Henry Kissinger observed, U.S. withdrawals were “like salted peanuts to the American public,”51 and once Nixon began the drawdown he found it politically impossible to stop, regardless of enemy activity. Between June 1969 and November 1972, the United States withdrew fourteen increments of troops, reducing its strength from 543,400 to 27,000.

Meanwhile, Nixon attempted to pressure his opponents by secretly bombing inside Cambodia and Laos while continuing attritional operations by MACV. Indeed, the idea that the nature of the conflict changed completely under General Abrams is misleading. To cite one example, in Operation Apache Snow, the 101st Airborne Division conducted a massive search-and-destroy operation at Ap Bia Mountain, otherwise known as “Hamburger Hill,” on May 11–20, 1969.52

The Madman Theory

Still, Hanoi had little incentive to compromise diplomatically; it had only to wait until a U.S. withdrawal was complete. Once Ho Chi Minh died on September 2, 1969, Le Duan had almost unfettered control of the war effort. Subsequently, when the Saigon government recognized that a diplomatic solution meant American withdrawal, Thieu was equally reluctant to compromise.

President Nixon portrayed himself as an unpredictable leader who might use extraordinary force without warning. Nixon and Kissinger realized that military victory was unlikely but hoped to coerce Moscow and Hanoi into an agreement that would give the Saigon government a real chance for survival. In 1969, Kissinger’s staff developed various concepts, loosely designated as “Duck Hook,” for mining North Vietnamese harbors or even using tactical nuclear weapons. General Abrams’s staff also developed military options. This planning was complicated by the White House’s attempts to exclude Secretary Laird, who opposed any widening of the war.53

Nixon had criticized the slow escalation of force by the Johnson administration as ineffectual, but eventually he concluded that the United States was already so overcommitted that a sudden major increase would be difficult and dangerous. Moreover, increasing anti-war sentiment in the United States limited the president’s practical options. Instead, he attempted to bluff Moscow and Hanoi, beginning in April–May 1969 when the U.S. Navy ostentatiously practiced aerial mine laying in Subic Bay, the Philippines, at the same time that Washington publicly called for a mutual withdrawal from South Vietnam. Whether or not the opposition detected these signals, there was no diplomatic result; Hanoi was focused on the relative balance of forces in the South.54

Advised by his deputy, then–Brig. Gen. Alexander Haig, Kissinger developed gestures that might be interpreted as intelligence indicators of preparation for major military action. These included radio silence, a reduction in flight activity for aircraft maintenance, and heightened state of SAC alert. Beginning on October 13, 1969, the administration widened and prolonged a readiness exercise to convey these indicators. General Wheeler instructed the unified and specified commands to heighten readiness, but the White House failed to explain the purpose to those commanders. SAC increased its ground alert status on October 13 and sent aircraft to their failsafe points—the final aerial positions prior to a possible nuclear attack—on the 26th. All these actions occurred in secret. Moscow detected some of the U.S. moves and took its own precautions on October 17, which in turn prompted the Chinese armed forces to go on alert, possibly against the Soviets.55

This elaborate ruse, roughly equivalent to Defense Condition (DefCon) 3, had no diplomatic effect. Perhaps the fundamental reason for this failure was a misunderstanding of the enemy. Both the Johnson and Nixon administrations believed that Moscow could control Hanoi, whereas the North Vietnamese Politburo generally followed an independent course of action. The Soviet government did facilitate the establishment of the Paris peace talks,56 but would not or could not control the Vietnamese. To satisfy communist bloc expectations and propaganda, Alexei Kosygin (premier 1964–1980) had no choice but to continue arming Hanoi. Kissinger continuously invoked a “linkage” between Vietnam on the one hand and various issues such as arms control on the other, but he got little satisfaction from his Soviet counterparts.57

Into Cambodia

The conflict continued unabated despite stalled negotiations and gradual U.S. withdrawal. Under Abrams’s direction, U.S. and South Vietnamese units paired off, attempting to conduct combined “One War” operations in a way that would improve RVNAF capabilities. PLAF losses during the Tet offensive, in combination with renewed CORDS and Phoenix efforts, permitted considerable progress in pacification. The communist official history later acknowledged the success of pacification in several provinces during this period and described Vietnamization as an “extremely insidious and dangerous plan.” Despite the continued flow of reinforcements from the North, communist strength in the South dropped by 4,600 local troops and 2,000 regulars during 1969.58

That year, the PAVN/PLAF started a renewed offensive in February, followed a month later by intermittent 122 mm rocket attacks on Saigon. Beginning on March 18, President Nixon responded by bombing base areas and supply lines inside Cambodia. He attempted to conceal this action from both Secretary Laird and Congress.59

Eastern Cambodia had long suffered politically and economically under Vietnamese occupation, which gave the communists an invaluable sanctuary and logistical base within sixty miles (ninety-seven kilometers) of Saigon. The Cambodian head of state, Prince Norodom Sihanouk, followed a neutralist policy, even recognizing the National Liberation Front government. On March 18, 1970, Gen. Lon Nol, Sihanouk’s premier, overthrew the prince and asked the PAVN/PLAF to leave the country. They responded by seizing full control of eastern Cambodia, and Lon Nol’s government appeared on the verge of collapse. This was the background for the hasty U.S.–South Vietnamese incursion beginning on April 29.60

This operation focused on PAVN/PLAF supply and support installations in two areas along the Cambodian-Vietnamese border, areas known because of their general shape as the Fishhook and Parrot’s Beak.61 In the former, the 11th Armored Cavalry Regiment, the largest American mechanized formation in Vietnam, thrust northward to meet a westward advance by the 3rd Airborne Brigade, one of the most effective units in the ARVN, while 1st Cavalry Division helicopters attempted to prevent the enemy from escaping. The 11th encountered significant resistance in prepared bunker systems, but in such a conventional maneuver operation the U.S. Army remained highly capable. Still, the incursion failed to trap the COSVN headquarters, which had departed the area on March 19. The 1st Cavalry Division destroyed huge base complexes in the Fishhook. MACV estimated that it had denied the enemy ninety-five tons of food, twenty-eight tons of medical supplies, and sufficient arms to equip fifty-five battalions.62

The ARVN attack on the Parrot’s Beak met more resistance because the enemy initially defended in place, only withdrawing after several days. The aggressive commander of III Corps, Lt. Gen. Do Cao Tri, inspired high morale and effective performance in his troops. Overall, the Cambodian incursion cost 344 American and 818 ARVN dead, with 1,592 and 3,553 wounded.63 The two allies had inflicted a significant if temporary setback on their opponents, while the ARVN units appeared to be on their way to meeting the goals of Vietnamization.

However, the Cambodian operation aroused a storm of opposition inside the United States, where many had assumed that American involvement was winding down. The outcry was so great that all forces departed Cambodia by the end of June. Congressional critics began the process that led to restrictions on both American aid to South Vietnam and the president’s use of military force in Southeast Asia. The incursion also prompted Hanoi to further support the Pathet Lao while developing its logistical pipelines through Laos.64
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After the U.S./ARVN withdrawal, North Vietnam initially supported the developing Cambodian Communist, or Khmer Rouge, forces, which struggled against Lon Nol in a prolonged civil war. Only later did the PAVN and Khmer Rouge have a falling out.

Lam Son 719

By December 1970, Nixon felt that he had to preempt PAVN/PLAF preparations for another offensive. The Joint Chiefs instructed Abrams to plan a major joint operation, and he responded with a concept he had already cleared with the CINCPAC, Admiral McCain. Under Operation Dewey Canyon II, the United States would reoccupy its previous installations around Khe Sanh, sealing the border and preparing for an ARVN advance into Laos while a marine force distracted Hanoi’s attention by a demonstration off the North Vietnamese panhandle. Only then would the ARVN enter Laos to cut the Ho Chi Minh Trail, an operation labeled Lam Son 719. Congressional restrictions (the Cooper-Church Amendment) forbade U.S. forces, including advisers, from crossing the border. However, the 101st Airborne Division would control the helicopter effort, while America also provided air strikes and logistical support. Both Nixon and Laird concurred.65

In retrospect, there were numerous problems with this plan. The terrain of Laos made the axis of advance along Route 9 obvious and potential landing zones predictable. The PAVN concentrated elements of five divisions as well as nineteen battalions of anti-aircraft artillery along the threatened route. The Americans and Vietnamese did not establish a joint headquarters; instead, the U.S. XXIV Corps headquarters controlled Dewey Canyon and provided logistical support, while the ARVN I Corps made the actual entrance into Laos. The commander of this corps, Lt. Gen. Hoang Xuan Lam, was politically reliable but indecisive. He committed the ARVN Marine, Airborne, and 1st Divisions as well as the 1st Armored Brigade and a Ranger group. No ARVN commander had ever conducted such a massive operation, involving thirty-four battalions, seven hundred helicopters, and 2,000 fixed-wing aircraft. Indeed, the ARVN Marine and Airborne had not operated as divisions before, having previously served as the strategic reserve of the RVNAF, providing battalion-and brigade-sized formations to other commanders. As separate, elite forces, they were disinclined to obey Lam. The 1st Armored Brigade was so inexperienced that it failed to refuel its M-41 tanks en route, arriving at the border half empty, so that they had to be filled by the Americans.66

Between January 28 and February 7, the reinforced 1st Brigade, 5th U.S. Infantry Division, cleared the route to the border, while 45th Engineer Group removed mines, replaced bridges, and repaired old landing strips. This activity telegraphed the intent to invade Laos, so General Lam chose to attack on February 8 despite rainy weather and limited fuel supplies.67 From the start, U.S. and ARVN helicopters flew into unprecedented anti-aircraft fire that cost 107 aircraft shot down and many more damaged in the space of six weeks.68 Quite apart from these losses, the 101st was hard-pressed to find sufficient helicopters to support such a major operation. Meanwhile, without informing MACV, President Thieu warned Lam against excessive casualties, which caused the ARVN to halt in place on February 11. Thus, the advance lost momentum just as the PAVN prepared to counterattack.
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Most of the communist forces in Laos were controlled by the 70B Corps, which maneuvered a T-54 tank regiment and elements of five divisions to repel the ARVN invasion. The 308th Division shifted its forces westward from Khe Sanh, with the reinforced 102nd Regiment pressing on the ARVN Rangers who screened the northern flank of the invasion. Farther west, the 304th Division and one regiment of the 320th, joined in late February by the 324th Division, opposed the main advance. PAVN pressure also increased on nearby firebases in Vietnam and Laos.69

By massing to attack the Ranger outposts, the 102nd Regiment exposed itself to American and Vietnamese firepower, losing perhaps six hundred as it closed in on one outpost, which fought back effectively. By the evening of February 20, a Ranger battalion had to fight its way out of encirclement, while a few panicked soldiers mobbed rescue helicopters. On the 25th, T-54 tanks attacked another Ranger firebase, while a planned relief column failed to advance due to apparent inexperience in coordinating tanks and airborne troops. When American air support diverted to rescue a downed pilot, the PAVN armor overran the headquarters of 3rd Airborne Brigade.70

Despite such setbacks on the northern flank, Nixon and Kissinger wanted the operation to continue. President Thieu decided to shift the objective of Lam Son 719. Instead of a systematic reduction of enemy support bases, he opted for an advance to the town of Tchepone, an objective that would give the appearance of a major victory. He also directed that the inexperienced Marine Division headquarters relieve the Airborne Division in securing the southern flank, a difficult operation under any circumstances. Overtaxed American helicopters first moved two marine brigades into firebases and then, between March 3 and 6, lifted an ARVN regiment through intense ground fire into four landing zones along the route to Tchepone.71

On March 7, South Vietnamese troops entered Tchepone. General Abrams and Ambassador Ellsworth Bunker urged President Thieu to reinforce his troops and fight a decisive battle inside Laos, but General Lam as field commander and Gen. Cao Van Vien as chairman of the Vietnamese joint staff felt that they were too exposed. As the ARVN began to withdraw, PAVN troops pressed them closely, seeking their own victory. The last South Vietnamese troops exited Laos on April 9, having barely escaped. Officially, they had suffered 5,671 killed, wounded, and missing, although the U.S. XXIV Corps estimated that actual losses were in excess of 9,000 men as well as fifty-four tanks and ninety-six artillery pieces. Massive air and artillery support helped the South Vietnamese claim to have killed 19,043 of the enemy, along with destroying 106 communist tanks and thirteen guns.72 U.S. losses were at least 219 killed, 1,149 wounded, and 38 missing, most of the latter being downed helicopter crewmen.73

Despite the courage and tactical proficiency displayed by many ARVN soldiers, Lam Son 719 was a disturbing failure for Vietnamization. General Lam and his subordinates had made significant errors in intelligence, planning, logistics, and combined arms. The RVNAF had again demonstrated that, regardless of how effective it might be in counterinsurgency, it would have grave difficulty confronting the PAVN in a conventional campaign. By the same token, the communist success encouraged their preparations for such a campaign. At best, the Cambodian and Laotian incursions gave Saigon only a short-lived respite.

The Easter Offensive

The Hanoi Politburo had no desire to allow the RVNAF to complete the learning curve of Vietnamization. In October 1971, COSVN forces pushed Lon Nol’s troops back in Cambodia, while by December PAVN and Pathet Lao troops controlled most of the Plain of Jars in Laos. As U.S. combat forces in South Vietnam dwindled, Le Duan contemplated another attempt at military victory. In June 1971, the Central Military Party Committee planned to conduct corps-level attacks in three regions: Tri Thien (I Corps), Central Highlands (II Corps), and eastern Cochin China (III Corps), with the goal of destroying ARVN regimental and brigade-sized formations. Not until March 11, 1972, did this committee finalize its instructions for the upcoming dry season of April–May, an operation named Nguyen Hué after a famous Vietnamese who defeated a Chinese invasion. This plan committed twelve of the PAVN’s thirteen regular divisions and no longer maintained the fiction that the attack was the act of freedom fighters in the South. In effect, Hanoi planned to overwhelm Saigon’s troops by attacking across three of the four corps areas, although its main objective was in Quang Tri, the northernmost province in I Corps and therefore closest to PAVN supply bases.74
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To defend I Corps, the hesitant General Lam had fewer than 25,000 troops, including the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd ARVN Divisions, 1st Armored Brigade, the separate 51st ARVN Regiment, and nine battalions in the 1st Ranger Group. Even this troop list exaggerates Lam’s strength, as the 3rd Division in Quang Tri Province had only been activated in October 1971, cloned from the 1st Division with two inexperienced regiments. Its commander, Brig. Gen. Vu Van Giai, unwisely sought to increase troop mobility by rotating the regiments between firebases beginning on March 30.75

Preceded by an artillery barrage, that day the 304th and 308th PAVN Divisions with attached tank battalions attacked numerous firebases in Quang Tri. On April 2, the 3rd ARVN Division’s 56th Regiment surrendered, and in succeeding days the attackers mauled both the 2nd Regiment and 147th Marine Brigade. General Lam remained aloof from the battle, instead attaching so many units to Giai’s 3rd Division and the 1st Armored Brigade that those headquarters could not manage their assets. A renewed PAVN offensive on April 27 prompted large refugee flows that hampered South Vietnamese efforts to regroup. Some ARVN units fought well, including the 20th Tank Battalion that had just converted to M-48 medium tanks. Under pressure from General Abrams and from the loss of Quang Tri Province, on May 2 President Thieu reshuffled his commanders. He replaced Lam with the inspirational Ngo Quang Truong, who recaptured most of the lost firebases between mid-May and September. Truong had finally halted the PAVN, but the ARVN lost more than a division of troops in the I Corps battles alone.76

While the PAVN’s main effort focused on I Corps, the II and III Corps areas were also under heavy pressure. In the highlands, John Paul Vann virtually commanded the defense of II Corps, nominally headed by another passive ARVN officer, Lt. Gen. Ngo Dzu. Vann had left active duty after service as an adviser in 1962, rising through the ranks of CORDS to become the only civilian to head a corps advisory effort. He combined personal risk-taking with hundreds of air strikes to rally the ARVN defenders, but he initially misread enemy intentions. Between April 19 and 22, the PAVN B-2 Front coordinated tanks, artillery, infantry, and even AT-3 Sagger anti-tank missiles to overrun the firebases at Tan Canh and Dak To II, destroying two ARVN regiments. The main battle in II Corps was for the city of Kontum. Col. Ly Tong Ba, a Vann protégé who headed 23rd ARVN Division, was in charge of Kontum’s defenses, but as so often before, the Airborne and Ranger commanders attached to this division listened to their own chain of command rather than to Ba. Moreover, some PAVN units had bypassed the town to cut its supply lines, whose security fell to the 9th Division of the Republic of Korea Army. Americans first had to pressure the ROK commanders to take action and then wait ten days (April 17–27) for the 9th Division to reopen the road to Kontum. Still, the combination of airpower and determined ARVN defenses held Kontum despite repeated PAVN attacks, leaving more than 12,000 North Vietnamese casualties outside the town.77

The ARVN defense of III Corps followed the same pattern of mixed tactical performance with often passive senior command. A PAVN deception operation contributed to local surprise when the 5th PLAF Division struck the 9th ARVN Regiment at the small Montagnard town of Loc Ninh. The regimental commander quickly became despondent, and only strong action by an American adviser enabled the town to hold out for two days (April 5–7). The III Corps commander, Lt. Gen. Nguyen Van Minh, persuaded Thieu to move the 21st Division from IV Corps, but that redeployment was too slow to prevent a prolonged siege of An Loc between April 13 and May 15. The 9th PLAF Division, again supported by regiments of tanks and artillery, almost captured this town, which COSVN apparently intended to make its new capital. Brig. Gen. Le Van Hung, commander of the 5th ARVN Division, was nominally in charge of the defense, but like other South Vietnamese officers he had limited maneuver experience and sought to avoid difficult decisions. Once again, a combination of American and South Vietnamese air support reinforced the courage of the defenders, who often stopped enemy tanks with short-range anti-tank rockets. The attackers later acknowledged losing half the tanks committed in this battle. Despite this success, Saigon never regained full control of the border area north of An Loc, which the PAVN/PLAF again attacked in November 1972.78

During the Easter offensive, the ARVN suffered more than 35,000 casualties; in addition, 53,000 people volunteered for service, while 40,000 deserted. PAVN/PLAF casualties approached 100,000.79

The Saigon regime had barely contained the Easter attacks, often relying on airpower. In May 1972 alone, U.S. and Vietnamese fixed-wing strikes reached 20,444 sorties.80 Relying on his own instincts as much as on the available intelligence, General Abrams intensively managed this asset; sensing when a crisis approached, he allocated all available B-52 sorties to a different critical area each day.81

Despite Abrams’s efforts, Hanoi might have won the war had it been more effective at planning, logistics, and combined arms coordination. Given their lack of experience in large unit operations, both sides made errors, but overall the PAVN/PLAF learned more rapidly than its opponents. One should note that, in the ensuing years of the conflict, both adversaries focused on improving their command and control abilities. Indeed, the virtual destruction of the 3rd and 22nd Divisions prompted the ARVN to replace incompetent leaders with younger, American-trained combat veterans.82

Linebacker I and II

In the spring of 1972, Hanoi’s negotiators in Paris continued to demand surrender, refusing even an offer to have President Thieu resign before supervised elections in the South. Henry Kissinger concluded that Le Duc Tho believed the new offensive had provoked an unstoppable rout in South Vietnam.83 Within a week of the start of the Easter offensive, the United States began bombing communications lines in the panhandle of North Vietnam, below the twentieth parallel. Nixon soon expanded this effort, including the first B-52 strike (seventeen aircraft, of which one was damaged) against the North. On May 8, 1972, Nixon announced the mining of North Vietnamese harbors, a belated effort to interrupt the flow of Soviet weapons to the battlefront. By this point, however, much of American public opinion blamed the United States for the continuation of the war, and the renewed bombing became an occasion for further congressional efforts to restrict funding.84

Linebacker I, as this renewed bombing campaign came to be known, lasted from April until October 23, 1972. The number of F-4s in theater increased from 185 to 274 in six weeks, while 210 B-52s (more than half the SAC inventory) concentrated in Guam and Thailand. Nixon continued to restrict targets for fear of escalation with the Soviets, but as the bombing continued, he relaxed restrictions around Hanoi and the Chinese border. While Washington continued to designate types of targets, local commanders had the flexibility to attack different points in a target system, complicating the task of the defender. Moreover, the first employment of electro-optical guided bombs enabled the United States to destroy bridges and other targets that had eluded it during four years of iron-bomb attacks. Given the increased logistical requirements of a conventional war, these attacks, including more than 7,900 aerial mines, had a significant effect. PAVN supply shortages probably aided General Truong’s recapture of Quang Tri. By October, Henry Kissinger believed that Hanoi had agreed in principle to a peace treaty.85 However, Thieu’s government worried that any agreement would mean an American departure, leaving South Vietnam to defend itself.86

Once Nixon limited bombing to the area south of the twentieth parallel, Hanoi began to rebuild its air defenses and repair railroad links to China. In Paris, Le Duc Tho prevaricated, playing on divisions between Washington and Saigon. This effort climaxed when, while compiling a final draft of a peace agreement, the North Vietnamese inserted seventeen changes and then refused to remove them. Kissinger told Nixon that it had become a choice between renewed bombing of the North, along with pressures on Saigon, or continued delays.87

Urged on by Haig, Nixon decided to resort to massive attacks aimed at Hanoi’s will, telling the chairman of the Joint Chiefs, Adm. Thomas Moorer, that he finally had an opportunity to win the war through military power. Linebacker II began on December 18, 1972, and continued until the 29th, with a one-day pause for Christmas. The campaign relied primarily on B-52s, because of both their firepower and their all-weather capability during monsoon season. Planners attempted to minimize civilian casualties, but some B-52 bombs dropped from high altitude inevitably went astray. Beyond that principle, air force and navy planners was free to attack almost any target, dropping 42,000 tons of bombs. Unfortunately for the aircrews, SAC planners used predictable flight profiles, with aircraft following each other at a fixed altitude and route. This greatly simplified the task of PAVN air defense until the bomber crews demanded a change. In addition to eleven fighter-bombers, Linebacker II cost the United States fifteen B-52s. The latter days of the campaign had fewer losses, after the USAF adjusted its flight profiles and Hanoi had expended most of its SA-2 missiles.88

Linebacker II gave Nixon significant military and diplomatic leverage, yet this leverage had little effect on the final peace terms. Instead, the bombing succeeded because Nixon had only two objectives: he compelled the North Vietnamese government to accept an agreement that was virtually identical to the October draft, and he convinced President Thieu that the United States would stand behind him in a crisis. Thieu had little choice, considering that Nixon threatened to sign the agreement without Saigon if necessary.89

Regardless of the actual effect of the bombing, many air force officers cited these two operations and especially Linebacker II as proof that airpower, correctly employed, could achieve political objectives. This belief was fundamental to the doctrine of an independent “air campaign,” a concept that underpinned USAF plans in Operation Desert Storm and in former Yugoslavia during the 1990s.90

An Indecent Interval

The Paris agreement, signed on January 27, 1973, gave Hanoi virtually everything it wanted.91 In return for the release of American prisoners of war, Washington agreed to withdraw all its forces and advisers within sixty days and permanently cease all attacks on North Vietnam. However, all PAVN forces—an estimated strength of 293,000 troops—remained in contact, inside South Vietnam.92 The International Commission of Control and Supervision included in the agreement had no means of measuring or regulating reinforcements from the North to the South, which totaled some 100,000 over the next year. Although the exact scale of Soviet aid is undetermined, the PAVN acquired an additional 650 tanks and four hundred artillery pieces during 1974.93 The agreement also called for a series of joint bodies to promote merger of the two Vietnamese states, but neither side made any effort to implement such a merger. One key disagreement was that Saigon desired immediate, free elections while its opponents wanted elections delayed until long after a cease-fire.94

In theory, both sides were to hold the territory they occupied at the time of the cease-fire. Therefore, a few hours before the scheduled cease-fire, the communists occupied more than four hundred government hamlets. President Thieu instructed the ARVN to counterattack, refusing to cede any territory.95 Although that was understandable politically, it left the South Vietnamese forces overstretched with few reserves. The Airborne and Marine Divisions, traditionally used piecemeal as fire brigades, remained committed in I Corps, where the threat appeared greatest. Saigon had hoped to downsize its armed forces from a peak of 1.2 million but found this impossible. Of these troops, 20 percent deserted during 1973, while inflation ran at 65 percent, further stressing troops with families.96

Honoring the letter of the agreement, MACV headquarters closed on March 29, 1973, succeeded by a residual U.S. Support Activities Group (USSAG) in Nakhon Phanom, Thailand. Inside the former MACV headquarters building at Tan Son Nhut, the Defense Attaché Office (DAO) supervised some 1,200 Department of Defense civilians, with more civilians and contractors throughout the country. Some of these “civilians” had been officers serving in MACV before receiving hasty discharges. This expanded DAO maintained a flow of information between U.S. and ARVN offices, but was forbidden to provide operational advice.97 For several weeks after the cease-fire, the United States continued to bomb communist supply lines in Laos and Cambodia, which were not covered by the agreement.98

On July 6, 1973, the Central Committee in Hanoi accepted Le Duan’s proposal that its policy in the South would remain “revolutionary violence.”99 For much of 1973, COSVN used local force battalions and PLAF divisions to engage the ARVN throughout the country, while PAVN units retrained and reequipped for renewed conventional attacks. Roads and pipelines of a new supply route, the Truong Son Corridor, stretched inside South Vietnam to within a hundred kilometers of Saigon. Hanoi also rebuilt its infrastructure and reinforced air defense and other installations along the DMZ.100 At the local level, renewed communist political agitation and assassination made it difficult for the populace to remain neutral.101 The RVNAF garrisoned more than 5,400 hamlets but could not protect all 12,000.102

The United States had supplied Saigon with excellent weapons systems, but obtaining fuel, ammunition, and maintenance for those weapons became a significant issue. Given the PAVN’s growing mechanized capability, the ARVN had little choice but to rely on massive firepower. However, a combination of war weariness and anger about the Watergate cover-up prompted the U.S. Congress, which was unaware of Nixon’s secret promises to Thieu, to reduce military aid to Saigon. In mid-December 1973, Congress reduced the funding for fiscal year 1974, which was already half over, reducing aid to such an extent that the USDAO had to halt all expenditures until July 1974 when the new fiscal year would begin. That summer, Congress further cut military aid to South Vietnam from $1.53 billion in fiscal 1974 to $1.07 billion in fiscal 1975. More significantly, the cost of ammunition skyrocketed by up to 72 percent during this period, and Congress also specified that Saigon must pay the shipping costs involved. These two changes meant that, in constant dollars, the assistance available in fiscal 1975 was 37 percent lower than the already reduced level of the previous year. Foreseeing a shortage, the DAO and USSAG persuaded South Vietnam’s Joint General Staff to initiate an ammunition conservation program in January 1974. This enabled the ARVN to reduce artillery expenditures by 51 percent in the year beginning March 1, 1974. Although the ARVN did not run out of ammunition before it was defeated, rationing undoubtedly contributed to poor morale.103

The reduction in American aid, in combination with the deep economic crisis within South Vietnam, forced cutbacks in areas besides ammunition. The South Vietnamese Air Force recalled four hundred student pilots from the United States and inactivated more than four hundred aircraft. The South Vietnamese Navy mothballed six hundred rivercraft and cut patrols by 72 percent, which simplified movement for the enemy. Four thousand vehicles awaited replacement parts. Such reductions significantly reduced firepower, logistical support, and interdiction of communist movements.104

President Thieu avoided difficult choices about economizing resources. He also continued to rule by force, with police beating and arresting those who protested against him. Such issues, in combination with Nixon’s resignation on August 9, 1974, and continued congressional hostility to the Saigon regime, significantly affected ARVN and civilian morale. Meanwhile, the Hanoi Politburo apparently believed that its efforts were the principal cause of Nixon’s fall.105

Despite such restrictions, the RVNAF continued to fight effectively, winning twelve of eighteen major engagements in the first six months of 1974. At the small camp of Tong Le Chan, the 92nd Ranger Battalion withstood a siege for more than a year and then broke out successfully, carrying its wounded with it, in April. In May, the 7th and 9th PAVN Divisions with supporting tanks attempted to clear the Iron Triangle area, just north of Saigon. This operation showed continuing communist weaknesses in coordinating the different arms and committing reserves in a timely manner, which enabled the ARVN to succeed in local counterattacks.106

Events in Cambodia followed a similar trajectory.107 In June 1973, the U.S.-supported Forces armées nationales khmères (Khmer National Armed Forces, or FANK) with U.S. air support defeated a Khmer Rouge effort to capture the capital, Phnom Penh. In August, however, Congress mandated an end to all U.S. air attacks in Cambodia. Using U.S.-supplied vehicles and aircraft for improved mobility, the FANK defeated a second attempt on the capital during the dry season of January–February 1974. The Khmer Rouge continued to force urban residents to move into rural communes, but the national government still controlled two-thirds of the population, much of which opposed both the Khmer Rouge and the PAVN.

The FANK continued to defend effectively even when the Khmer Rouge increased its troop strength by press gangs. Then in December 1974, the U.S. Congress cut aid to Cambodia from $310.4 million in fiscal 1974 to $160.4 million for fiscal 1975. The same increased ammunition and shipping costs faced by South Vietnam further reduced aid to Cambodia. In response, the FANK increased the use of mortar ammunition, which was cheaper than conventional artillery rounds. The FANK again defended the capital in January 1975, but communist interdiction of the Mekong River rendered resupply of the city precarious. A group of congressmen sued the USAF, forcing the end of the American supply airlift into Phnom Penh in April 1975. By this time, Lon Nol had already fled into exile, but most senior leaders of the FANK continued to fight until the Khmer Rouge overran the Cambodian capital on April 17.

Things Fall Apart

At the end of September 1974, the Politburo and Central Military Party Committee met in Hanoi. North Vietnam’s leaders believed that President Ford’s administration would face grave political difficulties if it attempted to reenter the war. Still, the experience of 1972 had provided some lessons in caution; Le Duan and his supporters feared that the United States might react strongly to another major offensive. They therefore planned to complete their conquest over a two-year period, beginning in 1975 with various operations to reduce Saigon’s troops and political control.108
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Lt. Gen. Tran Van Tra, the aggressive commander of the B-2 Front opposite much of II, III, and IV Corps, urged a new effort that was in part a test of both Saigon’s and Washington’s capability to respond. On December 7, 1974, the 301st PAVN Corps, including the 3rd and 7th Divisions as well as separate battalions of armor, artillery, anti-aircraft, and infantry, attacked Phuoc Long near the border between II and III Corps. Although Regional Force defenders stopped the first attack, President Thieu and his subordinates decided not to reinforce the defense of Phuoc Long. In I Corps, General Truong insisted that he could not spare any portion of the Airborne or Marine Divisions, nor was the III Corps commander willing to reinforce Phuoc Long. By January 4, 301st Corps had captured the capital of the province. More significantly, both sides noted the absence of U.S. air support for the defenders. President Ford failed to persuade a skeptical Congress to increase aid to Saigon.109

Pressed by Le Duan, the Politburo now directed the preparation of an alternate plan that would seek final victory in 1975. On February 5, the PAVN chief of staff, Senior General Dung, secretly left Hanoi, moving south to oversee this campaign.110 South Vietnam’s long, thin shape left the country exposed to dismemberment at various points. In 1975, the 316th PAVN Division, a veteran formation from Laos, redeployed into the Vietnamese highlands. At the same time, the departure of American airlift, both helicopter and fixed-wing, made the ARVN more dependent on surface roads that were subject to mining, ambush, and interdiction.111

As part of Campaign 275, the two-year plan to conquer the South, General Dung had already targeted Ban Me Thuot, a large provincial capital in the highlands. ARVN and U.S. intelligence had predicted this as the next PAVN objective, but the II Corps commander, Lt. Gen. Pham Van Phu, disagreed. As a result, the city’s garrison consisted of one ARVN regiment, a Ranger group, and lightly equipped Regional Force units. The PAVN 320th, 316th, and 10th Divisions, reinforced by tanks, isolated and attacked Ban Me Thuot on March 10. The ARVN defended staunchly, but the VNAF accidentally bombed the forward headquarters of the 23rd Division, disrupting battlefield coordination. Ban Me Thuot fell in two days as Phu was still organizing a counterattack.112

Faced with these defeats, President Thieu abandoned his policy of holding every meter of territory. Months earlier, American generals had suggested that South Vietnam adopt a shorter, more defensible perimeter before the next PAVN offensive. Now, Thieu’s belated decision to do that committed his army to the most difficult task in warfare, withdrawing while under enemy pressure. Such an operation required high-quality planning and coordination, attributes that the ARVN often lacked.

Thieu apparently instructed General Phu to withdraw from the northern highlands in order to concentrate and retake Ban Me Thuot. Because the withdrawal was supposedly temporary, Phu attempted to keep his plan secret, failing to inform the Regional Force troops that would be left behind. Once rumors of a withdrawal began, however, streams of civilian refugees clogged the ARVN columns. Moreover, on March 13–14, the PAVN 10th Division defeated the remaining regiments of 23rd ARVN Division near Ban Me Thuot. Already pessimistic, Phu concluded that there was no point in attempting to retake the city. Instead, the withdrawal turned toward the coast.113

Throughout the war, most ARVN regiments had been tied to specific bases where their families lived. Suddenly told to withdraw from the highlands, such units dissolved as soldiers sought to save their loved ones. Military dependents and other refugees choked the roads to the coast, and PAVN ambushes on the narrow evacuation routes contributed to the confusion. Much of II Corps’s military forces were lost in a rout during the second half of March 1975, resulting in at least 18,000 killed or captured.114

While General Dung conducted the main effort in II Corps, other PAVN headquarters made supporting attacks elsewhere, seeking to prevent the ARVN from shifting troops to reinforce the highlands. Vo Nguyen Giap had dispatched one of the PAVN’s few uncommitted formations, the 341st Division, to reinforce General Tra’s B-2 Front in the southern half of South Vietnam. In March, Tra attempted to consolidate PAVN control over a number of areas surrounding Saigon. However, his opponent, III Corps commander Nguyen Van Toan, was more aggressive than his counterparts farther north. Before the PAVN offensive began, General Toan had launched a series of spoiling attacks. Once he assessed Tra’s intentions, Toan then concentrated the 25th ARVN Division to defend Tay Ninh city, fifty miles northwest of the capital. Toan also sent his mechanized reserve, the reinforced 3rd Armored Cavalry Brigade, on a series of sweeps (March 22–24) outside Tay Ninh, forcing the PAVN 9th and 303rd Divisions to withdraw temporarily.115

Already damaged by the defeat in the highlands of II Corps, the RVNAF became even more disorganized by a simultaneous failure in I Corps. Between March 8 and 12, the Marine Division halted the initial PAVN attacks in Quang Tri, although these battles inspired large refugee movements southward from that province. On the 12th, however, Thieu directed that the Airborne Division withdraw from I Corps for use as a strategic reserve, an option that he had repeatedly warned General Truong to expect. Truong again argued that he could not spare this division, in part because he overestimated the combat power of the depleted 304th PAVN Division west of Da Nang. Thieu’s instructions about the matter were vague and confusing, and he apparently did not anticipate the psychological impact of withdrawing an entire division in the midst of battle. At first Truong believed he had authorization to maneuver freely, but his abandonment of the major cities prompted further refugee movements. On March 19, the president publicly called for the defense of Hué without giving Truong more troops to accomplish this task. Sensing collapse, the PAVN pressed home its attacks all along the coastline of I Corps. In Hué, panicked soldiers and marines forced the South Vietnamese Navy to evacuate them, derailing Truong’s plans for defense. Da Nang became even more chaotic, with up to 2 million refugees pouring into the city and mobbing the airfield, preventing any air evacuation. On March 27–28, the PAVN 324B and 325C Divisions, supported by a tank regiment and field artillery, attacked the western front of the city while the 711th and 304th Divisions, along with local force battalions, pressed it from the south. With no clear guidance from the president, General Truong at first tried to organize a defense of Da Nang, but on March 29 he decided to save what he could, evacuating perhaps 10,000 troops and 60,000 refugees. By April 1, the PAVN controlled most of I and II Corps, including large supplies of aircraft and ammunition that had been abandoned in the withdrawal. Almost without a fight, the ARVN had lost half of its combat power.116

The shock of the combined defeats in I and II Corps caused the ARVN to abandon additional points along the coastline. On April 1, General Phu, the II Corps commander, departed Nha Trang without telling his subordinates. Believing they were abandoned, other officers deserted, and PAVN troops took the town unopposed. When mutinous Vietnamese marines landed at Cam Ranh Bay, they triggered a general collapse, prompting the RVNAF to evacuate the vast base on April 4. American ships were overwhelmed by thousands of desperate refugees.117

The Fall of South Vietnam

During the first two weeks of April, the PAVN 2nd, 1st, and 3rd Corps moved rapidly down the coastal roads of I and II Corps, leaving the 308th and 324th Divisions to garrison key points including Hué and Da Nang. This troop movement required extensive repairs of the route as well as establishment of a communications network. Despite capturing large numbers of ARVN and civilian trucks, the movement was slowed by a shortage of vehicles. Nonetheless, the complex redeployment demonstrated the degree to which PAVN had prepared for conventional warfare.118

The leading elements of this advance, including 325th PAVN Division reinforced with tanks, approached Phan Rang on April 15. Here, several battalions of ARVN Airborne and Ranger troops had built up defenses around nearby Thanh Son Air Base. Local PAVN troops had begun attacking these defenses on the 14th, but the arrival of infantry mounted on tanks shattered the ARVN and overran the air base on April 16, capturing thirty-six aircraft.119

On April 3, General Dung and his staff arrived at COSVN headquarters in eastern Cambodia to conduct the final operation, code-named “Ho Chi Minh,” against the South Vietnamese capital. From there, Dung directed that the PAVN 4th Corps, including 6th, 7th, and 341st Divisions, secure the eastern approaches to Saigon. On April 9, 4th Corps attacked Xuan Loc, forty miles east-northeast of the capital. A gallant defense by 18th ARVN Division stopped the PAVN, inflicting 1,100 casualties on the 341st Division and knocking out half of the attacking tanks. PAVN forces then outflanked Xuan Loc to the west, shelling the key air base at Bien Hoa. The 18th ARVN conducted a skillful withdrawal to the south on April 20, but the PAVN had cleared the way to Saigon.120

By this point, Dung had sixteen divisions under five corps headquarters, while Thieu had six surviving divisions plus the remnants of marine, airborne, and ranger groups. Under the circumstances, the U.S. Congress was even less likely than previously to authorize new weapons and ammunition for the RVNAF. General Weyand, who had become army chief of staff after serving as the last commander of MACV, came to a pessimistic conclusion when he visited in early April, and the Defense Intelligence Agency estimated on April 3 that South Vietnam had thirty days of remaining existence.121 Urged on by his own senate and by the American ambassador, Thieu resigned on April 22, blaming the United States for the defeat. Two other men—Tran Van Huong and former general Duong Van Minh—followed him in quick succession, but Hanoi had no interest in negotiations. Sending infiltrators ahead to guard key bridges, the PAVN began its attack on the capital on April 27, 1975, while the Americans evacuated 7,100 refugees by helicopter and 70,000 by ship. Many senior RVNAF officials fled into exile, leaving the defenders leaderless. Shortly after noon on April 30, a dozen T-54 tanks, with crews wearing Soviet-issue padded helmets, crashed through the gates of the Doc Lap (Independence) Palace. Truckloads of PAVN troops followed, taking President Minh and his advisers prisoner.122

The second Indochina conflict was not fought purely over the issue of national unification, but more over what ideology would dominate the reunified Vietnam. Regardless of the legitimacy of the Hanoi and Saigon regimes, millions of people suffered and died in the resolution of this question.

The image of Soviet-supplied tanks capturing the Independence Palace illustrates the fact that South Vietnam fell to a well-equipped conventional army, not to “guerrillas in black pajamas.” Between 1959 and 1973, the Hanoi regime directed a combination of attritional combat and skillful propaganda that destroyed the American will to fight and significantly damaged that of South Vietnam. In that sense, therefore, Le Duan and his generals imitated Mao’s protracted revolutionary warfare. However, by late 1969 the combination of the Tet offensive, CORDS, and Phoenix had significantly weakened the insurgent Vietcong/PLAF force in South Vietnam. Thereafter, the conflict was largely between the organized armed forces of the two Vietnams, at a time when the United States was reducing its military aid while the Soviet Union continued to equip the PAVN. The Republic of Vietnam fell to a conventional invasion by its adversary, and Hanoi never obtained the general uprising it had repeatedly sought. Saigon also failed to gain the loyalty of much of its populace.123 In retrospect, it may be unreasonable to criticize the RVNAF for its inability to master both counterinsurgency and high-intensity warfare against a large and well-supplied opponent.

The determined resistance by the ARVN even during the final weeks of its existence argues that these troops were neither puppets, nor cowards, nor bumblers. As in any army, the quality of tactical leadership varied between units, but it frequently surprised the PAVN with its effectiveness. At the top, however, President Thieu and his senior commanders were given to inflexibility, hesitation, and vagueness in their decisions. As James Willbanks has suggested, the United States must bear some responsibility for these weaknesses, having created an institutional culture in which Vietnamese officials depended on an ally who had shunted them aside for years.124 Still, the South Vietnamese government was ultimately responsible for widespread corruption and politicization of its armed forces, which fatally weakened the will to defend itself.

Coda: The Mayaguez Incident

Just as U.S. Navy vessels departed the Vietnamese coast, laden with refugees, the Ford administration encountered an apparent challenge from Pol Pot’s Democratic Kampuchea. Having captured Phenom Penh two weeks before the fall of Saigon, the xenophobic Khmer Rouge not only forced the city’s population into the countryside but eagerly consolidated their power over the entire country. Because Cambodia included offshore islands, the new government claimed that various ocean passages were within its jurisdiction, which brought it into conflict with the United States.

As early as May 5, CINCPAC noted Khmer Rouge attempts to seize merchant vessels in the area. In the aftermath of Saigon’s fall, and with the added horror of Pol Pot’s brutalization of the populace, that report made no impact in Washington.125 After failing to stop Korean and Swedish ships, the Cambodians seized a Panamanian freighter and finally, on the afternoon of May 12, 1975, the SS Mayaguez.126 The Mayaguez was a U.S.-flagged container ship delivering supplies to U.S. diplomatic and military personnel in Thailand. Given the legendary role of American intelligence in Asia during this era, both the Cambodians and more-recent Asian observers suspected that the vessel was an intelligence collector;127 however, there is no indication of such a mission. The Cambodian information minister made this accusation when he announced the seizure, but he also suggested that his government would release the Mayaguez.128

Gerald Ford and his secretary of state/national security assistant, Henry Kissinger, assumed that the seizure was a deliberate provocation and acted accordingly, seeking two outcomes from the crisis. First, they wanted to free the ship and its crew as quickly as possible, to avoid a repetition of the Pueblo hostage fiasco. Second, they saw the incident as an opportunity to reassert American influence in the region, shoring up their own credibility at home and abroad. This led to a retaliation involving disproportionate use of force. As Kissinger told the press at the end of the incident, “There are limits beyond which the United States cannot be pushed.”129

The absence of diplomatic relations between Washington and Phnom Penh complicated communication during the crisis. In a public letter to the UN secretary-general, the United States issued an ultimatum by invoking its Article 51 right of self-defense. Washington asked Beijing to warn the Cambodians, but China declined to act as an intermediary. By the end of the crisis, the two adversaries resorted to press announcements to communicate with each other.130

American officials had drawn two dubious “lessons” from the Pueblo incident—lessons that they now applied, by false analogy, to the Mayaguez crisis. First, they sought to prevent the Cambodians from moving either the ship or its crew to the mainland, where they could not be rescued. Closely related to this concern was the desire to move promptly, rather than waiting for a force buildup as the United States had done in Korea. The desire for speed led officials in Washington and Thailand to make errors with fatal consequences.

As soon as the U.S. Embassy in Jakarta announced the seizure, CINCPAC diverted ships and launched P-3 long-range patrol aircraft to locate and observe the stricken ship. Although the P-3s collected valuable information, neither they nor subsequent tactical fighter sorties could locate the crew definitively. Unknown to the Americans, the crew had been moved to one island while the ship remained moored off another. On May 13, American aircraft sank three Cambodian gunboats and damaged four more, seeking to interdict any movement of the crew to the mainland. Eventually, however, Ford called a halt to such attacks for fear of injuring the hostages.131 Such violence may have increased pressure on the Cambodians to release the crew, but the same attacks also prompted Khmer Rouge commanders to prepare for American ground attacks.

As the senior American headquarters in the region, USSAG/Seventh Air Force in Nakhon Phanom, Thailand, struggled to mount such attacks. This staff was almost entirely USAF personnel, with limited knowledge of the requirements of ground operations. Moreover, its commander, Lt. Gen. John J. Burns, never had complete control over American forces devoted to freeing the Mayaguez. CINCPAC communicated directly with U.S. Navy aircraft and vessels involved. When marine forces arrived, their designated commander, Col. John M. Johnson, moved to U-Tapao Royal Thai Naval Air Base on the southern coast, the staging site for planned helicopter assaults. Although this location enabled Johnson to organize the operation, he had little opportunity to advise General Burns or direct the operation; he did not even have USAF helicopter pilots available for planning. An EC-130 airborne command, control, and communications aircraft oversaw the area of operations, where on-scene command devolved upon USAF Col. Lloyd Anders, deputy commander of the special operations wing that provided some of the helicopters.132

There were other factors complicating matters. With the advent of nearly instantaneous communications, officials in Washington were tempted to interfere directly in situations about which they had only limited knowledge. As a former naval officer, President Ford felt a certain expertise about the details of the operation, even though neither he nor the acting JCS chairman, USAF Gen. David Jones, was familiar with matters such as the accuracy of A-7 aerial gunnery. Ford acted wisely in directing that a destroyer deliver a boarding party alongside of the Mayaguez rather than lowering that party from helicopters, but as happened so often in subsequent crises, the “six-thousand-mile screwdriver”—in this instance, more like twelve thousand miles—of Washington tweaking a tactical operation encroached dangerously on a mission that was evolving constantly.133

With no American ground forces remaining in Southeast Asia, on May 13 General Burns turned first to his own assets at Nakhon Phanom. The air base’s 656th Security Police Squadron volunteered to conduct a mission for which it had not trained. En route to U-Tapao that evening, however, a special operations CH-53 suffered a rotor failure, killing five crew members and eighteen security police before the rescue had even begun.134

Instead, U.S. marines provided the ground force, although still transported by USAF helicopters whose crews were unfamiliar with marine landing tactics. A reinforced company of the 1st Battalion, 4th Marines, would recapture the ship, accompanied by six volunteer merchant sailors to restart the engines and electrical power. Believing incorrectly that the crew was held hostage on Koh Tang Island, U.S. officials also dispatched 2nd Battalion, 9th Marines, from Okinawa. Taken out of its training cycle, this battalion did not even have all its rifles battle-sighted, an essential requirement for accuracy.135

Based largely on speculation, the marines at U-Tapao believed that there were approximately thirty paramilitary defenders on Koh Tang. DIA had estimated, more accurately, that there were up to two hundred regular soldiers with heavy weapons on the island, but the USSAG staff reportedly did not pass this estimate along. Nor did the marines have aerial photographs of their objective until just before the helicopters took off. In fact, a highly competent Cambodian commander had organized the island’s defenses according to accepted tactical principles. In addition to rocket-propelled grenades and well-adjusted mortar tubes, the defenders had several heavy machine guns capable of both ground and anti-aircraft action.136

On the morning of May 15, the marine boarding party seized the anchored and undefended Mayaguez. Meanwhile, their Cambodian captors had released the crew on a Thai fishing vessel. Learning of a Cambodian announcement that the hostages would be released, Kissinger suspended the first wave of planned air strikes on the Cambodian mainland. Yet, President Ford allowed two subsequent waves to attack their targets, apparently determined to demonstrate American force and resolve. The fourth wave diverted to support the unnecessary marine landing.

Based on a time chosen in the Pentagon, the 2nd Battalion, 9th Marines assaulted Koh Tang well after the beginning of morning nautical twilight, thereby helping the defenders to target the USAF helicopters. In the initial wave, three CH-53 or HH-53 helicopters were shot down and two more were heavily damaged. Instead of a coordinated landing on two beaches, the first wave of attackers ended up in three scattered positions without company commanders. A second air assault wave later in the day also suffered significant casualties, and ultimately the marines landed only half of their intended force. The air force and marine troops on the ground had difficulties coordinating air support until, in the afternoon of May 15, OV-10 controller aircraft arrived. As part of the Ford administration’s show of determination, a USAF C-130 dropped the largest conventional bomb in the American inventory, a 15,000-pound BLU-82 “Daisy Cutter,” on Koh Tang, further endangering marines. Additional losses in men and damage to helicopters ensued when the marines withdrew that evening. The total cost, not including the security policemen lost in the previous crash, was fifteen killed, fifty wounded, and three missing.137

Thus ended the last episode in the Vietnam Era. By the end of June, USSAG/Seventh Air Force was inactivated and all American forces were departing Thailand. In the ensuing years, the Khmer Rouge and PAVN vied for control of the region, leading to open conflict in 1977–79.138 Meanwhile, the Pol Pot regime went on to kill up to 1.7 million Cambodians.139

Superficially, the Ford administration achieved its objectives of freeing hostages and reasserting American influence in the region. In the process, however, the high risks of the improvised military operation were increased by interservice misunderstandings and excessive involvement of the national command authority. Regrettably for the American troops involved, this would not be an isolated instance.




CHAPTER 7

SIDESHOW IN THE LEVANT

The Arab-Israeli Conflicts, 1967–2000

Beirut, October 12, 1983

Beginning in 1968, reinvigorated Palestinian radicalism upset the fragile political balance in Lebanon between Sunni Muslims, Shia Muslims, Druze, Greek Orthodox, and Maronite Christians. By 1975, the central government in Beirut had virtually ceased to function, contributing to the situation that led to Israeli incursions in 1981 and 1982. In August of the latter year, a multinational force of French, American, and Italian troops ensured the peaceful departure of militant Palestinians and Syrians, but thereafter the situation deteriorated into a bewildering mass of rivalries.

The multinational force, later joined by the British, attempted to restore Lebanese government authority. Radical Shia Muslims from Iran made common cause with their coreligionists, while the Syrian government also dabbled in the murky politics of the era. On April 18, 1983, a suicide bomber crashed a van into the lobby of the U.S. Embassy in West Beirut, killing sixty-three people in the ensuing explosion. Over time, the U.S. Marine Corps battalion landing team located at Beirut Airport, south of the city, evolved from a neutral security force into a limited participant in the government’s efforts to control disorders. Intermittent mortar and 122 mm rocket fire inflicted American casualties, so the U.S. Army provided two new TPQ-36 counterbattery radars to help locate and fire back at the attackers.1

The marines were restricted largely to a passive role, manning outposts around the airport to maintain a vaguely defined “presence.” This was due in part to the commander of the 24th Marine Amphibious Unit, which assumed the mission on May 30, 1983. Col. Timothy J. Geraghty tried to maintain the neutral, diplomatic stance, in the belief that this was the best way to avoid combat, and later acknowledged that his superiors had not forbade any security measure he might have wanted.2

At the end of August 1983, Israeli troops withdrew from the hills overlooking the airport. This led to fighting between militias associated with the Lebanese government and rival Druze groups. To retain some control over the high ground, the Lebanese Armed Forces occupied the town of Souk al Gharb. In turn, on September 7–8, U.S. Navy F-14s and destroyers supported the government by firing into the area. In the minds of many Shia and Druze, this confirmed their view of the United States as a belligerent in the civil war. The marines were in sporadic contact with what they believed to be Druze, Syrians, and members of the Iranian Revolutionary Guards, and in self-defense the “neutral” force escalated their involvement to the point of naval gunfire from the battleship New Jersey. They eventually halted defensive patrols and withdrew their outposts, but their defensive positions remained rudimentary.3

For months, the marines received warnings of possible attacks, sometimes involving vehicle bombs like the one that had destroyed the embassy—and with it, most of the CIA station—in April. Most Western intelligence analysts had little experience with the amorphous confessional violence in the Middle East, and the small intelligence staff of a battalion was ill-equipped to analyze the situation.4

At daybreak on October 23, 1983, a yellow Mercedes-Benz stake bed truck circled the parking lot in front of the four-story building that housed the 1st Battalion, 8th Marines, headquarters. The truck returned and repeated this circuit an hour later, then accelerated to crash through a wire barricade and into the lobby of the building. Because of their restrictive rules of engagement, sentries did not have ammunition chambered in their rifles; by the time they finished loading, it was too late to react.5 Compressed butane generated a fuel-air blast equivalent to 12,000 pounds of TNT, killing 220 marines as well as 18 sailors and 3 soldiers. Another 128 servicemen were wounded. A few minutes later, a similar attack occurred at a French barracks. Although defensive fire stopped this vehicle a few meters short of its target, it also blew up, killing fifty-eight paratroops.6

Both France and the United States blamed Iran for the attack and conducted air strikes in retaliation. Four months later, the United States withdrew its ground forces from Beirut, although naval gunfire and other involvement continued. Given their ill-defined mission, the continued marine “presence” had become pointless. Beirut dissolved into chaos again, and many people gained the impression that the Americans would not tolerate significant friendly casualties. Iraqi dictator Saddam Hussein eventually learned otherwise. Like Israel, the United States and the Soviet Union faced decades of conflict in the Middle East, where the Cold War assumed the guise of proxy struggles.

Soviets, Egyptians, and Israelis

The 1956 Suez conflict had bought Israel a decade of relative security by weakening Egypt, but if anything, that defeat increased Arab animosity. In 1964–65, Arab summit conferences led to the formation of the Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO) and a (nominal) United Arab Command, both targeted against Israel. In February 1966, the Ba’ath (Renaissance) Party seized control of Syria and adopted a more confrontational approach, including a mutual defense pact with Egypt.7

Arab animosity against Israel and America cleared the way for greater Soviet influence and penetration in the region. Soviet foreign policy had long sought access to the Mediterranean and Middle East, and Moscow embarked on an expensive policy of buying such access while posing as a friend of the Arabs. Although Soviet leaders had little interest in a renewed conflict, they provided significant military and economic aid to the combatants. After the fact, that leadership realized that it had overestimated both America’s ability to restrict Israel—which Moscow persisted in regarding as an American lackey—and its own control over the Arab states.8

Although the Soviet bloc provided weaponry, prior to 1967 its advisers were limited to training Arab soldiers on the use of that equipment rather than guiding Egyptian and Syrian military headquarters. Regardless of their personal bravery, the Egyptian rank and file were poorly educated, and the rapid collapse of the army in 1956 and 1967 indicated poor leadership and cohesion. Junior officers tended to be inflexible and passive, and reserve units received almost no training. Field Marshal Abdel Hakim Amer, the defense minister and sometime vice president of Egypt, focused on creating a cult of personality within the officer corps rather than preparing the country for war.

Moreover, the military expended most of its efforts on a five-year (1962–67) counterinsurgency in North Yemen rather than on a future battle with Israel. On September 26, 1962, a military coup had seized power in Sana’a, and Gamal Abdel Nasser deployed Egyptian forces to support the new republic against its Saudi-backed royalist opponents. Displaying the same risk-taking that led to the Cuban missile crisis, Nikita Khrushchev eagerly responded to Nasser’s requests. As early as September 29, Soviet pilots flew Egyptian-flagged AN-12 transports to lift Nasser’s troops and weapons into Yemen. A few weeks later, when Egypt wanted to bomb the rebels but lacked trained pilots for its new Tu-16 bombers, mixed Soviet and Egyptian crews conducted the raids, striking both inside Yemen and across the border in Saudi Arabia.9

Although Egyptian generals employed large amounts of conventional and chemical weapons, they were unable to deal effectively with the royalist insurgents. Up to 70,000 Egyptian troops were committed in Yemen at any given time, withdrawing only in March 1967. The struggle cost Egypt 26,000 dead and billions of dollars Nasser could ill afford. It also significantly increased Egyptian dependence on Soviet aid.10

By contrast, the Israel Defense Forces (IDF) underwent a profound change in the decade after 1956. Born as a Jewish self-defense guard and denied modern weapons during the early years of independence, the IDF had been primarily a light infantry force that relied on personal leadership rather than discipline and maintenance. However, its few mechanized formations had performed exceptionally well in the 1956 Suez conflict; coupled with the growing presence of Soviet T-55 tanks for its Arab adversaries, this experience encouraged the IDF to reevaluate doctrine and organization. Moshe Dayan, chief of staff in 1956 and defense minister in 1967, encouraged his colleagues to increase mechanization as the tool for the type of maneuver warfare they had always preferred. The armored corps soon received a priority for both recruits and equipment, second only to the Israeli Air Force and paratroops. Gen. Israel Tal, deputy commander and (from 1964) commander of this corps, helped shape Israeli tankers into a more disciplined force that emphasized tank gunnery even at long ranges. However, Israel’s limited defense budget meant that the government purchased British Centurions and modernized older vehicles, such as M-3 Sherman tanks rearmed with 105 mm guns, while relying on obsolete M-3 half-tracks for its mechanized infantry. Tal insisted that, in the open spaces of the Sinai, IDF tanks needed less infantry protection against enemy short-range anti-tank weapons, a decision that cost the IDF heavily in the 1973 war. Despite this weakness, IDF Chief of Staff (1963–67) Yitzak Rabin ensured that the IDF was better prepared for high-intensity warfare than its opponents.11

The Six-Day War

In early May 1967, Soviet intelligence alleged that up to eleven IDF brigades were massing near the Syrian border, preparing for action in response to PLO terrorist attacks. Both Moscow and Cairo knew that this allegation was false. However, the Soviet leadership apparently wanted a minor crisis that would increase its influence, and Nasser sought to emphasize Soviet involvement in the belief that this would deter Israeli retaliation. After demanding the withdrawal of the UN buffer force in Sinai, on May 22 Nasser announced the closure of the Straits of Tiran, the entrance to the Gulf of Aqaba, despite Israeli warnings that such an act would result in war. Premier Alexei Kosygin reportedly prevented an Egyptian preemptive attack (Operation Dawn), but the situation rapidly escalated out of control.12

At 7:45 A.M. on June 5, 1967, 183 Israeli aircraft approaching from the Mediterranean struck Egypt’s air bases as the defending pilots had just landed after their routine dawn defensive patrols. Because Marshal Amer and other senior commanders were flying to inspect forward defenses in the Sinai, the Egyptian air defense system was shut down to prevent friendly fire incidents. By the end of the day, 298 Egyptian aircraft were in ruins. The survivors fared poorly in air-to-air combat against the Israelis, who had higher levels of training and maintenance than did their opponents.13 Robbed of their air cover, the defenders began the war at a severe disadvantage.

The Egyptian Army had occupied forward defenses only a few weeks before the conflict, and even then tactical commanders were unaware that war was likely.14 Although Egypt had more than 300,000 soldiers, the majority of them performed support or domestic guard functions, limiting the combat force in Sinai to about 100,000. In addition to the Palestinian 20th Infantry Division in the Gaza Strip, Egypt deployed the equivalent of two divisions forward along the principal avenues of approach, with another two divisions—the 3rd Infantry and 4th Tank—in reserve. Although they envisioned fighting a defensive maneuver battle (Operation Kahir), Egyptian commanders had never practiced that concept, which required a tactical flexibility that their army did not possess. Based on its experience in 1956, the Egyptian Army fortified the principal avenues of approach in the Sinai Desert. However, in part because the Egyptians believed—reinforced by IDF deceptions—that large portions of this desert were impassable, the Israelis were able to bypass the defenses.15

In addition to a small regular air force and navy, the IDF had a ground force of 225,000, mostly reservists, organized into twenty-five combat brigades plus a lean logistical structure. Northern Command, opposite Syria, initially controlled one division (ugdah) plus two separate brigades, while the Central Command, opposite Jordan, had two large brigades plus the central reserve that included six other brigades. This meant that fewer than half of the twenty-five brigades, grouped as three ugdot plus several separate task forces, were available in Sinai. One of these divisions, commanded by Ariel Sharon, had three reserve brigades dedicated to clearing the urbanized Gaza Strip, further reducing the forces available to fight Egypt.16

The ensuing maneuver battle played to IDF strengths of improvisation and subordinate initiative. Egyptian troops in prepared positions defended stoutly but were cut off by flank attacks while tactical air strikes hammered them. On June 6, Marshal Amer panicked, bypassing senior headquarters to direct the withdrawal of forward units.17 Command and control evaporated, and the Israeli attack turned into a pursuit that ended at the Suez Canal a few days later.

Seeking to satisfy his Palestinian subjects and misled by the Egyptians as to the defeat of their air force, King Hussein of Jordan ordered artillery fire against Israel on June 5. The IDF improvised a response, shifting the ugdah/division headquarters from Northern Command and reassigning an airborne brigade previously earmarked for a drop in Sinai. Between the evening of June 5 and late morning two days later, the IDF seized the Jordanian territory known as the West Bank as well as the whole of Jerusalem. The Israeli attacks, though somewhat uncoordinated, were ultimately successful.18

The Syrian Army had little combat capability, and in any event the Damascus government felt snubbed by its supposed Egyptian ally. With Cairo reeling in defeat, however, the Syrian government tried to make a gesture. Anticipating such a threat, on the afternoon of June 5 the IAF turned its bombs on the Syrians, losing only one aircraft while destroying fifty-three jets, largely on the ground. The IAF also claimed to have smashed twenty Iraqi aircraft that afternoon. The next day, a single Syrian infantry battalion with two companies of T-34s and artillery support tried vainly to destroy three farming settlements in northern Israel. This provided the IDF with a pretext for a daring advance up the steep escarpment of the Golan Heights on June 7. A new ugdah headquarters controlled brigades reassigned from the Sinai. Late on the afternoon of June 8, Syria hastily accepted a UN-brokered cease-fire to halt the Israeli penetration.19

Aftermath

Israel’s remarkable victory had a number of consequences, many of them unforeseen, that increased superpower involvement in the Middle East. First, by occupying the Egyptian Sinai, Israel condemned both sides to a prolonged period of semi-mobilization and low-level conflict. Tel Aviv was determined not to yield this ground until it had achieved a favorable peace with Cairo, but the very fact of the occupation made it politically impossible for Egypt to negotiate. Despite its superior combat power, the IDF was at a disadvantage because the Suez Canal was so distant from Israeli population centers that it could no longer rely on a citizen force.

A second outcome was to exacerbate rather than resolve the Palestinian problem. The Israeli decision to build civilian settlements in the West Bank vastly complicated the political issues between the two peoples. Hundreds of thousands of new refugees fled the West Bank, producing an unstable Palestinian majority in Jordan that threatened the monarchy. In 1968, Yasir Arafat gained credibility among his people when he defended a Palestinian guerrilla base near Karameh, Jordan, killing twenty-nine IDF soldiers.20 Moreover, the defeat of conventional Arab armies prompted Palestinian activists to adopt terrorism as the only option remaining to strike back at Israel. In the years after 1967, a host of militant factions, differing in agendas and ideology, arose among the refugees. Two of the most influential were Fatah (a political party since 1959 that soon dominated the PLO) and the Marxist-Leninist Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP).

The third consequence of the Six-Day War was to sharply increase Soviet aid and influence in the region. Despite limits on its strategic lift capacity, Moscow began shipping replacement weapons as soon as the Arab defeat became apparent. To speed the process, Soviet advisers arranged for Algeria to shift fifty MiG-17s and twenty MiG-21s to Egypt, to be backfilled later. Within three weeks, Soviet ships delivered seventy T-55 tanks and hundreds of crew-served weapons. Although the USSR normally required payment for military weapons, in the crisis the Central Committee decided to provide two hundred aircraft and two hundred tanks to Egypt without charge. Smaller aid packages went to Syria (one hundred tanks and thirty-seven aircraft) and Iraq (twelve aircraft). These arms deliveries both strained Soviet resources and caused international concern.21

The Soviets and Egyptians found themselves tied in a difficult relationship. Having lost face by the poor performance of its Arab proxies, Moscow felt compelled to provide not only replacement weapons but also a network of advisers, reaching down to brigade and later battalion level in an effort to improve Egyptian military performance. High-level delegations of Soviet commanders helped plan the air defense and other parts of the security structure of Egypt. However, Brezhnev and Kosygin rightly worried that their radical Arab allies might draw the USSR into a future conflict. Although Nasser made political concessions to Moscow, his officers were ambivalent. They needed Soviet help to recover from their defeat but resented any efforts to control them, efforts they equated to the hated British protectorate of previous decades.22

The War of Attrition, June 1967–August 1971

Within weeks after the Six-Day War, Egyptian and Palestinian troops began low-level attacks, especially artillery raids, along the new borders of Israel. In one prominent incident on October 21, 1967, Egyptians used Soviet-supplied Styx anti-ship missiles to sink the Israeli destroyer Eilat. Besides the propaganda value of openly fighting the occupier, such attacks sought to inflict sufficient losses and costs to encourage an Israeli compromise. In March 1969, Nasser publicly rescinded Egypt’s adherence to the 1967 cease-fire, and in the ensuing six months the IDF suffered almost two hundred casualties in Sinai.23

Israel responded first by downing nine Egyptian MiG-21s during June–July 1969 and then by selectively destroying SA-2 air defense missile sites in the canal area. Meanwhile, General Rabin, who had become the Israeli ambassador to Washington, advocated stronger measures to force Nasser to end the War of Attrition. Rabin understood that, unlike previous American presidents, Richard Nixon admired Israel and encouraged it to use military means, just as he preferred such efforts in Vietnam. Between January and April 1970, the IAF struck targets deep within Egypt, bypassing the front lines to attack a nuclear research plant, an air base, and similar facilities. Israel used U.S.-supplied F-4 Phantoms, the most advanced aircraft in the Middle East, to conduct these strikes, further angering Arab states against both governments.

Whatever the military effects of such attacks, politically Israel failed to force a cease-fire. On the contrary, Kosygin sent a letter to Washington demanding a halt to IAF attacks and followed up that warning with an unprecedented increase in the Soviet commitment to Egypt. In the spring of 1970, Moscow sent 8,000 additional troops. Some were advisers and technicians, but an estimated 6,000 were formed Soviet military units to shore up the country’s defenses. A brigade from the Moscow Air Defense District initially deployed with four battalions of the newest Soviet SA-3 Goa air defense system; by the end of 1970, there were seventy-five to eighty-five firing batteries. At least five MiG-21 fighter squadrons with Soviet pilots flew defensive patrols over Egypt. Such patrols freed the Egyptian Air Force to attack Israeli positions in the Sinai. An additional twenty-two aircraft arrived to support the developing Soviet naval bases in Alexandria, Port Said, and Mersa Matruh.24 Clearly, the Soviet government believed that the United States would not respond militarily, both because of its ongoing involvement in Vietnam and because Nixon and Kissinger hoped to achieve diplomatic agreements with the USSR. Nixon called in Rabin and encouraged Israel to strike the Russian-manned missile sites.25

Preoccupied with the Cambodian incursion, the Nixon administration permitted the Soviets to engage in this provocative gesture without open confrontation. Rather than offend the Arab states by providing more Phantoms to Israel, the United States quietly supplied the IAF with AGM-45 Shrike missiles that could home in on air defense radars. Washington also helped negotiate a formal cease-fire to the War of Attrition effective August 7, 1970. However, the Soviets and Egyptians immediately violated the spirit of that agreement, secretly moving twenty-three SA-2 and five SA-3 sites forward into the canal area.

Black September

The frustration that militant Palestinians felt with Israel’s occupation manifested itself in a new wave of aircraft hijackings. Although such piracy had occurred for years, the 1967 defeat led to a decade of highly publicized attacks, in which the PFLP excelled. On July 23, 1968, three Palestinians seized control of an El Al airliner flying from Rome to Tel Aviv, diverting it to Algiers and forcing Israel to release sixteen Palestinian prisoners. Another attack on an Israeli aircraft prompted Israel to retaliate by raiding the Beirut airport, destroying thirteen airliners on the dubious premise that Beirut housed the PFLP headquarters.26

Between September 6 and 9, 1970, PFLP hijackers brought three different aircraft to Dawson’s Field, a remote former RAF base in Jordan. There they segregated Jewish and American passengers and blew up the empty airplanes, although they ultimately got no concessions from Israel.27

After its defeat in 1967, the Jordanian government was unable to control the Palestinians who fled the West Bank into the remainder of the country. Moreover, while Amman sought simply to regain lost territory, the PLO wanted the destruction of Israel.28 King Hussein, who had already survived an assassination attempt by his Palestinian subjects, now decided that he had to act. On September 16, he appointed a military cabinet, surrounded Palestinian areas in the larger cities, and offered the Fedayeen a cease-fire in return for leaving the country peacefully.29 Both Iraq and Syria threatened to intervene on the Palestinians’ behalf, and on September 19 two Syrian armored brigades invaded Jordan from the north. Hussein asked the United States for assistance.

The combative Nixon responded strongly to the situation, threatening to intervene. He moved three aircraft carriers to the eastern end of the Mediterranean and alerted both the 82nd Airborne Division in North Carolina and an airborne brigade in West Germany. Israeli and U.S. aircraft overflew the key areas. These signals got Soviet attention, but as a political matter an American intervention would have outraged both the U.S. Congress and the Arab states. The president urged Israel to intervene, and the Jewish state began mobilizing. IDF Phantoms flew low over the Syrian armor as a warning. On September 21–22 the Royal Jordanian Army defeated the invaders, although the subsequent diplomatic settlement recognized the Palestinians as a significant power group within Jordan. Still, the United States had preserved a moderate and friendly Arab government with minimal involvement.30

The confrontation also gave its name to yet another Palestinian terrorist group, Black September, which claimed credit for the kidnapping and murder of Israeli athletes at the 1972 Munich Olympics.

Sadat and the Soviets

The 1970 Soviet deployment significantly increased the possibility of Moscow’s involvement in a renewed war, in return for an ephemeral increase in influence in Egypt. On September 28, Nasser died of a heart attack, to be succeeded by Anwar Sadat. Whereas Nasser had advocated social reform and Pan-Arab unity, Sadat was a conventional nationalist who resented Moscow’s controls and sought a diplomatic accommodation with the United States and Israel. In May 1971, the new president arrested pro-Soviet officials within his regime.31

Two months later, after Moscow refused to honor its arms agreements and refinance existing loans, Sadat expelled the Soviet advisers but not technicians and instructors. Even this move failed to elicit a deal with the United States and Israel; based on the failure of its 1957 withdrawal from Sinai, Israel refused to accept anything less than a complete solution to the ongoing antagonism with the Arabs. Both Washington and Tel Aviv believed that Cairo would not initiate a new war it seemed destined to lose. Yet, Sadat concluded that only a new conflict that would discredit the IDF’s methods of fighting would force a change in U.S.-Soviet détente and Israel’s refusal to negotiate.32

The Egyptian-Syrian Plan

In contrast to the 1948, 1956, and 1967 conflicts, the 1973 war was the first time in which the Arab states had a coherent military plan that permitted them to seize the initiative. Although Hafez al-Assad of Syria attempted to destroy the Jewish state, Egypt had a more realistic, limited war plan that would regain control of the Suez Canal while giving Israel no option but negotiation. At enormous expense to the Egyptian economy, continuous mobilization from 1967 onward had notably improved the quality and cohesion of Egyptian military units;33 nonetheless, much of their success lay in their unusual plans to counter the IDF’s strengths.

The Israeli defenses of Sinai were in two parts. Along the eastern bank of the Suez Canal, reservist infantrymen manned thirty-five hardened positions, collectively called the Bar-Lev Line, that would engage and break up any Egyptian crossing. Behind them stood Maj. Gen. Avraham Mandler’s 252nd Armored Division (ugdah), with Maj. Gen. Shmuel Gonen as the overall southern commander. The low priority of infantry in the IDF meant that Mandler’s peacetime force consisted primarily of 291 tanks with only a few mechanized infantry companies. The tank units were in the habit of maneuvering without infantry and relying on fighter-bombers for fire support.34 The Israeli mechanized force still used obsolete M-3 half-tracks, although by 1973 it had acquired 448 of the M-113 family of lightly armored personnel carriers.35

Lt. Gen. Saad el Shazly, Egyptian Armed Forces chief of staff from May 1971 to December 1973, was the principal architect of Operation The High Minarets, the plan to overcome the defensive strengths of the IDF in the Sinai. Recognizing the strength of his soldiers on the defensive, Shazly provided his assault infantry with as many man-portable anti-aircraft and anti-tank weapons as possible, especially AT-3 Sagger anti-tank guided missiles. Shazly stripped the rest of the Egyptian Army of such weapons to equip his attacking brigades. He also planned five different crossings on a wide front, with the troops rushing forward to assume shallow but coherent bridgeheads that could defeat the first Israeli armored counterattacks. This would give the Egyptian Army time to bring its armored vehicles across the canal. The assault forces would also carry shoulder-fired surface-to-air missiles that, in conjunction with longer-range weapons on the western bank, formed an integrated umbrella to neutralize the IDF. Thus, while conducting an offensive at the operational level, at the tactical level the Egyptians would stand on the defensive, forcing the IDF to attack them with no opportunity for outflanking maneuvers.36
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To span the canal rapidly, the Egyptians formed forty battalions of engineers equipped with Soviet PMP modular floating bridges. A junior engineer officer suggested that, to breech the sand walls Israel had built on the eastern side of the canal, the attackers should use high-pressure water cannon rather than explosives or earth-moving equipment. Some 450 pumps enabled the attackers to create sixty gaps in the sand wall during the first six hours of the campaign. Once the bridges went in, self-propelled air defense and armored vehicles would reinforce the bridgeheads.37

To desensitize Israeli observers, the Egyptians held numerous exercises and twenty-two reserve mobilizations in the months leading up to the attack.38 Security was so tight that even division commanders learned of the attack only three days before the chosen date. As late as October 5, the day before the attack, the head of Israeli military intelligence still considered an attack improbable, although as a precaution the regular Israeli army moved to a state of alert that day. On October 3, Leonid Brezhnev had learned of the impending war. Reluctant to antagonize the Arab states by warning the United States, he instead began to evacuate Soviet technicians and families, assuming that Washington would detect the airlift. Even then, both American and Israeli intelligence misinterpreted the movement because they did not believe that Egypt would attack.39

As a final misleading step, instead of attacking at the customary hours of dawn or dusk, the two Arab states set H hour for 2:00 P.M. on October 6, Yom Kippur, the Jewish Day of Atonement. This time was a compromise between the Syrian desire to attack at dawn and the Egyptian desire to conduct most of the canal bridging in darkness. That morning, Prime Minister Golda Meir refused to authorize a preemptive air strike, avoiding any allegation that Israel had started the war.

The Ramadan–Yom Kippur War

On the eve of the new conflict, Israel had 400 combat aircraft, including 109 F-4 Phantoms and 192 A-4 Skyhawk fighter-bombers, ranged against some 600 Egyptian and 350 Syrian aircraft, primarily MiG-17 and MiG-21 fighters and Su-7 fighter-bombers. The Israeli tank fleet included 1,915 tanks, mostly Centurions and M-48 Pattons, while Egypt had 1,963 tanks and Syria some 1,800, most of which were Soviet T-55 or, less commonly, T-62 models.40 Although the Nixon administration had been more generous than its predecessors in selling weapons to Israel, Washington resisted Tel Aviv’s repeated demands for more and newer equipment.

Egypt and Syria’s initial attack began on both fronts with air strikes at 2:00 P.M., followed immediately by brief artillery barrages to suppress the defenders in fortified positions. Preceded by reconnaissance and commandos, the first wave of Egyptian infantry crossed the canal in assault boats at 2:15. Subsequent waves followed every fifteen minutes, so that 23,500 men, the assault elements of five infantry divisions, had crossed the canal by 4:15 that afternoon. The commandos and infantry troops stunned the quick-reaction IDF tank units, which had not trained to deal with anti-tank guided missiles. Additional losses followed as the Israelis attempted to relieve and evacuate the Bar-Lev positions while the integrated air defenses downed twenty-seven IAF aircraft. Having never practiced a defense against a mass crossing, the IDF defenders operated piecemeal without fully using the available terrain. Meanwhile, the first floating bridge was completed by 8:30 that night, beginning the flow of tanks and heavy weapons. Only in the south did the Egyptians have difficulties. There the water cannon encountered a different type of soil in the protective walls that turned into impenetrable mud, thereby restricting the number of crossing points. Meanwhile an amphibious brigade successfully crossed the Great Bitter Lake, but its lightly armored vehicles suffered when they tried to reach the Gidi Pass in mid-Sinai.41

The IDF defense of the Golan Heights was even more tenuous. Soviet advisers, who had a low opinion of the Syrians, had apparently taught them to attack in rigid formations, of which the first echelon included three mechanized infantry divisions. The sheer mass of armor—1,000 tanks in the first echelon—almost overwhelmed the two brigades, one of them composed partly of trainees, who initially defended in the north.42 Israeli tanks were often dispersed in small groups, as they tried to defend every inch of the Golan territory rather than blocking major penetrations. While IDF commanders stopped the attackers in their sectors, they were unaware of large forces infiltrating between those sectors and advancing to the rear. By early evening of the first day, the 5th Syrian Infantry Division had broken through to the south, but turned its forces northward toward Nafakh, seeking to outflank the defenders rather than pushing forward into Israel. During this period, individuals on both sides performed epics of gallantry, such as Lt. Zvika Greengold, whose single tank delayed the Syrian flanking movement for hours. Despite the bravery of individual Syrian soldiers, many of their commanders were slow to respond to changing situations. The next day, Syria fired sixteen inaccurate FROG-7 rockets against Israeli population centers.43

Mobilizing reserve formations arrived in the nick of time to retain the western lip of the Golan Heights; they soon were able to counterattack. In the Sinai, however, the deploying reservists found themselves not only interdicted by Egyptian commandos but also somewhat disorganized. IDF Southern Command did not provide an effective corps-level headquarters to coordinate the three armored divisions (controlling eight brigades) deployed in its area. An October 8 counterattack in the Sinai failed disastrously in the face of Egyptian anti-tank and anti-aircraft defenses.44 In less than three days, Israel had lost five hundred tanks and forty-nine combat aircraft. Although the IDF continued to outmaneuver its adversaries in air-to-air combat, Soviet air defense missiles, especially the SA-2, SA-3, and more mobile SA-6, proved costly to the IAF. Meanwhile, Iraq had provided Syria with sixteen MiG-21s and thirty-two Su-7s, including pilots, and moved an armored division into Syria, while Algeria and Libya shipped eighteen MiG-21s and large supplies of anti-aircraft missiles to Egypt.45

Journalists have often alleged that, in the desperate early days of this conflict, Israel prepared to employ some of its estimated twenty atomic weapons, either to destroy an Arab breakthrough or to blackmail the United States into providing more aid.46 By some accounts, these preparations even included mounting bombs on aircraft. Although the exact degree of technical preparations may never be established, there is little evidence of serious military planning to employ nuclear weapons. A recent review of eyewitnesses indicates a much more limited nuclear incident. Defense Minister Moshe Dayan, who had been emotionally distressed by the heavy losses in the first two days, reportedly asked the director of Israel’s atomic energy commission to wait outside a war cabinet meeting on the afternoon of October 8. As the meeting broke up, Dayan asked Prime Minister Meir if they might “brainstorm” preparations for the possibility of conducting a nuclear demonstration to warn their adversaries. His suggestion aroused such forceful opposition from other politicians that the proposal was stillborn, and Meir turned to cajoling more help from Washington.47

Dueling Airlifts

When the Yom Kippur War first began, the two superpowers worked together to end it diplomatically while avoiding direct military involvement. The Soviet Navy even moved its ships away from the war zone. In the second week of the conflict, however, détente broke down as Moscow and Washington rushed weapons and ammunition to their proxies.48

Initially, the U.S. government had assumed that Israel’s military superiority would quickly reassert itself, and so Washington satisfied only a few requirements such as air-to-air missiles. Even when, on October 9, Israeli Ambassador Simcha Dinitz informed Henry Kissinger of Israel’s losses, there was little sense of urgency about replacing those losses. Director of Central Intelligence William Colby thought that Tel Aviv was exaggerating its needs to get additional weapons, and Defense Secretary James Schlesinger wanted to avoid both the tactical risk and the Arab reaction that would ensue if a U.S. military airlift operated directly, rather than quietly loading weapons and equipment onto Israeli transports. Under political pressure, Nixon instructed Kissinger to promise replacements for lost tanks and aircraft but thought the resupply could wait until the end of the conflict.49

Late on October 12, the Nixon administration realized three key facts: the IDF was running short of ammunition, a UN cease-fire might be imposed before Israel could claw back its losses, and the Soviet Union was dispatching a stream of AN-12s to Syria and later Egypt.50 Once Israel destroyed some key SA-6s and began pushing the Syrians back on October 9, Moscow decided to help its ally, with twelve transports landing in Syria on October 10.51

The United States belatedly acted to help Israel, initiating Operation Nickel Grass. The first C-5A airplane, carrying ninety-seven tons of 105 mm howitzer rounds, landed at Lod Airport, outside Tel Aviv on the evening of October 14.52 Thereafter, up to twenty flights arrived each day, while fourteen F-4s flew in to replace immediate losses. Over the next month, the United States delivered 12,000 tons by air and another 51,500 tons of arms and equipment by sea. Among this equipment was a new type of electronic countermeasures pod that helped the IAF deal with the missile threat. Otherwise, very little of these supplies arrived in time for use during the conflict, but the knowledge that they were en route enabled the IDF to expend its remaining ammunition in renewed offensive action. In its haste, the Nixon administration abandoned its original intention of limiting the quantity and quality of military aid: by November it worried that Israel had been oversupplied.53 This largesse, as much as the outcome of the war, was responsible for the price hikes and restrictions imposed by the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC). Over the next five months, OPEC’s near embargo significantly affected Western economies.

The Turn of the Tide

The same Syrian defeat that triggered the Soviet airlift also prompted Sadat to abandon the secure bridgeheads and air defense umbrella achieved under Operation The High Minarets. To rescue his Syrian allies, Sadat gave up much of his tactical successes to date. Over the protests of his chief of staff, Shazly, and his two field army commanders, on October 14 the two uncommitted armored divisions of the Egyptian Army advanced toward the passes in central Sinai. Outnumbered by the IDF defenders, this attack cost Egypt 250 tanks as well as 93 percent losses in one mechanized brigade. The commander of Egyptian Second Army had a nervous breakdown as a result.54

This failure also left the Egyptians with few reserves, especially armor, on the western bank of the canal, which created the opportunity for which the IDF had planned for years. Engineers had built and concealed a massive roller bridge, capable of supporting armored vehicles, but the bridge required sixteen tanks to tow from the front and brake from the rear as it crept across the desert. Soon after midnight on October 16, the Israelis initiated Operation Gazelle, using the bridge to cross the canal just north of Great Bitter Lake, where a gap existed between the defenses of the Egyptian Second and Third Armies. Preceded by the 243rd Paratroop Brigade, Israeli armored units seized a bridgehead and then fanned out to eliminate SA-2 missile sites in the area. This, in turn, cleared the way for the IAF to resume its customary close support role for the ground exploitation. By October 24, the IDF had secured most of the western bank of the canal from Great Bitter Lake south, cutting off the Third Army. Still, despite their overly centralized command structure, the Egyptians managed to salvage something from their defeat. Commandos and paratroops thwarted General Sharon’s attempt to seize Ismailia, the logistical hub of Second Army, while militia and townspeople stopped Sharon’s occupation of Suez City, inflicting two hundred Israeli casualties.55

DEFCON 3

As the war turned against the Arab states, Soviet pressure for a cease-fire increased. Meanwhile, Nixon focused on the Watergate crisis, leading to the dismissal of Special Prosecutor Archibald Cox on October 20. The Nixon and Brezhnev governments agreed to UN Security Council Resolution 338, dated October 22, which called for a cease-fire within twelve hours. The Israeli government, however, continued to push forward to secure favorable positions on the ground. Desperately, Sadat invited Soviet troop units into Egypt. At the time, the Soviet air bridge appeared to pause, suggesting that some of the seven Soviet airborne divisions might be deployed.56

On October 24, the Soviet ambassador in Washington delivered an ultimatum from Brezhnev: either the two superpowers would form a joint military entity to enforce the cease-fire, or the USSR might take unilateral action, implying a Soviet troop deployment. Without permission to use NATO installations, the United States would be at a logistical disadvantage if it responded militarily. That evening, Kissinger chaired the White House Special Action Group that, without consulting the president, decided to move to a worldwide DefCon 3 the first such alert since 1962. JCS Chairman Adm. Thomas Moorer alerted the 82nd Airborne Division and directed three aircraft carriers to assemble in the central Mediterranean. SAC recalled seventy-five B-52s from Guam and began to prepare aircraft at home. All these were diplomatic warnings to Moscow, although at the time many Americans regarded the alert as a cynical ploy to divert attention from Watergate. The crisis dissipated within a matter of hours, because neither superpower wanted to risk confrontation. The Security Council adopted a new resolution, 340, which demanded that the parties return to their positions as of October 22. Fighting staggered to a halt, and UN observers arrived quickly.57

Consequences

During twenty days of conflict, the Arabs lost an estimated 15,600 killed, 35,000 wounded, and 8,700 captured. The much smaller Israeli population suffered 2,569 killed, 7,251 wounded, and 314 prisoners. Because it controlled the battlefields at the end of the conflict, the IDF was able to repair 600 of the 1,000 tanks it lost, whereas most of the 2,250 Arab tanks were permanent losses.58

The heavy human cost of this conflict caused many in Israel to reassess their strategic situation, with formal investigations of intelligence and military operations. Although Tel Aviv ended the war in possession of more Arab land than at the start, Sadat had achieved his strategic objectives, forcing the superpowers and Israel to recognize the inherently temporary nature of Israel’s occupation of Sinai. Displaying enormous political and personal courage, Anwar Sadat eventually achieved his strategic goals but outraged most Arab radicals. The Camp David Accords of September 17, 1978, led to a 1979 peace agreement with Israel, including mutual diplomatic recognition. In 1982, the IDF completed the final step in its withdrawal from Sinai. On the eighth anniversary of the Yom Kippur War, however, Sadat was murdered by Egyptian Islamic Jihad, one of the forerunners of al-Qaeda.

In effect, therefore, both Israel and Egypt had won the Yom Kippur War. One loser was the Soviet Union, whose heavy investment in Egyptian defense bought it little long-term influence. In fact, part of the Camp David agreements guaranteed large American military aid—more than $1.3 billion per year—to equip the Egyptian armed forces.59

For soldiers and airmen, the 1973 battlefields provided both motivation and data for revising how they conducted mechanized warfare. Precision-guided munitions, electronic warfare, night vision devices, and similar developments had vastly increased lethality. The IDF reemphasized combined arms, seeking to ensure infantry and mortar support in all tank units. In the decade after 1973, Israel formed five new artillery brigades while increasing its modern armored personnel carriers tenfold to 4,800.60 Israel Tal reenergized efforts to field an Israeli heavy tank, the Merkava series, whose chassis could also become an infantry fighting vehicle. The U.S. Army, which was reemerging from the Vietnam conflict just as the Yom Kippur War occurred, seized on that war to reform its doctrine, training, and equipment.61

Entry into Lebanon

Although Egypt professed itself satisfied with Camp David, the Palestinians remained unappeased. In addition to continued terrorism, the various Palestinian radical organizations expanded operations in Lebanon, where they encouraged factional fighting and civil war. In November 1969, Nasser had brokered the Cairo Agreement between the Lebanese government and Yasir Arafat’s combined PLO-Fatah. This agreement in effect ceded sovereignty over southern Lebanon to Arafat, who engaged in cross-border raids into northern Israel. The Black September confrontation of 1970 in Jordan encouraged still more Palestinian militants and their families to move to Lebanon.62 Israeli governments tried different responses to this expanded threat, including raiding PLO locations inside Lebanon and funding the Maronite Christian faction that dominated the Lebanese Army. Israeli commandos launched targeted assassinations to disrupt the various terrorist groups. Meanwhile, Lebanon dissolved into chaos, and on June 1, 1976, the Syrian Army occupied the highway leading from Damascus to Beirut.63

Many within the Israeli government and military regarded Beirut as the international capital of terrorism.64 The term “terrorism” denotes violent attacks on noncombatants for the purpose of increasing terror that in turn influences government policies.65 However, many Israelis began to use this word to describe the tactics of asymmetric insurgency rather than true terror attacks. Thus, the term was applied to ambushes, assassinations, and explosions, regardless of whether the targets of such techniques were civilians (which was indeed terrorism) or soldiers whom the Palestinians regarded as occupiers (who were legitimate targets for insurgency). Many U.S. officials later adopted this misleading terminology, describing the 1983 bombings of American and French military barracks as “terrorist acts.” Some Palestinian extremists justified their actions by claiming that all Israelis, including children, were occupiers.

Israel continued to seek military solutions to what was fundamentally a political question—the future of the Palestinians. To this end, the IDF tried various techniques of shelling, special operations attacks, and larger raids intended to keep its opponents on the defensive.66

On March 11, 1978, a Palestinian raid in northern Israel murdered twenty-eight and wounded seventy-eight civilians. Three days later, Tel Aviv responded with Operation Litani, a brigade-sized incursion into southern Lebanon. While avoiding contact with the Syrians, the IDF dispersed a number of Palestinian resistance groups. Israel withdrew from most of Lebanon’s territory in June after the Security Council created the United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon (UNIFIL). Unfortunately for regional peace, UNIFIL was intimidated by the PLO organizations in the southern region and proved unable to prevent further attacks on Israel. The United States brokered a cease-fire between Israel and Palestinian groups in July 1981, but attacks continued.67

The 1982 conflict was the first war in which Israeli public opinion was divided about the necessity of fighting. Hoping to get popular support, the Tel Aviv government looked for a pretext to reenter Lebanon, although the specific objective of such an entrance was unclear. On June 3, 1982, three agents murdered the Israeli ambassador to London. One of these agents was a Syrian intelligence officer, suggesting that Damascus wanted to provoke an Israeli reaction against the PLO. After trading air strikes for PLO artillery fire, the IDF invaded on June 6.68

Despite public assurances that Israel would only penetrate forty to forty-five kilometers into Lebanon, IDF commanders believed that they had to expel the paramilitary Palestinians from Beirut. Planners had envisioned two operations: Little Pines, using the active-duty forces available whenever the cabinet authorized an attack, which would morph into Rolling Pines as additional troops became available. These plans involved three corps-sized elements, of which the western and central corps, with the equivalent of two divisions each, would converge at Sidon, halfway up the coast to Beirut, and then continue on to the capital. Preceded by marine commandos, a mechanized battalion task force from the 96th Division also landed near Sidon. The eastern corps, consisting of the 252nd and 90th Divisions as well as two division-sized task forces, advanced along multiple routes prepared to engage the Syrian Army, its most capable opponent. The IDF began its operation with 57,000 soldiers in combat units and 1,000 tanks, opposing 30,000 Syrians with 612 tanks and a like number of Palestinians, of which half were organized formations (including 100 older tanks), and the remainder were militias more capable of guerrilla actions. In the rugged terrain of Lebanon, even paramilitary forces with short-range anti-tank weapons could inflict significant casualties on the invaders. Moreover, on the first day some of the leading Israeli battalions took wrong turns, thereby losing the opportunity to encircle their opponents.69
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Overall, however, the initial invasion displayed the best aspects of the IDF, especially its use of technology and speed to disorganize its opponents. The IDF reported knocking out seventy T-62 and seven T-72 Soviet tanks in the first six days, with precision-guided aerial munitions probably accounting for the latter. Four E-2C Hawkeyes, linked to unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), provided airborne battle management for the IAF as it neutralized the Syrian air defense systems; Israel claimed to have shot down ninety-two MiGs. Another U.S. weapon, the AIM-9L Sidewinder missile, was one key to this success rate, permitting Israeli pilots to engage an opponent head-to-head rather than relying on infrared seekers.70

The IDF’s performance was not flawless.71 Aluminum burns from stricken armored personnel carriers reinforced an IDF habit of soldiers riding on top of, rather than inside, the armored personnel carriers, making their light armor only useful against mines. Although paratroopers and other high-priority infantry continued to function well, cooperation between the mechanized infantry and armor still lagged, and Israeli tanks still had difficulty dealing with a dismounted enemy. The IDF armored forces, including the first Merkava tanks, did well in their initial advance, but the 162nd Division encountered serious resistance from its Syrian counterparts in the Beqaa Valley of eastern Lebanon. Certainly, the Syrian soldiers performed better in 1982 than a decade previously, and they were able to withdraw, relatively intact, despite the loss of their air defenses.72

The Long Struggle

Once the initial, mechanized penetration was completed, however, the IDF became a prisoner of its own success. Most generals were convinced that they could not withdraw from Lebanon until they had broken the power of the Palestinian insurgents, but that meant a prolonged, attritional, counterinsurgency operation. They had named their incursion “Operation Peace for Galilee,” but they had only temporary success in securing Galilee from Palestinian attacks.

Moreover, the IDF became enmeshed in the complexities of the Lebanese civil conflict, with numerous factions opposing each other, the Palestinians, and the Israelis themselves. In late June, the IDF surrounded the Palestinian areas west of Beirut, launching air strikes that, according to Lebanese government estimates, killed 20,000 inhabitants, of whom 80 percent were civilian.73 Although pressured by Israel, Palestinian leaders repeatedly delayed their departure from Lebanon. The IDF wanted to eliminate the Palestinian camps in the Beirut area but had little experience in urban terrain. Direct Israeli action in such an environment could prove costly both militarily and diplomatically.

Defense Minister Ariel Sharon, a longtime advocate of harsh measures against Palestinian terrorists, had been a major supporter of the incursion into Lebanon. He assured the Israeli cabinet that the Christian Kataeb or Phalangist army would clear the camps. For several years prior to the 1982 invasion, Israeli intelligence had supported and helped train the Phalangists, commanded by Bashir Gemayel. However, although Gemayel wanted the Palestinians to leave the country, he refused to attack them, arguing that to act as Israeli proxies would make the Phalangists so unpopular that they would become a target for other factions.74

On September 14, 1982, a Syrian-supplied bomb assassinated Bashir Gemayel and killed or wounded eighty others; Bashir’s brother immediately called for revenge.75 That night, the IDF entered West Beirut in violation of a cease-fire and of Tel Aviv’s promise to Washington. The Israelis suffered three killed and a hundred wounded as they occupied the city, but their rules of engagement forbade entering the camps. Instead, IDF commanders convinced the Phalangists to enter the Sabra and Shantila camps at dusk on Thursday, September 16. Over the next thirty-six hours, the angry militiamen massacred at least 800 and possibly 2,000 Palestinians, including women and children.76 An Israeli inquiry concluded that the cabinet and military commanders should have anticipated such violence, specifically assigning personal responsibility to Sharon for failing to take precautions. Sharon eventually resigned as defense minister, although his political career culminated in 2001 with his election as prime minister.

This atrocity led to the multinational force intervention, described at the start of this chapter, that protected PLO leaders as they departed Lebanon for Tunisia. In 1985, Israel withdrew its forces to southern Lebanon, having suffered some six hundred dead in three years.77 It then established another Christian proxy militia, the South Lebanon Army (SLA). Although it had forced the Palestinians out of Lebanon, Israel now faced a new foe. For the next eighteen years, the IDF remained in Lebanon, fighting a constant struggle against various radical groups, of which the most important was the Iranian-backed Shiite group Hezbollah.

Hezbollah (“The Party of God”) drew its initial leaders from a PLO special operations group known as “Force 17,” but also benefited from Iranian sponsorship and training. Its leading theoretician, Imad Mughniyah, masterminded the Beirut bombings of 1983 and promulgated a classic Maoist doctrine of attritional guerrilla attacks based on popular support. Indeed, the group eventually became a major participant in Lebanese politics.78 Militarily, Hezbollah began by pioneering the techniques of vehicle suicide bombs. In 1986, it briefly used human wave attacks to overrun SLA and IDF outposts. When Israel responded by hardening those outposts to make ground attack too costly, Hezbollah turned to rocket and mortar attacks, coupled with ambushes and explosive devices against IDF and SLA patrols. Eventually, the group learned to attack an outpost and then ambush the relief force. These and other techniques demoralized the SLA and created a steady attrition of Israeli soldiers in south Lebanon. After eighteen years of such expensive occupation, the IDF finished evacuating southern Lebanon on May 24, 2000.79 By that time, the Cold War was over, yet Hezbollah tactics provided a model for the irregular struggles of the post–Cold War era.




CHAPTER 8

CIVIL DEFENSE AND CIVIL DISORDERS

Cheyenne Mountain, Colorado, February 20, 1971

In addition to the headquarters of the North American Air Defense Command (NORAD), the hardened facility inside Cheyenne Mountain housed a National Warning Center to alert the public in the event of nuclear attack or other disaster.1 The means for disseminating such an alert was the Emergency Action Notification System (EANS), a voluntary arrangement of radio and television stations.2 Established by President Kennedy in 1963, EANS was more inclusive than the CONELRAD (Control of Electronic Radiation) system of 1951, which restricted AM stations to broadcast in emergencies on only two wavelengths, thereby supposedly depriving inbound bombers of location data based on the frequencies of local stations.

EANS included three formatted messages: the familiar test message broadcast twice each weekend; EAN Message 1 (White Card), which announced an emergency situation of some kind not involving nuclear attack; and EAN Message 2 (Blue Card), which included a specific attack warning from the Office of Civil Defense.3 The EANS plan included a separate, color-coded card to be read for each circumstance; the cards hung prominently next to microphones in radio station studios. Each message originated in Cheyenne Mountain as a different punched tape, which would generate messages on the Associated Press and United Press International teletypes.

At 9:33 A.M. on Saturday, February 20, 1971, an employee of the warning center unintentionally played the wrong tape, sending out EAN Message 1 rather than the test message. Teletype terminals in broadcast studios across the country rang three bells and stammered out the message, beginning:

AUTHENTICATOR: HATEFULNESS/HATEFULNESS

THIS IS AN EMERGENCY ACTION NOTIFICATION. ALL BROADCAST STATIONS SHALL BROADCAST EMERGENCY ACTION NOTIFICATION MESSAGE NUMBER ONE, WHITE CARD . . . 4

Responses to this unexpected warning varied widely. Some stations, anticipating a scheduled test, ignored the teletype, later giving rise to skepticism about the entire system. Other major stations, which were linked to the White House Communications Agency in case of a presidential message, were able to verify that there was no such alert. Yet in some locations, such as the Mohawk Valley of central New York, the designated principal station in the area broadcast the message as directed, including a series of signals (turning the transmitter off and on, sending a 1,000-hertz tone) that triggered the monitoring devices in secondary stations. These stations in turn broadcast the White Card message and then signed off the air. It took forty minutes for the warning center to send out a cancellation message, carrying the correct, if ironic, authenticator “impish.”5

In comparison to the instances where one or both sides alerted their nuclear forces, the false EANS message was only a momentary irritation. (A few years earlier, for example, a backhoe had inadvertently cut the buried cable connecting SAC headquarters in Omaha with Griffiss Air Force Base in Rome, New York; the loss of communications with Omaha reportedly prompted the emergency launch of an entire B-52 wing.) Yet, the EANS error reflects an oft-overlooked aspect of the Cold War—the “home fronts” where military and civilian officials prepared for nuclear holocaust while facing the challenges of domestic disorders.

Nuclear Defense: An Oxymoron?

At first glance, the idea of surviving, let alone winning, a general exchange of hydrogen weapons seems ludicrous. Cynics have suggested that the superpower governments invested in shelters for their populations either to justify their own privileged bunkers or to convince themselves and their adversaries that they would, indeed, launch their weapons in a crisis.6 The latter point about credibility was a genuine concern, especially in the 1980s. More generally, however, the major participants in the Cold War felt obligated to take steps, however inadequate, to preserve both their governments and their societies in the event of nuclear war.

These plans involved terms with vague or multiple meanings. For example, the term “shelter” could mean protection from blast, heat, and/or radiation. For residents of urban or industrial regions, the probable targets of strategic nuclear weapons, protection from the blast and heat of those weapons required massive, prohibitively expensive structures. Outside the immediate target areas, by contrast, even a few feet of any dense medium, including soil, would severely attenuate the initial effects of radiation. On average, the rapid decay rates for residual radioactivity meant that, within twenty-seven hours after detonation, dose rates for exposed personnel would fall to about 2 percent of the original value.7 Unfortunately for the survivors, however, the long-term threat of radioactive fallout from the atmosphere could be much greater than these initial dose rates. This threat became public knowledge after the BRAVO hydrogen bomb test of March 1, 1954, caused radiation sickness among Pacific Islanders and Japanese fishermen.8

In theory, evacuating the urban population would greatly simplify the task of providing shelter. However, effective relocation required adequate warning time, effective mass transportation, and government control over the population, all of which were difficult to guarantee in a crisis.

Moreover, protecting the populace from the blast, heat, and radiation effects of atomic weapons might ensure survival of the individuals but not necessarily of their society. Feeding and housing the population while restoring a functioning economy were daunting tasks. Long-term medical problems such as leukemia and gene mutations might cripple the society. These challenges appeared even greater when, in 1982, two scientists hypothesized a “nuclear winter,” the idea that the fires and airborne debris attendant upon nuclear war would create so much smoke that they might restrict sunlight and interfere with agriculture in the Northern Hemisphere.9

Quite apart from the practical problems of nuclear survival, the civil defense programs of major states varied widely, due to such considerations as previous national experience, domestic political attitudes, and expectations as to the degree to which the government should care for its populace. In per capita terms, nonnuclear countries such as Switzerland and Sweden spent far more than did Britain, France, or the United States, which suggests that many civil defense programs were sincere. Measuring expenditures and preparedness, the Soviet Union fell somewhere between these two extremes.10

Soviet Civil Defense

Given that Russian territory had been invaded five times since 1812, the Moscow government placed a high priority on defense in general and civil defense in particular. All Soviet leaders from Stalin onward had experienced the horrors of bombardment during World War II. Nikita Khrushchev’s experience went even farther back; he had supervised construction for the Moscow subway lines that were designed to double as bomb shelters. The 1.2-meter-thick blast doors installed on those subways during the Cold War may well have been inspired by his earlier involvement.

Despite, or perhaps because of, their wartime experience, the Soviet leadership was slow to adjust to the problems of atomic defense. For political reasons, Stalin had publicly denied the significance of the new weapon. As an extension of this denial, Soviet civil defense did not incorporate any information about nuclear weapons until 1954, and then made little progress on shelter construction for the remainder of the decade. A new civil defense law in 1961 signaled an expanded priority for construction and training.11 However, the organization retained its World War II designation of Mestnaia Protivovozdushnaia Oborona (MPVO, Local Anti-Air Defense).12

Appropriately, the legendary defender of Stalingrad, Marshal Vasily Chuikov, served as head of civil defense from 1961 until his retirement in 1972. His successor, Gen. Aleksandr Altunin, was less well known, but in 1972 the civil defense forces were given organizational status equivalent to that of the other armed services. Thereafter, the civil defense forces markedly increased their readiness despite the advent of “détente” with the West. Although Altunin sought to expand the inventory of blast shelters, under his tenure, as under Chuikov’s, Moscow placed considerable emphasis on relocation of urban populations.13 In practice, however, the Soviet Union’s limited road and rail network as well as the harsh climate made such plans impractical.

Reviewing the Soviet program in 1978, the CIA estimated that the USSR had 100,000 personnel, mostly military officers, employed in civil defense preparations and administration, in addition to the large pool of teenagers and older adults who studied radiological defense as auxiliaries. While less than 20 percent of the urban population had effective shelters, the government provided protection for 110,000 party and administrative leaders, as well as some workers in essential industry.14 To cite one example, during the mid-1960s the defense ministry completely rebuilt its hardened Zhiguli command post, located near Kuybyshev on the Volga River.15

Although Soviet civil defense expenditures averaged only 1 percent of the defense budget, these modest programs were, in per capita terms, as much as eighteen times their U.S. equivalents during much of the Cold War. Rather than accepting the theory of Mutual Assured Destruction, Soviet military analysts believed that they needed superiority in all aspects of nuclear warfare to deter the West. By the 1970s, civil defense became a critical component not only of national defense but also of preventing “nuclear blackmail” if the United States were to threaten the Soviet population.16

Chernobyl

For all its claims, Soviet preparedness for radiological emergency failed when confronted with the Chernobyl power plant disaster of 1986. Widespread construction of nuclear plants in both the USSR and the Soviet bloc had produced numerous safety issues. Because the Soviet system emphasized meeting or exceeding production quotas, quality control suffered in mundane matters such as welding of coolant pipes. As early as 1979, Yuri Andropov, then head of the KGB, reported that “design deviations and violations are occurring at various places at Chernobyl, and these could lead to mishaps and accidents.”17 Soon thereafter, a pressure gauge failure produced a limited incident at the Three Mile Island nuclear plant in Pennsylvania, but apparently the Soviets took no corrective action about their own problems. Indeed, the RMBK design of the four reactors at Chernobyl was even more vulnerable than that of Three Mile Island. The Soviet design relied on graphite blocks as well as control rods to moderate the amount of fission in the system. This meant that energy retained in the graphite blocks might be released suddenly at low power settings or when the coolant levels fell.18

The operators of Chernobyl Unit 4 deliberately created such a situation on the night of April 25–26, 1986. The unit was about to shut down for a maintenance period, and the reactor crew had instructions to test how long the turbines would continue to turn if the main electricity supply failed. Originally scheduled to begin in early afternoon, the test did not start until just before midnight because of a last-minute order to provide more electricity. This meant that the less experienced night crew was responsible for disconnecting various circuits, including the automatic shutdown system. As coolant water levels fell, the power output increased because of the potential energy held in the graphite. Two massive explosions occurred within three seconds at 1:23 A.M.19

The initial emergency response was excellent, with firefighters coming from as far as Kiev, a hundred kilometers away. All but one fire was extinguished by dawn, but at least six firefighters received lethal radiation doses in the process. However, the subsequent management of the crisis was sluggish at best. The government tried to suppress information to avoid panic, thereby only increasing public concern. In a society where few people had private automobiles, the Ukrainian administration was slow to assemble bus transportation from Kiev. Evacuation of 45,000 people in the immediate surroundings did not begin until thirty-six hours after the explosions. Nine days later, civil defense troops organized a wider evacuation, removing an additional 90,000 people living up to thirty kilometers from the explosion. Leukemia and radiation exposure cases overwhelmed Soviet medical facilities. Chernobyl was undoubtedly a major disaster, and that failure strongly suggests that Soviet civil defense could not have met the far greater challenges of nuclear war.20

American Civil Defense

In contrast to the USSR, the United States treated civil defense as an afterthought, a voluntary civilian program that received only nominal funding for much of its existence. Unlike Russia, America had not suffered significant invasion since 1815, although the frequency of major natural disasters provided a nonmilitary justification for some emergency preparedness. In contrast to the citizens of Britain or the USSR, many Americans found it difficult to internalize the possibility of aerial bombardment. This lack of interest by leaders and populace alike goes far to explain the marginal role of civil defense in American politics. Prior to the formation of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) in 1978–79, the civil defense function had been passed around between twelve other agencies over three decades.21

As in other aspects of defense, the combined impact of the first Soviet atomic test and the Korean War prompted a revival of homeland security measures, in the form of a 1950 law that created the Federal Civil Defense Administration (FDCA).22 Congress quickly reduced the initial appropriation for this administration, however, and cut an average of 80 percent from appropriations requests over the next decade.23

The 1950 act initially placed the burden of civil defense on state and local governments. More than 150 mayors protested this decision, pressuring the Eisenhower administration into a 1957 amendment that acknowledged the shared responsibility of the federal government. With limited federal funding and voluntary participation, the results were wide variations in the degree of local preparedness.24 Much of the public was either indifferent or skeptical about the possibility of civil defense.

To counteract this public apathy, civil defense authorities at all levels cooperated to conduct a highly publicized national drill, Operation Alert, on an annual basis beginning in 1955. A small but articulate minority, led by pacifists such as Dorothy Day, engaged in civil disobedience against such drills.25 Given both public and governmental indifference to civil defense, it is difficult to assess the effect of such demonstrations.

One of the few politicians who actively lobbied for greater preparedness was New York Governor Nelson Rockefeller. His efforts, in combination with the growing bluster of Nikita Khrushchev, encouraged President Kennedy to place a higher priority on population protection. In a May 1961 message to Congress, Kennedy announced his intention to transfer the Office of Civil Defense Mobilization (OCDM, formed from FDCA in 1958) to the Department of Defense and to request more funding, especially for fallout shelters. Under the tension of the Berlin Wall crisis, Congress approved additional funds for shelter survey and marking as well as stocks of emergency supplies, bringing the Fiscal 1962 budget to a modest $256.8 million. Kennedy and McNamara contemplated appropriations of about $700 million for each of the next five years, primarily as incentives for hospitals, schools, and other public buildings to provide community fallout shelters. However, the public clamor for shelter dissipated early in 1962, much to the relief of the president, who feared overexciting people about the matter. By the time of Kennedy’s assassination in 1963, 70 million shelter spaces had been identified and approved, but only 14 million had received any stocks of emergency supplies.26

Although McNamara endorsed limited shelter funding for the next several years, Congress remained skeptical of the need and cost.27 Moreover, as the defense secretary developed the concept of Mutual Assured Destruction, he apparently came to view civil defense, like the anti-ballistic missile system, as an expensive and unreliable program that called MAD into question. If one adversary believed that he could “ride out” a nuclear attack, he might be tempted to take the risk by initiating a surprise strike. Organizationally, in 1964 McNamara relegated civil defense to a minor function under the secretary of the army. Congressional failure to fund shelters had already prompted the director of that civil defense office to resign. After the brief peak in fiscal year 1962, the annual civil defense budget did not again reach $100 million until 1980.28

Federal requirements that all funds allocated be spent for nuclear defense also hampered development; it was politically easier for state and local governments to justify preparedness that could be used for natural disasters as well as atomic attack. In 1972, the Nixon administration finally directed that civil defense efforts include such “dual use,” but Congress continued to limit funding.29

Continuity of Government

Although the public shelter program never matured, the various civil defense agencies did make modest progress in the creation of emergency operations centers (EOCs) for local, state, and national agencies. By 1971, there were 3,820 EOCs either established or under construction, of which 1,129 were financed at least partially by the federal government.30

Beginning with the Eisenhower administration, the federal government prepared hardened facilities to ensure continuity of essential programs in the event of nuclear war. The various sites formed a “Federal Arc” in a semicircle outside Washington. According to journalists, the Eisenhower administration constructed an EOC for some cabinet activities at Mount Weather near Bluemont, Virginia, and for Department of Defense activities at Raven Rock in Pennsylvania. Congress had a massive alternate location and fallout shelter constructed beneath the Greenbrier Hotel in White Sulphur Springs, West Virginia. The Federal Reserve Board reportedly had a relocation center in Culpeper, Virginia, complete with pallets full of currency to jump-start the economy after a nuclear attack.31 Helicopters and other vehicles stood ready to move the president and other key officials from Washington to the alternative sites.

In 1975–76, several distinguished national security experts raised questions about the viability of American preparations for nuclear war. Former State Department leaders such as Dean Rusk, Eugene Rostow, and Paul Nitze headed a bipartisan Committee on the Present Danger. Such critics pressured the Ford administration to study the issues further. As Director of Central Intelligence, George H. W. Bush then appointed a panel, chaired by historian Richard Pipes, dubbed “Team B.” After reviewing available CIA information, this team concluded that the agency was underestimating Soviet strategic capabilities, including those in civil defense. The Carter and Reagan administrations inherited this renewed concern about nuclear warfare.32

In addition to the general problem of surviving nuclear war, critics raised the possibility of decapitation—that is, a preemptive attack that would disrupt national command and control such that the United States could not respond effectively. Carter’s Presidential Directive 59, dated July 25, 1980, shifted nuclear targeting priorities from Soviet economic targets to command, control, and communication facilities as well as key military targets. The directive also required improved American command and control to permit conduct of a nuclear war that might last for months rather than hours. The Reagan administration built on this initiative, further emphasizing both offensive and defensive preemption. National Security Decision Directive 55, dated September 14, 1982, reportedly created a formal continuity-of-government program. By this time, the existing facilities appeared vulnerable to more-accurate nuclear weapons of the era. The Defense Mobilization Planning System Activity searched for more-dispersed command facilities.33

The perceived vulnerability of the federal government’s existing hardened facilities also prompted a renewed examination of mobile command posts. Since 1961, Strategic Air Command had maintained an alternate airborne command post in an EC-135, similar to the Boeing 707 commercial airliner. Designed for postattack command and control, this aircraft and its battle staff were known as “Looking Glass” because they were supposed to mirror the information in SAC headquarters.34 Beginning in 1973, the government sought to create an equivalent aircraft, with specialized communications and staff, to provide the president with a mobile command post. The result, housed in a modified Boeing 747 known as an E-4B, was usually referred to as “Kneecap,” the phonetic form of NEACP (National Emergency Alternate Command Post). The Department of Defense also planned to build mobile ground communications equipment in trucks.35

To further improve communications in the harsh electronic environment of nuclear war, in 1984–88 the USAF constructed a Ground Wave Emergency Network (GWEN), consisting of hundreds of radio relay towers throughout the country. Unfortunately for the Reagan administration, anti-nuclear activists seized on these towers as a symbol of efforts to win the unwinnable nuclear conflict. The desire for secrecy meant that such towers were constructed without advance warning, further irritating localities. A series of demonstrations and other protests ensued until Congress reduced funding, eventually limiting GWEN to 127 towers.36

In addition to sincere peace activists, radical right-wing groups also regarded contingency plans for postnuclear survival as a government conspiracy to suspend civil liberties. Long after the end of the Cold War, a persistent conspiracy theory alleged that FEMA was preparing to impose martial law and establish huge detention camps to round people up. Such ludicrous allegations further complicated the difficult task of surviving nuclear conflict.37

United Kingdom

In many respects, civil defense in the United Kingdom followed the same trajectory as that in the United States. The presence of both American and British nuclear weapons made the British Isles a natural target. The World War II experience of the “Blitz” caused many Britons to believe that voluntary self-help and makeshift shelters would suffice in future instances. Moreover, the botched attempts to evacuate children from the London region in 1939–40 made the public skeptical of such plans.38 Successive British governments regarded deep, effective shelters as prohibitively expensive.

In contrast to the United States, where anti-nuclear activists were a distinct minority, in Britain, the Labour Party officially endorsed nuclear disarmament, which greatly complicated civil defense policy. In 1963–65, the Conservative government planned to evacuate London over seven days, but their Labour successors refused to maintain the plan.39 In 1968, the Labour government disbanded the Civil Defence Corps and placed the entire program in a minimal, caretaker status.

The government of Margaret Thatcher (1979–90) attempted to revive civil defense with both a major policy review and an exercise (Square Leg) in 1980. However, local governments controlled by Labour refused to cooperate with the Conservative Home Office on such matters, objecting to the rationale that civil defense would contribute to nuclear deterrence.40

In parallel with Washington, Whitehall attempted to construct hardened command posts for key government functions, although any publicity of such facilities drew criticism for its apparent elitism. The most ambitious such effort was a deep bunker built during the 1950s in a quarry near Corsham in Wiltshire, southwest England. Designed to accommodate 4,000 key personnel of the government, the facility was abandoned in the 1990s, but the government did not even acknowledge its existence publicly until 2004.41

No Job for a Soldier: Controlling Civil Disorder

Throughout the Cold War, but especially during the 1960s and early 1970s, the armed forces of the two superpowers sometimes found themselves supporting civilian government authorities, especially in dealing with civil disorders. In a nine-month period in 1967, for example, more than 150 American cities experienced significant mass violence and destruction, culminating in major race riots in Newark, New Jersey, and Detroit, Michigan. State governors mobilized some 70,000 National Guardsmen in this brief period, and on occasion federal troops were also involved.42 The Vietnam conflict not only fueled African American frustration but also led to significant and occasionally violent anti-war demonstrations. While government agencies and academic scholars developed elaborate explanations for the actions of the rioters or demonstrators, few studies analyzed these events from the viewpoint of the military forces assigned to quell them.43 Even less is known about the Soviet use of military force against domestic disorders prior to perestroika in the 1980s.

For much of modern history, armies have been the ultimate recourse of governments seeking to control mass violence. In the United States, the National Guard or its predecessors, the state militias, often performed this role; the unpopular actions of the Union Army in enforcing Reconstruction had produced severe restrictions (e.g., the Posse Comitatus Act of 1878) on the use of federal troops in this role. Rather than following a uniform doctrine, therefore, different state and local officials tried to use the National Guard in ways that were immoral or illegal, such as Chicago Mayor Richard Daley ordering that looters be shot on sight in 1968. Similarly, some states in the South misused police forces in a vain attempt to repress civil rights demonstrations, thereby encouraging all subsequent demonstrations, regardless of motivations, to defy government efforts at crowd control.

The Use of Force

Regardless of which level of government attempted to restore public order, leaders faced at least three problems.44 First, disorders might assume a multitude of forms, ranging from peaceful crowds or demonstrations to urban insurrections. Each type of disorder required different tactics or methods to deal with it. If the government and its military erred in their perceptions of the threat, they might employ tactics and degrees of force that were poorly adapted to the problem at hand, making a bad situation worse.

The second problem in dealing with civil disorders was the reliability and discipline of the forces of order. On the one hand, if the police or military force perceived the opposition movement to be ideologically persuasive or socially respectable, troops might hesitate to take action, thus allowing the movement to get out of control. More commonly, the problem was the reverse, especially when dealing with an ethnic minority or a cause, such as opposition to the Vietnam War, that officials regarded as illegitimate. Such instances often led to excessive government force.

The third issue was the degree of force actually employed, especially when the public regarded that level as excessive. American police still face the almost impossible task of protecting the public and preventing violence while using only the minimum amount of force; U.S. history is replete with incidents where excessive use of police force led to the unnecessary injury and death of citizens. Police undergo extensive training in using minimum levels of force, yet they still sometimes fail because they misperceive the situation. By contrast, armed forces are trained and equipped to deliver maximum, not minimum, firepower, which makes them even more likely to overreact in a domestic confrontation. While Soviet authorities may have been unconcerned about civil rights, even they had to recognize that excessive repression could provoke greater violence than the disorder they sought to control.

The Federal Role in Civil Rights

Regular troops or federalized National Guardsmen appeared only in rare circumstances where state-controlled forces were either overwhelmed or, more frequently, were acting in open defiance of federal laws. Following the 1954 Supreme Court decision in Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka, a variety of confrontations occurred during the effort to integrate southern schools.

President Dwight Eisenhower refused to interpose the federal government in such matters until 1957, when he acted to enforce federal court orders in Little Rock, Arkansas.45 In anticipation of this decision, army counterintelligence agents had monitored developments in the city. On September 23, the president issued a proclamation warning against interference with justice. He then federalized some 1,700 members of the Arkansas National Guard, in part to prevent them from following Governor Orval Faubus’s orders. Executing a previous plan, the USAF airlifted most of the 1st Battle Group, 327th Infantry, from the 101st Airborne Division at Fort Campbell, Kentucky. At the last minute, Eisenhower decided to have the paratroopers rather than guardsmen escort the African American students. Commanders quietly reassigned black paratroopers to positions away from public view. After two minor injuries and various arrests, public resistance subsided. Unfortunately for public order, each time that commanders attempted to reduce troop presence, the threat of public resistance returned. For much of the academic year, two National Guard soldiers had to escort each black student to prevent bullying. The guardsmen and federal headquarters did not depart until the end of May 1958.

Five years later, a corps headquarters and the equivalent of a division deployed to Oxford, Mississippi, to back federal marshals who in turn were protecting James Meredith, a black air force veteran seeking to attend the segregated university.46 In anticipation of difficulties, the 70th Engineer Battalion (Combat) had moved from Fort Campbell to Memphis Naval Air Station ostensibly to establish a tent city for federal marshals operating in Oxford, but also to place troops eighty-six miles from the university. Brig. Gen. Charles Billingslea, commander of 2nd Infantry Division at Fort Benning, Georgia, became the designated commander of military forces. Even before President Kennedy issued a proclamation and executive order on September 30, infantry from the 2nd Division and military police (MP) battalions from various posts began moving to Memphis. The federal government called 11,000 Mississippi army and air force guardsmen into federal service, but initially gave them no instructions.

Unfortunately for all involved, government intelligence about the situation was faulty. Deputy Attorney General Nicholas Katzenbach apparently expected the kind of limited public opposition that had characterized Little Rock and other integration efforts. As a result, federal marshals deployed with only limited supplies of tear gas and other riot equipment. In fact, many local residents bitterly resented “Yankee” interference in what they considered to be a local matter. Moreover, Governor Ross Barnett sent mixed signals. While privately cooperating with the federal government, in public he claimed to oppose integration, unintentionally encouraging officers of the state Highway Patrol to heckle and impede federal actions rather than helping control the public.

Communication between the Departments of Justice and Defense was also poor. On Sunday, October 1, 1962, marshals moved Meredith into a dormitory at Oxford without informing the designated army commander. An increasingly violent crowd assembled. Katzenbach, understandably reluctant to use the military, did not ask for troops until 9:30 that evening, far too late for them to respond. When troops were slow to arrive from Memphis, the president and attorney general wrongly blamed the military, an attitude that contributed to civil-military friction during the Cuban missile crisis two weeks later. Robert Kennedy, who felt he had failed his brother, vented, “We didn’t have an exercise with the Army in which they didn’t screw it up.”47

By this time, a full-scale riot had developed, with protesters throwing bricks and other construction materials as well as Molotov cocktails and taking random shots. One marshal was critically wounded, and a reporter and a bystander both died due to gunfire. Fortunately, the state patrol commander suggested to Katzenbach that he call in the mobilized guardsmen at the local armory, the understrength Troop E, 108th Armored Cavalry Regiment. The troop commander responded promptly, although his squadron commander instructed him not to carry live ammunition. Troop E’s trucks pushed through the crowd, which wounded the commander and numerous other guardsmen with bricks, and helped the marshals hold off the crowd for a critical two hours. General Billingslea ordered other elements of the 108th to assemble, but it took several hours before they could arrive in Oxford.

Marine helicopters airlifted a company of the 503rd MP Battalion from Memphis to the outskirts of the town, while the rest of the battalion moved by ground convoy, demanding that the state patrol clear the way for them. With admirable composure, the troops refrained from returning fire when struck by Molotov cocktails and bricks. Not until dawn did a combination of MPs and cavalrymen clear the university area. In addition to the fatalities, at least 166 Department of Justice personnel were injured, as were forty-eight soldiers and guardsmen.

In all, three MP battalions, four infantry battle groups (two active and two National Guard), the armored cavalry regiment, and numerous other formations were involved, totaling 30,656 troops, of which 20,600 were in Oxford itself. Lt. Gen. Hamilton Howze and his XVIII Airborne Corps staff briefly commanded this mass of forces, although Howze quickly dispersed part of the forces and returned to Fort Bragg, where he was preparing secretly for the projected invasion of Cuba. In contrast to Little Rock, at Oxford the federal government refused to withdraw African American soldiers from the formations involved. A residual force of MPs and National Guardsmen remained on duty until Meredith graduated in 1963. During this time, there were numerous incidents ranging from heckling to firecrackers to bomb threats; one military policeman was injured by a cherry bomb, and another fired his rifle when a bottle filled with blasting powder exploded near him. Despite various alarms, no major disturbances occurred after the October 1 riot. Army commanders recognized, however, that they needed to streamline procedures and communications in anticipation of future crises.

For constitutional as well as political reasons, Presidents Kennedy and Johnson were reluctant to repeat such actions. Still, the growing violence that met civil rights demonstrations prompted the Defense Department, using the secretary of the army as executive agent, to begin contingency planning. In July 1963, Strike Command implemented a Joint Chiefs of Staff directive to prepare Operations Plan Steep Hill, which called for up to 21,000 troops in seven brigades to maintain order if necessary. Troops assigned to Steep Hill intervened in Selma, Alabama, in March 1965 to enforce another federal court order.48 Thereafter, however, political issues as well as the growing drain of Vietnam inhibited the use of federal troops for the next two years.

Watts, 1965

The United States had witnessed many race-based disturbances in its history, but the phenomenon reached a crescendo in the later 1960s. The motivation for such disorders lies outside the scope of this study, and indeed each city had its own unique factors. In general, however, at least two sets of factors were at work. On the one hand, President Johnson’s National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders (1968) identified the grievances that Johnson had already attempted to address in his Great Society programs, including poor housing, restricted incomes, and lack of educational and employment opportunity. The commission also hypothesized that people who had grown up in other locations and moved to city ghettos lacked community support structures and were therefore more likely to act out their frustrations, although other studies have rejected this hypothesis. An alternative or overlapping set of motivations can be attributed to what David Sears and John McConahay termed “the new urban Blacks”: younger people with at least a high school education who were socialized and developed their identity in northern and western cities. These people were disaffected by the existing, Caucasian-dominated power structure of their cities, and some regarded the riots as a legitimate form of political protest.49

This phenomenon was exemplified by the Watts riot in Los Angeles on August 11–17, 1965. The situation was exacerbated by the dispersed geography of Los Angeles, where a relatively small number of officers—often less than 2 percent of the population—attempted to police a vast area, operating exclusively in squad cars that isolated them from the population. Moreover, the police and fire departments discriminated against minority group members, both as employees and as citizens. As in other cases, the riot began with a routine police incident that aroused an angry crowd.

A policeman stopped an African American driver who did not have his driver’s license and appeared to be intoxicated. When the officer detained the man and had his car towed for safekeeping, both the man’s family and a hostile crowd concluded that the police were overreacting. The aggressive efforts of the police to discourage the crowd from interfering fueled the confrontation, and the situation escalated out of control within a few hours.50 The low density of policemen prevented them from controlling widespread burning and looting.

The next day, a local human rights commission attempted to calm public opinion in the area but made little headway. The city police chief warned the state adjutant general that National Guard aid might be necessary, but as late as the morning of August 13, after thirty-six hours of growing disorders, the chief believed he could control the situation without help. Already during the previous evening, two groups of police began firing at each other by mistake.51 The police department quickly ran short of ammunition and had to order 10,000 shotgun shells from Pittsburgh.

Unlike the 1970s, when all National Guardsmen received minimal riot-control orientation as part of their basic training, the Guard of the 1960s had little preparation for domestic disturbances. Only one unit of the 40th Armored Division had quietly practiced for such an eventuality.52 Although the division was equipped with M14 rifles, some units received instructions to draw older M1s for this deployment, requiring hasty instructions on the weapon as well as on riot control. Initially, only squad leaders carried live ammunition. When ordered to Los Angeles, several National Guard convoys became lost on the freeway, which delayed their arrival. Tactical FM radios did not function well in built-up areas until retransmission antennae were mounted on top of tall buildings. Even when the troops arrived, the Los Angeles police lacked a coherent plan for how to use the additional manpower. By the time the troops were fully deployed, early on the morning of August 14, one policeman, one firefighter, and fourteen civilians were dead. Eighteen more died in the ensuing four days.53

Belatedly, California’s acting governor—the governor being out of the state—had declared a curfew for a 46.4-square-mile area around Watts. Eventually, 13,900 National Guardsmen, 934 police, 719 deputies, one hundred fire trucks, and twenty-six ladder companies were involved in restoring order and extinguishing numerous fires.54

That first night, troops from the 40th Division’s 3rd Brigade, accompanied by sheriff’s deputies, fixed their bayonets and advanced in skirmish lines, in an attempt to clear the streets and establish the curfew. However, a military-imposed curfew was so unusual in America that numerous citizens did not understand the situation when they encountered the guardsmen. About 1:00 A.M. on the 14th, a drunk driver unknowingly crashed through one of the patrols, knocking a sergeant forty feet from the point of impact. The car came to a halt in a hail of gunfire, but the driver suffered only a broken ankle; both he and the sergeant recovered. Many guardsmen, including the state’s adjutant general, Lt. Gen. Roderic Hill, wrongly concluded that this was a deliberate attack, which made police and soldiers even more likely to use deadly force. Less than two hours later, another driver suspected that a poorly marked, improvised roadblock was a ruse by rioters to cause him to stop. He attempted to ram through it, and died with four bullets in his body, while the passenger seated beside him was critically wounded.55 Only gradually did the curfew take hold, leaving racial antagonisms greater than before.

Detroit and Washington

Watts was one of the first of a series of massive disturbances, which reached a crescendo in 1967–68. Perhaps the most destructive occurred in Detroit, Michigan, where the recurring issues of northern ghettos and civil rights were exacerbated by unemployment among African Americans. The local mayor tried to address racial antagonisms, but police-community relations were poor.56

Shortly after midnight on Sunday, July 23, 1967, Detroit police raided an after-hours drinking club frequented by African Americans. The raid attracted a crowd that rapidly gained momentum and violence; in the next twenty-four hours, some 483 fires were reported. Curfew declarations and an influx of state police accomplished little. That evening, Michigan Governor George Romney called out the 46th Infantry Division, Michigan National Guard, and by the next morning some 7,000 members of the understrength division were on duty. The division commander, Maj. Gen. Cecil L. Simmons, instructed his soldiers to return fire when fired upon and to shoot looters if necessary. Firing became indiscriminate, with police and guardsmen convinced that a large number of snipers were at work. In one instance, a guardsman fired a caliber .50 machine gun at a window he suspected of harboring a sniper; the burst of fire killed a four-year-old child and wounded an innocent adult.57

Governor Romney and the U.S. attorney general, Ramsey Clark, engaged in confused debates about the terms under which the state would request federal troops; some reporters later suspected that President Johnson was trying to discredit a potential Republican presidential candidate. At 11:42 A.M. Eastern time on July 24, Johnson acted on the request, federalizing the 46th Division and sending more than 5,000 active-duty troops to Selfridge Air National Guard Base, outside Detroit. This included two airborne brigades with a logistics support group from Fort Carson and other elements. The USAF needed 169 C-130 transports for the move. As in previous instances, army counterintelligence agents collected information and maintained liaison with police and the FBI.

The overall head of Task Force Detroit was the XVIII Airborne Corps commander, Lt. Gen. John L. Throckmorton, who had experienced the Oxford incident five years previously. Throckmorton conferred with former Secretary of the Army Cyrus Vance, the president’s personal representative in Detroit, and then set out to lower tensions. He ordered the guardsmen to unload their weapons and put the ammunition in their pockets, although not all obeyed. Throckmorton insisted that they fire only on the instructions of officers.58 On the 25th, paratroopers occupied the eastern half of the city and began trying to restore calm, including removing garbage and helping citizens locate missing persons. Unlike the National Guard, the active-duty airborne units were approximately 24 percent African American. Violent incidents dropped by 50 percent in the next twenty-four hours. Between July 30 and August 2, the Michigan National Guard was released from federal status but remained under state control until the 6th.

Although some dispute the precise numbers involved, the police and guardsmen used deadly force far more often than Throckmorton’s soldiers. During the most intense violence, the guardsmen were acting under state orders to shoot to kill, whereas the regular army units, which included combat veteran NCOs, operated under strict rules of engagement. Even allowing for the delayed arrival of the active army, the official figures seem extraordinary: As of 4:00 P.M. on July 30, the 46th Division had fired 156,391 rounds of ammunition, compared to 206 for the regulars. Overall, police officers were responsible for twenty-one dead, the National Guardsmen for nine, active-duty troops for one, and rioters or private citizens for six more.59 One guardsman was fatally shot.

The Detroit disturbances were the first use of federal troops as a riot-control force since a 1943 disturbance in the same city. These events were the catalyst for both the President’s Commission on Civil Disorders and a Defense Department review of tactics and procedures. The federal government directed that all National Guard troops undergo annual training in controlling civil disorders, while the Military Police School, then located at Fort Gordon, Georgia, began civil disturbance seminars for active, National Guard, and state police leaders. Defense Secretary McNamara designated the Department of the Army as executive agent in such matters and approved procedures to streamline requests for assistance and improve communications links. An army task group developed the Garden Plot series of operations plans to move federal troops to major cities on short notice.60

These changes were by no means perfect, nor did they all take effect instantaneously. Nonetheless, the federal response to the next major racial outburst was noticeably improved.

On April 4, 1968, James Earl Ray assassinated Martin Luther King Jr. in Memphis, Tennessee. That evening and the next day, large crowds gathered throughout the country to express their indignation and sorrow. Violence and arson occurred in seventy-two cities across twenty-nine states. In Washington, D.C., 8 people died, 350 were injured, and more than 1,200 were arrested in the first twenty-four hours after the news broke.61

President Johnson signed a proclamation for federal action in the capital at 4:03 P.M. on April 5. Even before that, the army began implementing its plans, establishing Task Force Washington under the vice chief of staff. First to respond was “Task Force Inside,” the troops already located in the capital region: the 6th Armored Cavalry Regiment (Fort Meade, Maryland), 1st Battalion, 3rd Infantry (Fort Myer, Virginia), 91st Engineer Battalion (Combat) (Fort Belvoir, Virginia), and the USMC Student Battalion (Quantico, Virginia). Following the new doctrine, such units did not load their weapons and either did not fix bayonets or left the sheaths on those bayonets.

They were joined by the 503rd MP Battalion and brigades of the 82nd Airborne Division from Fort Bragg. The requirements of crew rest forced the USAF to suspend airlift that evening, but the next day, the remaining elements of the 82nd Airborne reached Andrews Air Force Base, while the 197th Infantry Brigade from Fort Benning went to Baltimore. By the evening of April 6, 13,600 federal troops were on the streets of Washington.

Although racial tensions remained, these prompt deployments and restrained, measured actions halted violence at an early stage. In contrast to Detroit, federal troops fired a total of only fourteen rounds of ammunition in Washington and two more in Baltimore.62

Anti-war Demonstrations

The army had already practiced similar procedures on October 21, 1967, when 35,000 anti-war protesters gathered outside the Pentagon. A brigade of the 82nd Airborne Division waited at Andrews Air Force Base, but the only military presence visible to the crowd were 575 MPs with sheathes on their bayonets, behind which 236 U.S. marshals waited to arrest trespassers if necessary. One female protester was butt-stroked when she grabbed a soldier by his groin. At one point, a group of demonstrators rushed the seventh corridor entrance to the building, but they were promptly expelled by the 91st Engineers, who had been held inside out of sight. Many visitors went home at dusk, and at midnight the 3rd Infantry, followed by marshals, pushed the remaining demonstrators back. When the parade permit expired the next day, marshals arrested those still on the property. Although the demonstrators might disagree, the military had dealt with the situation in a manner that minimized violence and balanced security with civil liberties.63

Just as in the case of racial disturbances, however, state authorities were often less objective and more violent than the federal government when confronted by anti-war demonstrators. American universities underwent major changes as a result of the baby boom, the Civil Rights movement, and opposition to the Vietnam conflict. During the later 1960s, a significant portion of the student population developed a strong antipathy not only toward segregation and the American military but also toward their university administrations. The Reserve Officers’ Training Corps (ROTC) was a frequent bone of contention. Anti-war students regarded ROTC as an unacceptable symbol of militarism and sought to expel it from their campuses. In practice, however, such expulsion did not hamper the war effort but only reduced the proportion of liberally educated leaders in the officer corps. Moreover, ROTC buildings in that era often contained arms rooms with automatic weapons and live ammunition; such facilities had a potential for increased violence.

The vast majority of campus protests were orderly, but on occasion both students and government authorities lost sight of the distinction between peaceful protests and violent confrontations. This became particularly evident during the May 1970 campus protests against the U.S. incursion into Cambodia. In one month, state authorities deployed National Guardsmen on twenty-one different campuses in sixteen states.64

Kent State University in central Ohio became the most infamous flashpoint. Initial protests on Friday, May 1, were peaceful, but that night a warm evening combined with student alcohol consumption and resentment led to a crowd, bonfire, and forty-seven broken windows in the city of Kent. When local police and sheriff’s deputies were unable to clear the street, the mayor complained to Ohio Governor James Rhodes that the left-wing Students for a Democratic Society had taken over the town. The next day, students became convinced that the police were harassing them.

The state adjutant general, Maj. Gen. Sylvester Del Corso, got Rhodes to authorize the use of National Guard units that were already mobilized because of a nearby labor strike. On the evening of May 2, before the troops arrived, a crowd threw first rocks and then railroad flares at the wooden barracks that housed the university ROTC detachment. The fire set off ammunition in the building, and students threw rocks and cut hoses to impede firefighting efforts. Campus police used tear gas to push the students away, but other small fires broke out. As state forces reached the town, a guardsman of Troop G, 2nd Squadron, 107th Armored Cavalry Regiment, suffered a cut lip when a rock broke the windshield on his jeep. Troops and campus police finally protected firefighters so they could extinguish the ROTC fire. The National Guard eventually restored order using tear gas and pointing M1 rifles at the crowds.

Governor Rhodes, who was a candidate for the U.S. Senate in a primary to be held on May 5, came to campus on the 3rd. In a press conference, he exaggerated the violence on campus, while the head of the state Highway Patrol warned that he would take “all necessary action” and would not tolerate bricks thrown at police.65 The state government distributed leaflets announcing a curfew and forbade any public meetings, even though Rhodes failed to take legal action to establish such restrictions. That evening, a peaceful crowd of students became so large that authorities ordered it to disperse and advanced the curfew time. Students felt deceived, believing that the university president had promised to meet with them about removing the National Guard from campus. Even students who did not oppose the war resented the high-handed government actions. By this time, the guardsmen were equally frustrated, getting little sleep or food while being frequently bombarded by rocks.

The critical moment arrived at noon on Monday, May 4, when students gathered on campus despite police and National Guard warnings that such an assembly was illegal. Rocks struck a campus policeman who was attempting to instruct the students to disperse. Lt. Col. Charles R. Fassinger, commander of 2nd Squadron, 107th Armored Cavalry, assembled 105 soldiers from his squadron and two companies of the 145th Infantry Regiment. Fassinger followed existing procedures, instructing the soldiers to “lock and load”—that is, insert a clip into each rifle and chamber a round. As in similar disturbances, the National Guard was armed largely with M1 rifles rather than M14s, apparently because the M1 with bayonet was longer and had a slower rate of fire. The rules of engagement permitted them to fire only to save their lives or return opposition fire.

Ohio National Guard Brig. Gen. Robert Canterbury, dressed in civilian clothes because of a previous meeting, supervised and accompanied Fassinger’s force. A mixture of activist students and innocent onlookers parted when the troops advanced on line, but some threw rocks thereafter; Fassinger himself was struck six times. Some students tossed leaking tear gas canisters back at the guardsmen. As the troops retraced their route, some students apparently believed that they had run out of tear gas and were vulnerable. What happened next is unclear. Although Canterbury, Fassinger, and the troops claimed that students rushed at them with apparent intent to attack, no photographs show demonstrators within twenty yards of the troops. For whatever reason, twenty-eight men fired at least fifty-eight rounds of rifle and pistol ammunition, killing four and wounding nine. The shooters represented about one-quarter of the troops present.

Although Canterbury claimed that his troops had responded to a sniper, there is no evidence of such an attack and no justification for the resulting deaths. It is also apparent that Governor Rhodes and other officials were violating students’ civil liberties by forbidding peaceful assemblies. Yet, most accounts of this horrific event describe it only from the viewpoint of the students, especially those not involved in violence. From the viewpoint of the National Guardsmen, repeated summons to disperse and repeated volleys of tear gas—their only nonlethal weapon—had only antagonized the students, who continued to hurl rocks as well as insults and had no apparent understanding of the lethal confrontation they were risking. Undoubtedly the guardsmen should have been more restrained and professional, but the previous record of such troops in domestic disorders makes their resort to excessive force understandable if unjustifiable.

Ten days later, another lethal confrontation occurred at the historically black college in Jackson, Mississippi. Although the National Guard had assembled to control student disorders, this time the Mississippi Highway Patrol and city police were guilty of excessive force. Again, rock throwing and fires may have provided some provocation, but racial animus was undoubtedly at work. In the space of twenty-eight seconds, police fired more than 150 rounds, killing two and wounding twelve. In this instance, a grand jury believed claims of a sniper attack and did not indict the policemen.66 Once again, excessive force resulted in a situation far worse than what it sought to control.

Soviet Internal Disorders

In comparison to the painful history of domestic disorders in the United States, little information is available concerning equivalent issues in the Soviet Union. Kremlin officials worked diligently both to control their population and to restrict news of any uprisings.

Still, there were undoubtedly instances of unrest throughout the history of the first Marxist state. One of the best-known clashes occurred in June 1962, in the small city of Novocherkassk, some thirty kilometers north of Rostov-on-Don. The Soviet government had announced increases of up to 30 percent in the prices of meat and butter, a common occurrence in a state where collectivized agriculture frequently failed to feed the people. However, this price hike coincided with a change in production targets, with consequential loss of wages, at the Novocherkassk Electric Locomotive Works. On the evening of June 2, a group of workers marched out of their barracks-like dormitories, chanting opposition to these changes. Several thousand people congregated at Communist Party headquarters in the center of the city, where nervous party officials met them. What happened thereafter is unclear; at the time, Western reporters believed that the police, attempting to fire over the heads of the crowd, inadvertently hit onlookers perched on telephone poles and in trees, resulting in a full-blown riot that led to looting of the party building. What is clear is that internal security troops arrived and used automatic weapons to put down the disturbance. At least 24 protesters died and 87 suffered wounds. Subsequently, the government convicted 114 protesters of various crimes and executed 7.67 It also imposed a two-year curfew on young people. Given the intellectual blinders of the Soviet elite, this uprising was attributed to a failure of Marxist education rather than to fundamental discontent among the populace.

Novocherkassk was apparently a rare event of open revolt in the internal history of the Soviet Union. There were occasional strikes, such as that in 1982, which involved workers at the huge Lada automobile plant in Tolyatti, eight hundred kilometers south-southeast of Moscow. Until the final years of the Soviet regime, however, the ethnically Russian core of the state rarely engaged in open defiance.68

Ethnic Resistance

Ethnic resistance to Soviet control was far more common and significant. The German invasion of 1941 had initially aroused great hopes among the non-Russian ethnicities in the western Soviet Union. As the war progressed, however, these nationalists concluded that Germany was equally unlikely to grant them independence, leading to resistance movements that opposed both sides. On February 29, 1944, the Ukrainian Insurgent Army (Ukrayins’ka Povstans’ka Armiya, UPA) ambushed and fatally wounded Col. Gen. N. F. Vatutin as Vatutin’s troops expelled the Germans from the Ukraine. The UPA continued an active insurgency against the Soviet Union until at least 1949, with small groups holding out well into the 1950s.

Similarly, the Baltic republics of Latvia, Lithuania, and Estonia, forcibly annexed by Stalin in 1940, sought to regain their independence at the end of the war. Perhaps 60,000 guerrillas were active in these three states, with widespread public support. The Red Army and subsequently the Ministry of State Security (Ministerstvo gosudarstvennoy bezopasnosti SSSR, MGB; later merged into the KGB) struggled to suppress these insurrections from 1945 until at least 1952, with an estimated 20,000 Soviets and a like number of insurgents dying. Unable to track their opponents in the woods, the MGB resorted to mass deportation of the Baltic populations to other parts of the USSR, replacing them with ethnic Russians in a manner that would later create problems after the Soviet Union collapsed. In 1952, the Lithuanian Freedom Army issued an order to end the failing struggle. Individual resistance fighters eluded the KGB until 1956.69

After active resistance ceased, Moscow was only partially successful in suppressing the Baltic nationalities and languages. On May 14, 1972, a twenty-year-old Catholic set fire to himself in Kaunas, cultural capital of Lithuania, protesting the lack of religious freedom. At his funeral four days later, youths fought security troops, resulting in the death of one policeman and the arrest of several hundred Lithuanian activists.70

Mass deportation was a frequent tactic used during the 1940s against troublesome minorities such as the Crimean Tatars and the Chechen and Ingush Muslims of the northern Caucasus. These independence-minded groups had resisted Russian and Soviet control for decades, and Stalin suspected them of aiding the German invaders. Moscow was particularly sensitive about Chechnya, a center of petroleum production. In 1944, secret police chief Lavrenti Beria had Soviet troops round these peoples up. Some were massacred, while others were shipped, amidst scenes of misery, to special camps in Kazakhstan and Siberia. As part of his anti-Stalin reforms, in 1956 Nikita Khrushchev permitted all but the Tatars to return home. The returning exiles remained targets of official bigotry, with the Soviet government redrawing administrative boundaries to include ethnic Russians in the Chechen region. Moscow also permitted or encouraged pogrom-like riots by Russians. In 1965 alone, there were sixteen clashes between Russians and Chechens or Ingush, resulting in nineteen fatalities and 166 other severe injuries.71 By playing nationalities off against each other, the Soviet regime was able to suppress but not eradicate ethnic-religious opposition to its rule.

Solidarity

Poland had resisted Russian/Soviet control for centuries, so it is not surprising that this country posed the greatest popular, extragovernmental threat to Soviet hegemony.72 Despite major efforts, no Polish Communist government had been able to collectivize agriculture or control the Catholic Church, which left Poles in a constant attitude of resistance to authority. However, the spread of socialist ideology in Polish education encouraged the public to resent the special status of the ruling elites.

Periodically, the ruling Polish United Workers’ Party raised prices to adjust its failing economy. Each time, workers resorted to strikes that led to violence. Perhaps the worst case came in December 1970, when the paramilitary People’s Militia and the Polish Army fired on striking workers in Gdansk (Danzig), killing at least forty and wounding more. This was such a shock that, a month later, new party leader Edward Gierek came to Gdansk and convinced the workers that he would address their grievances. In practice, however, the government never resolved the food supply or other issues.

By June 1976, the Polish deficit was so serious that Gierek unwisely raised prices by some 60 percent, thereby provoking strikes and demonstrations in a number of cities. The most serious of these was in Radom, southwest of Warsaw, where a crowd trashed and burned the party headquarters. The paramilitary police used tear gas, water cannon, and finally live ammunition to suppress the crowd. Although the death toll was lower than in 1970, the government meted out harsh judicial punishments.

A group of Polish intellectuals helped the workers defend themselves in court, giving rise to opposition efforts and underground newspapers. The era of détente between East and West, together with a revival of Polish Catholicism, lent legitimacy to the burgeoning intellectual life of Poland. These tendencies gained prominence in 1978 when Karol Cardinal Wojtyla became Pope John Paul II, the first non-Italian pontiff in more than four centuries. A few activists sought to create labor unions that were also independent of government control.

On August 9, 1980, a popular crane operator at the Gdansk shipyard, Anna Walentynowicz, was dismissed for labor activity.73 Five days later, labor activists including another dismissed worker, electrician Lech Walesa, began a strike demanding her reinstatement and a raise to cover increased food prices. The strike almost collapsed when older workers settled for a modest pay raise, but Walesa persevered, and the management, fearing renewed violence, failed to call in the security forces.

The strike spread to other businesses and cities, and by the end of August the Warsaw government agreed to a variety of changes including a shortened workweek and freedom of association. This capitulation led to the fall of Gierek as party leader. Moscow and other Marxist governments resisted appeasing the strikers. Meanwhile, the protest spread from unions to students, journalists, and other groups who sought government transparency and freedom of expression.

The core of the effort remained Solidarity, an independent coalition of labor unions. For fifteen months, the union grew in influence and credibility. Unfortunately for its long-term success, however, its only tool was the strike, something that both disrupted the economy and alarmed the Soviet leadership. In September 1981, Moscow imposed a kind of economic blockade, announcing reductions in Poland’s allocation of crude oil, cotton, and other raw materials.74 Solidarity lost popularity as people suffered economically.

The central figure in the ensuing repression was Gen. Wojciech Jaruzelski, a man alternately reviled and praised for his actions. Born into the Polish gentry, in 1940 Jaruzelski and his parents were deported to the Soviet Union as part of Stalin’s efforts to decapitate Polish society. His father died in captivity, and he himself suffered snow blindness while laboring in Kazakhstan, a condition that resulted in his wearing tinted classes for the rest of his life. Despite this, the younger Jaruzelski joined the Soviet-controlled Polish Army and eventually the Marxist United Workers’ Party, fighting against both Germans and pro-Western Poles. He rose to the rank of general as the senior political officer of the Polish Army, and in 1968 he became defense minister. During the 1976 disorders, he announced that his troops would not fire on fellow Poles.75

As the United Workers’ Party divided into factions in 1980–81, it turned to the military as a symbol of discipline. Jaruzelski became prime minister in February 1981 and head of the party in October. He appointed officers to key positions; for example, he named the head of military intelligence as internal affairs minister. He also extended the conscription tours of soldiers inducted in 1979, apparently believing that they had been isolated from the influence of Solidarity, and sent them to villages to resolve local administrative issues. Jaruzelski also negotiated with Walesa and Archbishop Josef Glemp, but neither was willing to join the party in a coalition to resolve the politicoeconomic crisis.76

Under considerable pressure from his Soviet counterparts, Jaruzelski apparently concluded that only repression would allow him to restart the economy. Despite gestures from the Warsaw Pact staff, there is no evidence that Moscow actually intended to invade Poland. After meticulous preparations, on the night of December 13–14, 1981, Jaruzelski imposed martial law and arrested virtually all opposition leaders except Walesa. He closed Solidarity offices as well as schools and newspapers and took over broadcast facilities. Three days later, security forces killed at least seven striking miners, which the general later regretted as “seven too many.”77 By the end of 1983, the government had released most of those arrested and relaxed its controls. When the secret police murdered an opposition leader in 1984, Jaruzelski had those responsible publicly tried and imprisoned.

When a resurrected Solidarity began to agitate for reform in 1988–89, Jaruzelski negotiated with his former foes and facilitated the first free elections in the country. Although he won election as president in 1989, he resigned a year later, clearing the way for Walesa to succeed him.78 Upon his death in 2014, the government gave General Jaruzelski a state funeral.

Tiananmen Square

Just as Poland finally achieved democracy, China faced its most serious threat to national authority in decades. As in Poland, the protests began about rising prices and uncertain employment, as Deng Xiaoping introduced market reforms to China’s economy. Student demonstrations in 1987 prompted Deng to force General Secretary Hu Yaobang out of office in 1987, thus making Hu a symbol for reformers. When Hu then died of a heart attack in April 1989, thousands of students streamed into Tiananmen Square, beginning a six-week series of demonstrations that included demands for press freedom and an end to corruption. The vast scope of this movement caused many soldiers to question government leadership. The Party leadership was divided and deadlocked for weeks, before deciding to clear the square by force on June 3–4.79

Although the troops began by firing over the heads of the crowds, the confrontation ended with an outright massacre. The People’s Liberation Army left behind an image of faceless repression, but later accounts indicated that many in that army were opposed to violence against their fellow citizens. Maj. Gen. Xu Quinxiang, commander of the corps-sized Thirty-Eighth Group Army, was relieved when he refused orders, telling his superiors that only negotiations could resolve the issue. Officers reportedly circulated a petition against martial law, and one division commander, sitting in the suburbs of Beijing, reportedly pretended that his radio did not receive orders to move to the square.80 Ultimately, the habits of obedience held and the Chinese government dispersed the demonstrators, but the issues of government legitimacy and excessive force were again on display.

Most accounts portray the Cold War as a rivalry between Eastern and Western states, and it certainly was that. Still, quite apart from the numerous insurgencies that characterized this period, the Cold War also gave rise to massive civil defense measures, while the ideological struggle often influenced domestic disorders that required military or paramilitary responses. These two developments directly touched the lives of millions who were otherwise bystanders in the great power confrontation.




CHAPTER 9

DÉTENTE AND NEGLECT 1969–1979

Fort Knox, Kentucky, July 1974

Small symptoms reflected the poor condition of the U.S. Army after Vietnam. Although nominally a combat unit, the 4th Battalion, 37th Armor, dedicated all its efforts to supporting training in the Armor School at Fort Knox. Struggling to provide the required number of vehicles for each class in an era of limited funding, the battalion’s mechanics sometimes had to send out equipment that should have been “deadlined” as unsafe. One M-60A1 tank operated for days with a hole in the dashboard where an oil pressure gauge belonged.

One morning, the conscientious commander of this ragged battalion decided to mentor an ROTC cadet who was temporarily attached to his unit. The intent of the attachment program was to familiarize cadets with the environment they would enter as second lieutenants the following year, but in the mid-1970s such familiarization included unexpected experiences. As the colonel and cadet walked about the battalion area talking, they discovered a bushy cannabis plant growing at the end of one of the World War II–era barracks. Both men could identify such a plant at a glance. It was also obvious what had happened—some soldier had thrown marijuana out a window to avoid being caught with it, and the “weed” had taken root where it landed.

Without saying a word, the commander reached down, pulled up the plant, roots and all, and tossed it into the nearest dumpster. He answered the unspoken question on the cadet’s face with a weary explanation: “It’s a common area, so we can’t prove who owns the stuff. This way, at least, they can’t smoke it.”

The two continued on their way, discussing a much more important issue: Gen. William DePuy, commander of Training and Doctrine Command, was due on post the next day. The battalion was supposed to demonstrate tank-infantry cooperation in the attack for DePuy, who would not accept anything less than perfection as he strove to revise army doctrine and training. The battalion operations officer was already arranging for a water truck to damp down the dust on the range road leading to the demonstration site.1

An Army in Disarray

The U.S. armed forces took more than a decade to recover from the stresses of Vietnam. Anti-war elements both in and out of uniform had encouraged soldier indiscipline, which in turn fostered racial tensions and substance abuse. In some instances, black soldiers attacked their Caucasian leaders. Elsewhere, commanders bought tranquility at the expense of debilitating grievance procedures, including a specialist four ombudsman who had his office on the same hallway as the commander of the 4th Infantry Division. Desertions peaked in 1970, with more than 65,000 deserters in the army and a proportionate number in the marine corps. That same year, the armed services reported more than 25,000 investigations for drug crimes, and the marine corps experienced 1,060 violent racial incidents.2 Many units had insufficient funds to maintain their equipment and train effectively, which left the troops bored and frustrated.

Gradually, leaders regained control. In 1973, the army began random urinalysis to identify drug use and expeditious discharges to eliminate disaffected or criminal soldiers. In one four-month period that year, U.S. Army Europe discharged 1,300 drug offenders and gang members.3 For more than a decade, urinalysis, drug detection dogs, and expedited discharges continued as the armed forces sought to eliminate drug use in the ranks despite its prevalence in American society. In the mid-1980s, the services introduced similar restrictions on alcohol abuse. During the same two decades, equal opportunity training and complaint procedures reduced the institutional racial bias in the armed forces, although the military, like the society from which it was drawn, fell well short of eliminating racial divisions.

Leadership

Even before addressing its disaffected rank and file, the U.S. Army faced a problem within the officer corps. The cover-up after My Lai was only the most infamous instance of unethical or careerist behavior that threatened professionalism and dedication.

After returning from Vietnam in 1968, William Westmoreland spent the next four years as army chief of staff. He had limited success in improving readiness and equipment but did drive a series of leadership studies to address the issues.4

First, despite pressure from President Nixon’s staff to whitewash My Lai, Westmoreland insisted on a full investigation of that and other war crimes. The investigating officer, Gen. William Peers, concluded that the basic failure was one of leadership. This prompted the chief of staff to direct the Army War College to survey career officers about the issue. The resulting Study on Military Professionalism, published in June 1970, concluded:

There is widespread feeling that the Army has generated an environment that rewards relatively insignificant, short-term indicators of success and disregards or discourages the growth of the long-term qualities of moral and ethical strength on which the future of the Army depends. Communications between junior and senior officers are tenuous on this as well as other matters. . . . Senior officers are often perceived as being isolated, perhaps willingly, from reality.5

To some extent, this reflected the frustrations created by the Vietnam policy of shortened periods of command, which sometimes thrust marginal leaders into positions that they had no time to master. Excessive emphasis on statistical tools contributed to this confusion, which the War College report blamed on the senior leadership of the service. To remedy these problems, the report included thirty-one specific recommendations, beginning with widespread dissemination of the document itself. It also recommended centralized boards to select battalion and brigade commanders, longer tours in command, holding commanders responsible for their actions, and education to improve communication between leaders.6

Shocked by the report, Westmoreland concluded that it could not be released publicly. He did, however, distribute it among the army’s general officers, soliciting comments and asking for their future plans to address these issues. He also directed the War College to conduct a wider survey, whose results appeared in the 1971 report Leadership for the 1970s. This report, which included extensive input from NCOs, identified both leadership factors and obstacles to improving communication. Westmoreland released this report to the entire army and followed up on its implementation. He also had the Continental Army Command conduct a complete review and revision of leadership instruction, using the data collected in the second survey. In 1971, a revised plan for officer personnel management began the process that led to centralized selection of battalion and brigade commanders. Change was slow, but Westmoreland at least started to resurrect professionalism after the disastrous 1960s.7

The All-Volunteer Force

General Westmoreland also presided over the preparations to return to an all-volunteer force (AVF) for the first time since 1947. The transition was rapid and painful.

Given the huge cohort of baby boomers, the military had conscripted relatively few troops until the expansion for the Vietnam conflict. By the late 1960s, however, the active army was heavily dependent on draftees, while draft avoidance motivated the vast majority of “volunteers” for the reserve components and other armed services. In 1970, the army estimated that fewer than half of those who enlisted were true volunteers, and that only 4 percent of that group chose the combat arms of infantry, armor, and artillery.8 As described in chapter 5, opposition to the Vietnam War plus the perceived inequities of Selective Service hastened the demise of that system.

Beginning in 1968, the armed service departments and the Defense Department conducted studies of the possibilities and costs of an AVF. The most prominent was the President’s Commission on an All-Volunteer Armed Force, chaired in 1969–70 by former defense secretary Thomas E. Gates. The commission deliberately isolated itself from the Defense Department and the services, and its conclusions were controversial. The Gates report believed that a peacetime AVF was possible with only modest pay raises and without improving housing, family programs, or educational assistance. Instead, the commission believed that some positions could be civilianized while higher retention rates would reduce training costs and therefore limit actual budgetary increases. Congress responded by voting more than the administration requested in pay raises for fiscal year (FY) 1972, plus $276 million for nonpay improvements to attract volunteers.9

The army had already launched the first of several experiments at Fort Carson, Colorado, in February 1970. Media reports focused on frivolous changes such as serving beer in the mess halls, but the true changes were more subtle. Maj. Gen. Bernard Rogers, the division commander, sought to reduce irritants and treat enlisted soldiers with more respect. This included ending Saturday inspections and reveille and retreat formations while allowing the soldiers to decorate barracks rooms and encouraging officers to talk with their subordinates off duty. In ten months, reenlistments at Fort Carson increased 45 percent. The next year, in Project VOLAR (Volunteer Army), the service experimented with revamped training at Forts Ord and Benning, funneling the resulting trained volunteers to Fort Carson for assignment. In addition, $60 million were reprogrammed to convert barracks into semiprivate rooms with new furnishings.10

Westmoreland appointed Lt. Gen. George Forsythe to oversee such efforts. However, when Forsythe proposed changes such as permitting longer haircuts and serving beer in mess halls, Westmoreland and his staff officers demurred, weakening or delaying many of the proposals. Military leaders and congressmen, misled by press reports, feared a loss of discipline and toughness. The chairman of the House Armed Services Committee refused to approve additional pay for the combat arms, financing for recruiting advertisements, or hiring of civilians to release soldiers from the despised “Kitchen Police” duties in garrison. The civilian kitchen hires were saved by amending the appropriations bill on the floor of the House, but change came slowly. Not until May 1973 did Congress authorize bonuses for enlistment in the combat arms.

Authority to induct draftees expired on June 30, 1973, and Defense Secretary Laird had effectively ended conscription five months earlier, to coincide with his departure from office. At the same time it was seeking new recruits, the army also had to reduce its inflated cadres from Vietnam levels, which included forcing out 5,000 reserve officers on extended active duty and 4,500 retirement-eligible NCOs. By June 30, the service was almost 14,000 men short of its new, lowered strength of 784,000. Career NCOs found themselves reassigned from troop units to recruiting duty but could only achieve 87.1 percent of their recruiting goals. Moreover, far too many new soldiers were non–high school graduates who fell in the lowest mental category, IV.11

Secretary of the Army Howard Callaway helped energize the transition, seeking input and cooperation from his generals on providing better job satisfaction and improved living conditions. While not abandoning its goals for more-educated and mentally effective recruits, the service increased recruitment of mental categories III and IV. Parallel with its expeditious discharge program for criminal elements, the army began to discharge recruits who were unable to meet training standards; this improved quality in the long run but forced recruiters to find more enlistees to maintain the same manning levels.

Beginning with FY 1974 (July 1, 1973–June 30, 1974), the U.S. Army achieved its quantitative goals and began, slowly, to improve training quality. By the end of that fiscal year, it was actually 1,400 troops overstrength. To accomplish this, however, the composition of the force changed significantly.

For all its inequities, military service had long been a source of opportunity for members of ethnic minorities, at least in comparison to most civilian occupations. African Americans and members of other minorities therefore reenlisted at higher rates than Caucasians. With the advent of the AVF, the proportion of blacks in the army increased rapidly from the societal average of 13 percent to an overall 21 percent, including 27 percent of new enlistees in FY 1974.12 However, inequalities in educational opportunity meant that minority group officers remained relatively rare. In one battalion in 1978, for example, all the commissioned officers were Caucasian, while of the six company first sergeants—the senior enlisted leaders—four were black and one was Hispanic.13 This sort of disparity took decades to correct.

The need for quality enlisted personnel also prompted the expansion of the Women’s Army Corps; the army finally dissolved that corps and integrated women into some previously male-only units in the later 1970s. A 1977 Defense Department study concluded that, even allowing for the discharge of pregnant women, men were per capita more likely to be lost due to desertion, alcoholism, and drug abuse.14 Although the combat arms remained closed to women, in practice some females in close combat support roles, such as tactical intelligence and chemical decontamination, would have been exposed to ground combat in the event of war.

Despite increasing the numbers of minorities and women, the army continued to struggle with recruiting. In 1979, enlistment of high school graduate males declined by 12 percent, and less than half of first-term soldiers reenlisted. Maj. Gen. Maxwell Thurman, who became head of Recruiting Command that year, helped reverse this trend by reorganization and a concerted advertising campaign. Moreover, a recession in 1980 pushed U.S. unemployment to 7.6 percent, making the military a more attractive opportunity.15

The end of Selective Service also affected the other armed services. In 1972, Marine Commandant Robert E. Cushman had confidently asserted that 92 percent of marine recruits were true volunteers, so that the end of the draft would have little effect. Yet, the J. Walter Thompson Agency, which conducted recruiting advertising for the USMC, concluded that only 50 percent of draft-age males would consider joining any armed service, and of this pool only 7 percent were favorable to the marine corps. Cushman soon discovered his error. In FY 1973, fewer than 50 percent of marine recruits were high school graduates, and 14 percent were mental category IV. Over the next two years, the USMC developed the worst rates of imprisonment, absence without leave, and court-martial in the armed forces and found itself dealing with both white supremacist and black gangs. Between 1975 and 1979 Cushman’s successor as commandant, Louis Wilson, recapitulated many of the army’s efforts to improve recruiting and job satisfaction, increase the proportion of females, and restore discipline.16

The Active Defense

In addition to developing leaders and followers, the U.S. Army renewed its doctrine. Veterans of Vietnam had unparalleled experience in light infantry and airmobile tactics but sought to reorient the force against the worst possible threat, confronting the mechanized Soviet Army in Europe. The horrendous casualties of the 1973 Yom Kippur War seemed a harbinger of what such a conflict would look like. Yet, the shrinking active and reserve forces of the United States seemed ill-prepared for massive losses in personnel and equipment. This situation came to be known as the challenge of “fighting outnumbered and winning.”

Critics have argued that the U.S. military, seeking to avoid prolonged conflicts such as Vietnam, seized on the short, decisive Israeli wars as a model for the potential NATO–Warsaw Pact struggle.17 While there is some truth to that, it is also true that European reluctance to employ tactical nuclear weapons meant that the United States and its NATO allies had to prepare for the possibility of a significant if brief conventional war.

During General Westmoreland’s tenure as chief of staff, the Department of the Army implemented Operation Steadfast, a major reorganization.18 One of the most significant aspects of this change was to split the oversized Continental Army Command, which had previously controlled almost all troops in the United States, into two separate headquarters and chains of command: Forces Command (FORSCOM) at Fort McPherson, Georgia, and Training and Doctrine Command (TRADOC) at Fort Monroe, Virginia.

TRADOC was responsible for the army’s training, education, and concepts of war. Its first commander was Gen. William DePuy. As the MACV operations officer and then commander of 1st Infantry Division in Vietnam, DePuy had gained a reputation for tactical innovation. For example, he developed the frontal parapeted fighting position (“DePuy foxhole”), designed to protect defending riflemen against enemy fire coming from the front while those riflemen fired diagonally from the corners of their position, creating interlocking fires with those in other positions. DePuy seemed the ideal person to lead the army’s reorientation to the Soviet threat after Vietnam.

The new TRADOC commander pushed development of a doctrine known as the Active Defense. He oversaw revisions of existing field manuals, with the capstone being the 1976 version of Field Manual 100-5: Operations.19 Bound in plastic, camouflage-patterned covers and filled with graphics, the new manuals focused on the effects of accurate firepower, as illustrated in the 1973 war. Organizationally, this doctrine envisioned cross-attaching tanks, mechanized infantry, and anti-tank guided missiles to form battalion task forces and company teams. Although these organizations would maneuver between engagements, most actual fighting would find the Americans on the tactical defensive, ambushing advancing Soviets from “hull down” vehicle positions that left only the turrets exposed to reduce the targets visible to the enemy. The emphasis was on firepower, tight control, and defensive maneuver, trading space for time. In practice, however, both the West German and South Korean governments were reluctant to give up territory in this manner or to accept the possibility of widespread destruction in their nations; DePuy was careful to coordinate his ideas with his West German counterparts.20

At the operational level, corps and divisions had to allocate scarce resources against anticipated Soviet attackers. In a procedure later termed “the calculus of battle,” staff officers templated Soviet attack formations on the terrain to be defended and allocated troops accordingly. In the covering force area, armored cavalry units, outnumbered by ratios of up to 6 to 1, would attempt to delay and weaken the attackers. Once the invaders reached the main battle area, mechanized task forces, allocated at a ratio of 3 to 1, were expected to absorb and halt the invasion.21

DePuy’s approach, while a logical solution to the problem of fighting the Soviets, had two significant flaws. First, DePuy sought to impose his ideas rather than reaching a consensus among army leaders. He largely bypassed the commanders of the Infantry School (Fort Benning, Georgia) and Combined Arms Center (Fort Leavenworth, Kansas) who wanted an approach that was less prescriptive and less focused on armor. Instead, the general relied heavily on a small group of doctrine writers at TRADOC headquarters and at the Armor Center in Fort Knox, Kentucky.22 He also emphasized countering the attackers through centralized control, in effect discouraging subordinate initiative.23 In his defense, the TRADOC commander believed he had to prepare rapidly for a conflict that might occur at any time. The result, however, reflected DePuy’s own experience with undertrained troops during World War II, which tended to limit junior initiative. This approach produced considerable resistance and resentment within the army.

The second issue with Active Defense doctrine was that it was too focused at the tactical level. In 1976, Gen. Donn Starry, who as commander of the Armor Center had ably assisted DePuy, received a promotion and reassignment as commander of V Corps in Germany. After intensive work with his subordinates, by 1977 Starry believed that he could defeat the first Soviet field army that attacked in his sector. At that point, however, V Corps would have exhausted most of its combat power, while further Soviet echelons were approaching the battle area. Starry therefore concluded that the doctrine had to be expanded to the operational level, so that a commander could both see and attack his opponent out to a range of several hundred kilometers.24 Fortunately for the army, in 1977 Starry succeeded DePuy as commander of TRADOC, where he supervised the further development of army doctrine and training to address the larger, operational-level implications of this conundrum (see chapter 11).

Training and Education

Depuy’s reform of doctrine was only the most visible change he implemented; he followed up with a new approach to training and education for the volunteer army, an approach that advanced the professionalism of officers and especially NCOs.

During the two world wars, the U.S. Army had developed a system of training intended to prepare individuals and units for deployment to combat at the end of a specific time period. Virtually all enlisted soldiers underwent a period of basic training, after which specialists received training in the army service schools. The majority of combat training, however, happened within a division or other organization as it prepared to deploy.25 Eventually, this led to the development of Mobilization Training Programs and Army Subject Schedules that specified the training hours to be expended on each subject.26 Until the end of the Vietnam War, training followed the same sequence over a yearlong cycle. The training schedule began with individual training and then progressed to squad, platoon, and higher-level training, culminating at the end of the training year with battalion-level exercises. At the same time, specialized units and headquarters conducted mock exercises to support and maneuver the combat forces. At the end of this year, the division would either deploy overseas (in wartime) or revert back to the start of individual training. This schedule had been marginally effective during World War II, but it had little value in a volunteer army, where soldiers might arrive or depart at any point during the year and where the unit as a whole might deploy at any time.

Depuy and his deputy chief of staff for training, Maj. Gen. Paul Gorman, replaced this mass mobilization system with one designed for a volunteer, professional force.27 They adopted an educational format known as the systems approach to training. This described each skill to be performed as a series of training objectives, each of which consisted of the task, the specific conditions under which it would occur, and the standards to which the task must be completed. For individual training, these training objectives were summarized in soldiers’ manuals of common skills and occupation-specific skills. These skills, in turn, were divided into those required of all soldiers (skill level 1) and those for various NCOs (skill levels 2, 3, and 4). Over time, TRADOC developed a common skills test and occupation-specific skills qualification tests (SQTs). The common skills and some of the more specialized skills were tested by actually performing the tasks rather than completing a written test. However, this effort to detail and standardize technical skills came at the expense of education to develop leader decision-making.28

TRADOC also revised NCO training and education. Beginning in 1949, the Seventh Army had operated an NCO academy in West Germany, but in the 1970s, TRADOC created a hierarchy of courses as enlisted soldiers progressed through the ranks. The process began with a primary leadership development course that became a prerequisite for promotion to sergeant (E5), with longer, military occupation–specific courses in higher ranks, culminating in a Sergeants Major Academy at Fort Bliss, Texas. In addition, some military occupations required technical courses. For example, carpenters, plumbers, electricians, and other construction specialists attended a course that taught them how to estimate and manage projects beyond their own specialties. In conjunction with the soldier’s manual and SQT system, such schools helped the army improve the professional quality of its NCO corps.

For collective training, a series of Army Training and Evaluation Programs (ARTEPs) specified the training objectives to be achieved by each type of unit. The most significant such document was ARTEP 71–2 for battalion task forces; Although this ARTEP specified standards for both armored and mechanized infantry battalions, it was written almost exclusively by the Armor Center, reflecting Depuy’s and Starry’s vision of the future. Officially, such documents were intended to identify training weaknesses, so that unit commanders could adjust future plans to address those weaknesses. As a practical matter, however, many battalions in the army of the 1970s, especially lower-priority units within the continental United States, had such restricted funding that they could only operate as a full unit in the field once per year. Regardless of DePuy’s intent, such a rare training opportunity became an “Evaluation ARTEP,” with outside evaluators and higher-level commanders watching every action.29 The results of such an evaluation largely determined the commander’s future career.

To conduct realistic combined arms training of this kind, DePuy and his successor Starry sought to create new maneuver sites, of which the most significant was the National Training Center (NTC) at Fort Irwin, California. The concept was to equip all vehicles and individuals with laser devices and sensors, so that a realistic, two-sided engagement between brigade-sized units could occur and then be analyzed electronically. The technology and expenses involved, as well as the environmental effects of such maneuver, delayed completion of the NTC until the early 1980s.30 Ultimately, however, Fort Irwin and other sites enabled the U.S. Army to train to a high standard.

Many observers have noted the professionalization of the U.S. Army between Vietnam and Desert Storm without explaining how it occurred. Professionalism is a state of mind as much as anything else. That said, the mundane structure described above—Soldier’s Manuals, ARTEPs, NCO courses, NTC, and constant assessment and training—was the scaffolding around which that army arose.

The Big Five

These developments occurred despite an austere budgetary environment. Presidents Johnson, Nixon, and especially Carter all sought to curb defense spending. Carter faced a significant economic recession and inflation at home, making adequate defense spending difficult and eroding the value of soldier pay. Congress imposed additional cuts on what each administration proposed for defense spending.31 Critics of the Carter budgets were perhaps unreasonable in their expectations, but the combination of recruiting and funding issues left the American armed forces undermanned and underfunded in the 1970s. In order to maintain combat forces in Germany and Korea, most troop units in the United States were understrength and undertrained; the army rated six of the ten divisions based at home as not ready for combat. Pay was so low that lieutenants contributed to food lockers for their married privates, and in 1979 commissaries accepted almost $10 million in food stamps.32 Goaded on the readiness issue by a conservative congressman, in 1980 the army chief of staff, Gen. Edward C. Meyer, unwisely remarked that “we have a hollow army.”33

Despite such woes, by 1980 the U.S. Army was on the verge of acquiring a new generation of weapons and equipment. Much of the credit for this achievement must go to General DePuy, whose vivid and persuasive image of future warfare helped justify the weapons development involved. As chief of staff from 1972 until his death two years later, Creighton Abrams—as well as his successors—used this justification to persuade Congress of the need to develop the weapons. The result was the “Big Five”: The M-1 Abrams tank, the M-2/M-3 Bradley infantry and cavalry fighting vehicles, the AH-64 Apache attack helicopter, the UH-60 Blackhawk transport helicopter, and the Patriot air defense missile. Most of these weapons were designed to overmatch equivalent Soviet systems. These and other developments, such as the TACFIRE automated artillery system, were fielded when funds became available in the 1980s.34

Z-Grams

With its World War II–era vessels reaching the end of their service life, the U.S. Navy of the 1970s had equally pressing needs for reinvestment. Congress did, in fact, appropriate funds for five key types of ship. This included the Los Angeles class attack submarines, the nuclear-powered carrier USS Nimitz, nuclear-powered guided missile frigates to escort the carriers, the Tarawa class Landing Helicopter Assault (LHA) ships to support the marines, and Spruance class gas turbine destroyers. The service also developed a new multirole aircraft that became the F-14 Tomcat to replace the F-4. Unfortunately for the navy, these ship and aircraft designs were so expensive that they left little to replace the rest of the fleet. As Chief of Naval Operations (CNO) from 1970 to 1974, Adm. Elmo Zumwalt sought balance in ship construction. Under Plan 60, a concept for the future navy, Zumwalt made trade-offs, recommending fewer of some classes of expensive ship while championing an economical patrol frigate to replace aging escort vessels. He also scrapped as obsolete all but 70 of the 267 escort ships maintained in long-term storage, freeing further funds for newer designs. In making such trade-offs, his primary focus was on sea control, trying to ensure that the navy could protect communications across the North Atlantic in the event of war with the USSR.35

Zumwalt faced equally daunting personnel challenges, especially regarding race relations. The navy was far behind the other services in this regard, due in part to a service culture that, for example, usually relegated Filipinos to be “mess boys.” During the draft era, when it had its pick of applicants, the navy had accepted few mental category III or IV seamen. Given the cultural bias of recruiting examinations, this meant that many minority groups were under-represented. In 1962, only 5.1 percent of the U.S. Navy was black; in FY 1971 and ’72, about 1 percent of newly commissioned ensigns were African American.36

Nine days after Zumwalt became CNO, a racial confrontation occurred at Naval Station Great Lakes. As part of his attempts to modernize the navy, he issued several directives, known as Z-grams, to the fleet. For example, he attempted to align navy dress and grooming standards closer to those of civilian society in the 1970s. Zumwalt focused on eliminating nitpicky but irksome requirements, although many naval officers believed that he tried to change too much too quickly. His most famous directive was Z-66, “Equal Opportunity in the Navy.” After citing various forms of discrimination, he ordered the assignment of a minority officer or senior petty officer in each base, station, and aircraft squadron to serve as a special assistant for minority affairs. He also wanted minority-oriented grooming materials, foods, and reading materials made available in navy stores and libraries.37

Changing a service culture takes time, so that despite Zumwalt’s efforts, a series of disturbances occurred aboard ship. The first major event happened aboard the carrier Kitty Hawk, which was under sustained stress as it supported Linebacker I in the summer and fall of 1972. Once again, naval traditions aggravated the issue. Job assignments aboard ship were distributed based on longevity on that ship, which meant that a group of newly arrived black sailors found themselves doing the least desirable tasks while Caucasians performed more glamorous duties. A form of gang culture flourished, while some Caucasian sailors expressed racial animus. This came to a peak on October 12, 1972, with a near riot after several instances of alleged bias. Fortunately for those involved, the Kitty Hawk’s executive officer, Cdr. Benjamin Cloud, was one of the few senior African Americans in the navy: he ably assisted his captain in talking with the frustrated sailors to defuse the situation. Similar problems followed on other ships, with a near mutiny aboard the refueling ship Hassayampa on October 16 and with black crew members returning from shore leave refusing to reboard the carrier Constellation on November 3.38

The navy was the last of the armed services to recover from the devastating effects of Vietnam, substance abuse, and social divisions. Even in 1980, the fleet was short 23,300 petty officers and 1,800 pilots. Undermanned and overworked crews placed responsibility on inexperienced junior personnel, with sometimes dire consequences. On November 22, 1975, the cruiser USS Belknap collided with the carrier John F. Kennedy, resulting in eight deaths and a devastating fire. An inexperienced officer of the deck was partially responsible for this tragedy.39

Flying Solo

Although the U.S. Air Force experienced stress in both racial tensions and recruiting, its principal focus was on training and doctrine. To oversimplify somewhat, prior to the Vietnam conflict bomber pilots dominated USAF thinking, with its emphasis on airpower doctrine. Once the Strategic Air Command became fully involved with deterrence, the focus of innovation and doctrine shifted to the fighter pilots of Tactical Air Command (TAC), who had amassed combat experience in Southeast Asia.40

To some extent, the shift in focus represented a change in technology. With the cancellation of the B-70 and B-1 programs in 1961 and 1977, respectively, SAC focused on maintaining its aging B-52 fleet while missile warhead designs continued to evolve. Although the B-1B finally entered service in 1986, the Defense Department purchased only one hundred copies of this aircraft. By contrast, the F-15 and F-16 tactical fighters, which arrived in the later 1970s, became the standard aircraft for the next four decades. The A-10 ground attack aircraft also debuted in 1977; although the air force was reluctant to have a single-role aircraft in its small peacetime inventory, the A-10 was immensely popular with the U.S. Army and Congress.

Like naval aviators, many TAC pilots felt that they had been poorly prepared for combat in Vietnam. Some claimed that the SAC focus of the USAF prior to that conflict discouraged serious training in dogfighting; having no practice in fighting aircraft of dissimilar designs, air force pilots had difficulty maneuvering against the agile MiG-17, although ultimately they achieved a 2 to 1 kill ratio in air-to-air engagements.41

The Soviet integrated air defense system posed an even greater threat, as illustrated in both North Vietnam and the 1973 Arab-Israeli conflict. Air force low-altitude profiles resulted in significant losses from ground-based anti-aircraft guns, which accounted for 1,443 of the 1,737 aircraft lost in Vietnam.42 Early forms of “Wild Weasel” air defense suppression aircraft, equipped with the navy-developed AGM-45 Shrike anti-radiation missile, has some success against PAVN SA-2s, but North Vietnamese operators learned to use their radars only intermittently, preventing the Shrike from achieving a “lock” on the radars. Moreover, by 1972 the Soviet Union provided Hanoi with updated SA-2s that could be guided to their targets optically.43

The USN and USAF responded to these problems in multiple ways. First, the available technology improved markedly. By 1983, the navy had developed the AGM-88 high-speed anti-radiation missile (HARM), which had a higher success rate against radars that stopped radiating. The USAF acquired the Block III version of the AGM-88B and married it to the F-4G to create an improved Wild Weasel V system. A new version of the F-111 aircraft developed under McNamara became the EF-111 Raven, which included both microprocessors to identify threat radars and broader spectrum jammers to counter those radars.44

The air force also developed more realistic training environments, of which the most famous element, established in 1975, was the Red Flag system at Nellis Air Force Base in Nevada; the navy had its own version at Naval Air Station Fallon in the same state. In 1978, the USMC established Marine Aviation Weapons and Tactics Squadron 1 in Yuma, Arizona. Although originally focused, like the navy’s “Top Gun” at Miramar Naval Air Station, on air-to-air combat, the marine corps soon expanded the training at Yuma to include attack aircraft.45

Such tactical training was invaluable, but air force leaders believed it did not provide an overall solution to the kind of limited air conflicts the services faced after Vietnam. The key to this solution was Gen. Wilbur L. Creech, a veteran of both Korea and Vietnam who commanded TAC from 1978 to 1984. Creech was convinced that protecting individual air packages was the wrong way to deal with integrated air defenses; the true solution was to make Suppression of Enemy Air Defenses (SEAD) a priority, progressively rolling back and attritting an opponent’s defenses. Rather than resetting the “Aggressor” air defenses at the start of each mission at Red Flag, Creech insisted that USAF practice missions should attrit those defenses progressively. He added two related concepts, Green Flag and Blue Flag, to the scenario. In Green Flag, air force electronic warfare units cooperated with the tactical fighters in Red Flag. Meanwhile, numbered air forces and other high headquarters conducted Blue Flag, a sustained, weeks-long exercise designed to manage SEAD until enemy defenses were virtually eliminated.46

By the early 1980s, TAC fighter squadrons, like their army counterparts, had become more effective in their missions. In the process, TAC produced a doctrine to prosecute the kind of theater air wars that it faced in the 1990s.47 Unfortunately for interservice cooperation, however, this expertise, when linked with the emerging series of precision-guided munitions, prompted some air force officers to believe that they should conduct an “Air Campaign,” a new form of Emilio Douhet’s airpower theory that attempted to win a war without any connection to the ground components.

Clipping Intelligence Wings

The 1970s witnessed convulsions not only in America’s military forces but also in its human intelligence capacity. Some of these events lie beyond the scope of a military history, but they had significant effects up to and including the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001.

The focus of the controversy was the CIA. Cuban exiles who had previously worked for that agency were arrested in the Watergate break-in of June 17, 1972. President Nixon then attempted to use the CIA to block investigation of that incident, although the DCI, Richard Helms, thwarted that effort. Moreover, the CIA’s covert operations, especially involvement in the 1973 overthrow of the Chilean government, became notorious among liberals. In 1975–76, a Senate committee chaired by Frank Church investigated a wide range of such issues. William Colby, the DCI at the time, disclosed many programs that his agency had previously concealed from congressional oversight.48 Large portions of Congress and of the public became concerned about intelligence agencies’ intrusions into the affairs of private citizens.

A related scandal fell closer to home for the armed services. Chapter 8 has already highlighted the role of army counterintelligence agents in collecting information concerning civil disorders. Particularly under Nixon, this role expanded, with army agents, who were often very youthful in appearance, supplementing the FBI to work undercover among anti-war activists and other groups the administration considered dangerous. In January 1970, a military intelligence officer, Capt. Christopher Pyle, revealed this role in the first of a series of articles appearing in the Washington Monthly.49

These scandals prompted Congress to impose not only reductions in the CIA budget but restrictions on what information could be gathered where and by which agency. No agency other than the FBI was to collect intelligence within the United States, and even the bureau dissolved its domestic intelligence division. The Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act of 1978 limited intelligence search and electronic wiretapping warrants within the United States to those circumstances where the primary purpose of the investigation was to obtain information concerning foreign intelligence organizations.50

These prohibitions were reflected in Army Regulation 380-13, Acquisition and Storage of Information Concerning Non-Affiliated [with the Army] Persons and Organizations. Published in 1974, this regulation obeyed the congressional prohibition anywhere on American soil by pedantically specifying that its restrictions applied to:

All Department of the Army civilian and military personnel, major Army commands, installations, activities, agencies, and organizations within the fifty states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, the Panama Canal Zone, Guam, American Samoa and the Guano Islands.51

Army intelligence officers might ask the FBI if there were any direct threats to military bases, but those officers could not record the FBI response in any manner.

This principled attempt to restrict domestic surveillance left the U.S. intelligence community with a bifurcated and uncoordinated system. The CIA and other agencies followed terrorists and other threats abroad, but only the FBI was permitted to track suspects once they entered the United States. Suspects appeared to one agency and disappeared to another as they crossed U.S. borders. Counterintelligence and counterterrorism were not the primary mission of the FBI, and work in these fields was not considered career enhancing.52 Because of the bureau’s decentralization, each case was administered by whichever of the fifty-six field offices began the investigation, and antiquated automation systems impeded information sharing between offices. The bureau’s institutional culture focused on making cases against crimes after they had occurred and restricted information sharing that might compromise the case in court. In short, all the factors that made the FBI effective at fighting crime hampered efforts to deal with foreign threats.53

Détente?

Thus, although many positive military developments occurred during the later 1960s and 1970s, in the short run the United States suffered severe curtailment of both its capacity and its will to act overseas. The Vietnamese conflict made many Americans unwilling to support the conduct of military operations, and the economic stagnation and inflation of the period limited the nation’s resources available for defense. Moreover, European and Asian allies that often had disagreed with American intervention in Vietnam yet lacked the resources to project their own forces when necessary. Instead, American presidents, especially Richard Nixon, turned to diplomacy, seeking to reduce tensions and moderate the arms race of the previous decades.

Soviet leaders, who were struggling with a sluggish economy and reduced ideological fervor, agreed with this effort, although they naturally sought to protect their own interests. A series of international agreements resulted, including the Nuclear Nonproliferation Treaty (1968), Anti-Ballistic Missile Treaty (1972), and the first of several Strategic Arms Limitation Treaties (SALT I, 1972; see chapter 13). The development of multiple independently targetable reentry vehicles limited the value of SALT I, which led to further negotiations. In 1977, Leonid Brezhnev disavowed strategic superiority as a Soviet goal and chose a pro-SALT chief of the general staff, Marshal Nikolai Vasilyevich Ogarkov.54

At about the same time, the aggressiveness of China’s foreign policy temporarily declined. The 1962 conflict with India tarnished Beijing’s claims to be a leader of the Third World. The Great Proletarian Cultural Revolution (1966–76) disrupted the Chinese foreign policy apparatus, while Chinese insistence on the primacy of Maoist theory made the Beijing line even less attractive to foreigners.55 Nixon’s establishment of limited ties with the beleaguered government seemed to offer yet another diplomatic lever for Washington to employ while dealing with Moscow.

Successive American administrations used the term “détente,” meaning a reduction of tensions, to describe the resulting period of relative calm. Unfortunately for the long-term success of such measures, the Soviet leadership had a different view of the agreements, which Moscow usually described as “peaceful coexistence.” To Leninist ideologues, maintaining “correct” state-to-state relations with capitalist countries was completely compatible with pursuing the international class struggle in the Third World. That rationale was always suspect, in the sense that Moscow generally followed its own perceived self-interest in supporting friendly regimes and national liberation movements.56

Soviet policy makers believed that the Southeast Asian conflict had permanently weakened the United States, leaving them free to expand their influence abroad. As described in the earlier chapters of this study, their tools for such expansion included not only foreign aid but also Gorshkov’s blue water navy, Cuban troops and East German security advisers, and in some instances, such as in Egypt and Ethiopia, significant Soviet ground and air elements. Covertly, the KGB provided plastic explosives to terrorists in Northern Ireland and trained operatives of the Palestine Liberation Organization and the Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine. Using the PFLP, it indirectly aided radicals in Western Europe such as the Red Brigades in Italy and Red Army Faction in West Germany (see chapter 14).57

Soviet Woes

Despite their triumphalist rhetoric and foreign adventurism, Soviet leaders still faced significant problems. Apart from the limitations of Soviet agriculture, a general malaise set in, with both satellites and domestic groups no longer willing to make unlimited sacrifices for the advance of socialism.

In 1966 meetings of the Warsaw Pact, Romania objected to the proposed Nuclear Nonproliferation Treaty and suggested changes that would have weakened Soviet control over the alliance. Although neither side pushed for a resolution of this disagreement, dissatisfaction continued.58 On the other end of party politics, Walter Ulbricht and Wladislaw Gomulka, the hard-line party leaders of East Germany and Poland, respectively, criticized the initial Soviet actions on détente. The West German government’s efforts to normalize relations with Eastern Europe, a policy later known as Ostpolitik, also reduced the perceived German threat that had provided the main justification for Soviet control in the region.59

From the Soviet viewpoint, President Johnson’s efforts at “bridge building” only encouraged division among the satellites. Although the American president professed to seek a reduction in tensions, his subordinates admitted that the policy was intended to loosen Moscow’s grip on Eastern Europe. Such comments, filtered through Moscow’s ideological lens, caused the Soviet leadership to regard any opposition as a Western-inspired conspiracy.60 By 1968, the Marxist economics of the Council for Mutual Economic Assistance (COMECON) frustrated many Eastern Europeans, who sought trade and other contacts with the West.

Prague, 1968

European frustrations and Soviet apprehensions came to a head in Czechoslovakia in 1968. Although various Marxist countries were receptive to American influence, only one was also undergoing a major political and social change.61 The so-called Prague Spring was not a coherent movement or an open revolt, but rather a pluralistic mixture of various groups united only by dissatisfaction with the status quo. What alarmed Moscow most were two aspects: that the Czechoslovak rulers believed they could “reform” socialism in their country, and that their state might depart the Warsaw Pact.62 Alexander Dubcek, the Soviet-educated head of the Czechoslovak Communist Party, attempted to walk a moderate line between Marxist orthodoxy and the reform movements. Although KGB field reports accurately described the dissatisfactions and goals of the reformers, the leaders in Moscow could not accept the idea of a revolutionary effort to change the socialist revolution. Instead, those leaders believed that the movement was a Western and “Zionist” plot even after the West was obviously surprised by Soviet military action; Yuri Andropov’s KGB first planted and then reported as fact allegations of CIA plots.63

After a March 1968 meeting between Dubcek and other Warsaw Pact leaders, the Soviet Politburo authorized planning for a possible military intervention. By May 10, American intelligence noted that Soviet troops were assembling near the Czechoslovak border. These concentrations increased over the next three months, ostensibly to conduct field exercises.64

The Soviet leadership vacillated, hoping that the situation would correct itself. For all his hesitation, however, in the crisis Brezhnev ensured that both the Politburo and key Soviet bloc allies were committed to intervention. On the night of August 20–21, 1968, he launched Operation Danube. Soviet troops—probably the 7th Guards Airborne Division based in Lithuania—seized the airport outside Prague. They were preceded by special operators in civilian clothes, and both groups fanned out to secure key points in the city.

At least fifteen other Soviet and four to five satellite-nation divisions invaded by land. Gen. Ivan Grigorevich Pavlovsky, deputy defense minister and commander of Soviet ground troops, directed their operations. The First Guards Tank Army plus an East German division crossed from southeastern East Germany into western Czechoslovakia, moving to seal the border with West Germany. A second field army with one East German and five Soviet divisions occupied the capital region. A third Soviet army from the Carpathian Military District moved into eastern Czechoslovakia, while additional Polish and Soviet divisions invaded from the north. Hungary and Bulgaria provided token contingents.65 Given their three months of prior intensive training, the occupiers experienced few initial problems of deployment or resupply. They had conducted extensive exercises on terrain models and minimized radio transmissions to conceal their movements.66

Uncertain of NATO’s reaction, Moscow moved its ICBMs to ten-minute alert status;67 although the invading units brought their organic tactical missiles, it is unclear whether they actually carried warheads. The Warsaw Pact’s only military campaign was conducted against one of its own members.

The Czechoslovak Army did not oppose the invaders, and there was little of the organized resistance found in Budapest twelve years before. On the first day, crowds of students gathered around the radio broadcast center in Prague, using human shields and overturned buses to impede the invaders. Accounts of this confrontation differ, but eventually the Soviet troops, who had been told they were suppressing a fascist conspiracy, opened fire and students responded with Molotov cocktails thrown at armored vehicles. At least seventy-two Czechs and Slovaks died, with hundreds more wounded, during the first few days.68 The invaders whisked Dubcek and most of his ministers off to the USSR.

Before the intervention, the Soviet ambassador to Prague and local hard-liners had assured the Kremlin that they could form a new government that would provide a retroactive request for the invasion. In the event, the reaction of Czechs and Slovaks was so strong that no one wanted to accept responsibility for collaborating. The president of the republic, Ludvik Svoboda, was a Hero of the Soviet Union whose name ironically translates as “freedom.” He flew to Moscow and persuaded the Soviet leaders that their only recourse was to restore the Dubcek government, albeit with severe restrictions on its activities.69 A hard-line government took over the following April. As late as 2015, Russian state media continued to claim that the intervention had prevented a Western-backed military coup.70

Despite its tactical success, Operation Danube was a strategic disaster for Moscow. Prior to the invasion, many Westerners had become impatient with American policies concerning both Europe and Vietnam. The occupation of Czechoslovakia breathed new life into NATO by vividly demonstrating the need for the alliance. Two weeks after the invasion, a NATO planning committee decided to suspend any troop withdrawals from Germany, and the November ministerial meeting in Brussels went even further. Almost all of the European members of NATO pledged larger contributions to the forces, especially in Germany.71 The United States, facing the twin challenges of Vietnam and North Korea, undertook only limited military responses, such as building more hardened shelters for aircraft in Europe and delaying a planned reduction of forces in the region. Despite such restrictions, Washington conducted a full Return of Forces to Europe (REFORGER) exercise in early 1969, practicing the ability to reinforce NATO by airlift.72

The Czechoslovak invasion increased dissension within the Warsaw Pact. Already isolated ideologically and geographically, Albania withdrew from the alliance in 1968. Nicolae Ceausescu believed that Romania was a likely target of a similar invasion. He denounced the Brezhnev Doctrine, which asserted the USSR’s right to intervene to protect the proletarian struggle in any socialist state. Over time, Romania refused to participate in or host any Warsaw Pact exercises, stopped sending Romanian officers to Soviet schools, and exchanged military delegations with Western states. Most galling for Moscow, Bucharest initiated military cooperation with Beijing, including building Chinese-designed naval vessels.73

Chinese-Soviet Border Clashes

Friction with China added to Soviet woes. By 1968, Moscow and Beijing openly criticized each other for alleged failures of Marxist doctrine and competed in ostentatious military assistance to North Vietnam. For more than a year, violent border disputes raised the possibility of a war that neither communist power sought.

Between 1689 and 1911, a series of treaties had vaguely defined the Russian-Chinese border. This border was particularly unclear along the Ussuri (Wusuli) River, which divides northeastern China from the maritime provinces of Siberia. Contrary to international conventions, Tzarist Russia had forced the Chinese Empire to accept the border as running along the western or Chinese bank rather than midstream, including any islands as Russian soil. In 1915, the river’s flow shifted, so that a portion of the Chinese bank became two islands, known as Damanskii (Chinese Zhenbao) and Zalivnoi (Qiliqin). Russia claimed both as its territory; this discussion will use the Russian names that were better known in the West at that time. During the 1950s, Moscow had agreed in principle to adjust such imperialist treaties with Beijing, but the growing antagonism with China ended any chance of easy resolution.74

On January 5, 1968, KGB border troops used BTR-60PB wheeled amphibious personnel carriers to cross the narrow channel onto Zalivnoi Island. They attacked a Chinese working party on the island, killing four. The Chinese government dispatched three companies of reconnaissance troops, trained by veterans of the Korean War, to the bank opposite Zalivnoi. Meanwhile, strong Chinese diplomatic protests prompted the Soviets to avoid confrontation for most of the year.75

Beginning on December 27, 1968, and continuing for the next two months, a series of similar incidents occurred on Damanskii Island, with Soviet border guards first beating Chinese soldiers with sticks and then, in subsequent clashes, firing on them. On the night of March 1–2, 1969, some thirty Chinese reconnaissance soldiers in winter camouflage infiltrated the island unseen by the border guard observation post. Other Chinese troops prepared positions for heavy machine guns, recoilless rifles, and mortars on the near bank.76 About 10:40 A.M. on March 2, another group of Chinese soldiers crossed onto the island openly. The nearest border guard detachment sent three vehicles across to protest this trespassing. The Chinese troops opened fire, killing or wounding most of the border guards. Another KGB outpost sent its troops to the scene, and after further fighting the PRC troops withdrew, leaving thirty-one Russian dead; autopsies performed by Soviet doctors suggested that the Chinese had executed nineteen wounded prisoners.

Over the next thirteen days, both sides reinforced the area, including much of the Soviet 135th Motorized Rifle Division and the overstrength Chinese 24th Infantry Regiment. After minor incidents and an exchange of propaganda over loudspeakers, Chinese artillery and infantry began a major attack at 10:00 A.M. on March 15. As is often the case when fighting erupts unexpectedly, the Soviet defenders experienced long delays before obtaining government permission to fire into Chinese territory. In the interim, the Soviets suffered significant casualties, including the border guard commander at the scene. About 5:00 P.M., a BM-21 multiple rocket launcher battalion and a conventional artillery battalion finally opened fire, neutralizing much of the Chinese artillery and mortars. The Far East District commander, Gen. O. A. Losik, apparently ordered this fire to inflict casualties and deter future Chinese actions. Defense Minister Grechko, uncertain whether general war would ensue, intervened to halt the firing.77 Still, the Soviet artillery fire allowed a combination of border guards and motorized riflemen to retake the island and repulse three Chinese counterattacks that evening. While the fighting went on, Premier Kosygin telephoned directly to Beijing, but senior Chinese leaders refused to take his call.
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Soviet-Chinese Border Clashes, 1968–1969. Map by Erin Greb Cartography.



The March 15 fighting cost the USSR a further twenty-seven killed; China never acknowledged its own losses, which were probably several hundred. Neither side had anticipated such a serious clash, and both took actions to deter their opponents. Soviet military commanders demanded retaliation, with Grechko suggesting even a preemptive strike on Chinese nuclear facilities. Fortunately for world peace, Kosygin and Brezhnev (the latter had been traveling at the time) placed limits on their actions. Almost five months later, the Soviet Army responded. Commanders chose a location that, unlike the Ussuri, was much closer to Moscow and therefore more advantageous logistically. On August 13, 1969, three hundred Soviet troops supported by helicopters and armored vehicles ambushed and killed thirty-eight Chinese border guards at Tieleketi, along the border between Xinjiang Province and what is now Kazakhstan. Moscow increased air force readiness in Siberia; on August 27, the official newspaper Pravda hinted at nuclear war with China.78

Amidst the chaos of the Cultural Revolution, the Chinese government and military now had to prepare for the possibility of general war. Mao Tse-tung had previously claimed he would welcome a Soviet invasion, yet his insurgent tactics were ill-suited to the sparsely populated border regions. The two sides agreed to negotiate on border issues in October, but the Chinese feared that the Soviets might use this as cover for a preemptive attack. Zhou En-lai and senior officials moved into command bunkers and mandated evacuation of several cities. The PLA shifted 940,000 troops, 4,000 aircraft, and 600 ships to wartime positions. For more than a year thereafter, Mao apparently believed that a Soviet attack was still possible. This threat, which had begun with a handful of soldiers disputing an insignificant island, contributed significantly to the Chinese willingness to accept Richard Nixon’s overtures for diplomatic normalization.79

Cyprus

Thus, during the later 1960s and most of the 1970s, U.S. leaders were unwilling and perhaps unable to project military power, while the Soviets faced challenges within the communist sphere. It is therefore unsurprising that regional powers acted independently to resolve their own problems, forcing the superpowers to acquiesce or react to unexpected crises.

One such problem involved Cyprus. The Greek Cypriot government of Archbishop Makarios III openly sought unification with Greece, which made the position of Turkish Cypriots uncomfortable and sometimes dangerous. Beginning in 1964, the UN Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus (UNFICYP) attempted to prevent intercommunal violence while negotiations deadlocked. To complicate matters further, a military junta that took power in Greece in 1967 undermined Makarios’s authority and supported Greek Cypriot military resistance. On July 15, 1974, the Greek officers who led the Cypriot National Guard overthrew Makarios and formed their own junta.80

Preoccupied with Watergate and other issues, Secretary of State Kissinger was caught off guard by the coup. Concerned about a possible Greek-Turkish conflict that would damage NATO and benefit Moscow, Kissinger first tried to persuade the Greek junta not to annex the island, but he ultimately acquiesced to a Turkish intervention.81

As one of the guarantors of the island’s independence, Ankara felt that the coup against Makarios justified its intervention. On July 20, 1974, it launched Operation Attila. The Cakmak Special Strike Brigade landed 3,000 Turkish marines, after some delay, on the northern coast of the island while a small parachute force dropped about fifteen kilometers inland, half way to Nicosia, the capital. Greek and National Guard units counterattacked promptly, containing the invaders. Then, however, the Greek officers decided on July 21 to eliminate Turkish enclaves throughout the island rather than concentrating on the two Turkish military positions. This error enabled the Turks to consolidate their positions and bring in most of the 39th Division and Jandarma military police. Unfortunately for the Turks, poor interservice communication resulted in their air force attacking three Turkish destroyers by mistake, sinking one. The Greeks experienced similar problems when they flew reinforcements to the island on the night of July 23. Nervous anti-aircraft gunners destroyed one transport and damaged a second, killing forty-two commandos.82

The next day, fighting between the two sides was so intense that they began to target clearly identified UN peacekeepers; in response, soldiers of the Canadian Airborne Regiment opened fire and secured the airfield. With two Turkish divisions ashore, Ankara finally accepted a UN cease-fire that lasted from July 24 to August 14, punctuated by attacks from both sides.

On August 14, the Turks launched a renewed offensive, with the 28th Division and the Cakmak Brigade pushing westward and the 39th Division sweeping eastward. In four days, Turkish airpower helped tanks and mechanized infantry secure the northern portion of the island. American-supplied weapons, including F-100 and F-104G fighters, M-47 tanks, and Gearing class destroyers, gave the Turks an advantage over the defenders, who were equipped with aging T-34s and similar weapons. This four-week conflict succeeded, at considerable cost to both soldiers and civilians, in forcing a partition that greatly reduced intercommunal violence.83 Casualty figures are disputed, but perhaps 6,000 Greek Cypriots and 3,500 Turks were killed or wounded, to which one must add seventy-four peacekeeper casualties.84 This struggle between two nominal allies did significant diplomatic damage to NATO, where Greece and Turkey refused to cooperate with each other.

Korean Conflict Continued

While in marginally less bloody fashion, North and South Korea simmered throughout the 1970s. As South Vietnam fell in 1975, Pyongyang gave indications that it might renew actions along the Demilitarized Zone. American commanders not only reinforced their guard posts but, on the anniversary of the 1950 invasion, made a show of force, firing an artillery concentration (time on target, with all shells landing within a few seconds of each other) on an uninhabited mudflat in the Han River Estuary, which formed part of the DMZ.

One bone of contention was the truce negotiation site at Panmunjom, where the two sides experienced constant friction in the so-called Joint Security Area (JSA). Various North Korean assaults on Americans climaxed on August 18, 1976. On that day, two U.S. Army officers took a detail of Korean workers to trim a poplar tree that obscured the U.S./South Korean view of the northern part of the JSA. This was a normal activity for both sides, but without warning a group of North Korean soldiers used axes to murder the two Americans and beat several Koreans.85

It seems unlikely that Pyongyang had planned this provocation, but the attack reflected North Korean bellicosity at a time when the United States appeared weak and isolationist. The American and South Korean response was another show of force, Operation Paul Bunyan. On August 21, U.S. and Republic of Korea Army troops surrounded the poplar tree. Overhead, a helicopter-mounted infantry company hovered in reserve, in addition to attack helicopters, F-4 and F-111 fighters. B-52s from Guam and a carrier aircraft strike package appeared on North Korean radars, while six artillery batteries unlimbered in full view of Panmunjom. This huge force watched as soldiers cut down the offending poplar tree and withdrew without incident.86

Soon after taking office in 1977, President Carter announced a plan to withdraw all U.S. ground forces from the Korean Peninsula, intending to defend the peninsula with air and sea power alone. The Joint Chiefs of Staff reluctantly agreed, but the intelligence community was already debating the extent of the North Korean military threat. U.S. Army analysts conducted an extensive, imagery-based review of the North Korean military in 1978, concluding that it was both larger and more offensively postured that previously believed. At the same time, Congress resisted Carter’s plans to compensate for the withdrawal by giving a large military aid package to the repressive ROK government. After reducing its strength by some 4,000 troops, mostly by not replacing soldiers as they completed their assignments, the Carter administration reluctantly halted the withdrawal plan in 1980.87

Tensions along the DMZ relaxed somewhat after the ax murders, but agitation for democratic reform increased in South Korea. Its dictator since 1963, Park Chung-hee, became increasingly repressive and withdrawn, especially after a 1974 assassination attempt killed his wife. This friction peaked on October 26, 1979, when the director of the Korean CIA, whom Park had berated for failure to anticipate anti-government demonstrations, murdered the president and his chief bodyguard. Other KCIA operatives killed the rest of the president’s protective detail.88

Park’s death created a power vacuum. Prime Minister Choi Kyu-hah became acting president and promised democratic reforms, but real power soon passed to an obscure group, the eleventh graduating class of the Korean Military Academy (KMA 11). Earlier classes at the KMA had undergone brief officer candidate training courses. KMA 11 was the first four-year college class, graduating in 1955. This close-knit group considered themselves more professional than their predecessors and became mentors to their juniors. They rose through the ranks of the ROK Army together, with many serving as regimental commanders in Vietnam. By 1979, most were colonels or brigadier generals.

The unofficial leader of KMA 11 was Chun Doo-hwan, who was promoted to major general and took command of the Defense Security Command (DSC) in early 1979.89 Chun used the pretext of investigating Park’s assassination to arrest the ROK Army chief of staff and numerous other generals. KMA 11 then detained without trial some 40,000 civilians they considered undesirable, ranging from prostitutes to journalists. When students in the city of Kwangju (or Gwangju) conducted protests in May 1980, Chun’s DSC bypassed the ordinary chain of command, ordering the leader of 3rd Airborne Brigade, a member of KMA 11, to issue live ammunition and shoot if necessary. That brigade killed thirty-eight students on May 20–21, and the total deaths during the Kwangju massacre may have been as high as six hundred.90 The repression was even more scandalous because earlier students of Kwangju were famous for their resistance to Japanese occupation in 1929. In August 1980, Chun rigged an election to make himself president, ruling for the next eight years.

Pyongyang was as surprised as Washington by Park’s assassination and ensuing events. North Korea’s subsequent actions suggest that Kim Il-Sung planned to re-create similar disorders in the South. Infiltration of agents increased along both the DMZ and the South Korean coastline. In January 1981, normally a period of little military activity, the North Korean People’s Army surreptitiously moved large troop formations up to the DMZ, apparently practicing for a future opportunity.91 Kim Chung-Il, the dictator’s heir and head of the Reconnaissance General Bureau, tried to create such an opportunity. On October 9, 1983, President Chun and much of his cabinet were on a state visit to Burma. En route to lay a wreath on a national mausoleum, the South Korean president was delayed by traffic. At the mausoleum, someone mistakenly played the bugle call to signal his arrival, and a bomb went off, killing twenty-one and wounding forty-six. Among the dead were South Korea’s foreign minister and deputy premier. Both the Burmese and American governments concluded that North Korea was responsible.92

Assessment: The Two Superpowers

While intermittent clashes occurred in Africa, Latin America, and Korea, the Cold War standoff continued in Europe. A comparison of the Prague and Damanskii incidents illustrates both the strengths and weaknesses of the Soviet armed forces during this period. Given time to prepare, the Soviet Army was capable of conducting elaborate, combined arms operations. It was rapidly acquiring sophisticated weapons that made it potentially equal to any Western force, although it still had difficulties in maintaining such equipment and training short-term conscripts. Yet, when they were forced to improvise in an uncertain environment, the Soviets’ limitations became obvious. By the later 1960s, only the most senior leaders, military and civilian, were veterans of the Second World War. The border guard lieutenants on Damanskii Island displayed both skill and courage, but their effectiveness was hampered by a centralized command system and a shortage of professional NCOs.

Their American counterparts were still in the throes of challenges concerning equal opportunity, substance abuse, and the shift to all-volunteer recruitment. The Western advantage in weapons technology was largely lost during the Vietnam conflict, as the Soviet Union made major steps forward to the next generation of vehicles, aircraft, and missiles. Still, by the end of the 1970s, the American armed forces, although short of troops, equipment, and resources, were beginning to develop new doctrine, leaders, and professionalism. Before these developments came to fruition, however, American foreign policy suffered major setbacks and an embarrassing military failure in Iran.




CHAPTER 10

THE YEAR OF DISASTERS 1979–1980

Throughout the Cold War, the United States sought to create regional alliances to “contain” the Soviet Union. The most important of these alliance systems was, of course, NATO in Europe. Beginning with Richard Nixon’s administration and continuing with subsequent presidencies, Iran became the lynchpin of a similar effort in Southwest Asia. Not only was the shah allied with and beholden to the West, but supplying him was highly profitable. Oil money permitted him to purchase the most modern weapons available from the United States, Britain, and other Western arms suppliers. The Carter administration denied some Iranian weapons requests but continued to sell others at a record rate. Between 1973 and 1978, Iran outspent Iraq in arms imports by $8.825 billion to $5.725 billion.1 Britain received orders for 800 Chieftain main battle tanks, 250 Scorpion armored cars, and numerous naval vessels. Given the limited training of the Imperial Iranian Army, this inventory was probably inadequate to stop a Soviet invasion from the north but more than sufficient to halt the Soviet-equipped Iraqis. Unfortunately for the Iranians, however, these purchases came with significant negative consequences. In the short run, Iranian officials received huge bribes and kickbacks for writing the contracts.2 More significantly, such weapons required special training, spare parts, and munitions that would be difficult to obtain when anti-American elements replaced the shah.

The Rise and Fall of the Shah

Long before 1979, American and British foreign policy had focused on Iran. During World War II, U.S. and British forces, along with those of the Soviet Union, had occupied the country first to prevent a pro-German regime and then to ship Lend-Lease aid through Iran to the Soviets. In 1946, President Truman pressured Joseph Stalin to evacuate northern Iran, where he had been supporting the pro-Soviet Tudeh Party. Thereafter, then-Col. H. Norman Schwarzkopf Sr. trained the Imperial Gendarmerie, which arrested Tudeh Party activists. He also organized the secret police, known as SAVAK (Sāzemān-e Ettelā’āt va Amniyat-e Keshvar, Organization of National Intelligence and Security), although Israeli intelligence later advised SAVAK.3

The key incident in this relationship occurred in 1953, when American and British intelligence agents helped to organize a coup that overthrew Prime Minister Mohammed Mossadeq when he nationalized the foreign-owned petroleum industry. The political beneficiary of this coup was the Iranian shah, Mohammad Reza Pahlavi, who gained unquestioned power.4 In the perception of many Iranians, all subsequent American actions in their country were part of a vast conspiracy.

Although he considered himself a believing Shia Muslim, in 1963 the shah attempted to modernize and secularize the country, an effort he called the “White Revolution.” He promised profit-sharing with the urban poor and both land reform and an end to corruption. Yet, he also offended conservatives by encouraging women’s suffrage and secular literacy. The charismatic Shia leader, Ayatollah Ruhollah Khomeini, publicly criticized this reform movement, instigating riots in June 1963. SAVAK arrested and exiled Khomeini while executing riot leaders. For the next fifteen years, Khomeini lived in exile in Iraq. His condemnations of the shah portrayed Pahlavi as an American puppet, stoking Iranian resentment of the United States.5

Richard Nixon, as remarked above, tightened the American relationships with Iran, making the shah a key link in the containment of the Soviet Union. In a 1972 visit to Tehran, the president asked the shah to act as guarantor of stability in the Persian Gulf. Between 1970 and 1976, Iran spent $12.1 billion in oil revenues to buy American weapons, including 340 F-14, F-15, and F-16 fighters, five hundred helicopters, four destroyers, and multiple batteries of HAWK air defense missiles. Although Iranian courtiers took kickbacks of up to 20 percent on these contracts, the Iranian armed forces became highly effective. American signals analysts, military advisers, and technicians served throughout the country. At its peak, the U.S. Embassy in Tehran had 2,000 civilian and military personnel, another 2,000 Iranian employees, and 3,000 dependents.6

For decades, Reza Pahlavi kept control of the country by a combination of repression and generosity. During the later 1970s, however, an upsurge of Islamic fundamentalism made these techniques less effective. Moreover, the Iranian monarch suffered from a spreading case of lymphoma and felt increasingly isolated politically. All these factors prompted him to restrain his security forces from repressing the growing unrest. The Carter administration also was hesitant to act. While Carter’s national security advisor, Zbigniew Brzezinski, was a realist who urged the shah to maintain tight control, the president and his State Department advocated greater democracy and less repression in Iran. It would be an oversimplification to blame these policies for the shah’s fall, but the Carter administration certainly contributed. At the same time, from his exile in Paris, Khomeini concealed his own theocratic beliefs, posing as a liberal democrat and urging supporters to martyr themselves in protest.7

On January 16, 1979, the ailing shah flew his own aircraft out of Iranian airspace, ostensibly to take a vacation, although few expected him to return. After further violent demonstrations, the remaining government allowed Khomeini to return triumphantly on February 1. Pro-and anti-Khomeini factions fought for control of military installations in and near the capital, with pro-Imperial resistance collapsing rapidly. On February 14, 1979, one of these clashes spilled over into an attack on the U.S. Embassy, which by this time had been reduced to a skeleton staff. The marine security guards fired tear gas and then fell back to defend the core of the embassy. Just in time, fighters loyal to Khomeini’s interim government arrived and forcibly dispersed the attackers. The foreign minister, Ebrahim Yazdi, who had previously organized Iranian students in the United States, apologized for the intrusion and assigned eighty volunteer fighters to help protect the Americans. This experience colored U.S. expectations about subsequent threats, fostering a belief that the provisional government would follow diplomatic norms.8

The advent of the new regime wreaked havoc on Iran’s security forces. SAVAK agents who did not go into exile were hunted down. Some 10,000 imperial military officers, including all the senior commanders, were either executed or dismissed. Yet, renewed conflict with Kurds in northern Iran reminded the new government that it needed both competent commanders and American spare parts for its weapons.9

Meanwhile, Washington and Tehran groped for a new relationship despite mistrust on both sides. After decades of conspiracy theories, the Iranian activists were suspicious of anything the United States did and feared another coup that would restore the shah’s regime. Henry Kissinger, David Rockefeller, and Zbigniew Brzezinski lobbied President Carter to allow Reza Pahlavi to visit the United States for medical treatment. The president, who had many other issues to face, finally agreed, but prophetically inquired what his advisers would suggest if, in response, the Iranians overran the embassy and took hostages.10

From the point of view of Iranian activists, the admission of the shah to America was not a humanitarian act but an indication of a renewed conspiracy to return him to power. On November 4, 1979, a group of students seized the embassy as a gesture, initially expecting the action to last no more than a few days. Unlike the previous seizure, however, Khomeini decided to endorse the action, labeling the embassy a nest of spies.11 Various hostages were released on humanitarian grounds, but fifty-two remained in the embassy.

Agreement was impossible between the American outrage at violation of diplomatic immunity and the Iranian insistence that the shah surrender for trial. After months of diplomatic maneuvering, Carter concluded that his only option was to use force. Hostage rescue was one of a variety of options, which ranged from bombing an Iranian military base to seizing the country’s oil export facility at Kharg Island.

Hostage Rescue Forces

With the wave of aircraft hijackings during the 1970s, other countries’ armed forces had already attempted hostage rescues. On July 3–4, 1976, Sayeret Matkal, the Israeli General Staff reconnaissance unit, rescued the passengers of an Air France flight that had been hijacked to Entebbe, Uganda. The raid’s commander, four hostages, and at least four hijackers (from a splinter group of the PFLP) died. Fifteen months later, the German border guard unit Grenzschutzgruppe 9 achieved success with only minor injuries to passengers aboard a plane held at Mogadishu, Somalia, by the Red Army Faction.12 By contrast, on February 19, 1978, Egyptian paratroops suffered a serious defeat at Larnica Airport in Cyprus. Concerned that local officials might allow Palestinian hijackers to escape, the Egyptians attempted to seize the hijacked aircraft. The Cypriot National Guard killed fifteen Egyptians and destroyed their C-130 transport.13

It remained to be seen whether the United States could achieve success in the far more complex urban situation of Tehran. As described in chapter 9, the U.S. armed forces were slow to recover from the triple impact of the Vietnam conflict, societal changes in the United States, and the shift to an all-volunteer force. Army Special Forces had suffered particularly during this era, because of their association with low-intensity conflict at a time when the Defense Department was reorienting to high-intensity warfare. From seven full groups of approximately 1,400 specialists each in 1973, by 1979 Special Forces had declined to three understrength groups. Similarly, the air force was about to retire the AC-130 gunships that provided fire support to special operations and the MC-130 series of clandestine insertion transports. Special operations officers in all services had severely limited career prospects.14

Service separatism further complicated the development of a hostage rescue force. Leaders in the various services had markedly different formative experiences about matters as simple as obtaining supplies and support. The constrained budgets of peacetime exacerbated these differences, as each service focused on its core functions to the neglect of interservice missions. After the Entebbe raid, for example, U.S. Readiness Command began to update the existing plans for hostage rescue. When REDCOM asked for planning representatives from the various services, however, the navy replied that all SEALs were fleet assets and therefore not available, while Army Special Forces argued that it was already overcommitted. Despite this false start, REDCOM’s skeleton planning staff for special operations, known as Joint Task Force (JTF) 7X, was able to conduct a series of deployment exercises that combined air force transports, the two Army Ranger battalions formed in 1974, and eventually the Special Forces Delta detachment.15

With Department of the Army approval, Col. Charles Beckwith began to form the 1st Special Forces Operational Detachment Delta in 1977, and the first platoon-sized element of this organization was “certified” after a successful exercise in July of the following year.16 Separately, the European Command developed and certified its own hostage rescue force. EUCOM used Detachment A, a Special Forces unit concealed within the Berlin Brigade, where its primary mission was to disrupt Warsaw Pact attacks on West Berlin in case of war.17 Thus, the United States developed two expert groups of special operations “shooters” but lacked a standing joint task force structure to deploy and direct those shooters and coordinate interservice support.

Operation Eagle Claw

Once the Iranians seized the embassy, the Joint Staff formed a planning group that eventually became JTF 1–79, including representatives from all four services and the CIA. While Delta began planning for the seizure of the embassy to liberate the hostages, the staff focused on the movement of that force. Egypt provided a derelict air base at Wadi Kena to stage the fixed-wing aircraft, but that was only the first step in deployment. While Delta intended to use Farsi-speaking truck drivers to infiltrate to the objective, only helicopters could extract both attackers and hostages from the middle of a hostile city. For both political and security reasons, defense planners concluded that they could not base helicopters in any state near Iran. Therefore, the helicopters would have to launch from a vessel at sea.18

The navy was understandably reluctant to place an aircraft carrier within the confined waters of the Persian Gulf, but any alternative plan involved helicopters flying a 1,500-mile round trip, which exceeded the range of any available aircraft. The solution involved numerous moving parts. Air Force special operations transports would airlift the assault force, as well as refuel the helicopters to a remote location, eventually known as Desert One, inside Iran. Because the mission called for large-capacity helicopters whose rotors and tail assemblies could be folded on an aircraft carrier, the chosen vehicle was the RH-53D mine countermeasures version. However, few of the navy pilots trained on this aircraft had the special operations experience for the rescue mission, and all fixed-and rotary-wing pilots had to learn to fly using night vision goggles. After experimenting with a combination of navy and marine helicopter pilots, in mid-December additional marines as well as one USAF pilot replaced all the navy pilots, including the flight commander.19 These new pilots were highly skilled, but they did not know all the specifics of the RH-53D.
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Operation Eagle Claw, 1980. Map by Erin Greb Cartography.



As is typical of improvised contingency operations, the rescue plan, named Operation Eagle Claw, evolved over time. Most changes meant adding personnel to the force package, which eventually included ninety members of Delta Force plus various aircrews and other specialists. These changes increased not only the required number of helicopters for the operation but also the likelihood that the new arrivals would not be fully integrated into the JTF. Moreover, operation security and a shortage of specialized aircraft prevented a full-sized practice of the complex procedures envisioned at Desert One.

Once the Delta troopers had infiltrated Tehran, they would free the hostages and rely on AC-130 gunships to disperse any Iranian military or civil response. The refueled helicopters would extract both hostages and rescuers from the city and fly them to a second location where a Ranger company would have seized an airfield. From there, fixed-wing aircraft would evacuate everyone.

Special operations depend heavily on surprise and precise execution. The participants in this operation were both skilled and dedicated but faced considerable risks. The time window to save the hostages began to close; as the summer of 1980 approached, hours of darkness would shorten and increasing temperatures would limit the lift capacity of the aircraft.20 Moreover, the helicopters, stored on board whichever aircraft carrier was active in the Indian Ocean, risked deterioration over time. Tactical radios broke down periodically, and all services had a shortage of new satellite links. During the final practices on board the carrier, in mid-April, a misunderstanding about switches led to the accidental discharge of fire retardant, coating five of the helicopters on the hanger deck. They had to be cleaned off promptly.21

On the night of March 30, 1980, a CIA aircraft inserted and then extracted a USAF combat controller officer into Desert One. He reconnoitered the site, took soil samples, and imbedded infrared beacons for later landings. At about the same time, two members of Berlin Detachment A reconnoitered the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in Tehran, where the U.S. chargé d’affaires and two other diplomats were held separately from the other hostages. This exploit found much heavier security than the JTF had anticipated, prompting creation of a second team to break the three Americans out at the same time as the embassy was cleared.22

The actual operation began on the night of April 24, 1980, and quickly encountered difficulties. Eight RH-53Ds took off from the USS Nimitz but ran into large dust clouds that severely limited visibility. Helicopter number 5 experienced a failure of navigation instruments and aborted the mission, unaware that this meant flying farther in the dust cloud than if it had continued to the site. Helicopter number 2 experienced a partial hydraulic failure but continued on to Desert One. Helicopter number 6 received a cockpit indicator of a possible structural failure in its rotor spar, prompting the crew to land and declare the aircraft unsafe; another aircraft picked up the crew. The pilots were familiar with CH or HH-53 models, in which there had been three crashes after such an indication. However, the RH-53D they were flying had a record of forty-three similar indications with no structural failures in over 229,000 flying hours; the manufacturer had concluded that the rotor spars were safe for 79 hours of flight at 100 knots and 27 hours at 120 knots.23

It is always unwise to second-guess decisions made in the heat of combat. The net result of these incidents was that only six of the eight helicopters reached Desert One, and one of the six was nonoperational due to hydraulic failure. Colonel Beckwith as the ground force commander concluded that he lacked the minimum number of helicopters necessary to conduct the operation and decided to abort. Worse was to follow. Using restrictive night vision goggles under conditions of darkness and dust, one of the remaining helicopters moved close to an MC-130 for refueling; the two aircraft collided in a fiery ball that killed eight people. All remaining airmen and soldiers left by MC-130, but in the confusion a large amount of classified information was left behind in the helicopters.24 Despite painstaking efforts by all concerned, Eagle Claw had ended in an embarrassing failure, and the Iranians only released the hostages after Ronald Reagan was sworn into office nine months later. This experience foreshadowed subsequent changes in defense organization, leading to the 1986 Goldwater-Nichols Defense Department Reorganization Act (see chapter 11).

The Afghan Puzzle

Like Korea, Afghanistan’s location between two powerful states doomed it to alternating invasion and neglect. Even after the demise of the Russian and British Empires, the Soviet Union still regarded Afghanistan as a vulnerable southern flank, especially when Western governments provided aid to the Kabul government as part of containment.25

In 1978, the KGB engineered a coup to place its longtime agent, Nur Muhammad Taraki, in control of the country. Yet, Taraki refused to follow Soviet instructions and aroused local opposition by attacking traditional Islamic authority. Taraki’s Marxist premier, Hafizullah Amin, overthrew him in September 1979. Initially, Andropov opposed further intervention in Afghan affairs. However, the rising tide of fundamentalist opposition prompted the Soviets to organize yet another coup in December 1979, replacing Amin with another agent, Babrak Karmal, and occupying Afghanistan with Red troops. The Soviet leadership anticipated that, just as it had after the Czechoslovak occupation, the world would soon forget this latest aggression, but that did not happen.26 Instead, the Afghan conflict became one of Moscow’s most significant challenges for the next decade.

Thus, 1979–80 witnessed three failures for American national security: the Sandinista victory in Nicaragua; the Iranian hostage situation and rescue failure, and the Soviet expansion into Afghanistan. Taken together, these failures led to widespread calls for improved defense capabilities.

The Carter Defense Budgets

President Carter had come into office in 1977 determined to eliminate waste in government spending and to tailor America’s defense structure to a more modest set of objectives.27 With the support of Defense Secretary Harold Brown, he immediately revised the FY 1978 budget proposed by the Ford administration, stretching out expensive programs such as new ship construction over multiple years and virtually eliminating the B-1 bomber program. One reason for this latter decision was the development of “stealth,” or low observable, technology that would make future aircraft more survivable than the B-1; unfortunately for Carter, stealth was too classified for public release, and some air force leaders believed correctly that building specialized aircraft using that technology would reduce funds available for other planes. The president’s decision therefore antagonized many airpower advocates.

For the next budget, Brown and Carter focused on conventional defense of Europe, imposing numerous cuts on the navy; in addition to slowing new aircraft production, they planned to build only fifteen new warships instead of twenty-nine. The two men also tried to achieve a delicate balance, continuing to procure existing weapons, such as the M60A3 tank and the A-4 naval strike aircraft, while allowing for limited fielding of the next generation M-1 tanks and F/A-18 fighters. When the House of Representatives inserted another Nimitz class nuclear aircraft carrier into the FY 1979 defense budget, the president took the unprecedented step of vetoing the entire bill. His veto was ultimately sustained, in part because of his popularity after the Camp David Accords.

Military commanders and defense advocates in Congress became concerned that continued economies of this nature might cost the United States its defense advantage. When, in the early stages of the FY 1980 budget process, the administration proposed reducing the navy from twelve carriers to ten, Joint Chiefs chairman Gen. George Brown (no relation to the secretary) protested. In a February 15, 1978, memorandum to the defense secretary, he concluded, “I view the paper as do the Services and the [unified commanders-in-chief] as the expression of one view of the world by well-intentioned but militarily inexperienced analysts.”28 In the course of this budget process, Secretary Brown became convinced that the Soviet threat indeed required greater expenditures, but the president remained skeptical.

Nowhere was this disagreement more evident than in the debate over increased military pay. As a Naval Academy graduate, Carter apparently believed that pay was not a primary factor in recruiting and retention, despite the fact that the gap between military and civilian compensation had almost doubled to 15 percent between 1972 and 1979. In the wake of the Soviet intervention in Afghanistan, public criticism of inadequate military compensation crescendoed. A congressional amendment called for pay raises of 11.7 percent in FY 1981 and 14.3 percent in FY ’82. The president ultimately acquiesced, but not before his opponent in the 1980 election campaign had branded him as anti-defense.29 These pay increases, together with even larger raises in flight and sea pay, reduced but did not eliminate the economic woes that had distracted the all-volunteer force from improving its readiness. Thereafter, few junior officers were eligible for federal food assistance, although they and their enlisted subordinates still struggled when assigned to expensive locales.

After the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan, congressional leaders told the president that his proposed 5.4 percent increase in defense was inadequate. He agreed to a 12 percent increase, but even this appeared insufficient to many. Military leaders believed that, in previous decisions, Carter had not consulted with them about canceling the B-1 or withdrawing troops from Korea. After several years of private advocacy for increased spending, the Joint Chiefs raised the issue in public. This was the context in which the army chief of staff, Gen. Edward Meyer, described the force as a “hollow army,” a comment that came to symbolize the weakness of the armed forces. The other chiefs were equally pessimistic.30

The combination of advice from his subordinates and challenges from Iran and the USSR led to marked increases in Mr. Carter’s final defense budgets. The FY 1981 budget increased defense spending authority from $142.2 billion to $172.2 billion, with a further $25 billion increase projected for the following year. Many of the programs later associated with the Reagan administration began under Carter, including the MX missile, F-117A stealth fighter-bomber, theater nuclear weapons, Global Positioning System, DARPANET (forerunner of the Internet), and an expanded navy.31

Consequences

The combination of the Sandinista victory, the Iranian hostage crisis, and the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan had numerous effects beyond an increase in defense spending. These events were a principal reason why President Carter failed of reelection. The Iranian hatred of the United States was now matched by an equally irate sentiment in America; as a result, relations between the two nations were poisoned for decades. Moreover, these developments accelerated the involvement of the United States in the Middle East, as expressed by the Carter Doctrine that identified the Persian Gulf as a vital interest of the United States.32

Military institutions followed this policy. In March 1980, the Defense Department established a standing Rapid Deployment Joint Task Force (RDJTF) under Readiness Command, with a primary mission of intervening in the Middle East. By some accounts, the USN and USMC had urged this structure rather than the creation of another unified command dominated by the army. At first, the new task force was little more than a forlorn hope. It was based on XVIII Airborne Corps, a light infantry force, preparing to oppose Iranians, Soviets, or other mechanized adversaries located halfway around the world, with no available bases in the region. Carter correctly questioned the complicated command relationships between the RDJTF and regional commanders.33

In 1983, a new unified headquarters, U.S. Central Command (CENTCOM), replaced the RDJTF. Gen. Robert Kingston, who had commanded the RDJTF before becoming the first CINCCENT, used his long experience in special operations to prepare for future conflict in Iran. He and the assistant chief of staff for intelligence, Lt. Gen. William Odom, attempted to recruit agents inside Iran, sometimes in competition with the CIA. In response, Iran’s new Ministry of Intelligence and Security used veterans of SAVAK to unravel U.S. espionage networks.34

For a decade, staff officers and commanders labored over a series of plans to intervene in Iran, Iraq, or elsewhere against local forces or a Soviet invasion. Planners struggled with the complexity of logistics and operations in the region, projecting troop locations down to battalion and company level. Elaborate annual training exercises, especially the Bright Star series in Egypt, practiced early phases of these plans. Eventually, the U.S. military created three squadrons of cargo ships with prepositioned supplies and equipment, located near the Azores, Guam, and the British-held island of Diego Garcia.35 Originally intended to support a marine corps unit, the Diego Garcia squadron was later expanded to include ordnance and supplies for the army and USAF. This capability greatly facilitated the decision to deploy troops after the Iraqi invasion of Kuwait in August 1990.

Eagle Claw, along with other operations in the early 1980s, also increased the perceived need to improve integration and mutual understanding between the armed forces. The problems experienced in lashing together JTF 1–79 became the godparents of the Goldwater-Nichols Act of 1986, which mandated joint education and service for all aspiring senior officers (see chapter 11). Institutional reform frequently comes at a regrettably high price in blood.

The Sino-Vietnamese Conflict

While the U.S. defense forces struggled to deal with these challenges, China also encountered military shortcomings when it launched a border war against Vietnam on February 17 of that same eventful year, 1979. Observers offered a number of explanations for this adventure, including disputed borders, Vietnamese aggression in Cambodia, rising Soviet influence in Vietnam, and Beijing’s resentment that Hanoi had downplayed Chinese contributions to the Vietnam conflict. The most prominent explanation was a desire on the part of the Chinese to “teach Vietnam a lesson” and reassert what they regarded as their traditional dominance in the region.36 Vice Premier Deng Xiaoping expected to conduct a brief military operation based on the (dubious) precedents of the Indian (1962) and Soviet (1969) clashes, even though their Vietnamese opponents were more experienced and better equipped than the Indians and Soviets had been.

The People’s Liberation Army was ill-prepared to administer such a lesson. Just as in Korea, China had logistical difficulties projecting forces outside its borders. More pressingly, many of the 300,000 troops concentrated on the Vietnamese border were new recruits. During the winter of 1978–79, the PLA frantically taught basic skills such as marksmanship and grenade throwing, without time to practice unit tactics. Political officers had to indoctrinate soldiers who could not understand why they would fight another socialist nation. Such troops also lacked the infiltration capacity that had made the Chinese so effective in Korea. Moreover, the government forbade air operations beyond its own borders, limiting the PLA Air Force to defensive tasks and denying close support to ground troops. Anticipating possible Soviet intervention, Beijing also mobilized a large portion of its militia forces.

Nonetheless, the Hanoi government was surprised, having given little credence to Chinese saber-rattling. The main Chinese effort was conducted by three corps-sized field armies of the Guangzhou Military Region. The PAVN 3rd and 338th Divisions as well as local militia forces quickly reverted to guerrilla tactics but were ultimately unable to prevent the PLA from capturing three significant towns close to the border. Soviet advisers tried to convince the Vietnamese to redeploy 30,000 troops from Cambodia to the north, but Hanoi attempted to defend with local forces so as to continue its operations in Laos and Cambodia. Only on February 27 did the PAVN begin to move units from these locations to deal with the continuing invasion, and these troops arrived too late to affect the battle.

After considerable delays, the PLA captured its objectives and then, beginning on March 5, began to withdraw as originally planned, retaining only a small territory that Beijing had claimed previously. Chinese casualties totaled at least 6,900 dead and 15,000 wounded, or about 10 percent of the troops engaged; some estimates ran twice as high.37 Intermittent border clashes and artillery duels continued for the next twelve years, until the two participants normalized relations.

The contemporary impression was that China had blundered badly, with the originators of Maoist insurgency being defeated by their own tactics. More-recent analysis suggests that, like Egypt in the 1973 war, China may have suffered tactical setbacks but still achieved its operational and strategic objectives. Although too late to save China’s Khmer Rouge allies, the incursion apparently prompted Hanoi to operate more cautiously, preventing complete Vietnamese control of Indochina. Moreover, Deng Xiaoping used the setbacks to justify his consolidation of power and modernization efforts inside China.38 Like the United States, the failures of 1979 helped China enter a period of military innovation and reform.




CHAPTER 11

AMERICAN RENEWAL

As official historian Edward Keefer concluded, “The defense revolution began with Carter.”1 The Carter defense budget for fiscal year 1981 had already reached 5 percent of gross national product, a proportion that grew to almost 6 percent by FY 1983 and then, after FY 1985, gradually declined to 5.1 percent again by FY 1990.2

Although the Reagan administration was eager to spend more defense dollars than its predecessor, the process was by no means easy. The attempt at improving the armed forces coincided with a declining pool of possible recruits after the baby boom; the number of eighteen-to twenty-one-year-old males decreased by 9 percent between 1980 and 1985, although a few older men were attracted by changes in the armed forces.3 As with other political leaders, the incoming administration focused on obtaining major end items such as new bombers and aircraft carriers and was reluctant to appropriate the training, operating, and maintenance funds necessary for those end items to be effective weapons of war. Moreover, just as in the previous defense buildups of 1942 and 1950, the funding flowed more quickly than the services and defense industry could absorb it. Defense Secretary Caspar Weinberger soon realized that a large backlog of unexpended credits was developing. By fiscal year 1983, the defense budget had grown by 25 percent compared to 1980, but the number of army units and naval vessels ready for combat actually declined. Nor could the government afford such large expenditures indefinitely. During the latter half of the 1980s, budgets shrank to more manageable long-term levels, and readiness gradually improved as the services were able to absorb the largesse.4 As part of this effort, Defense Secretary Frank Carlucci sought to eliminate superfluous bases in the United States. In 1988, a commission recommended the closure of five air force bases and numerous small installations, many of the latter being former air defense missile sites. This began a politically painful process known as Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) that continued for decades.

The navy, army, and air force all developed new warfighting concepts and fielded new weapons systems during the 1980s. In retrospect, however, these developments did not always mesh into an effective national security force, even after the Goldwater-Nichols Act of 1986 attempted to encourage interservice understanding and coordination.

New Technology

One of the most difficult management tasks of the 1980s was to adjust doctrine, concepts, and implementation programs to take advantage of a wave of new technologies, many of which had been developed quietly during the 1970s and were now ready for fielding.

The most revolutionary change was the development of precision-guided munitions (PGMs). For a century, the destructiveness and rate of fire of unguided, or “dumb,” weapons had increased steadily to the point where thousands of rounds of ammunition might be fired or dozens of conventional bombs dropped for each casualty inflicted. The advent of PGMs promised to reverse this trend, sharply reducing the number of projectiles involved in achieving a military objective.

The USN and U.S. Army had experimented with pilotless bombs as early as 1915 and improved on the German V-1 after World War II. The accuracy of such systems increased steadily, so that navigational error per hour of flight in 1970 was less than 17 percent of what it had been in 1958.5 Meanwhile, during the late 1960s, the USN and USAF had developed guided bombs that could be “flown” to hit a particular point. The advent of global positioning satellite systems and terrain contour-following software led to cruise missiles that were both more accurate and less vulnerable to intercept than earlier weapons. Instead of following a ballistic pathway, these missiles hugged the surface of the earth so they did not appear on radar. The Soviet Union was aware of the implications of such technology, which it found difficult to match. The Soviets therefore sought to include limits on numbers and ranges of cruise missiles in strategic arms negotiations but achieved only a two-year limitation. In March 1980, the Defense Department issued the first production contract for the AGM-86 air-launched cruise missile (ALCM) with a range in excess of 2,400 kilometers. Whether armed with a conventional or a nuclear warhead, the ALCM gave the B-52 bomber the ability to hit distant targets while remaining outside of enemy air defenses.6 The separate Tomahawk naval missile as well as sea (SLCM) and ground (GLCM) versions of the cruise missile also appeared.

Carter’s defense secretary, Harold Brown, and his director of defense research and engineering, William Perry, advocated an offset strategy they termed “Assault Breaker,” using a variety of new technologies to reduce the Warsaw Pact’s second-echelon ground threat in case of war. “Stealth” technology aircraft with airborne laser target designators could in theory direct cruise missiles or shorter-range precision-guided missiles to engage enemy targets.

Marshal N. V. Ogarkov, the intellectual chief of the Soviet General Staff from 1977 to 1984, acknowledged the threat of such developments, especially the “reconnaissance strike complexes” between sensors and PGMs. By the early 1980s, Ogarkov had concluded that such precision capabilities permitted the United States to conduct a prolonged war without using nuclear weapons.7 The Soviet Union had great difficulty competing in this arena.

Similar technology also appeared for shorter-range, tactical weapons, especially anti-tank guided missiles. Again, early versions of such anti-tank weapons, such as the Soviet AT-3 Sagger that surprised Israel in 1973, required a vulnerable operator to visually “fly” the missile to its intended target; if the operator flinched he could easily lose control. The next generation of anti-tank guided missiles, such as the U.S. TOW and Dragon, flew to wherever the operator aimed them. During the 1980s, the United States developed a third generation of such weapons, including the Hellfire missile, that could strike a target that was designated by a separate laser device. Eventually, anti-tank missiles became “fire and forget,” able to hit a target without the launching helicopter remaining in line-of-sight until the missile reached its objective. The Copperhead missile, fired from a 155 mm artillery piece, could also home in on a target designated by laser.

The first Apple personal computer appeared in 1976, followed five years later by the IBM equivalent, powered by an Intel 8086 processor and using Microsoft Disk Operating System (MS-DOS). The space shuttle first flew in July 1982, ushering in an era of intensive satellite deployments that led to the formation of U.S. Space Command in 1985.8 These developments changed both society and the technology of warfare.

Quite apart from its weapons effects, the advent of microprocessing in portable computers gave Western armed forces enormous capabilities to communicate and process information. Global positioning system devices virtually eliminated the land navigation and artillery fire direction problems of previous generations. Miniaturized automatic encryption devices could secure radio communications on the battlefield, and eventually all radios in a net would change frequencies constantly, making location and jamming difficult. Satellite links also freed tactical headquarters from the restrictions of line-of-sight contact, greatly simplifying maintenance of communications in rough terrain. These new systems also brought with them many vulnerabilities, such as radio direction finding of thousands of emitters and hacking of computers, but overall the combination of PGMs, satellites, and computers gave enormous advantages to small, well-equipped and highly trained professional armies. In military as well as societal terms, the 1947 invention of the transistor, which permitted miniaturized circuits, proved to be the most significant technological development of the century.

War at Sea

Transistorized technology helped increase the survivability of warships during the 1980s. In addition to deploying the offensive capability of Tomahawk cruise missiles, the navy sought to improve defenses against the growing Soviet Navy. For anti-submarine warfare, the Oliver Hazard Perry class of frigates included not only sophisticated towed-array sonar but also the SH-60B helicopter with the Light Airborne Multipurpose System (LAMPS), a combination of radar, sonar, and other systems to locate and target enemy vessels. Both the SH-60B and long-range patrol aircraft could drop sophisticated homing torpedoes (Mk 46, Mk 50, etc.) and more importantly strings of sonobuoys—disposable, parachute-delivered sonar buoys.9 The combination of frigates, sonobuoys, and “dipping” sonars lowered from helicopters allowed anti-submarine commanders to locate, track, and engage submarines far more effectively than in previous generations.

Air defense of the fleet also changed markedly. In 1964, the navy had fielded the E-2 Hawkeye, which operated above a carrier battle group to provide early warning at much longer ranges as well as battle management. For defense against aircraft, the principal actor in the 1980s was the F-14 Tomcat, armed with more-capable forms of the AIM-9 Sidewinder and AIM-7 Sparrow air-to-air missiles for engagement at long ranges.

The primary threat of air attack came from long-range Soviet naval aircraft firing primitive anti-ship missiles such as the Raduga KSR-2 (NATO designation AS-5 Kelt). To confront this, a limited number of guided missile cruisers and destroyers carried the Aegis battle management system. Developed during the 1970s, this combination of phased-array radars and computerized target management permitted the most efficient tracking and defenses against incoming missiles. Aegis was married to a series of navy surface-to-air systems, leading in 1986 to the Vertical Launching System (VLS), an automated means of firing first the Standard surface-to-air missile series and later, in addition, Tomahawk cruise missiles.10 Although anti-submarine warfare (ASW) was not a primary Aegis mission, the VLS could also launch anti-submarine rockets (ASROCs). The ASROC used a rocket motor and parachute to deliver a homing torpedo to the vicinity of a sonar contact.

No air defense system is perfect, and ships still needed close-in air defenses. Beginning in 1980, the navy installed the Phalanx point defense system on almost every combatant vessel. The Phalanx was another version of the 20 mm “Gatling gun” used widely both on fighter aircraft and for army ground air defense.

Quite apart from these advances in weaponry, the navy also adopted the Composite Warfare Commander (CWC) concept for operation of a carrier battle group. No one person could manage the complexity of air, surface, and subsurface naval combat. Instead, the overall commander designated subordinate commanders to deal with strike, anti-air, anti-surface, and anti-submarine aspects of the battle group.11 The navy also assigned a “Super CAG,” an experienced senior naval aviator, to advise each carrier battle group commander about the use of his air wing. In 1984, the existing training center at Fallon, Nevada, was reconfigured as the Naval Strike Warfare Center. For three weeks prior to a deployment, a carrier air wing functioned as an integrated unit, standardizing tactics and procedures with electronic records of all actions that occurred in the exercise. In effect, this “Strike University” performed the same function as the army’s National Training Center and the air force’s Red, Green, and Blue Flag exercises at Nellis AFB.12

The combination of improved control and technology promised to reduce the threat of air attack on carrier battle groups, facilitating the U.S. Navy’s aggressive plans to contest control of North Pacific and Arctic waters in case of general conflict. These plans emerged from the navy’s “Maritime Strategy.” As the Soviet naval force grew during the 1970s, U.S. commanders became increasingly concerned with the offensive capabilities of hundreds of silent Soviet submarines and long-range aircraft, supplemented by a small but growing surface threat.13 In reality, navy and CIA analysts believed that most of the Red Navy would remain on the defensive in case of war, but their superiors felt that they had to prepare for the worst eventuality. North Korean, Chinese, and revolutionary Iranian naval forces, although limited, presented additional regional threats. Moreover, other threats such as terrorism and narcotics smuggling required naval forces. Like their counterparts in the army and air force, naval commanders felt that they had inadequate resources to accomplish even minimal wartime missions, such as convoying reinforcements across the North Atlantic or ensuring Western access to Persian Gulf petroleum. Given the Reagan administration’s openly pro-defense, confrontational approach to the Soviet Union, navy leaders sought both a different strategy and a major increase in forces.

In 1977, Adm. Thomas Hayward, commander-in-chief, Pacific, began to argue for a different strategy he called “Sea Strike.” Rather than withdrawing naval forces from the Pacific to support a war in Europe, Hayward wanted to attack the Trans-Siberian Railroad and other Soviet vulnerabilities in Asia.14 He recognized that he might lose one or more carriers in the process of such strikes but believed the risk was necessary. Haywood carried these ideas with him when he served as Chief of Naval Operations from 1978 to 1982.

The resulting Maritime Strategy prepared to fight a general war but hoped to deter such a conflict by demonstrating to the Soviet Union that the Red Navy would be unable to conduct the kind of open-ocean interdiction and raiding strategy that Moscow’s navy seemed designed to execute. In 1984, an unclassified version of this strategy appeared in public, both to communicate the intent to Moscow and to encourage domestic support for naval expenditures.15 Ironically, the long-term Soviet spy, John Walker Jr., may have increased Soviet apprehensions by giving them access to U.S. Navy encrypted communications and therefore knowledge of U.S. capabilities.

The U.S. Navy began to practice an aggressive, forward-deployed presence in the Norwegian Sea, North Pacific, and other Arctic areas. In 1984, a three–aircraft carrier task force exercised in the western Pacific, with two of the battle groups built around USS Midway and USS Enterprise then going into the Sea of Japan south of Vladivostok.16 In a 1986 article, then–Chief of Naval Operations James Watkins wrote that, in the event of conventional war in Europe, the navy would seek to destroy Soviet ballistic missile as well as attack submarines.17 Constant probing by American attack submarines, coupled with frequent and risky carrier operations, sought to force the Soviets onto the defensive. Over the course of the decade, some U.S. officials believed that this approach succeeded in forcing the Soviet Navy to devote most of its assets to securing a “bastion” in the Barents Sea and Sea of Okhotsk. There Soviet attack submarines and ASW ships would focus on protecting the ballistic missile submarines.18 The naval threat to these submarines had the same potentially destabilizing effect on deterrence accomplished by the much better-known Strategic Defense Initiative.

The Maritime Strategy was not simply a more offensive stance relative to the Soviet Navy, but rather a general approach to using sea power to support national strategy. In the process, the navy achieved greater integration with the Coast Guard and, on occasion, the other armed services. In 1987, such integration culminated in the formation of United States Transportation Command to manage both military sealift and air transport.19 Despite this progress, however, the unique demands of a career at sea meant that most naval officers had little exposure to the other services.

The Six-Hundred-Ship Navy

The navy needed not only technology and strategy but vessels with which to fight, although critics alleged that the offensively focused Maritime Strategy was a political argument used to justify naval expansion.20 The Vietnam conflict had limited naval construction between 1966 and 1970 to 88 units, as compared to 209—primarily minor combatants—for the Soviet Navy. Moreover, many World War II–era vessels had reached the end of their service life during the 1960s and early 1970s. The Carter administration’s efforts to “stretch out” new construction unintentionally exacerbated the problem. For example, the Electric Boat division of General Dynamics had underbid to gain all the new submarine contracts let in the later Carter years, so that its New London, Connecticut, shipyard was backlogged while a rival shipyard had to lay off skilled submarine builders. Total active fleet units in the U.S. Navy declined from 769 in 1970 to 512 in 1971 and 479 by 1980.21

Within the Reagan administration, the primary advocate for a strong navy was John F. Lehman Jr., who became secretary of the navy at age thirty-eight in 1981 and continued in that position until 1987. A former air force reservist and reserve naval flight officer, Lehman was a controversial bureaucratic in-fighter who helped retire nuclear power legend Hyman Rickover and sometimes used the president’s support to overcome opposition within the Defense Department. He had considerable success advancing the goal of a six-hundred-ship navy, by which he meant six hundred combatant ships plus logistical support vessels. Achieving this level was impossible without starving the other services of funding, but Lehman came as close as his superiors and Congress would permit.

Underwater, this meant not only a new generation of Ohio class Trident ballistic missile submarines but also a group of Los Angeles class attack submarines with advanced provisions to operate silently while detecting other submarines. The latter had the mission of tracking and in wartime sinking Soviet missile submarines.

On and over the water, the Carter administration had settled on an objective of twelve aircraft carriers; by 1981, the navy had thirteen carriers, of which two were more than forty years old. Lehman and other sea power advocates believed that the navy needed at least fifteen carrier battle groups. Although in wartime all fifteen would be deployed, for sustained Cold War operations the navy planned on a rotating policy that envisioned groups of three carriers on rotation for each of the geographic areas the navy supported, such as the Mediterranean Sea.22 At any given time, therefore, five carriers (including one forward deployed to Japan) would be on station, five carriers in home port for maintenance and crew leave, and the final five training or deploying to and from their designated areas.

To reach this goal, the navy lobbied to start construction on two Nimitz class nuclear carriers in fiscal year 1983 in return for no new carriers in the following year. In theory, at least, this would save per-unit costs by permitting the navy to purchase multiple sets of equipment for a carrier at the same time. The growth in defense budgets permitted service life enhancement rebuilds for the older carriers as well as a total of four Nimitz carriers over the decade.23

Even fifteen carriers would have been insufficient to provide a strong presence simultaneously in all the areas of American concern, and the advent of larger Soviet surface ships during the 1970s encouraged renewed interest in battleships. The Reagan administration therefore sought to increase its naval reach by creating four surface action groups formed around the Iowa class battleships built during World War II and maintained in an inactive status. The Carter administration had begun this process by funding renovation of one battleship. The battleships received not only new electronics and Phalanx point defense guns but also launchers to deploy both Tomahawk cruise missiles and Harpoon anti-ship missiles. In theory, at least, the Tomahawk permitted these battleships to launch conventional or nuclear warheads at ranges up to 2,500 kilometers.

These battleships had considerable psychological value both in recruiting volunteers and threatening adversaries with naval gunfire. However, they were expensive to maintain—$2.2 million per month during a deployment off the Lebanese coast24—and their crews, even with modernized equipment, ran to 1,800 sailors each without counting the crews of escort vessels. On April 19, 1989, a freak explosion in the number 2 turret of the Iowa killed forty-seven sailors, provoking further criticism of the program.25 With the military draw-down at the end of the Cold War, the navy decommissioned and retired the battleships after they had participated in Operation Desert Storm.

Secretary Lehman clashed not only with other politicians but also with Admiral Hayward, Chief of Naval Operations in 1978–82. Hayward’s successor, James D. Watkins (1982–86), complemented Lehman’s budgetary efforts by working to improve readiness, jointness, and education. Watkins tried to refocus the Naval War College from management to tactics and strategy, including assigning more successful ship commanders to Newport as faculty and students. He negotiated a 1982 memorandum of agreement with the air force chief of staff, leading to such cooperation as training navy navigators at air force bases and arming B-52s with Harpoon anti-ship missiles. Recognizing the limits of active-duty strength, Lehman and Watkins focused on the naval reserve, ensuring the latest equipment and training for two reserve carrier air wings as well as reserve transportation and construction units plus mixed active and reserve crews for forty ships, including fifteen frigates and eighteen minesweepers.26

AirLand Battle

In the late 1970s, Army Chief of Staff Gen. Edward Meyer wanted a revised operational doctrine that would avoid the tactical, defensive, Europe-only limitations of the 1976 edition of Field Manual [FM] 100-5: Operations (see chapter 9). At the same time, General DePuy’s successor as commander of TRADOC, General Starry, pushed his staff to develop operational concepts that eventually produced a revised FM 100-5 in 1982. Based on his recent experiences as a corps commander in Germany, Starry was convinced that ground commanders had to see and act at much greater distances, identifying, interdicting, and disrupting second-and third-echelon adversary forces. This viewpoint led Starry and his doctrine writers to refocus above the tactical level of divisions, brigades, and battalions. In turn, this meant greater emphasis on corps and higher-level headquarters that would plan at the operational level of war, generating forces and anticipating situations that would be resolved at the tactical level. Although focused primarily on the Warsaw Pact, the new doctrine also included operations in the Middle East and Korea. This development had a variety of labels before emerging, in 1981, as AirLand Battle. In contrast to the defensive, tactical focus of Depuy’s doctrine, AirLand Battle emphasized B. H. Liddell-Hart’s Indirect Approach and stressed subordinate leadership in terms of initiative, agility, and synchronization of weapons effects.27

AirLand Battle reintroduced a long-extant, largely German concept of three levels of war. Put simply, strategy determines overall objectives in a war, tactics involves the actual conduct of battle, and the operational level seeks to connect the two in a process sometimes described as campaign planning—allocating ground and air combat power to a series of engagements that, over weeks or months, should enable the commander to achieve the strategic objectives. Without dismissing the complexities of modern battle that DePuy had addressed in the 1976 FM 100-5, the new doctrine took a larger perspective up to a theater of war. As a corollary, this new perspective required that staff college and higher-level students have a much greater understanding of theater logistics, large-scale maneuvers, and integration with both the USAF and allied armed forces.

One of the new doctrine’s primary authors, then–Lt. Col. Huba Wass de Czege, persuaded Gen. Glen Otis, Starry’s successor as TRADOC commander, to create an intellectually intensive course for the principal staff officers who would plan and conduct such operations. Beginning in 1983, the School of Advanced Military Studies offered an additional year of instruction for selected graduates of the command and general staff officer course at Fort Leavenworth. The graduates of this program, facetiously referred to as “Jedi Knights,” became the army’s principal planners.28 The other services opened similar programs in the 1990s.

The Army of Excellence

Just as with the navy’s Maritime Strategy, implementing AirLand Battle against the Warsaw Pact forces necessitated better-trained, larger, and more-elaborate land forces. The new weapon systems and training reforms of the 1970s (see chapter 9) came to fruition over the next decade. Longer enlistments and more frequent reenlistments permitted soldiers to reach higher levels of proficiency than had been possible in the draftee army. To encourage this, the Department of the Army experimented with “cohorts”—combat arms companies and batteries that would remain together for several years at a time—although the administrative difficulties involved proved too great to generalize the program. Instead, the army introduced “regimental affiliation”—a vaguer form of unit identification than had existed prior to the unification of promotion lists in 1920. Repetitive assignments in the same or similar units, which had once been customary only in airborne and other specialized organizations, became more common for all enlisted soldiers; officers still had to contend with frequent reassignment to “branch immaterial” jobs, although even for them, average tour lengths tended to increase to three or four years at one post. These efforts increased unit cohesion and family satisfaction while saving the cost of moving soldiers so frequently. Nonetheless, there were always scarce specialties that were constantly moving, such as signals intercept sergeants who spoke a particular foreign language. Moreover, as increasing numbers of soldiers married other soldiers with different qualifications, personnel requirements frequently imposed long separations on those couples.29

With many false starts and embarrassing “defeats” at the National Training Center, the system of individual and collective training, introduced in the 1970s, brought the army to a new level of competence in executing the complex tasks of maneuver warfare. This high tempo of training placed considerable stress on noncommissioned officers, many of whom were constantly assigned as either troop leaders or drill instructors in basic training. Moreover, stateside units still suffered shortages of personnel, spare parts, and other resources to keep their overseas counterparts at full strength. Overall, however, the peacetime army of the 1980s was better trained than at any time in a century.

Full implementation of AirLand Battle doctrine required numerous structural changes, which TRADOC labeled “the Army of Excellence.” Beginning in 1979, it developed new organizational concepts generally referred to as Corps 86 and Division 86. A “heavy” or mechanized/armored division was an evolution of the structure of two decades earlier but expanded the aviation assets into a small brigade and added a combat electronic warfare and intelligence battalion, a multiple-launch rocket system battery, and other new systems so that the designed strength of this division fluctuated between 19,000 and 21,000 soldiers. Force planners made difficult decisions to balance desired capabilities with the difficulty of deploying worldwide, a problem that the Soviet Army rarely faced.30 The divisional combat engineer battalion alone was almost 1,000 strong, and it eventually evolved into a separate brigade headquarters with subordinate battalions to support the maneuver brigades.

This heavy division was intended to fight Warsaw Pact or similarly equipped opponents. At the same time, the Defense Department and the army in particular was increasingly aware of the need for lightly equipped infantry that could be deployed rapidly to other situations, generally referred to as “contingencies.” Even the 82nd Airborne Division would take up to two weeks to deploy fully to the Middle East.31 Although the 9th Infantry Division provided a test bed for a hybrid high tech formation, that seemed too bulky for contingency missions. Instead, General Meyer and his successors as chief of staff pressed for a rapidly deployable division. What finally emerged in 1984 was a new light division, limited in theory to 10,000 soldiers and (ideally) deployable in five hundred sorties of C-141B transport aircraft. (In practice, a fully loaded C-141 would have minimal fuel on board, so that for an actual deployment more sorties would be necessary.) To achieve these goals, the resulting division had limited tactical mobility in light wheeled vehicles and reduced firepower in terms of artillery and anti-tank weapons. One National Guard and three active divisions eventually adopted the light configuration. Force planners intended that, in the event such a light division had to fight in a mechanized environment, it would receive “plugs” or attachments including artillery, anti-tank, attack helicopter, air defense, and combat support units. It remained an open question whether these outside plugs could integrate into an existing division’s operating procedures and still fight effectively.32

The army expanded from sixteen active and eight National Guard divisions in 1980 to eighteen active and ten Guard divisions nine years later. Special operations forces had also expanded, including two airborne Ranger infantry battalions activated in 1974 that grew into a three-battalion Ranger regiment. Yet, the active-duty strength of the army actually declined from 776,536 in 1980 to 769,741 in 1989.33 This tight personnel ceiling prompted the army to make a number of compromises. In addition to limiting the size of the light infantry divisions, the army eliminated some nondivisional support troops, such as engineer construction units, to create new combat divisions, increasing the “tooth to tail” ratio. This in turn meant that the army lost capabilities that would have to be replaced by contractors in a combat zone. More significantly, the active units depended increasingly on reserve component augmentation, especially adding National Guard (or in one instance Army Reserve) brigades to bring the active divisions up to strength. At one time or another, eleven of the eighteen active divisions had designated “round-out brigades” of this kind, including all the light divisions and, most pressingly, the 24th Infantry Division (Mechanized), the designated heavy force for CENTCOM.34 Most of these divisions had only two of three active-duty maneuver brigade headquarters and six of ten maneuver battalions, the remainder coming from the National Guard. Because of the limited training time (thirty-eight to thirty-nine days per year) available to reserve components, round-out brigades received new equipment such as M-1 tanks even before their parent active-duty divisions. The officers and soldiers of the units participated frequently in active-duty exercises, including rotations to the NTC. Despite these efforts, when three round-out brigades were mobilized in 1990, the active army refused to deploy them to the Middle East even after extensive active-duty training. Other elements of the Guard and reserve, both army and air force, participated fully in the 1991 conflict, but the failure to use the round-out brigades created a political issue and cast doubt on future reserve-active integration.35

In addition to units and training, the army made significant logistical investments during the 1980s. Planners estimated that daily consumption of supplies by a corps operating under AirLand Battle doctrine would be 15,750 tons, necessitating large ammunition stocks and new methods of moving supplies on the battlefield. Because of the delays and risks of shipping heavy equipment across the North Atlantic in wartime, the army gradually developed six full division sets of equipment, known as Prepositioned Material Configured in Unit Sets (POMCUS), stored and maintained in Western Europe so that soldiers arriving by air could pick up these duplicate equipment sets and proceed to fight.36 Nor was this a onetime investment. For example, as each stateside unit acquired the M-1A1 tank with a 120 mm instead of a 105 mm main gun, its POMCUS equipment in Europe required replacement with matching vehicles and ammunition supplies.37

Battlefield Air Interdiction

The U.S. Army could neither move forces strategically nor defeat adversaries tactically without the support of the other services. By law, it was the only service forbidden to have large transport aircraft or fixed-wing fighter-bombers. The implementation of AirLand Battle therefore required a closer interaction between army and air force leaders at every level.

To achieve this integration, TRADOC worked closely with Tactical Air Command, which had similar doctrinal responsibilities in the air force. During the 1970s, the two headquarters made considerable progress on matters of joint cooperation. Because General Abrams had eliminated the field army level of command in the army in 1973, the two services had to develop new means of coordinating corps headquarters with the theater-level air operations center; in practice, this meant that army division headquarters had to submit some requests for air support thirty-six hours in advance, in order for that request to pass through the corps headquarters and enter the twenty-four-hour planning cycle of the air operations center. On a separate issue, in 1981 General Starry and the TAC commander, General Creech, signed an agreement on Joint Suppression of Enemy Air Defense.38

The most contentious issue was offensive air support—the nature and amount of USAF tactical bombing in support of ground elements. Traditionally, airpower advocates sought to limit such support, especially close to the line of contact, arguing that it was inefficient and unnecessarily risky to have aircraft attack individual targets in the field when they could destroy larger numbers by interdicting enemy supply lines, where those targets were massed for movement forward. While acknowledging the efficiency of such an approach, ground commanders wanted both input as to which targets were struck and the psychological effect of using some fighter-bombers to attack at the front, where both sides could see the effects of air support.39

In 1979, both the USAF and NATO introduced a new concept that seemed to address this issue: Battlefield Air Interdiction (BAI). BAI recognized that ground commanders had a significant interest in target selection close to but not actually on the line of contact. The 1979 version of Air Force Manual 1-1 described the concept:

That portion of the air interdiction mission which may have a direct or near-term effect on surface operations—referred to by the term “battlefield air interdiction”—requires the air and surface commanders to coordinate their respective operations to insure the most effective support of the combined arms team.40

In a series of agreements, first between TRADOC and TAC and eventually between the army and air force staffs, the two services subscribed to the concept of BAI. Throughout the 1980s, staffs of the two services worked on a series of issues related to deep attack, generally known as the “31 Initiatives.” In practice, however, BAI remained an unresolved matter in the minds of many, especially those Air Force officers who believed firmly in the independence and central direction of airpower.41 Nor was the army blameless in this dispute. During the 1980s, the army developed a robust attack helicopter capability that partially filled the requirement for fighter-bombers, but the existence of these helicopters complicated airspace management between the two services. To simplify helicopter operations, army aviation planners wished to push the fire support coordination line many kilometers beyond the line of contact with the enemy—thereby hampering joint close air support and annexing much of the area that should have been covered by air force BAI. Such disagreements remained unresolved in Desert Storm (1991) and even in Operation Iraqi Freedom (2003). By contrast, the USMC, which had its own internal fixed-wing air support, experienced relatively few coordination problems.

The “Air Campaign”

Discrepancies between the services about their relationship on the battlefield reflected a resurgence of Guilio Douhet’s 1921 theory that airpower could win a war without assistance from the other services. The advent of precision-guided munitions, new targeting capabilities, and low observable (“stealth”) aircraft encouraged some airpower advocates to believe that technology had finally caught up with Douhet’s vision, by which an almost invulnerable air force could by its sole actions disorganize and defeat a nation-state from the air. The most articulate spokesperson for this resurgence of airpower was Col. John A. Warden III. The title of Warden’s 1988 book, The Air Campaign: Planning for Combat, rejected the concept of air-ground cooperation at the operational level of war. While acknowledging that naval and ground forces might eliminate enemy forces that could not be reached otherwise, Warden argued that a single arm—the air force—could prevail by itself.42 Warden eventually elaborated his basic concept, envisioning an enemy state as five concentric rings to be targeted, with fielded military forces as the outer, most obvious target, leading progressively through population, infrastructure, and organic essentials (such as communications) to the central target, the enemy’s command and leadership. Building on the decapitation discussions involved in nuclear warfare theory, Colonel Warden focused on the inner circle as the most decisive point.43

Such target analysis was a useful tool in planning for Operation Desert Storm, where airpower advocates claimed to have won the war unassisted. In practice, that campaign was a relatively conventional operation conducted with new technology, resulting in unrealistic expectations about low casualties in subsequent operations of the 1990s.44

Goldwater-Nichols

In an era where the complexity and technology of warfare seemed to demand increasing integration at every level, each of the armed services still tended to plan for its own, independent operations. With notable exceptions such as Adm. William Crowe, the most successful career officers developed by maximizing their time in tactical operations of their own service while avoiding duty in interservice or “joint” headquarters and school faculties. In addition to the divergent theories of sea power (Mahan) and airpower (Douhet), the different experiences of junior officers unconsciously shaped their perceptions when they reached flag rank. To cite one example, consider the differences in logistics. Army and marine ground officers faced a constant challenge of logistical resupply at the retail level—every one of their dispersed subordinate elements needed food, fuel, spare parts, mail, tactical communications, and in wartime ammunition on a daily basis. Each time a unit moved on the battlefield, the troops had to relocate radio antennae, camouflage nets, and operations centers, an arduous physical challenge especially given the need to maintain continuous operations during the movement. By contrast, few naval officers had to reestablish communications antennae each day or determine where their subordinates would work, eat, sleep, and receive mail. Instead, commanders at sea faced a different but equally complex set of logistical challenges at the wholesale level, where the U.S. Navy had perfected underway replenishment at sea. In the case of an aircraft carrier, C-2A Greyhound light transports delivered critical equipment, replacement personnel, and spare parts to keep the battle group at sea until it had expended its ordnance or required major repairs. Conventionally powered warships needed regular refueling, but again this was a process for the entire ship, not each division or section of the crew. The profound differences between the services in this regard are reflected in an apocryphal quotation from World War II. Chief of Naval Operations Adm. Ernest King allegedly remarked that he did not know what these “logistics” were that Army Chief of Staff Gen. George Marshall was always discussing, “but I want some.” Similar contrasts existed in the realm of tactics, where a naval commander had to think in terms of simultaneous air, surface, and subsurface threats, whereas ground officers were concerned only with the first two.

The Eagle Claw failure in Iran again illustrated that the U.S. military needed some process to ensure that its leaders had the experience and knowledge to work with their counterparts in the other services. This was one of the goals embodied in the Goldwater-Nichols Department of Defense Reorganization Act of 1986.45 Goldwater-Nichols established an elaborate process of identifying specific duty positions that would give the occupant joint experience and then directed changes in military education and personnel processes to ensure that officers who had such experience would get equal consideration for promotion at every rank. Beginning in 1992, five years after the law took effect, the services were effectively forbidden to promote any combatant officer to general or admiral unless that officer met the education and experience requirements of jointness. The law also specified frequent studies and reports to Congress to ensure compliance with these requirements.

The new emphasis on jointness went largely unnoticed by the general public but caused significant disruption and controversy within the services. The navy was notably slow to meet the new requirements, because it traditionally emphasized sea duty and discouraged the long-term shore assignments necessary for joint education and staff experience.46

The second major effect embodied in Goldwater-Nichols was more visible and controversial: changes in the senior command structure of the Defense Department. One particular source of friction was the expectation that the Joint Chiefs of Staff—the Chief of Naval Operations, commandant of the marine corps, and chiefs of staff of the army and air force—had to reach consensus on the advice they gave to the president, thereby watering down their influence.47 Previous attempts at reorganization had provoked considerable resistance, and many legislators preferred to maintain service divisions as a means of congressional control.48 However, General Meyer as chief of staff persuaded Sen. Samuel Nunn, a well-known advocate for national defense, that change was overdue with regard to joint operations. Nunn in turn converted Barry Goldwater, a major general in the USAF reserve, who chaired the Senate Armed Services Committee.49

Goldwater had his own view of what changes should occur. In 1983, he publicly stated that, while he respected the concept of civilian control of the military, he believed that this system had contributed negatively to the outcome of the Korean and Vietnamese conflicts.50 Instead, he attempted to enhance the position and stature of the chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff and the unified and specified commanders-in-chief (CINCs). Goldwater-Nichols officially made the chairman the principal military adviser to the president, the defense secretary, and the National Security Council. The same act created a vice chairman of the Joint Chiefs and gave the chairman control over the Joint Staff. Although the law specified that the chairman did not have any command authority, critics contended that his new position in effect put him in the chain of command as coequal with the defense secretary.51 In practice, for example, Gen. Colin Powell as chairman elaborated on the president’s directions and was the conduit between the president and the CINC of Central Command during the 1991 conflict.

By contrast, the 1986 act restricted the service chiefs to advisory and administrative roles only, ending the quasi-operational role they had assumed in past contingency situations. The unified and specified CINCs were now the operational commanders of deployed U.S. forces.

The Weinberger Doctrine

This expanded role for senior commanders reflected a widely held belief that the line between military and civilian authority had become confused during the Cold War. Military officers who had served repeated assignments in Korea, Vietnam, and the Dominican Republic believed, rightly or wrongly, that politicians had committed the nation to battle without clearly defined objectives, sufficient forces, and adequate public support. The deployment of U.S. marines to Beirut in 1983 (see chapter 7) appeared to be a tragic repetition of these errors. At the same time, public opinion was increasingly skeptical about the necessity and morality of using military force in the limited manner so common in the Cold War. Such skepticism was especially common during the 1980s, when critics feared that the Reagan administration would commit the United States to war in Central America or elsewhere.

On November 28, 1984, Defense Secretary Caspar Weinberger addressed this question in a speech at the National Press Club. The Washington Post promptly dubbed his ideas the “Weinberger Doctrine,”52 although subsequent commentators alleged that the author was the secretary’s military assistant, then–Maj. Gen. Colin Powell. Powell denied having written it. Regardless of authorship, the speech reflected the desires of many officials, both civilian and military, for a clear delineation between civilian leaders assigning a measurable mission and military leaders executing that mission promptly and overwhelmingly.

Weinberger expressed his ideas in terms of six principles, which can be summarized as follows: Military forces should be used only as a last resort and only in defense of American vital interests. If the government decides to employ force, it must ensure that the mission is clearly defined and achievable, using all necessary military power and ensuring public support for the conflict.53 Weinberger had opposed the Beirut deployment for these same reasons but lost out to the State Department’s ill-defined effort to stabilize a confused situation.54

While admirable as a statement of principle, the Weinberger Doctrine did not always fit the realities of limited conflict against clandestine or non-state actors. As Andrew Krepinevich observed, the doctrine appeared to define low-intensity conflict out of existence, since few counterinsurgencies would constitute a true vital interest of the United States.55 The ability to halt communist-inspired insurgencies with a few dozen advisers deployed to places such as Bolivia and El Salvador appeared vastly preferable to waiting until those insurgencies became Phase III conventional conflicts. Moreover, many of the onerous political restrictions placed on Western forces during the Cold War reflected what politicians believed, rightly or wrongly, would be acceptable to the public. The Iran-Contra affair (chapter 3) was an unfortunate example of well-intentioned but wrongheaded government officials taking actions expressly forbidden by Congress.

Procurement Problems

Behind all the challenges of national policy and military doctrine stood the ongoing issue of defense procurement. When Dwight Eisenhower warned of the growing “military-industrial complex” in 1961, the government was still an equal partner in research and production—the air force owned many of the factories that manufactured its aircraft, the Springfield Arsenal was the designer and principal manufacturer of M14 rifles, and the army’s Redstone Arsenal provided the core of expertise for the burgeoning space program. Over the next decade, however, contractors became dominant. Private shipyards pressured Congress to eliminate competition from naval yards. Defense Secretary McNamara vigorously pushed privatization of manufacturing to cut costs, selling off government-owned facilities and closing the Springfield Arsenal. McNamara also sought to rationalize logistics and inventory control, establishing the Defense Logistics Agency (1961), the Army Materiel Command (1962), and the Naval Materiel Command (1966). Air force criticism of the former Nazi scientists working at Redstone torpedoed that arsenal’s role in army missile programs, although much of its design staff worked for NASA. McNamara also turned to civilian academics for expertise. Later in the decade, opposition to the Vietnam conflict prompted some universities to reject research contracts with the military, so that such contracts went increasingly to a limited number of campuses.56

Underbid by foreign competitors with newer manufacturing plants, American industry withered rapidly during the 1960s and 1970s, making American companies increasingly dependent on government contracts. The U.S. Navy became virtually the only customer for surviving American shipyards, while aircraft manufacturers merged with each other such that only a few survived. Congress and the Defense Department found themselves engaging in a form of tacit socialism, distributing contracts between a dwindling number of defense manufacturers in such a way as to keep those manufacturers in business and maintain their capabilities for the future. When the cost of the C-5A transport aircraft reached triple the original estimate, the government acted to maintain the solvency of the producer, Lockheed, because the USAF needed that aircraft’s capability.57

The multifunction logistics commands created by McNamara were largely civilianized in both their staffs and the suppliers with whom they dealt. They therefore acquired a reputation, perhaps undeserved, of being unconcerned with the needs of the troops. In 1973, a review committee led to a restructuring and renaming of Army Materiel Command into the Materiel Development and Readiness Command. An infantryman with previous acquisition experience, Gen. John Deane, took command and prodded his subordinates into more responsive support to the field as well as more efficient procurement.58

Privatization accelerated in the later Cold War, when the all-volunteer military made contractors appear to be a cheaper alternative to restricted military manpower. In theory, “outsourcing” permitted the government to save retirement and other personnel costs by employing only the people it needed for a specified time period. Private industry could hire better engineers and other specialists because it was not constrained by civil service salaries and rules. Advocates of free enterprise also claimed that private businessmen were more cost-conscious than government employees and thus avoided waste.

Alongside such alleged benefits of contracting were significant drawbacks. First, if a particular function, such as security guards, was likely to endure indefinitely, the argument for saving costs by outsourcing disappeared as the government in effect paid both the retirement expenses of contract employees and the profits of their employers. Next, the budgetary process made long-term planning impossible. The Constitution limits appropriations for the army to no more than two years’ duration (i.e., a congressional term), and with a few exceptions, such as warships, in practice Congress chose to limit all defense appropriations to a single fiscal year. Even after 1976, when Congress shifted the start of the fiscal year from July 1 to October 1, there was no certainty that these appropriations would be finalized before the fiscal year started. This meant that a contractor had to wait until the appropriations process was complete, often months into the fiscal year, before knowing how many copies of a weapon that contractor was supposed to manufacture—the contractor could not buy subassemblies or employ subcontractors until the last minute, which forced businesses to pay a premium in subcontracting costs. A few contracts, especially to develop advanced technology, might be issued on the basis of the government paying all costs plus a set profit or overhead margin, but these were the exceptions. Moreover, when the United States committed its forces to battle, Congress might well “throw money at the problem” as it did in 1942, 1950, and 1981, inadvertently wasting funds by overwhelming suppliers accustomed to limited, peacetime quantities.

Despite such uncertainties, Congress’s understandable focus on the per-unit cost of military aircraft and other systems meant that manufacturers had to hold their bids to the lowest feasible level. This sometimes meant that research and development costs could only be repaid if a large production run ensued. With such arbitrary restrictions, a contractor might have only two opportunities to recoup overhead costs and turn a profit: pricy spare parts and military sales to foreign governments.

Special technical requirements sometimes explained why certain parts cost so much, but those parts were rarely purchased under competitive bids.59 Consider two examples found by a 1984 congressional investigation of high prices. First, the USAF paid $2,000 each for specialized pliers to retrieve a precision wire from a cryogenic container on the KC-135 tanker. Next, the navy paid $600 each for custom-built ashtrays in E-2C aircraft. In this second case, the contractor’s price was cheaper than the navy’s own estimate. Nonetheless, Secretary Lehman, concerned about the perception of waste, fired an admiral and briefly dissolved the Naval Materiel Command.60 After several highly publicized spare-parts issues of this kind, Defense Secretary Weinberger placated Congress with his creation of an assistant secretary for spare-parts management and his so-called “ten commandments” to fight price abuse.61 In practice, however, procurement and defense systems had become so arcane that it was difficult for Congress or the Defense Department to manage the new systems effectively.

Sometimes, selling additional copies of an American weapon overseas might lower the per-unit costs to the taxpayer while ensuring profits for the manufacturer. However, sales of high technology weapons and ordnance had significant implications both for American diplomacy—as when Saudi Arabia or Israel used American-made munitions to attack its enemies—and for compromise of special capabilities to foreign adversaries. In the 1980s the U.S. Navy unexpectedly faced F-14s, Harpoon missiles, and other weapons sold to Iran before the revolution.

Other issues were also involved. Retired career soldiers, civil servants, and former congressmen hired themselves out to contractors, using their expertise and personal contacts to serve the interests of their new employer. These consultants usually believed in the products they advocated, but the result was not always the best use of defense funds. Politicians lobbied to ensure that their constituents received at least part of each major contract, such that a bidder whose facilities were spread over many congressional districts was more likely to win than was one doing business in only a few places, even when concentration saved shipping costs.

Despite a massive influx in funding and major improvements in capabilities, the U.S. armed forces were not without challenges during the 1980s. In addition to contracting issues, the services continued to struggle with problems their recruits brought with them from American society, including racial or gender bias and substance abuse. The latter required a decade of random urinalysis and summary discharges to bring under temporary control.

Moreover, precision-guided munitions and other technological developments encouraged the different services to seek independent victory rather than integrating with the other services to maximize America’s defense capabilities. The American contingency operations of the decade, replete with political constraints determined by civilian authority, highlighted military divisions as well as strengths.




CHAPTER 12

SCHADENFREUDE FOR THE SOVIETS

From 1977 to 1981, William Odom, one of the U.S. Army’s foremost analysts of Soviet affairs, served as military assistant to the national security advisor, Zbigniew Brzezinski. On January 9, 1980, two weeks after the Soviet coup in Kabul, General Odom wrote a memorandum to his boss:

The Soviets will either pacify Afghanistan quickly and leave a token force or be forced into a war of attrition. [Two Afghan resistance representatives] believe the latter is far more likely because about four million tribesmen live along the border with Pakistan. They have an ancient tradition of fighting Kabul and a strong memory of having successfully resisted the British.1

Odom went on to note that the resistance needed anti-aircraft and anti-tank weapons and requested guidance on how to proceed. From a simple beginning, the Afghan conflict grew into the most visible of a series of military challenges to the Soviet Union during the 1980s, including difficulties in research and development, production, and ethnic separatism. The resulting collapse was by no means inevitable—Soviet military power was still formidable even in 1991—but military, political, and economic developments interacted in a manner that ultimately weakened the USSR.

The Afghan Resistance

Beginning in 1978, the Central Intelligence Agency provided limited assistance to the anti-government elements within Afghanistan, primarily as a spoiler to prevent an easy victory for the Soviet-backed regime. Ten days before the coup in Kabul, a National Security Council coordinating committee decided to expand this aid.2

As General Secretary Brezhnev and Marshal Ogarkov had feared, the advent of foreign troops aroused much greater opposition than the previous, ill-considered actions of the People’s Democratic Party of Afghanistan. Afghan Army desertions continued at a rapid pace, and by February 1980 the Moscow government realized that, contrary to its original belief, the Afghan satellite forces could not conduct the counterinsurgency by themselves. The Fortieth Army began offensive operations that caused widespread civilian casualties, further fanning the flames of resistance.3 The resulting mujahideen (strugglers) were by no means unified or organized, being divided by the religious and other divisions that plagued their country and eventually falling into seven factions.4 Outside supporters encouraged these divisions.

Most adult males in rural Afghanistan carried firearms, although in 1979 these weapons were often bolt-action .303 caliber Lee-Enfield rifles and even Martini-Henry breech-loaders from the 1880s.5 Over the course of the conflict, however, the insurgents acquired more-modern rifles as well as machine guns, recoilless rifles, and other crew-served weapons, often from defectors or prisoners. As mujahideen firepower increased, Soviet motorized riflemen became more reluctant to engage the enemy at close range.6
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In June 1980, the mujahideen reportedly ambushed and isolated a motorized rifle battalion on a twisting mountain road between Gardez and Khost. When the Soviet vehicles were unable to elevate their guns to engage the ambushers on the heights around the road, panic ensued, and much of the battalion died.7 In more open terrain, however, Soviet firepower initially discouraged the resistance from large formation attacks, and the mujahideen dispersed into small units. By 1984, the most effective rebel leaders had again assembled full-time units of five hundred to nine hundred men.8

Quite apart from the opposition, Afghanistan was a challenging place to fight. Severe weather limited fighting between November and March each year. The country had few paved roads and almost no railroads, with nearly impassable terrain.9 At high altitude, low air density restricted the lift capacity of helicopters. The net result was that, for much of the conflict, the Soviets and their Afghan partners had little control outside of urban areas and major supply routes.

Soviet Limitations

Prior to the invasion, the Soviet General Staff had estimated that thirty to thirty-five divisions would be necessary to control Afghanistan, but the government never authorized more than the equivalent of six divisions. With the exception of the airborne and other elite units, the initial forces assigned to Fortieth Army had mobilized in accordance with World War II Soviet doctrine, under which the neighboring military districts used local reservists to flesh out the skeletonized Category III divisions. These divisions had shortages of skilled technicians, and their reservists were often older and less well trained than active-duty draftees. In the spring of 1980, therefore, these divisions received an influx of Russian draftees to replace the reservists, all while engaged in active combat operations. Specialized units that were not needed in Afghanistan, including air defense and nondivisional artillery but not chemical decontamination units, returned to the Soviet Union. Separate combat brigades and smaller units, specially configured for the theater, eventually replaced the withdrawn units. Soviet Army strength peaked in 1986 at 108,000, of which 73,000 were combat troops; another 30,000 soldiers and airmen participated in operations while remaining based in the southern USSR. KGB and border guard troops added perhaps 10,000 to these totals, while small contingents of other communist armies, especially Cubans and Bulgarians, also participated. The Soviet Union’s total investment was never more than 2.1 percent of its armed forces.10 Because of frequent desertions, the Afghan Army, although nominally organized into four corps and thirteen divisions, usually mustered only 52,000 soldiers.

The majority of troop units were motorized rifle (mechanized infantry) troops, suitable only for convoy escort and other security tasks. Much of this security focused on the northeastern or Salang Highway portion of the ring road connecting the Soviet Union with Kabul. Parallel to this highway was a vulnerable fuel pipeline, with pumping stations protected by eight-man squads of conscripts. The mujahideen attacked both highway and pipeline frequently; in 1986 nearly one-third of a pipeline battalion received decorations.11

A sparse logistical support element meant that Soviet troops suffered from poor food, inadequate supplies, and limited medical care. Lack of supplies intensified the traditional Soviet system of Dedovshchina (reign of grandfathers). Veterans forced new arrivals to surrender parts of their uniforms and perform menial duties.12 Over time, the stress of isolation and shortages of traditional vodka led many soldiers to abuse the readily available narcotics of Afghanistan. Shortages of medical supplies as simple as clamps limited the ability of Soviet surgeons to help both their own troops and those of the Afghan Army. Epidemics including typhus, hepatitis, malaria, and chicken pox significantly reduced troop effectiveness.13

With most troops devoted to defensive tasks, only one-third of the Limited Contingent of Soviet Forces, primarily the airborne, air assault, and special operations units, were suited to and available for offensive operations in the difficult terrain of Afghanistan. These troops had better training and junior leadership than did the motorized rifle elements. That said, the institutional culture of the conscript Soviet Army, with its focus on operational-level maneuvers, placed little emphasis on the small unit leadership necessary for counterinsurgency. In eight years, the Soviets conducted at least nine division-sized sweeps in an effort to pacify the northeastern Panjshir Valley. Each such operation was a model of staff planning and firepower, incorporating air assaults as the Soviets mastered that technique. Yet, neither the Soviets nor their Afghan allies had sufficient troops to secure the valley after the sweep; as a result, they were forced to repeat the process.14

This institutional culture reflected an even larger problem: the absence of a detailed doctrine for counterinsurgency.15 Despite the extensive Russian and Soviet experience with fighting irregular forces, the invaders were even less prepared than their American counterparts in Southeast Asia. Like Che Guevara in the Congo and Bolivia, doctrinaire Soviets were oblivious to the claims of religion, tribe, and nationality. Having labeled themselves as “revolutionaries,” the Communist Party leaders and officers of the Soviet Union had difficulty understanding popular resistance to their “historically inevitable” revolution. Instead, they tended to assume that the mujahideen were motivated by foreign money and reactionary agitators. In late 1986, the chief of the General Staff, Marshal Sergeĭ Fëdorovich Akhromeev, admitted the war was unwinnable, telling the Politburo that “the Afghan people is now in its majority following the counter-revolutionaries.”16

To their credit, the Soviet military studied Mao Tse-tung and developed tactics to employ against guerrillas, but those tactics, which relied on indiscriminate firepower to compensate for lack of numbers, only alienated the populace further. In 1985, the Soviet commander, Gen. Valentin Varennikov, experimented with direct bargaining with Afghan elders for local cease-fires; he expressed surprise that all the elders requested was an end to bombing their villages.17

To further complicate counterinsurgency, there was no unity of command in the effort. As with the Americans in Vietnam, the Soviet military advisers were separate from the Fortieth Army chain of command. For fear of another coup, there was no central command linking the Afghan Army, gendarmerie, and intelligence service (Khadamat-e Aetla’at-e Dawlati, or KhAD). When the Afghan government acquired a Scud surface-to-surface missile battalion, that battalion was manned by KhAD, apparently for political reliability.18 The Soviets suffered from similarly divided commands.

Soviet Adjustments

The Soviet Army undertook significant changes to adjust to the new conflict. After their one-month initial induction training, conscripts bound for Afghanistan spent an additional three months in training camps in the Central Asian republics, where they could acclimate to the altitude and terrain they would face in their ensuing twenty months of service in Afghanistan itself.19 Commissioned and warrant officers generally served twenty-four months in country. GRU and KGB officers eventually studied a language for up to two years, although Communist Party advisers had almost no training before deployment.

Small unit leadership improved over time, and the Soviet Army also made some adjustments to equipment. Mikhail Kalashnikov, inventor of the famous AK-47 assault rifle, had designed the AK-74, which fired a 5.45 mm round that was lighter to carry and had less recoil than the 7.62 mm of the AK-47; the AK-74 appeared in Afghanistan in the mid-1980s. The limitation of this weapon, like the M16/M4 series rifles of the U.S. Army twenty years later, was its inaccuracy at long ranges in the mountains. Given the limited marksmanship training of most Soviet troops, such range limitations may have been more theoretical than real. The BMP-1 infantry combat vehicle gradually gave way to the BMP-20, whose stabilized, 30 mm automatic cannon provided more accurate and lethal fire support. Flak jackets also appeared, but these impeded dismounted operations in the mountains.20

Although Soviet generals continued to conduct large-scale sweeps, they also adjusted their tactics to the situation, relying especially on Spetsnaz (special operations) and airborne forces. Eventually, two Spetsnaz brigades, the 15th and 22nd, each comprising eight battalions, operated in Afghanistan under a group headquarters. Although the Spetsnaz sometimes secured key terrain before the advance of conventional ground troops, their principal role was to interdict mujahideen supply convoys.21 Meanwhile, battalion task forces of air assault troops conducted many operations, seeking to block escape routes until motorized rifle regiments could encircle an area being swept. Where possible, Afghan troops conducted the actual sweep and interrogation of residents. The occupiers became adept at flank security and tracking of convoys, while bulldozing everything within three hundred meters of the supply routes to reduce the chances for ambush.

The principal Soviet force multiplier—indeed, a force substitute—was airpower. The number of helicopters peaked at six hundred in 1982 and then declined thereafter. By 1985, the CIA estimated that there were 114 strike fighters based in Afghanistan. Long Range Aviation supplemented this on occasion; Prior to another sweep of the Panjshir Valley, thirty-six Tu-16 bombers attacked there, delivering a bomb tonnage equivalent to an “Arc Light” attack of three B-52s.22

The Soviets used this airpower as a bludgeon rather than a rapier. Forward air controllers and precise targets were rare, and the pilots usually conducted area bombing rather than aiming for specific targets. This terror bombing was deliberate—Soviet commanders sought to turn southern Afghanistan, near the Pakistani border, into an uninhabited desert that would no longer support mujahideen guerrillas in the region. Targets included villages, irrigation works, orchards, and crops. Considerable evidence suggests that the Soviets employed persistent chemical agents for the same purpose. Aircraft also dropped an estimated 2.7 million aerial mines, seeking to cripple pack animals used to carry supplies. A deplorable side-effect of this tactic was to inflict massive casualties among unsuspecting children who mistook the mines for toys.23

This firepower had its effect. Ultimately, 5.5 million of the 17 million population of Afghanistan became refugees in Iran and Pakistan, while another 2.2 million were internally displaced. At the cost of disrupting the economy and alienating much of the rural populace, the Soviet occupiers deprived their opponents of their support network. Instead, the mujahideen had to use caravans of draft animals and later convoys of light trucks to move supplies from the Pakistani border to the Soviet-controlled areas. In turn, Soviet aviation and Spetsnaz focused on interdicting the supply routes. By 1984, the attrition in pack animals prompted the CIA to import mules. Unfortunately for the mujahideen, the American mules ate more fodder, carried less cargo, and were more vulnerable to Afghan diseases than their local counterparts.24

The Covert Conflict

The American mules were one aspect of a consistent policy of covert action by both the Carter and Reagan administrations. The fullest expression of this policy was National Security Decision Directive 166, which Reagan signed in March 1985. In the largest CIA operation of the Cold War, the United States expended $2.15 billion between 1979 and 1988.25

Most of this aid, as well as that from Britain and China, was in the form of weapons, ammunition, and supplies. If a mujahideen leader needed something that the Americans could not provide, he sold American-supplied equipment or Afghan narcotics to obtain what he needed, thereby impeding America’s anti-drug efforts. Other state donors, especially Saudi Arabia, gave money that mitigated such supply issues. In 1984, Osama bin Laden and other wealthy Arabs founded the Afghan Services Bureau, providing both aid and Arab volunteers for the struggle. Hundreds of these Arabs, veterans of the Soviet conflict, later surfaced in Bosnia, while some participated in terror attacks against the West.26

Despite the large volume of American aid, the CIA had a very small presence on the ground. Instead, Washington funneled most of its assistance through the Pakistani Inter-Services Intelligence Agency (ISI). The ISI naturally acted in its own perceived interests in determining which mujahideen benefited from that assistance, in the process encouraging factional disputes. Because Pakistan wanted surrogates to control the Afghan border region and to use against India, it preferred to support groups motivated by radical Islam; in the 1990s this policy led to a close alliance between the ISI and the Taliban.27

Initially, the CIA and ISI agreed to provide Soviet-origin weapons that would be completely deniable. The results of this policy were ambiguous. Although most of the Soviet Union’s small arms and mines were serviceable, its light anti-aircraft weapons, such as the 12.7 mm and 14.5 mm heavy machine guns and the SA-7 (9K32) Strela shoulder-fired missile, had limited effect.28 The 1973 Yom Kippur War had already demonstrated that the 1.15 kg warhead of the original SA-7 was often inadequate to bring down modern aircraft.

Muhammad Zia-ul-Haq, the military ruler of Pakistan from 1978 to 1988, was especially concerned to avoid antagonizing Moscow even though American aid was an open secret. William Casey, the Director of Central Intelligence from 1981 to 1987, was equally opposed to giving advanced missiles to the mujahideen. Both men wanted to avoid or limit Soviet military incursions to attack refugee camps in Pakistan.

By 1985, Soviet raids along the Pakistani border and congressional agitation to aid the mujahideen had increased. U.S. officials correctly believed that Mikhail Gorbachev, the new general secretary in Moscow, was seeking an exit from the Afghan stalemate. Former congressional staffer Michael Pillsbury moved to the Defense Department in 1984 and began lobbying for more high technology American weapons not only in Afghanistan but also in Angola, Nicaragua, and Cambodia. In January 1986, Pillsbury organized a congressional delegation to visit Pakistan, where the congressmen heard General Zia reverse himself and request deployment of the FIM-92 Stinger missile. The Stinger, a second-generation shoulder-fired air defense weapon, had a warhead more than twice the weight of that of the SA-7 and a range of up to eight kilometers.29 After further debates within and between the Pakistani and American governments, mujahideen fired the first Stingers on September 26, 1986, then claimed to have downed three Mi-24 helicopters.30

The influence of this weapon should not be overstated. The Politburo had decided in principle to withdraw before the Stinger ever entered Afghanistan. Subsequent U.S. Army interviews of mujahideen claimed 269 kills out of 340 engagements, but exaggerated claims are common in aerial engagements. For comparison, the Fortieth Army acknowledged losing only 113 fixed-wing and 333 rotary-wing aircraft throughout the entire conflict.31 Moreover, while Soviet aircraft did fly at higher altitudes and at night to avoid the new missile, Afghan planes continued to press the attack and suffer significant casualties. Regardless of actual Soviet losses, the advent of the Stinger sharply reduced the effectiveness of Soviet airpower, eventually permitting mujahideen convoys and armed groups to move more freely in daylight.32

Withdrawal

The Soviet Army won many tactical engagements but alienated most of the Afghan populace. During the conflict, it typically controlled only 15 percent of the country’s territory. As U.S. officials had suspected, when Gorbachev came to power in 1985 he sought ways to disengage from Afghanistan, largely because the Soviet involvement in the war impeded economic improvements at home. At first, he permitted an escalation in offensive operations, committing one-third of all Soviet Spetsnaz units, but by October 1985 the Politburo had approved a combination of military and political measures to disengage. Thirteen months later, the same body lowered its standards further, agreeing to settle for an Afghan government that was merely neutral toward the Soviet Union, and setting a deadline of two years to withdraw.33

Soviet advisers had labored to improve the Afghan armed forces but had indifferent success. The Afghan Army was chronically understrength and given to desertion. Officially, this army undertook increasing numbers of independent operations from 1984 onward, and some Afghan units fought tenaciously. The Kabul government even introduced the equivalent of Muslim chaplains for its troops, reversing earlier DRA policies.34 Frequently, however, their Soviet advisers made the tactical decisions and concealed their plans for fear that the Afghans would betray them. The DRA army was so understrength that its soldiers, many of whom lacked technical education, saw no point in performing routine maintenance—there were always more vehicles than drivers.35 Overall, the Afghan armed forces improved tactically under Soviet tutelage but were too weak to defeat the mujahideen by themselves.

Mohammad Najibullah, the pragmatic ruler whom the Soviets installed in Kabul in September 1987, recognized these limitations. He pursued a dual policy, seeking to retain some Soviet forces while working to broaden his appeal and compromise with some of his opponents. Two months after he took office, Najibullah introduced a new constitution, later ratified by a loya jirga, the traditional, tribally based assembly of Afghanistan. The new constitution promised multiple parties and eliminated the word “Democratic” from the republic’s official title. Najibullah renamed his party as the Homeland Party and sought a cease-fire and national reconciliation; he even appointed token non-communists to the government. Although these measures marginally increased the government’s legitimacy, the various resistance groups were determined to eliminate it once the Soviets withdrew. Several mujahideen attacks on cities were barely beaten off during 1987–88. The Afghan Army again tried to increase its strength, creating five new “divisions” around the Salang Highway and Tunnel, which formed the main supply route to Kabul.36

Although Moscow increased military and economic aid to Najibullah, it also negotiated for a UN-supervised withdrawal. Resistance groups were not parties to this Geneva Agreement of April 14, 1988, opening the way for civil war after the Soviets departed. Beginning in January 1987, Fortieth Army had curtailed most offensive actions, with two exceptions. The Soviets launched one more operation in May–June to clear the Arghandab River, a cultivated, populous area near Kandahar. In November–December, it conducted Operation Magistral to resupply Khost on the Pakistani border, an area dominated by Jaliluddin Haqqani, a CIA-backed leader whose followers dominated the area for the next twenty-five years. With these two exceptions, however, the Soviets began to fold small outposts into larger bases and transfer large amounts of vehicles, fuel, and supplies to the Afghan armed forces. On April 7, 1988, the Soviets issued the formal withdrawal order. In the first of two phases, 50,000 Soviet troops withdrew from Jalalabad, Kandahar, and other areas close to Pakistan while reducing support troops in Kabul.37 During this process, Soviet heavy bombers and Scud missiles continued to target population areas outside of Kabul’s control.

As the final withdrawal neared, Najibullah became increasingly vocal about the need for some residual Soviet force, whether based in Afghanistan or not. Although Gorbachev refused the basic request, he did agree to air strikes and limited raids in January to weaken the rebels. Soviet commanders had negotiated a cease-fire and safe passage from Ahmad Shah Masud, the mujahideen commander in the Panjshir Valley, but Gorbachev forced them to violate that agreement. The Soviets bombed various targets in the valley, including Masud’s men around the Lapis lazuli mines that funded the resistance. Betrayed, Masud exacted a price on the withdrawing troops; Fortieth Army lost thirty-nine killed in the last two weeks of its occupation. In late January 1989, the Soviet air force flew 1,000 bombing sorties into this valley. Meanwhile, as the Soviets turned over installations to their Afghan counterparts, the latter immediately looted and sold off the contents, then asked for resupply. Gen. Boris Vsevolodovich Gromov, who commanded the Fortieth Army during its final two years after two previous tours in Afghanistan, conducted an orderly and skillful retrograde, being the last soldier to cross into the Soviet Union on February 15, 1989. No political official greeted the returning troops.38

Consequences

In the course of the war, 525,500 members of the Soviet armed forces served in Afghanistan. Officially, 13,833 of these were killed or died of wounds, 49,985 were wounded, and 311 were missing in action. Thus, about one-eighth of all who served became casualties, of which a significant number were due to disease; during the heaviest fighting in 1984, an average of twenty-six men were killed or wounded every day.39 Casualties were disproportionately highest among Central Asian nationalities, reflecting the regional recruitment of the Soviet Army; a few of the missing apparently defected to the opposition.

After the troop withdrawal, a Soviet airlift continued to provide Najibullah with everything from ammunition to flour, but the government gradually lost ground. The KGB station in Kabul withdrew in December 1991; the next month, the president of the Russian Federation, Boris Yeltsin, cut off aid. Without fuel and parts, the Afghan Air Force could not operate, while the ISI continued to supply the mujahideen. When Kabul fell on August 13, 1992, Najibullah was unable to escape and instead sought refuge in the UN mission. Mujahideen attacks on the airports forced some Russians to withdraw by road, while Russian support transferred to Masud. When the Taliban took the capital four years later, they murdered and then mutilated Najibullah.40

By itself, the Afghan conflict was not fatal to the Soviet Union, and one should not exaggerate its significance. Still, the 1979 invasion had provoked widespread criticism, with consequent economic sanctions that placed more stress on the limping Soviet economy. Rafael Reuveny and Aseem Prakash later suggested four effects of the war. First, the stalemate in Afghanistan changed the perception of Soviet political leaders about the efficacy of military force, as reflected in Gorbachev’s refusal to protect East European communist regimes. Second, Reuveny and Prakash contend that the conflict discredited the Soviet Army and may have encouraged ethnic groups to break away from the Soviet Union. Third, and closely related, was the effect on Moscow’s legitimacy, with the other nationalities blaming the ethnic Russian majority for seeking to impose its will on the Afghans. Finally, and perhaps the most measurable effect, was the appearance of civilian protests and organizations that were unprecedented in the USSR. Mothers protested the conscription of their sons for this war and the secrecy with which bodies were returned, while veterans formed their own groups to seek benefits from the government.41

Yemen

In addition to Afghanistan, Ethiopia, and Angola, during the 1980s the Soviet armed forces were also involved briefly on the Arabian Peninsula.

After the British evacuated Aden in November 1967, the area evolved into the People’s Democratic Republic of [South] Yemen (PDRY), with Soviet military aid and both Soviet and East German advisers present. In return for this assistance, the Soviet Union got a token Marxist state in the Arab world while the Red Navy obtained port access in the state and an anchorage for the Soviet Indian Ocean squadron off the island of Socotra. In June 1978, Abdul Fattah Ismael overthrew and executed President Salim Rubai Ali. Although the Soviet role in this coup was unclear, Moscow at first welcomed the advent of Ismael, a radical Marxist. One year later Ismael seized effective power from Prime Minister Ali Nasser Muhammed al-Hassani. Unlike Rubai Ali, Ismael did not hesitate to support rebels in neighboring North Yemen. Although the Saudis and Americans responded with some arms for North Yemen, that state felt so vulnerable that it purchased weapons from Moscow for use against the Marxist rebels. The Soviet government was pleased with this outcome but stopped supporting Ismael when he continued to press the confrontation. His rival, al-Hassani, deposed him in April 1980, and Ismael went into temporary exile in the USSR while nominally remaining president of the Yemeni Socialist Party.42

For both Moscow and hard-line Marxists in South Yemen, al-Hassani also proved unsatisfactory, especially when he sought Western aid for the desperately poor Yemeni population. Once oil was discovered in both Yemens in 1982, Western interest grew steadily.43 The Soviets may have been responsible for Ismael’s return from exile and reintegration into the local party in 1984. In January 1986, al-Hassani struck first, murdering Ismael and several supporters in a meeting in Aden. Thereafter, however, al-Hassani made the error of leaving the country temporarily, allowing hard-line Marxists to seize power. A brief but intense civil war ensued, with up to 10,000 killed.44 Soviet advisers evacuated the country, although some pilots flew Su-22 missions to help repress al-Hassani’s supporters, many of whom fled to North Yemen.

The events of 1986 eliminated two-thirds of the original Socialist leadership in Yemen, but to gain Soviet aid the survivors attempted to portray themselves as good Marxists. Moscow eventually agreed to build an oil pipeline in the PDRY, but that project compared unfavorably to Western petroleum development in the North. Moreover, the Gorbachev regime was strapped for foreign exchange and unwilling to invest further in Yemen. Within two years, most Soviet aid disappeared. Thereafter, the lure of oil profits prompted the two Yemeni states to seek unification, although negotiations were delayed by the ongoing rivalry between the two factions, governing and exiled, of Socialist leaders.45 Yemen merged in 1990, only to witness renewed violence thereafter.

Research and Development

Quite apart from foreign adventures, Soviet national security faced other issues in the 1980s, beginning with the challenge of matching Western technology and growing defense budgets. Throughout the Cold War, the United States and other Western powers struggled to maintain partial mobilization through modifications to a peacetime, market economy. The Soviet Union’s problem was the exact opposite, seeking to adjust a wartime, command-directed economy to the reduced demands of peacetime while refusing to permit junior managers any initiative. The government’s military-industrial commission (Voenno-promyshlennyi kompleks, or VPK) controlled all production in nine industrial ministries, while an additional eight ministries devoted at least part of their resources to defense. Collectively, this portion of the Soviet economy controlled most of the industrial capacity of the nation. By the 1980s, this production had taken on a life of its own, manufacturing huge numbers of weapons even when no specific demand existed. The same factory often produced both military and civilian machines, such as radar screens and televisions, making it impossible for the government to delineate between the two portions of the economy.46

Weapons development had always been difficult for the Soviets. Although their theoretical scientists were as competent as any in the world, the centrally directed command economy and political structure frequently distorted the research and development process. In 1947, for example, security chief Lavrenti Beria’s son Sergo received a rubber-stamped advanced engineering degree that he largely plagiarized from German research in rocketry. Sergo then became the head of Special Bureau 1, a top-priority agency to develop air defense missiles, with his former research supervisor as the senior engineer. Captured German scientists and imprisoned Soviet technicians worked for this bureau over the next six years, laying the groundwork for later weapons such as the SA-2 that downed the U-2 aircraft in 1960. After the elder Beria was executed in 1953, however, both his son and the resources were reassigned elsewhere. Subsequently, Soviet development of air defense missiles experienced frequent reorganizations for bureaucratic or political, rather than technical, reasons. In the early 1960s, a major missile research agency suddenly encountered bureaucratic and funding obstacles from the government; when the agency’s head investigated, he discovered that a subordinate had refused to hire Nikita Khrushchev’s son.47

Similar problems hampered Soviet computer and automation development. In the 1940s and early 1950s, Stalin’s final anti-Semitic purges eliminated numerous computer theorists, delaying and stunting development in this area. In desperation, Soviet engineers decided to standardize on the IBM 360, a prominent automatic data computer introduced in 1964, but the United States embargoed sales of that machine to Moscow.48 The Soviet Union and its satellites developed various clones of Western computers, but by the 1980s they lagged badly in computer development.

By dint of much effort, the Soviet Union was still able to develop effective weapons systems and marginally effective computers. The USSR even exceeded U.S. efforts in space. Between 1980 and 1986, Moscow increased its operational satellites from 100 to 165, tested the first anti-satellite weapon, and orbited the Mir space station. In May 1987, Gorbachev attempted to counter the American Strategic Defense Initiative by authorizing a (failed) attempt to orbit the Polyus, a prototype battle station armed with a carbon dioxide laser.49

However, mass production of weapons systems posed additional challenges. The command economy placed great emphasis on meeting numerical production quotas, while the quality of the products often suffered. Working through the VPK commission, the Defense Ministry obtained effective weapons systems only by focusing resources and attention on its factories, which became a bloated complex absorbing the best technicians and materials in the entire state. The civilian society of the Soviet Union largely failed to develop the independent innovators who fueled Western progress in electronics and related fields. Moreover, decisions about how many weapons to produce and what capabilities would be included in each became critical political issues within the government. The development of each Five-Year Plan involved extensive bargaining between stakeholders.50

The Warsaw Pact at Its Height

In the decade prior to 1976, Soviet troop strength in the Warsaw Pact nations increased by 150,000 and 5,000 tanks, primarily by the creation of the Central Group of Forces in Czechoslovakia.51 The experience of the Prague occupation led to a reorganization of the Warsaw Pact by creating a council of national deputy defense ministers who in effect reported to the Soviet commander-in-chief, himself a deputy defense minister of the USSR. Eventually, the Warsaw Pact staff had its own separate building in Moscow. Paradoxically, however, this change in structure actually increased the satellites’ national control of their armies—except in East Germany, where People’s Army officers had to satisfy both Soviet commanders and their local party leaders, most Soviet orders now went through the Warsaw Pact staff rather than directly to local commanders.52 The Soviet Union also experienced some of the same frustrations about allied “burden sharing” that the United States expressed with respect to its NATO partners. Despite a 1978 agreement to increase defense budgets, Czechoslovakia, Poland, and Hungary reduced their military spending.53

Beginning in the late 1960s, Soviet doctrinal discussions had focused increasingly on nonnuclear, combined arms operations, including continued study of the campaigns of the Great Patriotic War. Like their American counterparts a few years later, Soviet theorists were reemphasizing maneuver at the operational level of war, introducing an operational maneuver group concept into Warsaw Pact plans in 1978.54 This led to force structure changes that tended toward a more balanced combination of infantry and tanks as opposed to the armor-heavy forces previously intended to exploit the effects of nuclear weapons. For example, the Soviet Army added a motorized rifle division to each tank army. Meanwhile, separate tank battalions (at division level) and regiments (at army level) appeared, apparently intended as the nuclei of the commander’s forward detachments to exploit penetrations into NATO rear areas. As validated during the Afghan conflict, helicopter-borne infantry elements would seize bridges and other key terrain to facilitate this exploitation.55

The Yom Kippur War demonstrated that the T-62 tank was not effective at long range, while its automatic loading device made it slower to fire than tanks with a human loader. The Soviets were already working on the follow-on, T-64/T-72 series, which appeared in the central European Soviet forces in 1977–78. In the air, the introduction of the American F-16 and British Tornado outclassed even the Mig-23/25/27 and the Su-17/20. In 1982, the E-3A Airborne Warning and Control System (AWACS) was introduced in Europe, giving NATO superior battle management to compensate for numerical inferiority.

Budgetary Issues

Leonid Brezhnev had catered to the armed forces’ demand for more and better weapons. Beginning with Georgy Malenkov in 1953, however, other Soviet leaders attempted to limit defense spending, freeing resources to meet the unsatisfied needs of consumers.56 This trend came to a head during the 1980s, when Defense Minister Ustinov and his generals found themselves manufacturing increasingly complex weapons systems with limited resources. Because the Soviet command economy did not permit cost analysis on the Western model, details of this challenge are difficult to establish. However, the CIA estimated that a T-80 tank, first fielded in 1976, cost three times as much as a T-55; the R-36 (NATO SS-18) Mod-4 missile, placed in service in 1979, cost almost four times as much as the first Soviet ICBM, the R-16 (SS-7).57 The new weapons were far more capable than their predecessors, of course—the T-80 was the first turbine-powered main battle tank, while the R-36 was so accurate it could potentially destroy an American ICBM in a hardened silo. Such weapons helped provoke yet more American weapons innovation, which Moscow was ill-prepared to match qualitatively or quantitatively.

The situation was complicated by the fact that production and budgetary figures were arbitrary and misleading, chosen for propaganda value rather than accuracy. Managers at every level reported meeting or exceeding production goals, regardless of the true figures. In the mid-1980s, senior government officials believed that the armed forces had a total of 39,000 tactical and strategic nuclear warheads, until the Defense Ministry’s head of rear services (logistics) reported that the actual figure was closer to 43,000. For decades, the Soviet regime quoted its defense budget as being only 4.6 percent of total state expenditures, a ludicrously low figure that reflected only military personnel costs; the cost of all weapons and supplies were concealed in the budgets of other ministries. At Gorbachev’s behest, Central Committee Secretary Vadim Medvedev conducted a detailed accounting that arrived at a figure of more than 16 percent of economic output, and he suspected that the true cost of defense might be 25 percent.58 With misleading data such as this, Gorbachev had difficulty making rational national security decisions.

By the time Gorbachev came to power in 1985, even conservatives in the Soviet Union believed that economic reforms were necessary. Yet, the direction that such change would take was unpredictable.59 Neither the new general secretary nor the rest of the government recognized that reform required a complete change in the system of centrally controlled economy, toward permitting different factories to make their own production and pricing decisions. In fact, because military industry appeared to be more efficient than civilian production, the first attempt at “reform” consisted of transferring experienced weapons production managers to civilian factories and creating entities, similar to the VPK military-industrial commission, to apply greater controls to civilian production. Even after Gorbachev tried to impose changes on the organization and doctrine of the Soviet military, the current Five-Year Plan continued to dictate production of additional new weapons in accordance with previous doctrine.60

In September 1981, the Soviet armed forces held their largest peacetime exercise, Zapad (“West”)-81, as both a show of force against Polish unrest and a test of nonnuclear theater offensive operations. However, Secretary Gorbachev felt increasing pressure to adopt a more defensive stance, both to reduce military spending and to position himself in negotiations with the West, which was suspicious of Soviet intentions. On May 26, 1987, the Warsaw Pact issued a statement favoring nuclear disarmament. While the intent of this statement may have been to aid propaganda, the new position necessitated a shift in official doctrine. Publication of a declassified 1946 defensively oriented operations plan to secure East Germany, as well as renewed study of the 1939 Battle of Khalkhin-Gol against Japan, ostensibly signaled that the Soviet military intended to defend existing territory rather than conduct aggressive offensives.61 Meanwhile, the Soviet Army and most of its Warsaw Pact allies began to reconfigure tank and motorized rifle divisions, each roughly 9,000 to 13,000 strong, into fewer but larger, balanced army “corps” of 20,000 each.

Along with these major shifts there were unexpected distractions. On May 27, 1987, a West German named Mathias Rust flew a light airplane at low altitude from Finland to Moscow, evading Soviet air defenses and landing in front of the Kremlin. Embarrassed, Gorbachev summarily fired the defense minister, Sergei Sokolov, and the commander of national air defense, Alexander Koldunov. The general secretary then selected his own candidate, the relatively junior Dimitry Yazov, as Sokolov’s successor. This was the first of many civil-military friction points for Gorbachev.62

In December 1988, Gorbachev announced a unilateral reduction of 500,000 servicemen, out of a total force of 5.2 million, over two years, including withdrawing six divisions from the Group of Soviet Forces, Germany, cutting the troops in the western military districts, and withdrawing from Mongolia. The units targeted included key systems for offensive warfare, such as air landing and assault bridging units. He also announced conversion of military to civilian production, although no plan or budget existed for such conversion. Western observers were skeptical of Gorbachev’s promises; an intelligence analyst observed that the proposed cut roughly equaled the annual shortfall in the Soviet draft and might simply involve inactivating obsolescent, older weapons such as T-62 tanks. One reporter noted that, in 1979, Brezhnev had ballyhooed the removal of a Soviet tank division from East Germany, only to have that division reappear at a garrison in western Poland with improved equipment. In a similar circumstance, the Chinese People’s Army had transferred its construction engineers to civilian status with no change in capability.63

In retrospect, Gorbachev was undoubtedly sincere, driven by economic necessity, and the Soviet armed forces were under severe budgetary constraints. Although the Kremlin promised housing and jobs for the 83,000 officers threatened by this reduction, a major earthquake in northern Armenia diverted the promised funding involved.64

Just as his political reforms stalled, so Gorbachev’s attempts at military change fell short. His official shift to a defensive doctrine promoted widespread debate in military publications and eventually in the democratically elected Supreme Soviet he created. However, the belief in a capitalist threat and the bureaucracy’s comfort with the existing system of conscript forces thwarted any real change. Indeed, Gorbachev’s ultimate denial of the capitalist threat undermined the justification for the armed forces and the Warsaw Pact. Bureaucratic inertia and resistance to reform prompted the Defense Ministry and VPK to hamstring attempts to decentralize and convert defense industries. Even the Main Political Administration, the Soviet military’s political officers, reinvented itself without relinquishing its control over troops.65

The Afghan conflict, public frustrations, and Gorbachev’s policy of glasnost (openness and transparency) began to affect public perceptions and the morale of the Soviet military. Both the civilian public and junior career officers disapproved of the conscript military, to a point where a 1990 opinion poll showed that only 59 percent of Soviet citizens expressed any significant confidence in the armed forces. During the first three months of 1990, individual civilians, not counting those involved in civil disorders, murdered 21 officers and injured 189. Junior officers, although adequately paid, continued to work long hours to train their units in the absence of career NCOs. An August 1990 poll reported that only 40 percent of officers regarded their jobs as satisfactory and 24 percent wished to change their career.66 Many junior officers supported reform proposals for a smaller, better-trained long-term army, blaming senior officers for institutional resistance.

If the leaders were divided and unhappy, the rank and file were even more alienated. The Afghan conflict increased the resentment of conscripts and their families. Because of a drop in the birth rate during the 1960s, from 1982 onward the Defense Ministry eliminated the education deferments that had previously sheltered the urban intelligentsia from military service. In some instances, students who had already performed military service were still required to undergo officer training while in university. This combination of factors, reinforced by draft evasion among various nationalities, made it increasingly difficult for the Soviet armed forces to find adequate numbers of conscripts. During the semiannual induction for the spring of 1990, Georgia supplied only 27.5 percent of its recruitment goal, while Lithuania sent only 33.6 percent and Estonia 40.2 percent.67

Ethnicity and Separatism

Mikhail Gorbachev was able to overrule the misgivings of his senior military advisers about reform efforts; he even made them publicly endorse changes. Although Marshal Akhromeev retired for supposed medical reasons just before the troop reduction announcement, the prominent former officer soon became an adviser to the general secretary. What Gorbachev could not suppress was the growing unrest within the Soviet empire and especially among the non-Russian nationalities on the periphery of the union. In addition to underestimating the problem of economic and military reform, he completely misunderstood the threat posed by nationalities. Gorbachev was unaware of Polish hatred for the dictator Jaruzelski and believed that the Soviet empire would support enlightened socialism without coercion to enforce it. By a kind of communist exceptionalism, he thought it was entirely proper for Latvia, Lithuania, Estonia, and the Transcaucasian nations to remain as Soviet republics. His foreign minister, the ethnic Georgian Eduard Shevardnadze, was more realistic but could not persuade his chief.68

In December 1986, Gorbachev appointed Gennady V. Kolbin, an ethnic Russian and Gorbachev supporter, to replace Dinmukhamed A. Kunayev as first secretary of the Kazakhstan Communist Party. The apparent purpose was to clean up long-standing corruption in Central Asia, but student demonstrations began almost immediately in Alma Ata (now Almaty), Kazakhstan. On December 17, the demonstrators broke into party headquarters and freed convicts from two prisons. Local Interior Ministry (MVD) riot police proved ineffectual, so Soviet Army motorized rifle units occupied the university, quickly stifling the disorders. Ignoring the ethnic implications of the situation, the official news agency, Tass, dismissed the rioters as “hooligans, parasites, and other anti-social persons.”69 Court decisions sent two students to the firing squad and three others to prison for long terms. As during the previous decades, prompt and violent action had overawed the agitators. Once Gorbachev’s efforts at pluralism and transparency grew, however, the old formula stopped working.70

Not all the ethnic disorders were overtly oriented against rule by Moscow, but all threatened the cohesion of the union. During 1987, long-standing friction became violent in the Nagorno-Karabakh Autonomous Oblast (division), an ethnic Armenian enclave within the Azerbaijan Soviet Socialist Republic.71 Given their historical conflicts with Muslim nationalities in the Caucasus and in Turkey, the Armenian residents, including local police and Communist Party officials, were antagonistic to the Azerbaijani residents of the oblast. On February 20, 1988, the oblast Supreme Soviet voted overwhelmingly to ask the Armenian and Azerbaijani republics to transfer Nagorno-Karabakh to Armenian control, and large demonstrations in Armenia supported the claim. Azerbaijanis, ignoring the historical persecution of Armenians, objected strongly to the apparent dismemberment of their territory. Although the local party maintained control in Baku, an anti-Armenian pogrom broke out in the suburb of Sumgait on February 27, 1988. At least twenty-six ethnic Armenians died and others were assaulted sexually. Ethnic Azerbaijanis also suffered in Armenian areas, but this received little publicity.

Gorbachev attempted to limit the state’s response, but Interior Ministry riot troops were unable to restore order. The 137th Guards Airborne Regiment deployed from the Moscow area to Azerbaijan and imposed a curfew in Sumgait; commanders had to insist that local officials protect the minority and restore services. The government acknowledged six additional deaths and four hundred arrests, although Armenians claimed the death toll was much higher; no official investigation ensued. Ethnic Armenians fled the Baku area, and Nagorno-Karabakh became the site of low-level internecine fighting, the first open opposition to the USSR under Gorbachev.72

The Soviet Army received most of the blame for the violent repression both in Sumgait and in Yerevan, Armenia. This pattern reappeared in April 1989, when pro-independence strikes and demonstrations occurred in Tbilisi, Georgia. After the MVD again proved ineffectual, the Soviet Army deployed to put down the disorders. Although three airborne divisions eventually moved to Georgia, the first regiment to arrive was the 345th Airborne. The 345th had recently withdrawn from Afghanistan, only to be marooned without barracks or other resources in the unstable Abkhazia region of Georgia. Col. Gen. Igor Nikolayevich Rodionov, commander of the Trans-Caucasus Military District, had promised that his troops would use truncheons and sharpened shovels rather than live ammunition, but he apparently believed that Georgian party officials wanted a harsh repression. The airborne regiment initially remained calm in the face of insults and hurled rocks. The MVD allegedly used poison gas against the crowds, although the mechanics of such an attack make it seem improbable. Whatever the truth of this allegation, the hardened paratroopers pushed forward, starting a panicked stampede that resulted in at least eighteen deaths and a far greater number of injuries. General Rodionov denied the allegations of excessive force, but Gorbachev and other political leaders allowed the army to take the blame. This experience, sometimes known as the Tbilisi syndrome, made senior officers reluctant to use force against Soviet citizens. The Gorbachev administration had avoided political responsibility for the disaster, in part to avoid alarming its negotiating partners in the West. However, this momentary political gain came at the cost of weakening its ultimate response to popular disorders.73

Tensions in Nagorno-Karabakh again led to violence at the start of 1990. On January 15–16, Azerbaijani mobs in Baku attacked Armenians, reportedly killing fifty-six.74 Soviet Army troops deployed rapidly, but the results were a strange mixture of success and failure. When the Defense Ministry tried to mobilize reservists to fill out Category III units in the area, mothers’ groups protested vocally at district military offices, especially in Gorbachev’s hometown of Stavropol. With the Afghan experience still fresh, the public refused to accept assurances that these reservists would only guard weapons stores in the region. Within three days, Defense Minister Yazov felt compelled to cancel the mobilization and rely solely on elite airborne and MVD units.75

The mission of this deployment went beyond restoring order; the Moscow government apparently wished to suppress Azerbaijani activists and purge the local party. Initially, however, the local Soviet (government) evaded capture and, on January 22, publicly demanded the withdrawal of Soviet troops, thereby challenging Gorbachev. Meanwhile, on January 19, the leading elements of 106th Guards Airborne Division, led by Col. Alexander Lebed, landed at an airfield near Baku. After capturing a few local resistance fighters who tried to block him, Lebed led his troops to the capital and suppressed the local popular front. While seizing the city’s port terminal, the troops came under fire from a dozen riflemen on board an oil ship; rocket-propelled shells from BMDs (an airdroppable form of infantry fighting vehicle) set fire to the ship. Several soldiers died in subsequent days, sometimes because rules of engagement required calls to surrender before the airborne troops could open fire. The airborne troops were by now cynical about the motives of the Soviet government, which they suspected would again scapegoat the army for violence that Gorbachev privately desired. As if to confirm their suspicions, a group of military procurators (prosecutors) arrived with elaborate charges already written out, demanding the arrest of paratroopers for supposed crimes of looting and assault. Lebed not only refused but quietly withdrew the security detail protecting the procurators, forcing the visitors to apologize for their accusations.76

By 1990, the future of the Soviet Union was in serious jeopardy. The Afghan conflict and continuing ethnic and economic problems encouraged open opposition to the central regime. Gorbachev’s well-intentioned attempts to reform the economy, society, and the armed forces faced increased unrest from the populace and internal hesitation without achieving the fundamental changes that might have saved the state. Resistance to conscription and to reserve mobilization limited the government forces of order to Interior Ministry and airborne troops, and those troops in turn were disheartened and cynical about the manner in which politicians used them. A Soviet Army that was supposed to support the party could not do so when army, society, and party were divided.




CHAPTER 13

WEAPONS OF MASS DESTRUCTION

Moscow, 1988

Kanatzhan Alibekov was an ethnic Kazakh citizen of the USSR who had two identities. As a civilian, he was the first deputy director of Biopreparat, a vast complex of laboratories that produced antibiotics, vaccines, and other medications for the Soviet public. Simultaneously, he was a colonel in the Soviet Army, because the same organization covertly developed toxins for mass production in case of war. The Biopreparat program had shifted into high gear in 1973, shortly after the Soviet government signed the Biological and Toxin Weapons Convention, an international agreement to destroy any such weapons and never to acquire, retain, or transfer them. On April 2, 1979, for example, one of its facilities on the southern edge of Sverdlovsk, a city 1,350 kilometers east of Moscow, lost containment of some anthrax, killing at least forty-two people. Alibekov spent almost his entire career working secretly on weapons that his government had renounced, beginning with weaponizing the bacterial disease tularemia.1

Dressed in a civilian suit, Colonel Alibekov reported as requested to the Fifteenth Directorate (Biological Protection) of the Defense Ministry. Two senior officers asked him how long he would need to provide sufficient anthrax to fill the warheads of a group of SS-18 intercontinental ballistic missiles. They seemed disappointed when he replied that it would take approximately two weeks to culture such a large supply. Dismissed, he returned to his office and did not hear further about this matter. Two years later, Alibekov approached Mikhail Gorbachev to terminate the biological weapons program, but other officials managed to keep it on standby.

Weapons of mass destruction (WMD) represented yet another field of competition between the superpowers. While U.S. leaders operated on the theory of deterrence and, for nuclear weapons, Mutual Assured Destruction, their Soviet counterparts appeared to believe that nuclear, biological, and chemical weapons would all offer advantages in the inevitable clash between capitalism and communism. As NATO and the Warsaw Pact struggled for competitive advantages or reasonable balances, they also witnessed and in some cases facilitated a growing proliferation of WMD in the rest of the world, most visibly in Saddam Hussein’s Iraq.

Strategic Arms Limitations

President Nixon and Secretary of State Kissinger reached the high point of détente at the Moscow summit of May 1972, where the two superpowers signed three agreements. The Anti-Ballistic Missile (ABM) Treaty limited each party to two missile defense systems, each consisting of radar controls and not more than one hundred interceptor missiles. Two years later, a protocol halved this to one system per nation. In practice, the Soviet Union had already deployed its ABM defenses around Moscow, while the United States never went beyond constructing a single radar complex in North Dakota, which Congress inactivated soon after it was completed.

In addition to a largely stillborn statement of basic principles of their relationship, Richard Nixon and Leonid Brezhnev also signed a so-called Interim Agreement, commonly known as SALT I (Strategic Arms Limitation Treaty or Agreement I). There were outstanding issues concerning multiple independently targetable reentry vehicles (MIRVs), yet both sides wanted a diplomatic victory with reduced missile expenditures, so they settled for a compromise that was binding for only five years. SALT I forbade construction of any new intercontinental ballistic missile (ICBM) silos during that period with vague provisions against converting existing silos for larger or “heavy” missiles. For the duration of the agreement, the United States would have 1,054 ICBMs and 710 submarine-launched ballistic missiles (SLBMs), while the Soviet Union retained 1,618 ICBMs and 950 SLBMs; the Soviets agreed temporarily that the United States and its NATO allies could have a total of 800 SLBMs between them. This lopsided, temporary agreement was intended as a way station on the path to a more comprehensive settlement, generally known as SALT II, to be negotiated by 1977.2

Kissinger almost achieved that second agreement in 1974 on the basis that each side would have a total of 2,400 strategic nuclear delivery vehicles—ICBMs, SLBMs, and bombers—with fixed numbers that could be MIRVed. Yet, complicated issues continued to prevent final agreement.3 In addition to the MIRV issue, the Western powers objected to the Tu-22M (NATO designation Backfire), a variable-wing bomber. The aircraft represented a significant improvement in Soviet strategic and maritime strike capabilities, hence the West’s desire to include the Tu-22M in future SALT negotiations.

In 1976, the RDT-10, a new mobile intermediate-range missile commonly known by its NATO designation as the SS-20 Saber, appeared. Unlike most previous Soviet missiles, the SS-20 was solid fueled, giving the Soviet Army the ability to destroy major NATO bases with little warning. Soviet military leaders were equally concerned by the advent of Western cruise missiles, which they sought to limit in terms of numbers and range. In particular, they wished to count every B-52 bomber as if it carried cruise missile launchers, regardless of the reality. Defense Secretary Brown argued that conventional cruise missiles should not be restricted in this manner, but President Carter agreed to a temporary limit on air-launched cruise missile range. Carter and Brown also reluctantly supported development of the highly accurate MX missile in a form that would travel between various shelters, complicating the Soviet task of attacking it. Although Carter refused to meet with the Joint Chiefs to discuss these issues, they reluctantly agreed to the political necessity of a deal, provided that the two sides resolved verification issues such as using unencrypted telemetry for all missile launches. Carter settled for a verbal promise from Brezhnev that only thirty Backfires would be produced each year. In addition, the United States asserted that encrypted telemetry on missile tests would void the agreement, because it would hamper U.S. monitoring of Soviet compliance.4

These compromises led to the SALT II Agreement in Vienna on June 18, 1979. Each side agreed to four aggregate ceiling numbers: (1) 2,400 strategic launchers, including ICBMs, SLBMs, heavy bombers, and air-launched cruise missiles—a figure to be lowered to 2,250 by 1981; (2) 1,320 of a combination of MIRVed ICBMs and aircraft armed with cruise missiles whose range exceeded six hundred kilometers; (3) 1,200 total MIRVed ICBMs and SLBMs; and (4) a subceiling of 820 MIRVed ICBMs within that 1,200.5

Given Soviet military involvement in Afghanistan, Ethiopia, and Angola, the Carter administration faced considerable difficulties in obtaining Senate ratification of this complex agreement. The worsening international situation and especially the coup in Kabul in December 1979 made ratification impossible, although for some years both sides claimed that they were voluntarily observing the SALT II limits.

Protracted Nuclear War

While the two superpowers publicly tried to agree on limiting strategic nuclear weapons, in private the United States sought to modernize its nuclear capabilities. As noted in chapter 8, during the 1970s the U.S. government became increasingly concerned about maintaining effective command and control during what might be a protracted nuclear conflict. Under President Carter, Defense Secretary Brown and strategic planners increased their emphasis on targeting Soviet leadership and military targets rather than the traditional destruction of an enemy economy.6 On July 25, 1980, Carter codified this ongoing process in Presidential Directive (PD) 59, which directed not only a shift in targeting but also preparations to conduct nuclear war for prolonged periods. When Reagan came into office, he reaffirmed this decision in National Security Decision Directive 13. Meanwhile, PD-59 leaked to the public, perhaps as part of the Carter administration’s efforts to persuade Moscow that nuclear war was unwinnable. Paradoxically, therefore, President Reagan, who abhorred nuclear weapons, oversaw billions in modernization of such weapons as part of the effort to render them obsolete.

Nukes in NATO

Overlapping these strategic arms negotiations were several American variants on nonstrategic nuclear weapons, variants that attracted considerable criticism both at home and in Europe. The first of these were enhanced radiation weapons, colloquially referred to as “neutron bombs.” The premise was elegant: to redesign tactical nuclear weapons so that the detonation released less energy in the form of blast and more as radiation, especially neutrons that might penetrate Soviet armor to affect the crews. Given the increasing urbanization of central Europe, such a weapon, mounted as the warhead of a Lance short-range missile or fired from an eight-inch (203 mm) howitzer, promised to inflict less destruction than (but equal lethality as) other tactical nuclear weapons. Of course, some European leaders worried that this might encourage the United States to cross the nuclear threshold by employing such limited weapons. Although the United States had experimented with the concept as early as 1950, it became a significant issue during the Carter administration, when the Energy Research and Development Agency inadvertently mentioned such devices in an unclassified budget request. Presidential candidate Ronald Reagan seized on enhanced radiation weapons as a concept with which to challenge Carter.

Unfortunately for American policy, the neutron bomb was an easy target for communist propaganda, which depicted it as the perfect capitalist weapon—something that spares property and kills people. Such propaganda fueled a furor of anti-nuclear demonstrations, especially in Europe, and American information efforts were ineffective in dispelling the label of a people-killer.7 German Chancellor Helmut Schmidt, who supported the idea as a counterweight to the SS-20, was politically hamstrung. Without European governments publicly requesting enhanced radiation weapons, Carter was unwilling to support a program that made him uneasy in the first place. He finally decided to acquire shells and warheads that could be used for enhanced radiation but did not stockpile the tritium (radioactive hydrogen-3) filler necessary to assemble them. In 1981, President Reagan signed a classified national security decision directive (NSDD-7) authorizing production of the enhanced radiation W70 Lance warhead and W79 eight-inch artillery shell; the shells were stockpiled until destroyed in the 1990s.8

The Carter administration also faced the problem that a Spanish socialist government wished to evict U.S. submarines from the base at Rota, Spain, in the late 1970s. This would have imposed longer transit times for submarines rebased in Britain or the United States. Operationally, three of these ballistic missile submarines with MIRVed warheads had a contingency to respond to the Supreme Allied Commander, Europe, for theater targets once NATO agreed to nuclear weapons release.9 Thus, the Spanish decision only increased the belief of U.S. planners that they needed additional theater nuclear weapons.

To counterbalance the Backfire and SS-20, the Carter and Reagan administrations sought to deploy equivalent theater-level atomic delivery systems, especially the BGM-109G ground-launched cruise missile (GLCM) with a maximum range of 2,500 kilometers and the Pershing II missile with a range of 1,770 kilometers. Again, the European members of NATO agreed with the need to respond to Soviet developments, but some were reluctant to provoke their constituents by agreeing to base these weapons on their territories. (Hungary and Romania similarly objected to the deployment of SS-20s in their countries.10) Chancellor Schmidt, however, believed that NATO had to respond to the SS-20, even at the cost of offending some Germans.11 On December 12, 1979, the North Atlantic Council announced the so-called Double Track deployment as a bargaining position in theater arms negotiations. This deployment included 464 GLCMs and 108 Pershing IIs, with the latter replacing the less capable U.S. Pershing I on a one-to-one exchange although Germany retained its earlier Pershing Is.12 Soviet analysts were particularly alarmed by the Pershing II, which they believed could hit Moscow, making it de facto a strategic weapon in the same manner that the West regarded the SS-20.13

Throughout the Cold War, citizen groups in most European countries opposed war in general and nuclear war in particular. The Double Track plan prompted these activists to form a pan-European movement, with large demonstrations in both Western and neutral cities. These activists were largely principled and moral people, but European communists encouraged their protests and the Soviet Union, busily proliferating its own tactical nuclear weapons in central Europe, hypocritically sought to profit from the movement.14 The demonstrations reached a crescendo in October 1981, when a quarter-million protesters met in Bonn, and continued for years thereafter.15 In 1982, Moscow encouraged the protesters by making a unilateral pledge that it would not be the first power to use nuclear weapons. To some extent, this reflected the Soviet doctrinal shift toward an initial, conventional phase of war with NATO, but Warsaw Pact plans continued to assume that tactical nuclear weapons would be used.16

The anti-nuclear movement never translated into voting patterns to replace existing governments. Ultimately, the United Kingdom, Netherlands, Italy, and Belgium agreed to accept GLCMs, while West Germany hosted Pershing IIs. Even after NATO resolved such political considerations, the Pershing IIs were difficult to disperse. In comparison to central Europe, the NATO countries were both shallower and more urbanized, limiting potential sites where the United States might conceal the missiles from Soviet attempts to destroy them.

In November 1981, Reagan proposed a “zero option”—that is, the elimination of all nuclear-armed missiles in Europe with ranges over five hundred kilometers.17 Given their public position on the issue, the Soviets had to agree to negotiations in the Intermediate Range Nuclear Forces (INF) talks in Geneva. Two years later, the first GLCMs and Pershing IIs arrived in Europe, and the Soviets promptly broke off the negotiations.18 SALT and INF talks resumed in 1985, and in December 1987, Reagan and Gorbachev signed an INF Treaty to eliminate Pershing IIs, SS-20s, and other weapons from the Continent.

Ballistic Missile Defense

Intertwined with the debates about strategic and theater nuclear weapons was the question of ballistic missile defense. This was a familiar field of American weapons development, but it took on new life under Reagan.

When Defense Secretary Charles Wilson gave the air force primacy for offensive missile development in 1957–58, he also made the army the sole proponent for ground-based anti-aircraft and anti-missile defense. By 1963, studies by the Advanced Research Project Agency (later DARPA) had concluded that it was feasible to intercept an incoming ballistic missile warhead, and the army’s Nike-Zeus had repeatedly intercepted Atlas missiles in tests.19 When Nike-Zeus radars proved unable to handle large numbers of incoming targets simultaneously, the system evolved into the more capable Nike-X.

Defense Secretary McNamara was reluctant to deploy such defensive missiles and overruled the JCS on more than one occasion. Not only would the system cost at least $16 billion, but large numbers of Soviet warheads could easily overwhelm any feasible defenses; the advent of MIRVs made this even more likely. In addition, McNamara was concerned that ballistic missile defense might jeopardize the concept of MAD, which assumed that offensive nuclear weapons would reach their targets. Facing the challenge of the Vietnam buildup, the army’s leaders had neither funds nor attention to expend on the problem. However, the Soviet development of the Galosh anti-missile system, together with the advent of lesser missile threats such as from China, concerned both President Johnson and Congress. Eventually, the different actors reached a compromise to deploy a limited or “thin” anti-ballistic missile defensive system called Sentinel that could accommodate Chinese or accidental Soviet launches. Sentinel would consist of five major radar control sites, 480 long-range Spartan interceptor missiles, and 192 shorter-range Sprint missiles. The proposal was in part a bargaining chip for SALT negotiations. Even after this decision, scientists and other critics of the concept objected to the presence of nuclear warheads at Nike sites near cities. By contrast, Soviet military analysts considered such systems essential to fight a future nuclear conflict.20

Advised by Henry Kissinger, in March 1969 President Nixon decided to further reduce the new defenses, focusing on protecting Minuteman missile fields from surprise attack rather than on shielding urban areas. This reflected Nixon’s belief that the United States had nuclear sufficiency to deter the Soviets. Fifteen months later, the president again used the bargaining chip argument to gain congressional approval to expand Safeguard from two to eight sites, including some defense of the nation’s capital. Increasingly, however, public opinion appeared to oppose expensive military programs, even those involving missile defense. As noted above, the ABM Treaty and subsequent negotiations reduced the plan to a single site. In 1976, Congress inactivated the one Safeguard system ever built soon after it came online.21

Strategic Defense Initiative

While congressional support for missile defense waned, the Departments of the Army, Air Force, and Defense pursued research in a variety of technologies, including directed energy and particle beams. Lasers operating within the atmosphere had a persistent problem of “thermal bloom”—that is, heating up the medium through which they passed in a manner that sapped energy and affected accuracy. Moreover, the possibility of intercepting enemy ICBMs during their initial launch (“boost”) phase seemed to offer an opportunity to destroy the missile before its MIRVs separated. Yet, exoatmospheric and boost phase intercepts would violate agreements against the militarization of space, as well as the ABM Treaty that forbade sea-, air-, or space-based systems.22

In short, when the Reagan administration took office in 1981 it found a number of promising research avenues for ballistic missile defense but no fully developed systems beyond the now obsolescent Safeguard. Developing an effective defense involved major technical, political, and diplomatic questions quite apart from the basic issue that such a defense conflicted with the concept of MAD. In fact, Reagan objected to all nuclear weapons and to MAD, which he considered immoral because it threatened the civilian population.23

The Reagan administration had inherited the highly accurate MX missile, which also threatened the status quo because it could be used to destroy Soviet hardened systems in a preemptive strike. The Carter administration had envisioned the MX as a second-strike weapon, destroying ICBM silos so they could not be reloaded, but that was not how Moscow perceived it. Moreover, residents of Nevada and Wyoming, where the MX launchers were supposed to travel unpredictably between various protective shelters, feared that the system would attract large numbers of Soviet warheads. Unable to find a better basing strategy, President Reagan scheduled a meeting with the Joint Chiefs in February 1983 to resolve the question. CNO Admiral Watkins prepared a different idea for this meeting. Spurred on by Edward Teller’s idea for an X-ray laser to destroy ICBMs during the boost phase, Watkins decided to propose a broader approach, researching and developing various means of missile defense. The other chiefs of staff endorsed his proposal, which he pitched to Reagan at the February 11 meeting. The aim, Admiral Watkins stressed, was to “protect the American people, not just avenge them.”24

The president seized on the idea, leading to the Strategic Defense Initiative (SDI) speech on March 23, 1983. Although Reagan was vague about the ultimate goal, he appeared to seek a combination of defensive systems that would block all inbound nuclear warheads, an impossible standard of performance. The Defense Department pursued the numerous possibilities for missile defense, spending an estimated $26 billion on the program. In March 1984, Secretary Weinberger appointed USAF Lt. Gen. James Abrahamson as program manager for SDI, which became a separate agency on July 23. Both Reagan and Watkins made repeated public efforts to explain and defend SDI over the next several years.25 While the perfect strategic ballistic missile defense did not emerge, the research contributed to the lesser task of theater missile defense, including limited capabilities for the army Patriot and navy Aegis systems.26

Soviet Fears

The facetious nickname “Star Wars” obscured the significance of and risks involved in SDI. As the 1982 Falklands conflict had just demonstrated, adversarial states could misunderstand each other in potentially lethal ways. Given the distorted worldview of the Soviet intelligence services and leadership, SDI appeared to be yet another element of instability in the strategic balance. Like the NATO allies and some of Reagan’s own advisers, the Soviets had difficulty believing that the president was serious about eliminating nuclear weapons. The Reagan administration’s attempt to use the American advantage in science and engineering only increased the difficulty that the Soviets experienced in managing their defense programs to counter such innovation. Moreover, the United States was deploying Pershing IIs and GLCMs to Europe as it developed an apparent first-strike weapon—the MX missile—all while its navy openly practiced attacking Soviet ballistic missile submarines in the event of even conventional war. Although most Soviet leaders accepted the Marxist theory of inevitable capitalist-communist conflict, President Reagan’s open hostility to what he called “the evil empire” disturbed them. On August 11, 1984, Reagan even joked about the possibility of nuclear war against the USSR. When asked for a sound-level check before recording an address, he ad-libbed, “My fellow Americans: I’m pleased to inform you today that I have signed legislation outlawing Russia forever. We begin bombing in five minutes.”27 Soviet news agencies condemned this joke as an irresponsible threat.

When Reagan made his SDI speech in March 1983, Yuri Andropov was general secretary in Moscow. In his previous position as head of the KGB, Andropov had directed his subordinates in May 1981 to implement a secret Politburo decision: Operation Nuclear Missile Attack (Raketno Yadernoye Napadenie), which the West later referred to as RYAN. The plan assigned the number one collection priority for the KGB and GRU as warning of a surprise U.S. nuclear attack.28 In turn, the Soviet intelligence agencies extended this collection priority to their counterparts in the Warsaw Pact nations. In an era where both sides considered the possibility of sudden decapitation by nuclear attack, Operation RYAN showed that the Soviet leadership was significantly more concerned than was the West about surprise. In retrospect, this concern may seem unfounded, but at the time it increased the possibility of fatal misinterpretation.

One symptom of Soviet concern appeared on September 1, 1983, when Korean Air Flight KE-007, a Boeing 747 en route from New York to Seoul, inadvertently strayed off course and overflew the Kamchatka Peninsula. Because of previous near overflights by U.S. RC-135 reconnaissance aircraft, the Soviet air defense headquarters on Sakhalin Island assumed that the commercial airliner was a hostile intelligence collector and never attempted to contact the plane on guard radio channels. On instructions from the ground controller, two SU-15 fighters intercepted the airliner and attempted to signal to it by firing cannon shells nearby. The controller then ordered the fighters to shoot the airliner down, and an air-to-air missile killed all 269 people aboard.29 Subsequently, both the pilots and the Soviet government lied about the details of the intercept to conceal the callousness of their actions.

Fortunately for peace, reason prevailed in two subsequent potential crises. On September 26, 1983, Soviet satellite sensors indicated that five American ICBMs had launched, but the duty air defense officer refused to believe that such a limited launch was the start of a general attack. A month later, American forces in Germany took security precautions after the Beirut bombing, and some Soviet and East German agents misinterpreted this as heightened alert for military operations. Then, on November 2–11, 1983, NATO conducted Exercise Able Archer 83, a routine drill simulating transmission of nuclear release authority down the chain of command in NATO forces. After the fact, some observers alleged that Soviet intelligence had misinterpreted Able Archer as a genuine preparation for war, and the chief of the Soviet General Staff, Marshal Ogarkov, apparently did order some precautionary measures in response. However, East German agents promptly confirmed that the exercise was just that, and Soviet political leaders apparently did not receive a warning from their subordinates.30 The potential for miscalculation remained for several years, although gradually Reagan-Gorbachev summit diplomacy reduced mutual suspicions. However, nuclear conflict was not the only threat.

Conventional Negotiations

Intermixed with nuclear considerations were the Mutual and Balanced Force Negotiations, which ran intermittently in Vienna between 1973 and 1989. Washington had offered to reduce its conventional forces in Europe by 29,000 if Moscow would cut its larger forces by 68,000. Not surprisingly, the USSR demanded an equal initial cut on both sides, followed by equal percentage reductions by all armies on both sides. NATO consistently sought the removal of entire large Soviet formations, whereas the USSR preferred to use percentage figures, which were more difficult to verify by satellite. Moreover, instead of using accurate figures about troop strengths, the Soviet negotiators attempted to use what the KGB and Stasi told them were the Western intelligence estimates of Warsaw Pact numbers. Because NATO had revised its estimates, the Soviet offers lacked credibility. Gorbachev’s dramatic 1989 offer to cut 500,000 troops led to reinvigorated negotiations under a new name, and on November 19, 1990, virtually every NATO and Warsaw Pact government signed the Treaty on Conventional Armed Forces in Europe (CFE) and accompanying protocols, providing a structure to limit troops and weapons west of the Ural Mountains.31 By that point, the Soviet empire was unraveling so rapidly that the CFE agreement had to wait until 1993 for ratification by the Russian Federation.

Chemical and Biological Weapons

The United States had historically been ambivalent about the use of chemical and biological warfare.32 After World War I, when gas became a standard part of warfare, a series of presidents tried to outlaw its use, culminating with President Calvin Coolidge’s sponsoring of the 1925 Geneva Protocol that forbade the use of “asphyxiating, or other gases, and . . . all analogous liquids, materials or devices.”33 Several American groups, including the army’s Chemical Warfare Service, the American Chemical Society, and the American Legion, considered this renunciation not only naive but foolish, for giving up an American advantage in chemical production. Together, these groups successfully lobbied the U.S. Senate and prevented ratification of the Geneva agreement.34

Despite this nonratification, offensive and defensive chemical warfare remained a low priority in the U.S. Army until World War II, when the Chemical Warfare Service built thirteen factories to produce phosgene and other agents as a contingency and deterrent against the Axis powers. The postwar discovery of German nerve gases prompted the United States to begin production of sarin, assuming correctly that the Soviet Union would manufacture any weapon it could produce.35

During the Vietnam conflict, President Nixon’s military advisers supported the U.S. employment of herbicides, such as Agent Orange, and riot control agents. At ongoing disarmament discussions in Geneva, U.S. diplomats contended, perhaps mendaciously, that such weapons were not deadly to humans and therefore did not fall under the 1925 Protocol. Many other states disagreed, leading to a public relations embarrassment for the United States. In late 1969, the United Nations General Assembly voted overwhelmingly to include such weapons in the definition of forbidden forms of warfare.36 Although such a vote was not binding, it was a resounding rejection of the American use of nonlethal agents.

On November 25, 1969, just prior to the UN vote, Nixon sought to alleviate foreign perceptions by announcing a moratorium on chemical weapons production along with a decision to destroy all biological weapons. However, he insisted that the United States must maintain its stockpile of lethal chemicals to deter others.37 Soviet policy makers, apparently misled by their own disinformation campaigns, believed that Nixon’s renunciation was a lie told for American propaganda purposes.38 This cynical interpretation helps explain the blatant Soviet violation of the Biological and Toxin Weapons Convention that Brezhnev signed in 1972. That convention had no means of enforcement or inspection, in part because Western nations believed that bioweapons were not only immoral but too unpredictable for effective use. Soviet leaders were too paranoid to accept that conclusion.

Nixon also resubmitted the 1925 Geneva Protocol to the Senate. There, the Agent Orange issue delayed ratification until December 1974. Even then, the United States qualified its ratification by insisting both on herbicides to control vegetation near U.S. bases and on use of lethal agents in retaliation to an opponent’s prior use.39

Following Nixon’s 1969 renunciation of the first use of chemical weaspons, the condition and effectiveness of the American chemical weapons stockpile declined for the next fifteen years. Stored in locations such as Pine Bluff Arsenal, Arkansas, nerve and blister agents were subject to dangerous leakage as their containers rusted and the contents decomposed. Most U.S. military capacity for chemical defense resided in Army Reserve units, many of which were short of personnel and equipment. In 1975, the U.S. Army Military Personnel Center proposed eliminating the Chemical Corps as a branch, but the continued Soviet emphasis on chemical defense and reports of chemical use in Afghanistan and Iraq eventually prompted the army staff to revive that branch during the 1980s.40

Binary Weapons and the Chemical Weapons Convention

One of the Reagan administration’s initiatives was to replace the aging stockpile with binary chemical weapons. As the term implies, this new design involved two different components that were not lethal until they were combined at the point of employment, making storage and movement of chemical agents safer. Still, chemical warfare was so abhorrent that Congress refused to authorize construction of a facility to manufacture binary weapons. To convince critics of the necessity of modernized weapons, Reagan appointed a Chemical Warfare Review Commission chaired by former Undersecretary of State Walter Stoessel. In June 1985, the commission’s report provided the arguments that the president sought, including the suggestion that modernizing the chemical stockpile might increase pressure on the Soviets to negotiate a verifiable chemical disarmament treaty. The commission also concluded that most of the aging stockpile had no effective value, and that defensive measures alone would be insufficient to counter the Soviet chemical threat. New chemical weapons seemed essential to both negotiations and deterrence.41

In 1986, Congress reluctantly approved the production of 155 mm artillery shells with binary chemicals, but blocked the fielding of an aerial bomb using the same technology. Moreover, the congressional proposal specified that America’s NATO allies must concur on the need for such a deterrent. In fact, many NATO members were opposed to all chemical weapons. German Chancellor Helmut Kohl only acquiesced in return for the United States withdrawing its supply of obsolescent gases from Germany.42

Even as the Reagan administration sought to produce new chemical weapons, it continued the decades-long negotiations for a disarmament treaty with inspections for enforcement. In 1984, then–Vice President George H. W. Bush proposed a draft treaty to that effect.43 Yet, even with inspections, Soviet and Western military leaders believed that enforcement of such a treaty would be impossible. Without Soviet agreement, therefore, Bush’s draft remained only a gesture that the United States could cite for propaganda purposes.

In August 1987, soon after Congress approved the construction of a binary munitions plant, Mikhail Gorbachev changed the Soviet negotiating position on inspections as part of his efforts to cut defense costs.44 The correlation, if any, between the American binary weapons program and Gorbachev’s diplomatic flexibility is unknowable. Still, Gorbachev’s decision opened the way for chemical disarmament.

The possibility of an actual treaty made hawkish elements within the Reagan administration concerned about allowing foreign inspectors into sensitive defense areas, a concern that stalled negotiations. Once Bush became president in 1989, however, he continued to press Gorbachev while reviewing his own negotiating positions. In May 1991, the Bush administration dropped its previous insistence on retaining 2 percent of its chemical weapons stockpile until all states had complied with disarmament. The United States and the Russian Federation agreed on wording that allowed for a negotiated inspection if one party challenged another about chemical weapons. Australian and German diplomats developed the final procedures that permitted the negotiators to sign the treaty in 1993.45 Even then, a further three years of internal arguments ensued before the Clinton administration obtained Senate ratification.46

Weapons Proliferation

The existence of such massive Western and Soviet programs provided both technical knowledge and equipment to facilitate proliferation of weapons of mass destruction in a dozen countries. In addition to the battlefield effects of such weapons, governments and terrorist groups sought to obtain WMD in part for prestige both in their regions and among their followers. As U.S. and Soviet control over regional partners declined during the later Cold War, those regional powers had both greater opportunity and greater perceived need to develop their own weapons.

Governments that perceived an existential threat, including Israel, Pakistan, and apartheid South Africa, were particularly motivated to acquire WMD. For Pakistan, a combination of nationalism, Islamic internationalism, and resentment toward the West made WMD and the missiles to deliver those weapons seem essential.47 Many such governments regarded the Western powers’ efforts to halt proliferation—retaining WMD for themselves while denying them to others—as an arrogant double standard.

Until the advent of microcomputers facilitated calculations for nuclear fission and missile trajectories, many Westerners believed that Third World countries would have great difficulty developing such weapons. In some cases, such as that of Libya, they were correct that local governments lacked the industrial and academic infrastructure for WMD projects. Other states, however, had considerable capabilities in these areas and used oil money to buy what they did not have, including scientific expertise. Egypt, for example, apparently concluded that nuclear weapons would not advance its security needs but did stockpile chemical weapons and fund German and Argentinean efforts to develop tactical missiles.48 In turn, Cairo sold Soviet-produced Scud B (R-17) missiles, with a range of three hundred kilometers, to Pyongyang which copied and improved them, later selling both Scuds and the North Korean No Dong I (range 1,000 kilometers) to other states, including Pakistan.49

Chemical and biological weapons proved easier to develop than nuclear ones for several reasons. The developed nations were slow to establish a comprehensive system of export controls, and European states profited from sales to the Third World while ignoring U.S. complaints. When export of a device was forbidden, sale of its components might still be permissible. Much of the technology involved was “dual-use,” having both legitimate and illegitimate purposes. Thus, facilities to produce chlorine or pesticides for health-related purposes could also make the precursors for chemical agents, while research and culturing of vaccines might conceal parallel efforts to develop biological agents.

WMD Unleashed

During the 1960s to 1980s, the Soviet, Egyptian, North Vietnamese, and other armed forces allegedly used chemical weapons and toxins in Afghanistan, Yemen, Kampuchea and Laos, respectively.50 In September 1987, Libya employed mustard gas in a vain effort to halt the reconquest of northern Chad; the United States provided protective masks to the Chadians.51

The perpetrators generally denied and concealed these attacks, with the partial exception of the Iraqi regime of Saddam Hussein. The Ba’ath Party government began investing in all three forms of WMD during the 1970s, sending students to study abroad and bring home their expertise. By the time Saddam invaded Iran in 1980 (see chapter 14), he had not yet developed an indigenous chemical production capability, but he was able to circumvent export controls to obtain most of the precursors needed, in part because France and the United States favored Baghdad in the conflict.52 In 1981, Iraq reached a secret agreement with Egypt to establish chemical production capacity in Iraq, as well as to profit from Egypt’s military experience using gases in Yemen.53 As Iran, with its larger and self-sacrificing population, proved more capable than the Iraqis had anticipated, they turned to chemical weapons as an equalizer.

Saddam employed tear gas against both domestic opposition and, in 1982, the Iranians. The first use of lethal chemicals, and the first known use of nerve gas, occurred in March 1984 by aerial bombs. Early Iraqi attacks of this kind sometimes failed because the bombs were dropped from too high an altitude or the winds were blowing away from rather than toward the enemy. Eventually, however, the Iraqis learned how to employ different agents together and coordinate them with both the weather and their conventional attacks. Between 1983 and 1988, Iraq used an estimated 1,800 tons of mustard gas, as well as 140 tons of tabun and 600 tons of sarin (both nerve agents). Beginning in 1986, the government decentralized chemical release authority down to corps commanders, who used almost two-thirds of the chemical tonnage listed above during the last eighteen months of the war. Some of these chemical attacks, such as that in the Al-Faw Peninsula in 1988, completely disrupted Iranian command and control. In response, Iran began to develop and use its own chemical weapons, although rarely to the scale of its opponent.54

Saddam also used chemical agents against the Kurds in Iraq, inflicting civilian casualties in some sixty villages—an action bordering on genocide. The most publicized instance of this occurred on March 16, 1988, in Halabja, 350 kilometers northeast of Baghdad. Iranian troops, in cooperation with Kurdish fighters, had just captured the area. A combination of mustard and nerve gas, almost certainly Iraqi in origin, killed an estimated 3,800 people and sickened 10,000 more.55 Saddam continued to rely on the threat of chemicals to terrify his opponents even after he realized that chemical weapons would not avail him against the United States. In all likelihood, this was the principal reason why the Ba’ath regime encouraged the belief that it still had chemical weapons long after those weapons were destroyed.

Nuclear Proliferation

In 1968, prolonged diplomatic negotiations in Geneva led to the Nuclear Nonproliferation Treaty, which France and India declined to sign. Early attempts at nuclear export controls had been rudimentary at best. Under the Atoms for Peace program, the United States and Canada had provided small nuclear research reactors and limited amounts of enriched materials to various Middle Eastern and South Asian states during the 1950s and 1960s. Misusing such resources, the Indian government developed sufficient fissionable material to detonate a nuclear device, code-named “Smiling Buddha,” in Rajasthan, northwestern India, on May 18, 1974. New Delhi insisted that this was an example of “peaceful nuclear explosives,” and indeed an initial detonation of this type was not equivalent to a reliable, deliverable nuclear weapon.56 Nonetheless, the test made India the first nation to cross the nuclear threshold since Communist China (with Soviet assistance) had exploded a device in 1964.

In comparison to other developing states, India had an unusually large academic foundation for such a program. The next competitor was imperial Iran, which in 1975 contracted with a German firm to build a civilian nuclear reactor on a peninsula near the port of Bushehr. Both the United States and Iraq suspected that the shah intended to begin a clandestine weapons program at that site.57

In response, Saddam sought to acquire his own reactor. France refused to sell him a system that could “breed” plutonium-239 by irradiating uranium but eventually agreed to construct a small light water reactor of the Osiris design. Erected at Tuwaitha, eighteen kilometers south-southeast of Baghdad, this reactor became known as Osirak because of the French spelling of the country name (Irak).

Saddam had other concerns beyond the shah. On March 27, 1979, the Iraqi dictator held a secret meeting in which he projected an attritional war to destroy Israel, boasting that he could obtain atomic weapons from the USSR and use them to deter Israeli attacks on the Iraqi homeland.58 Such a war would have given Iraq enormous prestige in the Arab world but was otherwise not in Baghdad’s national interests, which helps explain Saddam’s shift to the potentially more lucrative attack on Iran. In any event, although Moscow had sold him thousands of conventional weapons, it had no desire to provide an atomic bomb. Israel took Iraqi rhetoric seriously and planned Operation Opera in response. On June 7, 1981, four Israeli F-16A fighter-bombers escorted by four F-15s struck the Osirak site just before it was scheduled to become operational. Scholars have since debated whether this was an effective means of countering proliferation, given that the reactor was quite small and was subject to International Atomic Energy Agency controls.59 Moreover, achieving critical mass using a plutonium-based implosion device is technically more difficult than the simpler “shotgun” design that forces two masses of highly enriched uranium together. In either case, the Iraqis continued their clandestine efforts to obtain fissionable material, using a time-and energy-consuming process involving large numbers of centrifuges. Each group of centrifuges yielded only a slight enrichment by partially separating the lighter U-235 (0.72 percent in uranium ore) from the heavier U-238, with the product of one stage being cascaded into another series of centrifuges to repeat the process. Over time, a large supply of ore and centrifuges could enrich the uranium until it reached 90 percent.

Ultimately, the most significant nuclear proliferator proved to be Pakistan, driven by its fear of India and influenced by its military and intelligence organizations. The 1974 Indian nuclear test galvanized these efforts, and China, because of its own rivalry with New Delhi, provided technical designs.60 Munir Khan headed the covert Pakistan Atomic Energy Commission, but a separate effort, known as Project 706 among other cover names, was headed by Abdul Qadeer Khan. A. Q. Khan was a relentless self-promoter who built a legend for himself as the sole builder of the Pakistani bomb. He had genuine advantages, beginning with his education, at various European universities, which led to a doctorate in metallurgy. In 1972, his doctorate plus his ability in multiple languages earned him employment in a Dutch nuclear firm, where he translated technical materials concerning gas centrifuges. In September 1974, A. Q. Khan volunteered his services to the Pakistani nuclear effort, having stolen the designs for the most advanced centrifuges in Europe. This expertise earned him an independent laboratory, and he reported directly to Prime Minister Zulfikar Ali Bhutto. From there, A. Q. Khan crisscrossed the Middle East and Africa, gaining financial assistance from Libya, uranium hexafluoride (UF6, or “yellow cake”) from Niger, and export and production facilities in various locations. Initially trading centrifuge designs for other aid, Khan eventually assembled a group of exporters who, by the late 1990s, offered complete enrichment plants for purchase by Iran and Libya.61 China reportedly tested a nuclear device for Pakistan in 1990, and the Pakistanis conducted their own test on May 28, 1998.62 Because of multiple changes in Pakistan’s government, Khan was able to operate semi-independently for decades, with the government denying knowledge of many of his proliferation deals.

South Africa

Isolated economically and diplomatically, South Africa’s leaders were fascinated with WMD during the late Cold War. As described in chapter 2, apartheid leaders perceived themselves as beleaguered by “communists,” both overtly in Angola and clandestinely in Namibia and at home. The combination of racial and ideological beliefs with a siege mentality explains why WMD played a major if secret role in South African security policy.

In 1981, the South African Defence Force initiated Project Coast, restarting earlier efforts in chemical and biological warfare, to be used in Angola and against the Black African majority at home. Two organizations, Delta G and Roodeplaat Research Laboratories (RRL), acted as fronts to develop and produce agents. In 1988, this program produced twenty tons of CR, a potentially lethal form of tear gas, with the SADF loading half this amount into munitions for delivery. The program also produced significant quantities of amphetamines, including MDMA (“Ecstasy”).63 The RRL specialized in chemical and biological agents used to assassinate opposition leaders.64

In 1973, domestic disturbances and the rise of the African National Congress posed an increased threat to the apartheid regime. The following spring, revolution in Lisbon signaled the end of Portugal’s long counterinsurgency efforts in Africa, while the minority regime in Rhodesia was fighting a rising insurgency. The government in Pretoria contemplated a future in which it would be surrounded by hostile regimes. South Africa had an Atoms for Peace reactor and was able to purchase another reactor from France, but Britain and the United States soon froze nuclear cooperation, suspecting that South Africa was developing a bomb. During this same period, the Yom Kippur War reinforced Israel’s similar sense of encirclement. Israel already possessed some nuclear capacity but needed both additional uranium ore and a discreet location for nuclear testing. The outcome was secret cooperation that made possible a South African atomic bomb.65

While Pretoria worked to develop a uranium enrichment facility, testing did not go undetected. In the summer of 1977, Soviet and American satellites identified possible preparations for a nuclear test at a remote site in the Kalahari Desert. This may have been simply a SADF bluff in response to rising criticism of apartheid, or possibly a disguised Israeli test, but Britain, the United States, and several European powers cooperated diplomatically to block the supposed explosion.66 Two years later, however, U.S. satellites, as well as hydrophones on Ascension Island and seismographs elsewhere, detected signatures suggesting that a small, shotgun-design uranium device exploded on September 22, 1979, near the remote Prince Edward Islands belonging to South Africa.67

Regardless of the truth concerning this test, Prime Minister John Vorster and his successor, P. W. Botha, conducted a secret program to acquire nuclear weapons, apparently to use them as a deterrent threat in case South Africa’s opponents invaded. The program assembled its first two primitive bombs in 1982 and 1983; by 1989 it had constructed six guided glide bombs for delivery by a Buccaneer aircraft while cooperating with Israel on the development of the Jericho-2 intermediate-range ballistic missile. The South African nuclear scientists and manufacturers had a vested interest in continuing the program, but international pressure against apartheid gradually made the weapons appear less useful strategically. Even SADF commanders apparently argued that the government should trade its nuclear arms for foreign concessions. When F. W. de Klerk was elected president in 1989, he reassessed the WMD program along with the future of apartheid. By September 1991, all of South Africa’s atomic bombs were disassembled, with the fissionable material recycled for use in nuclear power plants or other peaceful ends.68 De Klerk also directed the termination of chemical and biological programs.

Many of the developments in this chapter were invisible to the general public, occurring in diplomatic negotiations, clandestine transfer of controlled materials, and secret laboratories and enrichment facilities. Even states that used weapons of mass destruction, including the USSR, Iraq, and Libya, generally denied their actions. Some, like Saddam Hussein and F. W. de Klerk, eventually concluded that these WMD were not really useful in a strategic context. By that time, however, the habits of clandestine proliferation had become so widespread that they ushered in a new era of widespread WMD, some of which appeared in the hands of nonstate terrorist groups.




CHAPTER 14

CONFLICT IN THE 1980S

Gulf of Sidra, Mediterranean Sea, August 18–19, 1981

During and after the Cold War, the U.S. Navy conducted frequent operations in support of “Freedom of Navigation”—that is, sending warships to assert the right of peaceful transit through what the United States considers to be international waters, but other governments claim as their own territorial sphere. Some of these patrols were uneventful, while others involved diplomatic protests and near collisions with foreign naval or coast guard vessels trying to warn the U.S. ships away. On a few occasions, the navy encountered serious trouble.

From the U.S. perspective, the problem in 1981 was Muammar Ghaddafi (variously spelled Ghadafi, Qaddafi, or Khadhafi), the young army officer who seized control of Libya in 1969 and expelled foreign military forces while demanding higher prices for his country’s oil. An outspoken advocate of both Islam and Arab socialism, Ghaddafi supported Palestinian activists, meddled in the affairs of neighboring states, and irritated as many Arab governments as he did Western oilmen and diplomats. Libyan “people’s bureaux” (embassies) became arms depots for terrorists. Egypt’s Anwar Sadat described him as “100 percent sick and possessed of the devil.”1

Beginning in 1974 and accelerating after the Camp David Accords of 1978, the Soviet Union and Libya established increasingly close military and nuclear ties, in part owing to their mutual antipathy to Egypt and the United States. In that five-year period, Libyan arms spending totaled $5 billion, exceeding even Israel’s.2 Sometimes unexpected allies provided help; between 1979 and early 1981, North Korean pilots manned Libyan MiG-21s to provide air defense to the eastern part of the country until Libya trained sufficient pilots of its own.3

The issue for the U.S. Navy was simpler than the Libyan regime as a whole—navigation of the Gulf of Sidra. Like many other governments at that time, Tripoli asserted a twelve-mile extent to its territorial waters, whereas the United States recognized only three miles. Moreover, in 1973 Libya had notified both the UN and the United States that, because the Gulf of Sidra was flanked by Libyan territory on both sides, the government considered the gulf to be “internal waters” subject to Libyan control and designated the northern edge of the gulf as the “Line of Death.”4 This was the claim that Rear Adm. James Service’s Task Force 60, including the USS Nimitz and Forrestal carrier battle groups, challenged, issuing pubic notice that it would conduct exercises in the area on August 18–19, 1981. Although the carriers remained just inside the northern edge of the gulf, multiple screens closer to shore provided both early warning and, in this instance, provocation. Modern warships were so vulnerable that the best defense was to halt an attack before it reached the vessel. Combat air patrols (CAPs) of F-4 and F-14 fighters, directed by E-2C Hawkeye aircraft, aimed to intercept airborne threats well away from the carriers, while S-3A anti-submarine aircraft and various helicopters searched for submarines. Airborne and shipborne jammers and electronic deceptions aimed to blind or mislead inbound attackers. Two bands of cruisers and guided missile destroyers could not only engage surface and air attackers but also mislead those attackers as to the true location of the carriers. The navy’s subordinate commanders coordinated all these assets under the composite warfare doctrine.5
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Northern Libya, 1981–1986. Map by Erin Greb Cartography.



On the first day of the exercise, August 18, CAPs intercepted dozens of Libyan MiG-23s and MiG-25s, all of which turned away quickly to avoid conflict. The next morning, two F-14s from VF-41 Squadron aboard the Nimitz, flying in a loose formation to permit free maneuvering, encountered two Su-22 Fitter Js. While both types of aircraft had variable wings, the Fitters were much less maneuverable than the American fighters. The Libyan pilots were aggressive but inexperienced, staying in a tight two-ship formation as they approached the widely spaced Americans. One of the Fitters fired a Vympal K-13 (NATO designation AA-2 Atoll) missile at the approaching F-14s. Because the Atoll was an infrared-seeking missile, it had no chance of hitting an opponent head-on; the missile headed for the sun instead. This attack met the criterion for engagement, so in less than a minute the F-14s maneuvered to the flanks and each shot down an Su-22. Only one of the Libyan pilots survived. Thus ended the first American aerial engagement in a decade, reflecting the renewed technical and tactical superiority of naval aviation.6

The decade of the 1980s witnessed both the Soviet occupation of Afghanistan and the prolonged Iran-Iraq War and repeated if limited military engagements involving American military forces. In addition to the Beirut bombing (chapter 7) and multiple air engagements with Libya, U.S. forces invaded the island of Grenada and conducted a sustained defense of shipping lanes in the Persian Gulf.

Urgent Fury

In 1979, the Marxist-oriented New Joint Effort for Welfare, Education, and Liberation (New Jewel or NJP) Party took control of the former British colony of Grenada in the southeastern Caribbean. The NJP soon received economic and military aid from Cuba, the Soviet Union, and other communist states; the first Soviet ambassador to the new government was a general in the GRU. Soviet equipment and Cuban trainers built a battalion-sized People’s Revolutionary Army with a larger but ill-prepared militia.7

When NJP Prime Minister Maurice Bishop fell out with his deputy, Bernard Coard, Moscow favored the doctrinaire Coard over the more flexible and charismatic Bishop. This struggle came to a head on October 13, 1983, when Coard’s supporters arrested Bishop. Four days later, the hard-liners dispatched their one company of BTR-60 armored personnel carriers to disperse a crowd of protesters, opening fire with machine guns. Later the same afternoon, the radicals executed Bishop and seven of his advisers. Fidel Castro protested the murders.8 As signs of an American intervention increased, however, on October 24 Castro sent Col. Pedro Tortolo, a graduate of the highest Soviet staff schools and former chief of military assistance on the island, back to Grenada. Tortolo organized both the Cubans—most of whom had previously undergone mandatory military service—and Grenadans for defense.9
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The Reagan administration had openly criticized the NJP regime. Among other charges, Washington worried that the airport Cuba was building at Point Salines would, in conjunction with bases in Cuba and Nicaragua, allow hostile aircraft to control the Caribbean and disrupt American oil imports. The coup against Bishop raised even greater concerns because some six hundred Americans were attending medical school on the island, although Grenada’s defense minister, Hudson Austin, repeatedly signaled that these students were in no danger. U.S. Atlantic Command (LANTCOM) and Joint Staff officers developed options to evacuate the students. The mission—and therefore the troops involved—changed so rapidly in the course of one weekend (Friday, October 21–Monday, October 24) that the command structure could not adjust to accommodate the situation.

For security reasons, the Joint Chiefs of Staff forbade any message traffic about the operation; therefore, all coordination occurred in a series of conferences over the weekend. The final participants were never in one room together to coordinate. The extreme secrecy meant that military planners did not consult with the Department of Education, which had extensive accreditation files on the campuses in Grenada.10 Instead, planning officers shuttled between LANTCOM in Norfolk, Virginia, the Joint Staff in the Pentagon, and Maj. Gen. Richard Scholtes’s newborn Joint Special Operations Command (JSOC) at Fort Bragg, North Carolina. In the process, the JCS chairman, Gen. John W. Vessey, concluded that the operation would begin with special operations forces, with conventional units relieving those troops as early as possible to conceal the participation of JSOC.11

Just as in the 1965 Dominican intervention, Caribbean islands such as Grenada fell under the responsibility of CINCLANT—in this instance, Adm. Wesley McDonald. Grenada was a low priority for mapping and intelligence, covered only by a general concept plan (CONPLAN 2360), a rough outline of how CINCLANT would occupy any Caribbean island, using the skeleton U.S. Caribbean Command headquarters in Key West as the joint control element. In practice, the units involved had a better common framework because of Solid Shield 83, a LANTCOM-directed command post exercise conducted in August 1983. This shared experience proved important in overcoming planning issues. Based on this exercise, Lt. Gen. Jack Mackmull, the XVIII Airborne Corps commander, felt that he had a working relationship with Admiral McDonald and correctly anticipated that McDonald would use the headquarters, Second Fleet—Vice Adm. Joseph Metcalf III—as the joint task force commander.12

Metcalf began his plans believing that the 22nd Marine Amphibious Unit (MAU), diverted en route to Beirut, would be sufficient to conduct the student evacuation. However, the ground component of this MAU—2nd Battalion, 8th Marines—was somewhat understrength in personnel (822) and heavy weapons. In the course of the weekend, the escalating violence on the island caused the evacuation mission to evolve into regime change. Additional units became involved for seemingly valid reasons. In particular, the MAU could not arrive by sea until October 25, while the danger to the Americans on the island seemed to mount every hour. The response was to involve elements of the 82nd Airborne Division and the army’s two Ranger battalions, any of which could parachute in on eighteen hours’ notice.13 Army involvement became even more necessary when the marine barracks in Beirut suffered a truck bombing that Sunday, October 23 (see chapter 7), which necessitated that the 22nd MAU finish its Grenada mission promptly and move on to Lebanon. However, adding airborne forces created difficulties in interservice coordination and communications. Metcalf’s constrained staff, with only two army officers, needed augmentation to deal with the additional army units.14 Maj. Gen. H. Norman Schwarzkopf Jr., a soldier of considerable special operations experience who at the time commanded the 24th Infantry Division (Mechanized), joined Metcalf’s staff. At 7:00 A.M. on Monday, October 24, Admiral Metcalf was able to meet with Generals Schwarzkopf, Scholtes, and Edward Trobaugh, the latter commanding 82nd Airborne Division, although the marine and navy commanders were already at sea and could not attend. After discussing the operation, Schwarzkopf and Metcalf departed by air for Antigua, where helicopters ferried the admiral and his small staff to the USS Guam, the assault vessel that served as flagship of the amphibious squadron heading for Grenada.15

As finally executed, the intervention began with special operations, most of which were directed by General Scholtes as commander of Joint Task Force 123, which experienced a number of mishaps. A Sea, Air, Land (SEAL) team of twelve SEALs and four USAF combat controllers were supposed to parachute into the sea west of Grenada, rendezvous with light boats, and reconnoiter the island on the night of October 23–24. They were stymied by aerial navigation errors and especially heavy seas that drowned four of the SEALs and repeatedly swamped the boat, so that the team was unable to get ashore in time.16 Other SEALs from Team 4 were apparently more successful, reconnoitering beaches for the marines and calling in destroyer gunfire to neutralize a Cuban radio transmitter. Most crucially, a group of SEALs reached Government House in the town of Saint George’s, to protect the British governor-general, Sir Paul Scoon, and his household. However, the rescuers were unable to evacuate this group, leading to a standoff against local troops.17

Next, Delta Force, transported by MH-60 helicopters from the 160th Aviation Battalion at Fort Campbell, Kentucky, was scheduled to attack the Grenadan military command at Fort Frederick on October 25. These helicopters experienced delays in their preparations after arriving at a staging base in Barbados. One Ranger company was diverted to support Delta. Defending automatic weapons drove off the attack, downing an MH-60 and wounding seventeen soldiers. Learning of this setback, Admiral Metcalf ordered an air strike on the fort. Unfortunately, one bombload struck a mental hospital by mistake, with heavy civilian casualties.18 The thwarted special operations troops diverted to Port Salines, which by this time was under army control.

While the marines prepared to seize the northern part of the island, the task of capturing the Port Salines area fell to the army’s two Ranger battalions. The two battalion commanders had begun planning for the mission on October 21; under cover of an exercise, 2nd Battalion moved from Fort Lewis, Washington, on the 23rd to join 1st Battalion at Hunter Army Airfield, Georgia. Unfortunately for unit integrity, JSOC planners had requisitioned airlift by type—MC-130, the special operations version of the C-130—rather than capability. Military Airlift Command could furnish only three MC-130 and four C-130 crews that were qualified for night paradrops, resulting in a shortfall of aircraft that would not have occurred had the planners accepted the larger C-141Bs. With only limited aircraft, General Scholtes restricted the assault force to 337 soldiers. Lt. Col. Wesley Taylor, commander of 1st Battalion, therefore decided to take all of his rifle companies for flexibility of maneuver, but with each company reduced to its most experienced troops, which left behind much of the rank and file. Taylor’s battalion had the mission of clearing the runway and a medical campus nearby, while Lt. Col. Ralph Hagler’s 2nd Battalion would search the unfinished airport terminal and nearby high ground before passing through 1st Battalion to advance on the Cuban military assistance compound to the northeast.19 The airborne drop also included two soldiers from the 82nd Airborne’s 618th Light Engineer Company to move Cuban construction equipment off the unfinished runway.

Airborne reconnaissance had indicated obstacles on the runway, so the attackers rigged for a parachute drop. Regrettably for the attackers, a failure of navigation equipment cost thirty precious minutes on the morning of October 25. Instead of jumping before dawn, it was fully light when the leading MC-130s passed over the narrow drop zone at 5:34 A.M. Another equipment failure caused the first two aircraft to abort, so that only Taylor’s command group dropped in the first pass. The Cuban construction workers and Grenadan soldiers filled the sky with tracer fire from machine guns and ZPU-4 anti-aircraft weapons. Taylor had chosen a low drop altitude—five hundred feet—in a successful bid to fly under the ZPU fire, although this meant that the Rangers would have no time to deploy reserve parachutes if their mains failed. AC-130 gunships moved in to suppress the ground fire, working over the high ground east and north of the runway. By 5:52 A.M., the other aircraft had circled to drop the remainder of 1st Battalion, becoming intermixed with the aircraft carrying 2nd Battalion. Such confusion often occurs in airborne operations; by 6:30 the units had sorted themselves out and two of Taylor’s companies were assaulting the fuel tanks and Cuban headquarters.20

The marines had meanwhile used helicopters rather than amphibious vehicles to seize the smaller airport at Pearls. They encountered almost no resistance and captured some Grenadan soldiers. American information operations, broadcasting over “Radio Spice Island,” contributed to poor morale among the defenders. In the south, however, some Grenadans and their communist bloc advisers continued to fight, albeit ineptly. Completing the student rescue and pacifying the island would require more than two understrength Ranger battalions.

Although the 82nd Airborne Division had begun contingency planning on Saturday, October 22, the final concept did not reach the division until the 24th, with the leading units scheduled to depart at nine o’clock the next morning. When the news of resistance at Point Salines reached Fort Bragg, General Trobaugh, the division commander, decided that the leading elements must be rigged for parachute assault, causing further delays. The first aircraft, including the division and brigade assault command posts, took off at 10:07. Once in the air, the leading battalion commander learned that his assigned marine fire support officer (ANGLICO, for Air and Naval Gunfire Liaison Company) had no frequencies or call signs for naval close air and gunfire support. Similarly, this 2nd Battalion, 325th Airborne, had no joint communications-electronics operating index (CEOI) to establish communications with other elements. Such omissions were almost inevitable given the secrecy and speed with which Urgent Fury was mounted, but the potential for interservice confusion remained.21

The airborne buildup continued rapidly, hampered by absence of parking aprons at the unfinished airfield, so that each C-141B aircraft had to be unloaded and relaunched before the next one could land. At times, the entire operation depended on a single forklift, brought in at the start of the division’s arrival and used to unload each aircraft. Unfortunately for the deployment, for many hours the 82nd Airborne support personnel were unaware of this limitation and continued to push aircraft forward as quickly as they were loaded. Moreover, there was no single army officer at Green Ramp, the embarkation area at Pope Air Force Base, to deal with the air force concerning priorities for materials and personnel.22

As leading elements of the 82nd’s 2nd Brigade arrived, they assembled and joined the perimeter defense one company at a time. At about 3:30 P.M. on the 25th, three BTR armored infantry carriers of the Grenadan army advanced toward the medical campus at the end of the runway, but 90 mm recoilless rifles knocked them out. By 7:00 P.M., General Trobaugh assumed responsibility for the airhead from Scholtes’s JTF 123. Because of unexpected resistance, Trobaugh received control of the two Ranger battalions rather than allowing them to withdraw with the rest of the special operators.23

That same evening, Admiral Metcalf acted on a suggestion by General Schwarzkopf to relieve the SEALs besieged at the governor-general’s residence. With the bulk of opposing forces committed against Point Salines, Metcalf directed an M-60A1 tank platoon and a marine rifle company to land on the west side of the island, just before dark. The next morning at four o’clock, this force attacked out of its beachhead. A few rounds of tank main gun ammunition dispersed any opposition, relieving the SEALs by 7:00 A.M. on October 26.24

The bottleneck of logistical support from Fort Bragg to Barbados to Point Salines continued to delay the arrival of key elements of the 82nd Airborne Division, especially helicopters. Unaware of these delays, the Joint Chiefs ordered Trobaugh to evacuate American students from the hitherto unknown Grand Anse campus, located on the western coast of the island about four kilometers northeast of Point Salines. Interservice cooperation helped solve the problem. Working through General Schwarzkopf, Trobaugh got Admiral Metcalf to lend the 82nd the use of six CH-46 Sea Knights from Marine Medium Helicopter Squadron 261. At about 4:15 P.M. on October 26, the 82nd’s available artillery plus navy A-7s and AC-130 gunships fired a preparation to isolate the campus from the rest of the island, after which the CH-46s transported the understrength 2nd Ranger Battalion to the narrow beach near the dormitories. A few rifle shots struck the helicopters and wounded one Ranger; more significantly, one of the helicopters clipped a palm tree and crashed on landing. Still, the raid evacuated 233 students; lacking sufficient space to lift everyone in the remaining aircraft, eleven Rangers stayed behind. They later paddled a raft out to sea to be picked up.25

The 82nd Airborne Division was finally able to build up sufficient force to expand its airhead. By October 27, army and marine troops were approaching each other as they spread out to control the island. General Trobaugh proposed a cautious advance, with exchanges of radio call signs and liaison officers to avoid friendly fire. Col. James P. Faulkner rejected such precautions because he believed that the two forces were operating in separate areas. There were several near misses, but tragedy struck due to a different form of miscommunication. On the afternoon of the 27th, the 82nd’s 2nd Brigade established its tactical operation center in a large white house to supervise a clearing operation moving northeastward toward Saint George’s. Nearby was an ANGLICO team that had arrived on the previous day to support one of the airborne battalions but did not yet have communications with that battalion. Receiving unidentified automatic fire, the ANGLICO team called in navy A-7 aircraft. Somehow, the navy pilot deviated from his assigned course and strafed the white house, inflicting sixteen friendly casualties.26 The operations center continued to function, such that subordinate units were not even aware of the mishap.27

The final significant action of the Grenada intervention occurred soon thereafter, beginning at 4:00 P.M. on the 27th. When the marines captured Fort Frederick, they found documents suggesting that there might be two battalion-sized groups of Cubans. The logical place to find the second group was at the only remaining military compound, at Calivigny on a small peninsula about 3.5 km east of the Point Salines airfield. By this time, the 82nd Airborne’s own UH-60 helicopters had arrived but had no time for planning before they lifted the 2nd Ranger Battalion, reinforced by Company C of the 1st Battalion, to assault Calivigny. A significant fire preparation preceded the landing, including A-7s, AC-130s, 82nd Airborne howitzers, and even one five-inch shell from an offshore destroyer. The fires lifted at 5:00 P.M. and the Rangers arrived from over the sea. Their chosen landing point, on a street between buildings, proved too narrow, so the helicopters shifted to land nearby. One helicopter ran into another when a pilot was wounded by ground fire, while a third smashed its tail rotor and collided with a fourth. The Rangers recovered quickly and searched the area, but they found no one.28

Thereafter, organized resistance ceased, although soldiers continued to find small groups of adversaries and students who had been bypassed. On November 3, Admiral Metcalf passed control of Grenada operations to General Trobaugh. Both during and after combat operations, Trobaugh was heavily dependent on XVIII Airborne Corps assets, especially for staff, communications, and logistics. The JCS chairman had avoided assigning the corps to the operation in order to downplay Grenada’s significance in public perceptions. This was a significant, but often overlooked, reason for delays and shortfalls in the landing.

The intervention killed 45 Grenadans, 24 of whom were civilians, and wounded 337; the Cubans lost 24 killed and 29 wounded. American casualties were 19 dead (including 12 soldiers and 3 marines) and 89 wounded (71 soldiers and 15 marines). Among the people whom the Americans detained and repatriated were 49 Soviets, 17 Libyans, 15 North Koreans, and 3 Bulgarians, some of whom were accredited diplomats.29

As reflected in the preceding narrative, Urgent Fury has a well-deserved reputation for ineptitude. Numerous commentators made scathing critiques while being unaware of the political and practical handicaps under which planners and commanders labored. Some of this public misunderstanding can be attributed to the military’s decision, for security reasons, not to permit journalists on the island until October 27. Overall, military performance in such a short notice, unlikely contingency was reasonably effective. Still, this operation provided cogent arguments for greater jointness in the U.S. military, leading to the defense reforms of the Goldwater-Nichols Act.

Terrorism in Europe

Italy

Urgent Fury was a rare conventional operation in an era when insurgency and terrorism were widespread. On June 19, 1985, for example, Abu Nidal set off a bomb in the Frankfurt Airport, killing three and injuring forty-two; the same day, El Salvadoran insurgents murdered thirteen people, including two American businessmen and four off-duty marine guards, in adjacent sidewalk cafés in San Salvador. Four days later, Sikh terrorists deployed two bombs: one killed two baggage handlers in a Tokyo airport, while the other destroyed an Air India jet over the Atlantic, murdering 329 persons.30

Europe had its own share of terrorist incidents. Although many terrorist movements in Europe used Marxist terminology, they were by no means aligned with the Soviet Union. Instead, such groups were motivated by nationalist separatism (e.g., Basques, Irish Republicans) or radical, almost anarchist forms of communism. Even where the authorities successfully repressed such groups, other radicals would adopt the same name to enhance their reputations. However, the model of terrorism that forced demoralized foreign occupiers to withdraw did not apply when the controlling power was a domestic, democratic government. While most terrorists assumed that random violence would disorient and alienate the population, in many instances such senseless attacks backfired, angering the populace and turning the people against the perpetrators.31

Italy, with its history of criminal and political resistance to government authority, was a natural site for one such movement, the Brigata Rosa (Red Brigades). During the later 1960s, embittered, idealistic university students turned to violence to achieve their vision of social justice, appropriating the moral certitude of the World War II Italian resistance as well as the undeserved mystique of Che Guevara.32 To some extent, they were following focoist theory, seeking to provoke the government into excessive repression while exposing the lack of revolutionary action by the Italian Communist Party. Unfortunately for the would-be revolutionaries, Italian police and government officials generally avoided overreaction, although their adherence to the rule of law meant that many bombings, bank robberies, and other crimes went unpunished.33 However, various right-wing groups also made violent attacks, which the Red Brigades and other leftists cited as proof of government repression.34 The Red Brigades began to “arrest” various businessmen and government officials, claiming to enforce revolutionary justice and “imprison” their victims. Between 1969 and 1974, violence on both ends of the political spectrum resulted in 92 dead and 2,792 wounded in more than 2,000 acts.35 At their peak, the Red Brigades had an estimated four to five hundred paid, active members with another thousand sympathizers for support tasks. By contrast, the Italian government had hamstrung its police intelligence units for fear of Fascist conspiracies.36

The Red Brigades reached a crescendo of violence and credibility beginning in 1978. On March 16, the terrorists kidnapped Aldo Moro, head of the Christian Democratic Party, killing his driver and five police guards in the process. They held Moro for fifty-four days, evading the police and issuing political manifestos. The government refused to negotiate, and the extremists murdered Moro. If nothing else, this incident convinced the Italian government of the seriousness of the Red Brigades threat.37

To the surprise of the true believers, focoist tactics of violence failed again. The public was repulsed, and the rank and file became discouraged. The police began to make inroads into Red Brigades leadership, and a 1979 law permitted the government to detain suspects for up to five years and four months, keeping radical leaders off the streets. When the European Court of Human Rights objected to detention without trial, the government conducted mass trials in fortified courthouses.38

The remaining leaders of the Red Brigades searched for other targets to force change, including the United States. In the perception of many Italians, Washington secretly controlled the government in Rome. More visibly, U.S. Army custodial detachments held nuclear weapons for use by Italian forces as part of NATO, and in the late 1970s Washington was pressuring Italy to host cruise missiles with additional nuclear warheads. At the same time, America appeared vulnerable after failures in Vietnam, Nicaragua, and Iran. All these considerations encouraged the Red Brigades to consider Americans as possible targets.39

Brig. Gen. James Dozier was deputy chief of staff for logistics in the headquarters of NATO’s Allied Land Forces South, a rare American in a multinational headquarters commanded by an Italian. On December 17, 1981, the “Venice Column” of the Red Brigades kidnapped Dozier from his quarters in Verona, threatening his wife to gain his acquiescence. While Dozier was held in handcuffs and bombarded with rock music to prevent his deducing his location, the Red Brigades engaged in another round of mock trial and propaganda. This time, the police and carabinieri located the hostage, freeing him without violence and arresting his captors on January 28, 1982.40 Instead of achieving their goals, the Red Brigades found that the Moro and Dozier kidnappings alienated supporters and energized police and intelligence efforts. The original Red Brigades ceased to function within a few months of Dozier’s rescue. Although other radical organizations later took up the same name, they had learned to avoid kidnappings.41

Germany and Northern Ireland

Radical violence in West Germany originated from similar motivations to those in Italy, including intellectual alienation from existing authority and opposition to the Vietnam conflict. For leftist students who had supported the Social Democratic Party, that party’s 1966–69 coalition with the conservative Christian Democrats seemed anathema, and some convinced themselves that they were experiencing a revival of Nazi dictatorship.42

From this alienation came the first generation of the Rote Armee Fraktion (Red Army Faction, or RAF), usually if inaccurately called the Baader-Meinhof Gang, a label that referred to violent intellectual Andreas Baader and journalist Ulrike Meinhof, who helped Baader escape prison in 1970. Cooperating with various Palestinian groups, the Red Army Faction engaged in bombings, hijackings, and similar crimes. The German government reacted by imposing strong anti-terrorism laws that limited civil liberties.43 Both leaders, as well as three other terrorists, died in police custody, officially by suicide but under a cloud of suspicion of extrajudicial murder. All but Meinhof died on October 18, 1977, immediately after the German anti-terrorist team Grenzschutzgruppe 9 (Border Police Group 9) stormed a Lufthansa aircraft held hostage in Mogadishu.44

These events ended the first generation of the RAF, but two other groups in succession assumed the name and attempted to terrorize Germany from 1977 to 1999.45 The second generation was less amateurish than the founders, although their early efforts, including the Mogadishu hijacking, were vain attempts to force the release of those founders. In contrast to the Red Brigades, the RAF consistently attacked U.S. targets in Europe, possibly seeking to capitalize on anti-American sentiment related to the introduction of theater nuclear weapons. A terrorist bomb failed to assassinate Gen. Alexander Haig, the NATO Supreme Allied Commander, Europe, on June 25, 1979. An RAF attack on the U.S. air base at Ramstein wounded seventeen people on August 31, 1981. Two weeks later, German extremists failed to penetrate the armored limousine of Gen. Frederick Kroesen, commander of U.S. Seventh Army and NATO’s Central Army Group, with two rocket-propelled grenades and a dozen rifle shots.46 Although these attacks grabbed headlines, they accomplished none of their political objectives. Over time, many RAF members were killed or imprisoned, while others became discouraged and ceased their attacks.47 German extremism never attracted even a limited following like that found in Italy.

By contrast, the Provisional Irish Republican Army (PIRA) and its splinter groups earned widespread support, both active and passive, during the Northern Ireland conflict of 1969–98. Centuries of British rule were compounded by government-sanctioned violence, especially by the Royal Ulster Constabulary (RUC). The PIRA assassinated Catholic members of the RUC, increasing the perceived bias of the Protestant survivors. However, the very fact that PIRA members were so well known in their communities increased the probability of their being apprehended. On the loyalist side, the Ulster Volunteer Force launched its own terrorist attacks in Republican neighborhoods.

Excessive violence and low morale in the RUC led to the deployment of the British Army in 1969. A special commission subsequently recommended that the RUC be demilitarized and reformed in a variety of ways.48 The Ulster Defense Regiment, originally a reserve organization composed primarily of loyalists, acquired a similar poor reputation. Instead, the regular British Army inherited the difficult task of maintaining peace in Northern Ireland. It peaked at a total of three brigade headquarters, fourteen battalions, and 22,000 troops.49

Trained for conventional combat rather than police work, the army initially used excessive force in a number of incidents. The most extreme of these was “Bloody Sunday,” also known as the Bogside Massacre, on January 30, 1972. Confronted with a volatile but largely unarmed demonstration, the Support Company of 1 Battalion, Parachute Regiment, opened fire with automatic weapons, killing thirteen demonstrators and wounding fifteen others, of whom one died later. The British government did not accept responsibility for this tragedy until 2010, after the exhaustive Saville Inquiry.50 Thereafter, however, the British Army did its usual excellent job of obeying restrictive rules of engagement. Still, the strain on the limited available British battalions was increased by the necessity to retrain units before deploying them to Ulster and then restore combat capabilities before returning them to Germany or other conventional assignments.

From the Soviet perspective, this situation offered an opportunity to increase disorder and weaken the Western alliance. The Soviet Union used Palestinian groups to help train and equip the PIRA, and the Republic of Ireland government believed that Moscow was prepared to fund the nominally Marxist terrorists.51

Meanwhile, the PIRA downsized itself from approximately 1,000 active members in the mid-1970s to perhaps 250 a decade later, eliminating hotheads and suspected double agents. There were also numerous casualties from premature bomb detonations.52

Defeating the opposing terrorist groups depended on excellent intelligence, and the British in Northern Ireland were hamstrung initially by rivalries between the efforts of the RUC, police Special Branch, and the military. The military improvised a variety of intelligence and reconnaissance units. One brigade commander, Brig. Frank Kitson, applied his experience in Kenya, Malaya, and Cyprus to form a Mobile Reconnaissance Force (MRF), a plainclothes team that surveilled possible bomb sites. When journalists compromised this unit in 1973, the British dissolved the MRF, merging it into 14th Intelligence Company, another specialized reconnaissance unit. The premier such effort, of course, was the dispatch of several squadrons (companies) of 22nd Special Air Service (SAS) Regiment. Originally focused on the Northern Ireland border, after 1978 the SAS drew more varied surveillance assignments. Although generally effective, in several cases the SAS killed innocent people. In 1983, the army resumed the use of ambushes, described publicly as “patrols,” to intercept IRA operatives, with often deadly results.53

While British intelligence efforts never eliminated the Republican and royalist terror groups, they gradually limited the effects of such groups. Much of this success depended on the use of paid informants whose crimes were forgiven in return for information.54

From 1973 on, the PIRA conducted intermittent bombings and other attacks against the British. On August 27, 1979, separate bombs killed seventeen soldiers in Northern Ireland as well as Admiral of the Fleet Earl Louis Mountbatten, Prince Philip’s uncle and former chief of the Imperial General Staff. A series of attacks in London struck some political and military targets but also killed and wounded the innocent. Contrary to IRA expectations, such attacks backfired, leading to increased public support for the government.55

The Achille Largo

On rare occasions, good intelligence and coordinated operations enabled Western governments to strike effectively against terrorists. In November 1977, for example, Sahwari guerrillas (the so-called Polisario Front) seeking independence for Western Sahara kidnapped French technicians from Mauritania’s iron ore mines. French President Valéry Giscard d’Estaing sent Jaguar fighter-bombers to strike Polisario bases, which apparently convinced the rebels to release the hostages.56

The United States had an even greater success in 1985. On October 7, four young men of the Palestine Liberation Front (PLF) hijacked the Italian-registered cruise ship Achille Largo. After Syria refused permission to land there, the exhausted hijackers murdered a wheelchair-bound American tourist of Jewish origin, Leon Klinghoffer, to prove their serious intentions. The ship eventually sailed to Alexandria, Egypt. Because most Arabs had ostracized Egypt for making peace with Israel, on October 9 President Hosni Mubarak permitted the hijackers to escape under the auspices of Palestinian leader Yasir Arafat. By the time the U.S. ambassador could protest, the terrorists were on board an EgyptAir Boeing 737. While publicly supporting the Palestinians, however, the Egyptian government apparently fed information about this flight to American intelligence.57

Even with such information, what followed displayed unusually effective signals intelligence and command and control. In contrast to previous events, high-level communications were excellent between the Sixth Fleet, European Command, and Rear Adm. David Jeremiah aboard the only carrier in the Mediterranean, the USS Saratoga. On the evening of October 10, an E-2 Hawkeye and two F-14s intercepted the EgyptAir flight over the Mediterranean and forced it to land. When several airfields refused permission for such a landing, the E-2 declared an emergency for itself, allowing the 737 to land at the Sigonella air base in Sicily.58 There elements of SEAL Team 6, reportedly with some Delta Force support, waited to seize the hijackers. However, the Italian government understandably asserted control, and the carabinieri counterterrorist team took the four hijackers, as well as two senior PLF leaders, into custody.59 This aerial interception, while not unprecedented, aroused international criticism. Italy convicted the hijackers of murder and other crimes, but Premier Bettino Craxi allowed the other two to escape; this eventually caused the fall of his government. The United States did not apprehend Muhammed Abu Abbas, who had planned the operation, until Baghdad fell eighteen years later.

Libyan Encore

This interception was a rare instance where the perpetrators were caught. More frequently, nation-states found it simpler for their conventional armed forces to attack the governments that supported such terrorist groups. Such actions gave the appearance of decisive action but had only limited effect.

In the wake of the bombing attacks on U.S. and French forces in Beirut, both governments considered retaliatory air strikes. When Defense Secretary Weinberger hesitated to strike an Iranian Revolutionary Guard barracks in the Bekaa Valley of Lebanon, France attacked alone on November 17, 1983, but the strike had little effect. On December 4, President Reagan ordered retaliation against Syrian anti-aircraft guns in Lebanon, ostensibly because those guns had fired on an American reconnaissance aircraft. Given minimal notice, the U.S. Navy had difficulties fulfilling the mission. One of the two aircraft carriers in the area, the USS John F. Kennedy, had already stored its ordnance in preparation for a projected move through the Suez Canal. This left only the Independence to strike multiple targets. Worse still, from the navy’s viewpoint, on short notice the White House increased the number of targets to strike and moved the time on target from 11:00 A.M. local time to 6:30 A.M., allegedly to coincide with a public announcement in Washington. The short response time for this attack meant that the aircraft had to fly the mission with the heavier bombs they had already uploaded to strike a more fortified target. The time change also put the aircraft over the targets with the rising sun in their eyes. Syrian shoulder-fired surface-to-air missiles shot down both a single-seat A-7 and a two-seat A-6; one aviator died, one was captured, and one escaped by parachuting into the sea. This was a high cost to pay for a gesture that had little effect on the ground, although the experience contributed to the navy’s decision to create the Naval Strike Warfare Center.60

Meanwhile, terrorist attacks, especially by Abu Nidal, grew in frequency and seriousness. Libya was supporting many of these actions, but European governments were reluctant to enforce economic sanctions, and U.S. intelligence was unable to identify specific Abu Nidal bases to strike. The simpler solution was to send the navy into the Gulf of Sidra again, trying to provoke Libya and gain a pretext for military action. Under Operation Prairie Fire, three carriers and twenty-seven escort vessels conducted maneuvers between March 23 and 27, 1986. Libyan fighter pilots had learned from their previous encounters and avoided closing with their navy counterparts. The rest of Libya’s armed forces were more aggressive but equally ineffectual. Without friendly losses, the United States destroyed two Libyan patrol boats with Harpoon missiles and damaged a third. Anti-radiation missiles damaged the target acquisition radar of a new SA-5 missile site in Sirte, on the Libyan coast. Yet, the tactical superiority of American forces did not translate into strategic success. They failed to intimidate Ghaddafi; while the U.S. Navy was still maneuvering on his doorstep, he sent instructions to some thirty embassies to conduct further terrorist attacks.61

U.S. signals intelligence determined the targets of these orders, and local governments thwarted a number of the attacks. Regrettably, warning of an attack in West Berlin arrived too late. At 1:49 A.M. on April 5, 1986, a bomb exploded in a dance club, killing 3 people and wounding 229, of whom 2 dead and 79 wounded were Americans. Ghaddafi tried to deny responsibility, unaware of the NSA intercepts.62

President Reagan decided to respond with military force, trying to destroy terrorist bases in Libya, but his European counterparts were still reluctant to engage in such activities. British Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher, who maintained a close relationship with Reagan, reluctantly agreed that U.S. aircraft could use Britain as a base, but other governments would not permit American overflights of their territories, so those planes had to travel around the Iberian Peninsula.

After the fact, commentators alleged that the USAF involvement was due to service rivalries. Defenders of the air force augmentation argued that the navy could not amass sufficient force on short notice—only two carriers were available, and the best hope of minimizing losses was to strike both air defense and terrorist targets simultaneously.

Because of the long distances involved, the first aircraft to take off from British bases on the evening of April 14, 1986, were twenty-eight KC-10 and KC-135 refueling aircraft. They were followed by twenty-four F-111F fighter-bombers—the latest mutation of McNamara’s effort to create a universal fighter two decades earlier—from RAF Lakenheath and five EF-111A electronic warfare aircraft from RAF Upper Heyford. The wartime mission of these two organizations was to penetrate the Soviet bloc’s integrated air defense system in central Europe, which made them well suited for dealing with the poorly maintained Soviet equipment in Libya.63 The EF-111 jamming system had a slightly different, but overlapping, frequency spectrum in comparison to the navy’s EA-6Bs, so they again complemented each other.

By the time that Operation El Dorado Canyon began, the possibility of some American retaliation was widely recognized, making surprise difficult, to the point where most Soviet vessels and aircraft avoided the area. Nonetheless, the carrier battle groups built around the America and Coral Sea operated under emissions control, with virtually no electronic signature, before launching aircraft just after midnight. F-14s, F/A-18s, A-6s, A-7s, EA-6s, and E-2C aircraft composed a complicated strike package. Some of the aircraft were dedicated to suppression of fighter and air defense sites, while the main targets were barracks and government headquarters. Both services operated under restrictive rules of engagement that required a single bombing run—to reduce vulnerability—and target confirmation by multiple sensors—to minimize collateral damage. Finally, fliers were to abort their runs if their air force (Pave Tack) or navy (Target Recognition Attack) systems malfunctioned.64

There were, inevitably, systems malfunctions and human errors. Crew exhaustion on the part of the F-111 pilots, navigational mistakes, a malfunctioning infrared camera, and a mistaken aim point all reduced the number of aircraft striking the correct targets. A gas station, dispensary, and two houses were hit by mistake. Of forty-five aircraft scheduled to bomb, eight aborted, one missed, and one (an F-111) crashed, apparently shot down. The strike achieved most of its tactical objectives, with perhaps thirty unfortunate civilian deaths. Ghaddafi alleged that the bombs killed his adopted daughter, but observers could find no previous mention of this person. Neither the Soviet Union nor the Arab states rallied behind Ghaddafi; his only retaliation was a failed effort to strike a U.S. navigational beacon on Lampedusa Island with two Scud missiles.65 The dictator continued to sponsor terrorist operations such as the 1988 aircraft bombing over Lockerbie, Scotland, and renewed his efforts to acquire weapons of mass destruction.

The Iran-Iraq Conflict

With the possible exception of the Ethiopian campaigns, the longest and largest war of the late Cold War was that between Iran and Iraq. On the surface, this was a test match between Iraq’s Soviet-supplied weapons and Iran’s inventory of U.S. and British weapons. In practice, what Saddam Hussein had envisioned as a limited attack on revolutionary Iran became a prolonged, attritional war, a broken-back conflict in which both sides had difficulty obtaining parts to maintain their equipment.

The two nations had numerous border disagreements, especially over control of the Shatt al-Arab, the two-hundred-kilometer waterway from the junction of the Tigris and Euphrates Rivers to the Persian Gulf. This was compounded by sectarian rivalries: Sunnis dominated Saddam Hussein’s government, while the majority in both nations was Shia.

In 1980, the Iranian Revolution, like similar upheavals in history, became increasingly radical and ambitious. The Iraqi government blamed Tehran for terror attacks in Baghdad, while Iranian religious leaders accused the dictator of cooperating with Israel and the United States. The Iranians also encouraged the rebellious Kurds inside Iraq. On July 9–10, 1980, a military coup failed to halt the revolution in Iran, and subsequent reprisals severely weakened the effectiveness of the Iranian Army. To compound Iraq’s problems, Saddam had criticized the Soviet takeover in Kabul and repressed the Iraqi communists, prompting Leonid Brezhnev to end all weapons shipments, although Soviet advisers remained in Iraq. Believing that conflict with Tehran was inevitable, Saddam decided on a preemptive attack, seeking to weaken Iran and exacerbate its internal chaos. He also hoped to secure the entrance to the Shatt al-Arab, gain some Iranian oil wells, and pose as the Arab champion against the Iranians.66

The Iraqi armed forces were mediocre, sufficient for internal control but not necessarily for foreign adventure. Although it was formed by the British during the 1920s and used the British brigade structure, many of its original officers had been products of the Ottoman army, which included German instructors in military schools. Beginning in 1936, a series of military coups brought various factions, some of them pan-Arabist, to power. On July 13–14, 1958, a more violent military upheaval resulted in the death of the entire royal family and the declaration of a republic. The leading figure in the new regime was Brig. Abd al-Karim Qasim.67

In turn, Qasim was overthrown in 1963 by a group of officers backed by the Arab socialist Ba’ath Party. Five years later, the Ba’athists forced a widening of the ruling revolutionary council to include civilians, with Saddam Hussein as vice president. Saddam gradually inserted a cadre of Ba’athists in the military and took control of the country, although he did not become president until 1979. While the Ba’ath Party was originally Shia dominated, Saddam promoted his own Sunni relatives and friends from the town of Tikrit.68

In 1980, the Iraqi Army had approximately 190,000 active and 400,000 reserve troops, with 2,350 tanks, primarily Soviet T-54/55/62s but including 150 of the newest, export model T-72Ms. The Iraq air force’s 340 aircraft were primarily fighters whose pilots had minimal training. Their Iranian counterparts had been better trained before the revolution, with perhaps 1,100 M-60 and Chieftain tanks for the army and 440 F-14s/4s/5s for the air force. Yet, these capable armed forces had dwindled to 150,000 under the ayatollahs, who had to release pilots from prison once the war began. Without technicians and spare parts, only half of the aircraft and three-quarters of the tanks were operational.69 Because of the political environment, commanders on both sides were reluctant to display initiative.
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Saddam’s domestic position was somewhat precarious, so he told his generals to win the war quickly but avoid anything that might widen it. On September 22, 1980, the Iraqi Air Force attacked ten Iranian airfields but failed to do much damage against hardened Iranian hangars. The next day, six of Iraq’s eleven divisions crossed the border, with at least four divisions, including one armored and one mechanized, focused on the southwestern Iranian province of Khuzestan. Saddam aimed to seize the major cities of Khorramshahr, Abadan, Dezful, and Ahvaz. Beyond that, there seemed to be no strategy to the Iraqi invasion, and the Iraqis failed to seal off the Zagros Mountains to the north and east of Khuzestan.70

The Iraqi Army was reasonably effective at the tactical level, initially defeating the tattered Iranian regular army. From the start, however, Baghdad had difficulty providing logistical support for even this shallow incursion into Iran, and Iraqi commanders initially failed to coordinate the actions of tanks, infantry, and artillery. Moreover, highly motivated Iranian militia, or Pasdaran, many with little training or weaponry, sacrificed themselves and inflicted significant losses on the invaders. Each side suffered 7,000 casualties as Iraq captured Khorramshahr on October 24, losing many of its best-trained troops.71

Despite the new regime’s contempt for professionalism, Iran fought back effectively. The well-trained pilots of the Imperial era achieved a 4 to 1 kill ratio over Iraqi fighters, gaining air supremacy by December. Over the next several years, lack of spare parts reduced the number but not the quality of Iranian air sorties.

On January 5–8, 1981, Iran launched its own offensive in the south, moving the 88th Armored Division (300 tanks), followed by a parachute infantry brigade, through the swamps in the south in an effort to outflank the reinforced 9th Iraqi Armored Division (240 tanks). The Iraqi commander pretended to fall back, tricking the Iranians into a Cannae-style double envelopment. Although the Iranians had some success farther north, the battlefield briefly stalemated while Saddam attempted to force negotiations using air and FROG missile attacks on Iranian cities.72

A long war favored Iran, whose population of 39 million was triple that of Iraq. Ayatollah Khomeini appointed Akbar Hashemi Rafsanjani, speaker of the Iranian parliament, as de facto commander-in-chief, turning the war into an open jihad. Tehran created a Revolutionary Guard force, initially including three divisions and several separate brigades, separate from the regular army. In September 1981, the Iranians broke the siege of the oil port city of Abadan while simultaneously pushing the Iraqis back in Kurdistan.73 On November 29, the Iranians began human-wave attacks, pushing children as young as twelve forward to sacrifice themselves so that the Revolutionary Guards behind them could overwhelm the Iraqis. Recognizing the inevitable, Saddam conducted an orderly withdrawal to the original border during the spring of 1982.74

Investigating this defeat, the Iraqi dictator learned that his troops were demoralized in large measure because they considered their officers to be incompetent Ba’athist hacks. He purged many of these officers and sought to increase public support by appointing Kurds and Shia to the Revolutionary Command Council. His troops did better in their next major test, defending Basra, while Saddam, Saudi Arabia, and the United Nations called for a cease-fire. Rafsanjani and Khomeini refused, maintaining pressure by a series of limited attacks at various points.75 For the next several years, many of the key battles centered around Iranian efforts to capture the Shia city of Basra either directly or by occupying nearby marshy areas.

In 1983, Iraq responded to the Iranian threat with a national mobilization. With few popular objections, the army expanded to almost 1 million men, including large numbers of college students. Beginning in 1984, Saddam’s Republican Guard, originally a security force, became a mobile counterattack force that developed into a separate, privileged army. This combination of a mass army with a smaller elite enabled Iraq to hold off the larger and fanatical Iranian forces.76

Yet, Iranian willingness to sacrifice continued to have its effect. In March 1985, more than 45,000 Pasdaran and other militia repeated their previous efforts to cut the highway from Basra to Baghdad. At an estimated casualty rate of 20 percent, the attackers caused a considerable panic among the Iraqi defenders, although they ultimately failed. In February 1986, the Iranians assembled 250,000 soldiers under an elaborate deception plan that surprised the Iraqis in the swampy Al-Faw Peninsula, defeating the 26th Infantry Division but again incurring massive casualties.77

As the war dragged on, both sides spent lavishly to acquire weapons. France was a major supplier of weapons to Baghdad ($5.1 billion worth in 1981–85),78 while China, North Korea, and various other arms manufacturers sold to Tehran. Iran bought armored fighting vehicles, anti-tank missiles, and warships but continued to rely on light infantry attacks. Overall, Iraq made better use of its new acquisitions, combining them with growing tactical competence that eventually neutralized the Iranian human-wave attacks. By 1988, however, both sides were isolated diplomatically and exhausted physically.79

The war left Saddam desperate for another conquest to justify the cost in both Iraqi blood and funds, especially when a drop in oil prices prompted the Gulf States to stop financing him in the later 1980s. This contributed to the Iraqi occupation of Kuwait in 1990 and the subsequent war with the U.S.-led coalition.

The War in the Gulf

As the war continued, both sides became increasingly desperate and lashed out in unproductive ways. Saddam fired missiles with chemical and explosive warheads at Iranian population centers in the so-called War of the Cities. Each side attempted to reduce the other’s revenues by striking oil platforms and tankers. In March 1984, Iraqi Mirage F-1 fighters began attacking oil tankers after declaring a fifty-mile war zone around the Iranian oil terminus on Kharg Island. Iran responded beginning on May 13. The Iranians used a variety of missile platforms, including F-4 aircraft, helicopters, and surface ships; later they turned to floating mines, dropped at random into the shipping lanes. In 1984 alone, seventy-four ships were attacked in the Persian Gulf, while Islamic Jihad launched Soviet-supplied mines that struck nineteen vessels in the Red Sea. Over the next three years, ninety seamen died while both insurance and personnel costs for tankers skyrocketed. This drew the U.S. Navy into the conflict to protect the oil flow to Europe and Japan. The confrontation in the gulf reached a peak in 1987, when first Moscow and then Washington began “reflagging” Kuwaiti and other third-nation tankers as having their own national registry and therefore deserving of protection.80
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This so-called tanker war forced the U.S. Navy to operate in the narrow waters of the Persian Gulf under restrictive rules of engagement. A fleet designed for blue water operations devoted most of its assets to this task, especially at a time when the navy was periodically intruding into Soviet home waters to challenge the bastion of missile submarines. Maintaining four Aegis cruisers and six guided missile frigates on station in the gulf involved a rotation of twenty-eight of thirty-six available cruisers and forty-two of fifty-six destroyers. Operating at extreme range from their bases meant prolonged transit times. Moreover, in the narrow waters of the gulf these navy vessels needed aerial early warning in the form of AWACS and navy E-2Cs. For much of the period, this coverage was inadequate. Full-time coverage of the gulf required six AWACS aircraft on three overlapping tracks, but only four planes were available. Equally difficult was the fact that one track of this coverage extended over the United Arab Emirates. Fearing targeting by Iran, the UAE revoked its permission for overflight when congressmen leaked the fact. Peacetime flight hour restrictions also limited E-2C coverage over the Strait of Hormuz. Despite these handicaps, the surface and aerial surveillance was generally effective.81 Other navies joined the United States in Operation Earnest Will, including nine British destroyers and minesweepers and six French, six Italian, and five Dutch or Belgian units.82

The Carter and Reagan administrations had no desire to upset the balance in the gulf via an Iraqi victory over Iran. Still, the hostility engendered by the hostage crisis made U.S. authorities even more reluctant to see an Iranian victory. Moreover, Iran’s geographic position made it a greater threat to shipping, with small Iranian vessels waging guerrilla war against tankers while avoiding direct confrontation with U.S. warships. By contrast, Iraq did not deliberately target American ships, but ill-trained Iraqi pilots had a dangerous habit of launching missiles against radar targets without first identifying those targets. This odd quasi war contributed to the disaster of the USS Stark (FFG-31).

The Stark was a Perry class guided missile frigate that was assigned to the Middle East Force in March 1987. The crew absorbed the perspective of longer-serving members of that force, who had become habituated to frequent Iraqi aircraft flying near American ships while attacking Iranians. During seventy days in a hostile area, the Stark never locked its fire-control radar on any aircraft; instead, its crew focused much attention on the routine administrative requirements of the service. On the evening of May 17, 1987, an AWACS alerted the ship to the approach of an Iraqi F-1 fighter-bomber, but the ship’s own search radar did not acquire that aircraft until the radar switched ranges from a two-hundred-mile search radius to an eighty-mile radius.83 Seeking to avoid an overreaction, the Stark’s tactical actions officer (TAO) delayed challenging the aircraft on radio guard frequency. At close range, the Iraqi F-1 launched two Exocet missiles, both of which struck the destroyer. Thirty-seven sailors died and twenty-one were wounded but the ship survived; the ship’s captain and TAO received nonjudicial punishment and left the service.

Following this incident, Saddam Hussein apologized and briefly suspended naval attacks. The United States loosened its rules of engagement, and a February 1988 Iraqi air attack against the USS Chandler failed. In addition, a Joint Task Force Middle East headquarters took over in August 1987 in an attempt to improve integration. Kuwait and Japan helped finance the operation, while three West German ships deployed to the Mediterranean to reduce the strain on the U.S. Navy. Unwilling to retaliate against Iraq, the United States redoubled its efforts to repress Iranian attacks.

On September 21, 1987, U.S. Army helicopters operating from a navy frigate shot up a landing ship, tank, the Iran Ajir, as it was laying mines under cover of darkness. SEALs then boarded the vessel and photographed the mines for evidence. Three weeks later, Iran used the Al-Faw Peninsula to launch Chinese-supplied HY-2 anti-ship missiles. These HY-2s (NATO CSSC-2 Silkworm) struck a Kuwaiti oil platform and a reflagged oil tanker. Joint Chiefs chairman Adm. William Crowe advocated retaliation against Iranian ships, but instead the administration directed an October 19 attack on two Iranian oil platforms used as naval outposts. U.S. destroyers forced the evacuation of the platforms, then shelled them and sent demolition teams. The United States also deployed barges with heat sources to decoy the missiles away from real ships. These actions apparently dissuaded Iran from further use of anti-ship missiles.84

After peaking at 179 ship attacks (88 by Iran, 91 by Iraq) in 1987, the tempo slowed somewhat in early 1988. On the night of April 13–14, 1988, however, Iranians laid mines aimed at sinking the frigate USS Samuel B. Roberts. The frigate’s commander could not avoid all the mines but maneuvered to minimize friendly casualties, saving his ship from sinking. In response, on April 18 the U.S. Navy fought its largest surface action since 1945, Operation Praying Mantis, just as Iraq used chemical weapons to retake the Al-Faw Peninsula. It began with a JTF Middle East plan intended to draw Iranian naval units into battle by attacking two gas/oil separation platforms armed with ZSU-23 guns and rocket-propelled grenades. One of three U.S. surface action groups again gave the Iranians time to evacuate the platforms, after which marines rappelled from helicopters onto the platforms, searching and then destroying them. This action brought out multiple Iranian surface and air units. In the ensuing action, naval aviators had to wait until each Iranian unit fired first (to meet the positive rules of engagement). Iranians fired at least one Harpoon and multiple surface-to-air missiles but downed only one attack helicopter with the loss of the two crew members. Otherwise, the U.S. Navy sank one frigate and damaged another as well as destroying four smaller vessels, thereby halving Iran’s effective fleet. Defense Secretary Frank Carlucci terminated the attack.85

Carlucci also expanded rules of engagement to include assisting neutral vessels in distress. As Iran remained in a bloody deadlock with Iraq, the Revolutionary Guard continued to conduct small boat attacks, especially in the Strait of Hormuz. In June 1988, a group of Iranian F-14s transferred to the combined civil/military airfield at Bandar Abbas, near the strait.

Early on the morning of July 3, 1988, the Aegis cruiser USS Vincennes (CG-49) intervened to protect a Pakistani merchantman being threatened by thirteen small Revolutionary Guard gunboats. The ship became involved in a running gun battle with the boats. In the midst of this action, with multiple surface and air contacts, Iran Air Flight 655 took off from the civilian side of Bandar Abbas, transporting Muslim pilgrims to Mecca by way of Dubai. Although the United States had issued Notices to Airmen about military options in the strait, the Iranian airliner followed its normal flight path over the area before deviating several miles from the center line of that path. It did not respond to several American messages on the guard radio frequency. Under considerable pressure, and acutely conscious of incidents such as the Stark, inexperienced radar operators on the Vincennes misinterpreted the flight path as descending toward them, and so informed the ship’s captain. With only seconds to decide as the aircraft apparently approached his ship, the captain of the Vincennes interpreted the mistaken data presented to him as hostile and ordered the aircraft shot down, killing 290 people aboard.86

This tragedy was clearly an overreaction, but the U.S. government refused to apologize and instead decorated the captain of the Vincennes, although he did not reach flag rank. While outraged, the Tehran government concluded that it could not fight both Iraq and the United States. Already saddled with failing morale, the Iranians reluctantly accepted a UN cease-fire to end the indecisive larger conflict.87

The Vincennes action, like that of the Stark and the other instances of military conflict during the 1980s, illustrates the difficulty of transitioning from peace to war. In a period of semiwar, these transitions often occurred erratically, as witness the Soviet downing of a Korean airliner or the violent disorders found in so many states. Each time, decision makers under pressure might under-or overreact, with disastrous consequences, to a sudden, life-or-death threat. The era of the Cold War was closer to war than to peace, and millions paid the ultimate price for any mistake.




CHAPTER 15

THE END

“It’s not they [the Americans] who have destroyed it [the USSR] but we ourselves.”

—Soviet Deputy Foreign Minister Alexander Bessmertnykh, 1990

“The purpose of my life was to end the time I lived in. So, if my past were still around today, you could say I’d failed. But it’s not around. We won. Not that the victory matters a damn. And perhaps we didn’t win anyway. Perhaps they just lost.”

—Fictional spymaster George Smiley, addressing new British SIS officers, ca. 1990

In the space of only six years, the Soviet Union went from an acknowledged superpower to a bankrupt state that collapsed into its component republics. Mikhail Gorbachev, the believing communist who labored to reform that superpower and eliminate the threat of nuclear war, presided over the death of Marxist government not only within the USSR but also in most of its former allies. This process of dissolution led directly to the current world situation, as the relationship between Washington and Moscow first improved markedly and then soured, while various regional conflicts, long suppressed by the bipolarity of the Cold War, reemerged in full force.

The full story of this collapse exceeds the scope of a purely military study, but many of its causes have appeared earlier in this account. A centrally directed economy produced huge quantities of weapons at the expense of consumer needs and investment in civilian industry. Many of these weapons went at bargain prices to satellites and Third World states, the latter using those munitions to fuel regional conflicts and offering the West justification for its own arms deals in the same regions. A Soviet government dedicated to the gospel according to Marx, Lenin, and Stalin lacked reliable information about its own economy, let alone accurate intelligence about its adversaries. It was also blind to the demands of religion and nationalism, both of which Marx had rejected as capitalist tricks to mislead the proletariat. The conscript Soviet Army placed excessive demands on junior officers while exposing the undertrained rank and file to systemic bullying. Just as in the United States during Vietnam, Soviet public opinion came to resent and resist the obligation to serve. The government committed this unhappy army to supporting an unpopular regime in Afghanistan while repressing ethnic unrest at home, with politicians scapegoating soldiers for the resulting violence. Gorbachev’s reform efforts irritated conservatives, both in and out of uniform, without achieving sufficient political or economic change to increase the legitimacy of the Soviet state. The governmental openness and transparency of glasnost offended the military belief in operational security while breaking down the isolation of the officer corps from society.1

Diplomatically, Ronald Reagan and his secretaries of state (George Shultz) and defense (Casper Weinberger) pressured Gorbachev and Soviet Foreign Minister Eduard Shevardnadze to make a series of precipitate concessions that, while reducing Soviet expenses, contributed to the instability of the state. Preoccupied with his efforts at domestic reform, Gorbachev relied on Shevardnadze to revamp foreign and security policy, and both believed that Soviet influence would survive a drawdown of military forces in Eastern Europe. As early as March 1985, the new Soviet leader told his Warsaw Pact counterparts that Moscow would no longer use its armed forces to prop them up, confirming Soviet nonintervention in the Polish crisis. By the end of the decade, the leaders of East Germany and Romania fell without any Soviet reaction. In an effort to reduce foreign aid expenditures, in 1988 Gorbachev stopped propping up Haile Mengistu in Ethiopia and pressured Fidel Castro to withdraw military advisers from Nicaragua.2

Even more significant than the Soviet refusal to support satellite leaders was Gorbachev’s willingness to accept German reunification. Once again, his faith in the enduring legitimacy of Soviet power was exacerbated by financial considerations. East Germany, long perceived as the most effective economy in the Soviet bloc, was secretly supported by loans from West Germany. By 1990, the Soviet Union also needed financial assistance, but President George H. W. Bush considered American aid politically impossible. West German Chancellor Helmut Kohl was more forthcoming. He began by offering to pay for the cost of relocating the Group of Soviet Forces, Germany, back to the USSR, including building new military housing at the new locations. Kohl then expanded his financial aid to prop up the Moscow regime. Without consulting their colleagues, Gorbachev and Shevardnadze secretly agreed to German reunification in return for funding. The first public notice of this shift was East Germany’s withdrawal from the Warsaw Pact on September 24, 1990. Kohl had to pay a high political price by accepting the 1945 Oder-Neisse boundary, thus renouncing any claims to lost German territory in what is now Poland and the Russian enclave of Kaliningrad. However, Soviet acceptance of German reunification eliminated one of the primary justifications for the Warsaw Pact. Conservatives within the Soviet state blamed Gorbachev and Shevardnadze for abandoning the Soviet empire, reunifying the German foe, and accepting what they regarded as Western interference.

Once East Germany departed the Warsaw Pact, other members refused to participate further. On February 25, 1991, the Soviet government announced the dissolution of the alliance effective March 31, although Soviet troop withdrawal took many more months. This collapse of Soviet control over Eastern Europe, which should have been headline news, was overshadowed by the U.S.-led coalition victory against Iraq.3

Unraveling the Empire

Meanwhile, Gorbachev struggled to hold the Soviet Union together. The constituent republics of the USSR pressed for more self-government. On January 14, 1991, he resorted to force against pro-independence groups in Lithuania. Interior Ministry troops confronted unarmed demonstrators at the Vilnius television station, killing sixteen and wounding more. Gorbachev blamed the local commander for the violence. The Soviet Army, which was not involved, nonetheless shared public opprobrium. By February 5, a total of 12,000 troops were reinforcing police patrols in eighty-six Soviet cities, ostensibly to suppress street crime.4

Gorbachev’s solution to the nationality issue was to form a Union of Sovereign States with much power decentralized to the republics. One of the key issues in this plan was control of tactical and strategic nuclear weapons located within those republics. Gorbachev’s legislature drafted the constitution for this organization in early 1991, but the three Baltic States as well as Moldova, Georgia, and Armenia refused to participate. The other nine republics voted in favor of such a union in a March 8, 1991, referendum. However, the heads of these republics, and especially Boris Yeltsin of Russia, demanded further concessions. After much haggling, on April 23, 1991, Gorbachev and these leaders agreed to a “9+1” Union Treaty (nine republics plus one union government) at Novo-Ogarevo, outside Moscow. The prospect of this treaty being signed formally on August 20 provoked the conservative attempt to overthrow Gorbachev on August 19.5

The August Coup

The overwhelming impression left by the coup is one of hesitation and incompetence. Conservative politicians proclaimed a State Committee for the State of Emergency in the USSR (Gosudárstvenny Komitét po Chrezvycháynomu Polozhéniyu, or GKChP) that included Defense Minister Dimitry Yazov, Interior Minister Boris Pugo, and KGB Chairman Vladimir Kryuchkov. The GKChP declared martial law, cut off communications to Gorbachev at his vacation home in Crimea, and sent the KGB Alpha team to surround Yeltsin’s dacha outside Moscow.6 Yet, they lacked the ruthless thoroughness to eliminate their potential opponents. Military leaders, having suffered blame for previous acts of domestic repression, were equally unwilling to act, expressing reluctance to fire on their own people. Having repressed minorities on the frontiers of the union, the generals drew the line at firing on ethnic Russians in Moscow. Moreover, the inept planning of the plotters made generals uncertain about the outcome. There was little coordination between security forces and even less explanation as to why they should act against their fellow citizens.

Boris Yeltsin had actively campaigned for support among the military, making promises to various officers. This probably explains how Yeltsin was able to evade his would-be captors and reach the Russian Soviet Federative Socialist Republic’s parliament building, known as the White House.

On August 19, Yazov told his subordinates that Gorbachev was incapacitated. He issued a nationwide military alert and directed the Moscow Military District to move troops, including the 2nd Guards (Tamanskaya) Motorized Rifle and 4th Guards Tank (Kantemorovskaya) Divisions, into positions in Moscow but to avoid violence.7

The generals also tried to avoid active participation in the coup. Marshal Yevgeny Shaposhnikov, commander of the Soviet air force, called his subordinate commanders to cancel their alert status and dragged his heels about airlifting forces. He later claimed that he had advised Yazov to withdraw the troops and abandon the GKChP, but Yazov remained indecisive.8 Lt. Gen. Pavel Grachev, commander of airborne forces, had no desire to attack the White House so he tried to prevaricate. He ordered his deputy, General Lebed, off leave to take an airborne battalion to the White House for its defense; once Lebed reported completing this mission, Grachev pretended that Lebed had misunderstood. Yazov then ordered Lebed to plan an assault on the same location, but both generals also dithered. Although he was personally a conservative, Lebed sensed that there was no will, either among the GKChP or the military, to use violence against elected officials.9

The enduring image of this crisis is Boris Yeltsin climbing atop a tank outside the White House on the afternoon of August 19. The tank crews had no instructions to take action against the legislators, who also organized the building’s defense with volunteers. The GKChP lapsed into inaction, having failed to anticipate either the public defiance or foreign press coverage. This standoff did not prevent violence, however. Late on the evening of August 20, resistance members used trolley cars and other vehicles to block an underpass on the outer, or Garden Ring, road in Moscow. About one o’clock the next morning, five vehicles of the 2nd Guards Motorized Rifle Division, moving to enforce the curfew, encountered this obstacle. Although the soldiers began by firing in the air, three civilians died and one BMP armored vehicle was set on fire.10

Shaposhnikov also claimed that, when rumors spread on August 21 that tanks were again advancing on the White House, he had the Moscow District air commander fly his aircraft low overhead as a show of force. By that time, however, the coup had already collapsed and the principal leaders of the GKChP were fleeing by air. Yeltsin wished to apprehend them but declined to order the aircraft shot down. Instead, the coup plotters were arrested when they went to Gorbachev’s vacation home.11 Gorbachev returned to Moscow and nominally resumed control, but legitimacy and authority had passed to Yeltsin.

Despite a tradition that only army officers could command the armed forces, Yeltsin insisted that Marshal Shaposhnikov become the last Soviet defense minister on the 22nd. Eight deputy ministers and seven military district commanders were summarily retired, and Shaposhnikov signaled the political change by resigning from the Communist Party. He then tried to reform the military to convert it into a smaller, volunteer force, but the various legislatures failed to pass the enabling laws and the republic heads refused to pay for the new force.

The Baltic republics openly seceded from the union, and by December the USSR had largely unraveled. At a meeting in Alma Ata on December 21 republic heads decided to wind up the USSR in favor of a loose Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS). Gorbachev turned over control of nuclear forces to Yeltsin, with Shaposhnikov as CIS commander, just before his December 25 speech abdicating power. Shaposhnikov struggled to maintain the armed forces for the next eighteen months, operating with a skeleton staff in the former headquarters building of the Warsaw Pact. None of the constituent republics was interested in unified armed forces, and Shaposhnikov resigned in June 1993, marking the end of the last vestige of what had been the Soviet armed forces.12 Two months later, the United States threatened to cut off aid to Russia, pressuring Yeltsin into withdrawing remaining Russian troops from the Baltic States.13 By that time, the United States military, honed to a high standard in the late Cold War, had achieved operational victories in Panama and Kuwait but had become mired in the creeping mission of Somalia.

Assessments

American Civil-Military Relations

As Hugh Strachan has observed, “Civil society is predicated on an expectation of peace, whereas military society anticipates war.”14 During the partial mobilization of the Cold War era, this dichotomy sometimes caused leaders of both sides to misinterpret events and take actions with ill-considered consequences. To oversimplify, domestic policy rarely achieves maximum solutions in a single step. Given the restrictions of partisan and institutional politics and budgets, wise civilian leaders learn to settle for partial solutions, beginning programs that may need repeated revisions as time passes. The National Security Act of 1947 was an example of this, requiring major revisions in 1949, 1958, and 1986, each of which involved greater centralization of power, to reach even the limited functionality that still produced civil-military issues during the post-9/11 conflicts.

By contrast, as implied by the Weinberger/Powell Doctrine, under-resourced and half-hearted military actions, or any military commitments without clearly defined objectives and outcomes, may be worse than no action at all. The political temptation to make a “decisive” move by committing forces to an open-ended conflict can backfire. Such a decision may lead a state into a conflict without the national will, combat power, or realistic objectives that offer the best opportunity for effective war prosecution and termination. This was true not only of the United States in Vietnam and Lebanon but also the Soviet Union in Afghanistan and (arguably) Czechoslovakia. One may argue whether quick and complete victory is ever possible in the conduct of a counterinsurgency, but a limited commitment without public support is almost certain to fail.

Other civil-military issues complicated these conflicts. As described in the first volume of this study, President Kennedy inherited a compromised plan and imposed restrictions during the Bay of Pigs invasion, and afterward, in accordance with human nature, blamed others for the outcome. With the cooperation of Gen. Maxwell Taylor, his administration next isolated and ignored the Joint Chiefs of Staff during the ensuing Cuban missile crisis. Pursuant to Secretary McNamara’s directive of October 1, 1962, the Defense Department continued to prepare for invasion long after the White House had ruled out such an option without notifying the JCS. Simultaneously with the missile crisis, the Justice Department’s failure to coordinate with the Defense Department left both agencies ill-prepared to deal with the Oxford, Mississippi, civil rights confrontation, and again the Kennedy brothers understandably if wrongly blamed the military for a difficult situation. The result was an unjustified belief that the military were warmongers and incompetents, leaving a festering distrust between civilians and military leaders that continued throughout the next decade. The military was not blameless, of course, and in these instances, unlike post-9/11 situations, the civilian leaders had some military experience if not professional military education. Nonetheless, while a civilian leader has the legal right to ignore military advice, the results can often be deplorable. Changing this pattern may have been Barry Goldwater’s intent when he increased the JCS chair’s role in the Goldwater-Nichols Act. Perhaps the tradition of resignation in protest helped limit, although it did not prevent, such disconnects in British civil-military relations.

In fairness to American political leaders, interservice rivalries significantly hampered both the advice given by the JCS and the effectiveness of joint operations. As suggested in chapter 11, officers in the various armed services often had different career experiences. This plus a desire to give their subordinates the best possible training and equipment meant that the services competed for limited budgets. The result was often homogenized, lowest-common-denominator military advice from the JCS. Service competition continued even in the 1980s, when joint cooperation improved and the Goldwater-Nichols Act laid the basis for better joint understanding. Theorists in the air force and to a lesser extent the navy assigned the primary role in any future war to their respective branches. Fortunately for joint effectiveness, the senior leaders of each service made significant efforts to overcome these barriers to jointness.

The tendency of civilian leaders to influence all aspects of military operations may be illustrated by a minor example: the names given to operations. For most of the twentieth century, such labels served as unclassified references to the operations, usually terms (Overlord in 1944, Chromite in 1950, or Golden Pheasant in 1987) chosen at random or intended to recall a historical victory of the units involved. By 1989, however, this practice had become corrupted. Instead of concealing the nature of an operation, the new labels were chosen for public and media consumption to justify American intentions, including Just Cause (Panama), Desert Storm (Iraq), and Uphold Democracy (Haiti). Terminology intended to conceal an operation has now morphed into a public relations ploy that telegraphs national intentions to the adversary.

Soviet Civil-Military Relations

While the Kennedy administration was exasperated by its military advisers, Nikita Khrushchev’s laudable desire to reduce military expenses in favor of civilian needs led to the Cuban missile adventure and a similar civil-military mistrust that contributed to his fall in 1964. Brezhnev avoided this situation by buying military support, lavishly allocating limited national resources to defense. During the 1980s, however, the Soviet regime not only fought its own prolonged counterinsurgency but allowed the military to take the blame for foreign and domestic errors.

In his study of the Red officer corps, Roger Reese argues that the Bolsheviks had deliberately undermined officer professionalism, demanding loyalty to party over country. From Stalin to Gorbachev, political leaders imposed their will on senior commanders to a far greater degree than did American defense secretaries vis-à-vis generals and admirals. By 1989, however, Soviet officers such as Lebed and Shaposhnikov had become increasingly concerned with the legality of orders, emphasizing the rule of law over the power of the party. Reese concludes that this shift was more a matter of self-preservation than professionalism, but the net result was to limit the Soviet use of military power for repression.15

The Soviet armed services also suffered from interservice friction, although security considerations concealed much of this rivalry at the time. Soviet air force officers like Shaposhnikov thought of themselves as more democratic and innovative than officers in the other services, especially the army, which traditionally controlled all joint operations.

Intelligence and Covert Operations

Intelligence cannot provide warning unless it persuades a decision maker to act in a timely manner so as to alter the course of events. By that standard, the intelligence communities of both the United States and USSR often received even less credibility from their civilian bosses than did senior military officers. Again, the decision maker has the right and even the responsibility to arrive at his or her own conclusions, and intelligence analysts are just as subject to groupthink as are politicians. Still, the “conventional wisdom” of an intelligence community is usually based on years of study in a particular culture and security environment that the decision maker—whether military or civilian—may have only minutes to comprehend. Soviet analysts had to contend with the echo chamber of the Marxist party line, while Western intelligence officers often encountered equal reluctance on the part of their consumers to accept ideas that contradicted their preconceived notions. As with civil-military disagreements, the results could be frustrating for all concerned. One senior intelligence official wryly observed, “I learned something a long time ago in this town [Washington]. There are only two possibilities [in a given situation]: policy success and intelligence failure.”16 Nonetheless, decision makers did heed some intelligence warnings, taking actions to defuse or preempt conflicts that, consequently, never occurred. The United States helped avert several Indian-Pakistani conflicts in this manner, and there were undoubtedly other instances of intelligence success that, almost by definition, never saw the light of day.

Just as in the case of defense command and control, the National Security Act of 1947 created a Director of Central Intelligence who lacked the authority to integrate the intelligence arms of the U.S. government. Despite some progress under Eisenhower, this problem continued throughout the remainder of the century. This had the advantage that different agencies could offer alternative interpretations and predictions, but this multiplicity of intelligence assessments sometimes encouraged the decision maker to ignore those assessments.

Covert operations, often confused with intelligence because intelligence agencies were among the practitioners, were a frequent tool of the Cold War. The justification at the time was to contain, or advance, the spread of Marxist governments, with deniable operations often appearing to be the best means of achieving national goals. The CIA and its military counterparts conducted such operations in North Korea, Guatemala, Iran, Indonesia, Tibet, Laos, North Vietnam, and Chile, among other instances. In addition, the Nixon administration expanded the role of U.S. Army counterintelligence from gathering tactical information about civil disorders to spying on and even entrapping dissidents. Many observers consider such actions deplorable, but like the Vietnamese conflict itself the responsibility lay with political leaders rather than intelligence operatives. It is worth noting that the participants themselves, including William Colby and Christopher Pyle, reported such actions, giving the lie to conspiracy theories about nefarious and irresponsible intelligence agencies. The ensuing congressional restrictions on intelligence gathering, both foreign and domestic, were understandable and well-intentioned but overly rigid, contributing to the 9/11 surprise.

In contrast to the multiple American intelligence agencies, the Soviet intelligence structure was so centralized that it discouraged independent analysis and reporting. There were only limited institutional rivalries between GRU, KGB, and Communist Party intelligence operations, and even between main directorates of the KGB. The overall structure with its focus on secret police work, which served neither leaders nor the state, concluded with the 1991 effort to turn the clock back by ousting Gorbachev. Soviet intelligence also conducted covert operations, especially in the Middle East, whose scope and effects remain obscure.

Third Parties

One of the preconceived notions that Soviet and American leaders shared, often with disastrous effect, was the belief that the opposing superpower could control its allies and proxies if it chose to do so. Regardless of the aid they received, North Korea, North Vietnam, Cuba, Nicaragua, and Israel were independent actors who not only followed their own foreign policies but often embarrassed their respective superpower patrons into supporting those policies. The two Chinas were also able to extort Soviet and American backing in their confrontations during the 1950s, while major Chinese troop deployments helped North Vietnam endure prolonged bombing. Viewed from Moscow and Washington, Egypt was a similar “loose cannon,” more interested in anti-colonialism and Arab nationalism than in aligning itself with one side or the other in the Cold War. India practiced neutralism and regional dominance except when it needed American aid against China. For American or especially Soviet foreign policy analysts, putting such issues ahead of containment or Marxism-Leninism seemed foolhardy if not immoral. The results of such independent policies were regional conflicts that, even if the superpowers might have wished otherwise, absorbed huge amounts of military hardware and advisers.

The United Kingdom and the French Republic followed independent foreign and defense policies, intervening repeatedly in Asia and Africa to protect their own interests. Even after the end of its colonial wars, London paid a considerable price to maintain its influence in Malaysia, the Falklands, and elsewhere. Especially once de Gaulle withdrew from the NATO military structure, France followed its own course on a variety of issues, from helping Israel develop nuclear weapons to selling—for a tidy profit—weapons to Saddam Hussein. Moscow understandably counted British and French nuclear weapons in its strategic calculations, but in reality Washington could not control such weapons.

Cuba was the most energetic third party actor of the era. Che Guevara failed miserably in both the Congo and Bolivia, but Fidel Castro continued his belief in Third World socialist liberation and provided massive military and medical aid to Nicaragua and Angola. Although Cuba furnished most of the foot soldiers for the Soviet-directed defense of Ethiopia, even there Havana maintained its independence, refusing to provide direct support for Mengistu’s internal counterinsurgency efforts. Only the end of economic aid after the demise of the Soviet Union forced Cuba to reduce its interventionism. In much smaller numbers, Cuban exiles provided essential manpower for American covert actions from the Congo and Bolivia to the Watergate Hotel.

The East-West rivalry and associated ideologies were not responsible for every rivalry of this era. At the military level, however, seemingly unrelated issues became enmeshed in the Cold War. The superpowers supplied weapons and training that made possible many of the resulting conflicts, including the Arab-Israeli clashes, Indonesian expansionism, multiple wars in South Asia, and a variety of conventional and unconventional conflicts in Africa and Latin America. Even the Falklands/Malvinas War was structured by American aid to Argentina, British obligations to NATO, and a variety of new weapons systems whose use in the war provided lessons to Cold War military planners. This is why such conflicts appear in this study even when their causes were ostensibly unrelated to the Cold War conflict.

Cold War ideologies, whether Marxist or capitalist, contributed to other rivalries that have appeared in these pages. The presence of U.S. forces in NATO provoked several terrorist attacks in the region. Indirectly, Soviet aid to Palestinians and Cubans fueled further struggles in places as far-flung as Northern Ireland and El Salvador, while American military assistance had implications for Tibetans and Indonesians. In short, virtually every development in weaponry, military doctrine, and regional conflict influenced the larger East-West rivalry in some manner even if their fundamental causes were unrelated.

Time, Space, and Resources

Regardless of the intent of a government’s security strategy, practical details often created disconnects that significantly modified the outcomes of conflicts. Some of these “details” were massive, such as the shortage of experienced leaders and technicians that limited the U.S. buildup for Vietnam. Without mobilizing the reserve components, the U.S. military, especially the army, resorted to stopgap measures that contributed to excessive use of firepower and even the events at My Lai. Moreover, the apparently arbitrary nature of conscription in the United States during the 1960s and in the USSR two decades later produced widespread dissatisfaction on the part of citizens with their governments.

Communications, whether effective or otherwise, were another practical detail with often significant effects. In the Dominican intervention as well as both the Liberty and Pueblo attacks, the absence of reliable communications frustrated decision makers and put soldiers and sailors at unnecessary risk. Even in Grenada, joint task force communications were handicapped by incompatible encryption devices and even changes in the course of Admiral Metcalf’s flagship.17

On the other side of this issue was the “six-thousand-mile screwdriver,” the temptation of national leaders to intervene directly in tactical operations. As White House communications improved, the screwdriver found more frequent use. In the Lebanon intervention of 1958, the Mayaguez rescue of 1975, and the Syrian air strike of 1983, Washington specified attack times to coincide with political announcements, producing hurried operations while exposing the attacking Americans to unnecessary risk. Unlike Franklin Roosevelt in Operation Torch in 1942, one cannot imagine a modern president allowing a major operation to begin the day after a congressional election. Fortunately, American planners and commanders proved effective in hasty improvisations, something that eluded their Soviet counterparts in instances such as the Chinese border clashes.

It is a military aphorism that amateurs discuss tactics while professionals discuss logistics. Effective combat power requires not only tanks, missiles, and aircraft but supplies, maintenance, medical support, and a host of other capabilities. When the all-volunteer force caused the Defense Department to reduce uniformed construction engineers, cooks, and other support capabilities, that department should have recognized the limits on what goods and services could be acquired from contractors on location. The conscript Soviet and satellite armies retained such service support units, but with limited training.

One of the major advantages that the United States had during the Cold War was its ability to project power globally, using a network of bases, transport aircraft, shipping, and communications satellites to move troops and supplies almost anywhere in the world. Airlift provided a nonviolent response to the Berlin Blockade. When Washington was not a combatant, this capability could still prove decisive, enabling troops from the UN or third-party states (e.g., Belgium, France, Morocco, or India) to reach a critical location quickly, as in the Congo on multiple occasions between 1960 and 1978. Even when it had Egyptian bases in 1973, the Soviet air force could not match the USAF’s airlift capacity and would have been unable to sustain, let alone deploy, all seven Soviet airborne divisions in a single operation.

Nonetheless, American airlift has its limits. Specially configured airborne, ranger, and light infantry units can deploy rapidly to perform vital missions, but as Krishna Menon discovered in 1962, even well-trained light infantry may not suffice against a prepared adversary. Aircraft carrier and amphibious capabilities are also essential, as is control of the sea lanes for commercial or military purposes. However, no government can afford to maintain sufficient naval strength to cover all possible contingencies.

Bulky or heavy items, such as tanks, bombs, and fuel, of necessity must move by rail or sea, two modes in which American transport capability has eroded badly since 1945. Historically, Russia and the Soviet Union had difficulty deploying forces to the edges of Eurasia, let alone projecting power to Third World locales. Moreover, all transportation requires bases with skilled crews to transship matériel at those bases. The absence of such a structure significantly limited U.S. interventions in Lebanon (1958), Vietnam (1965–66), Grenada (1983), and Kuwait (1990–91). In Vietnam, these infrastructure and logistical considerations helped Hanoi to match the deployments of a distant superpower, contributing to a stalemate. Both Iran and the United States had reason to be thankful that Saddam Hussein’s own logistical limitations prevented him from projecting power to exploit the delayed buildup of his adversaries.

Insurgency and Counterinsurgency

While the superpowers focused on nuclear weapons and mechanized units, many of the conflicts of the era involved some form of insurgency. It is therefore appropriate to identify the common characteristics of these conflicts. An insurgent may use a variety of techniques, including any combination of labor strikes, violent demonstrations, guerrilla tactics, terror bombings, assassinations, and attacks to blind the government’s intelligence arm. Table 15.1 summarizes the major insurgencies described in this two-volume study, although of necessity it oversimplifies a myriad of details. In particular, this table omits instances where a government used special operations to provide the appearance of a native insurgency, as was the case with India in East Pakistan or Indonesia in various neighboring territories.

The determining factor in the success of any insurgency is the degree of popular support it enjoys. In Cyprus, East Timor, and Cuba, that support was so overwhelming that no amount of repression short of genocide could quell the revolution. In the Baltic States, the Soviet Union forcibly replaced much of the population with ethnic Russians, a tactic echoed by its ruthless bombing and mining in Afghanistan, but such approaches are abhorrent.

In many instances, however, insurgency involved what John Shy described as “the triangularity of the struggle[:] Two armed forces contend less with each other than for the support and the control of the civilian population.”18 Generally speaking, that population was divided into three groups: supporters of the rebels, supporters of the existing government, and people seeking to remain neutral. From the American revolutionaries to the Vietcong, insurgents were able to coerce would-be neutrals and even opponents into participation when the government could not protect them.

From guerre révolutionnaire in the 1950s to U.S. Army Field Manual 3–24 in 2006, many doctrine writers have addressed this issue by advocating a concept termed population-centric counterinsurgency. The approach seeks to win the “hearts and minds” of the inhabitants by protecting them, proselytizing them, and providing economic and social resources to improve their lives. It has succeeded in instances such as the Philippines and Malaya where the insurgency was in its infancy and the government was able to isolate and protect the population from the insurgents. Even then, population-centric tactics carry a high price. They may require decades of patient effort by a legitimate government that minimizes corruption while working to remedy the issues that motivated the original uprising. The process also requires accurate metrics of progress, which are difficult to achieve. Poorly executed efforts by governments such as Portugal (in Africa) and the Republic of Vietnam frequently led to failure.
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Moreover, it is difficult for outsiders to gain the trust of a population. The degree of foreign involvement in a counterinsurgency effort has a major effect on the legitimacy and success of that effort. In South Vietnam and more recently in Iraq and Afghanistan, the United States was severely handicapped because its presence allowed the opposition to portray the ruling government as neocolonial or collaborationist. The same was true for Egypt in North Yemen and the USSR in Afghanistan. Sometimes, as in Malaya, the foreign power was able to convince the populace that it would turn the country over to local rule once peace returned, but that was a rare situation. For this reason, table 15.1 identifies the British Army as an external counterinsurgency force in Northern Ireland, even though the Troubles were technically the only British counterinsurgency that did not involve that army as a foreign presence.

The availability of a sanctuary is another major advantage to the insurgent. The geography of the Philippines made it easy to isolate insurgents from aid or sanctuaries, and the same was true of Malaya (with the exception of the remote Thai border). The Algerian and Greek uprisings both began with hospitable borders, but French fortifications in the first instance and the decisions of communist governments in the Balkans in the second instance closed those sanctuaries off, contributing notably to the failure of insurgencies. By contrast, long, indefensible borders, straddled by cooperative ethnic groups—such as in the Congo, Vietnam, and Afghanistan—offered insurgents ample opportunity to seek shelter or receive military assistance in neighboring states. Geography also permitted communist movements in Laos and Cambodia to receive overwhelming support from their Vietnamese counterparts. Some counterinsurgent efforts involved cross-border raids to deny their opponents the use of sanctuaries—whether in Cambodia, Tunisia, West Pakistan, the West Bank, or Honduras. Quite apart from the international outcry at such border intrusions, these raids had little enduring effect on the progress of the insurgency.

Finally, establishing a secure environment is a necessary prerequisite to terminating an insurgency, but military security by itself is usually insufficient to ensure a political resolution. Many of the insurgencies in table 15.1 were resolved by negotiation rather than total victory.

The Cold War ended almost three decades ago, but its influence continues to the present day. The American campaigns of 1991 and 2001–3, as well as the Libyan air strikes of 2011, were born in the training, doctrinal, and technological renaissance of the 1980s. The Congo remains locked in a pattern of major violence six decades after the death of Patrice Lumumba, while Colombia is still fraught with violence despite a 2016 peace accord. Not only the weaponry but the military organizations, doctrines, and alliances of the Cold War era are only just now passing from the scene. Cold warriors like Vladimir Vladimirovich Putin continue to view the world through the prism of a bygone time, blaming former adversaries for present difficulties.

Millions of people suffered and died during the Cold War, and millions of others stood watch in uniform, guarding against larger conflicts that fortunately did not occur. It is too simplistic to attribute these events to a rivalry of capitalism versus communism, although conflicting ideals of human freedom were certainly involved and almost all Marxist regimes have passed away. While nationalism and ethnic unity were prominent among the motivations of the era, the superpower rivalry repressed as many antagonisms as it encouraged. The end of this rivalry freed regional powers and nonstate actors to engage in less predictable forms of violence, violence that has played out in the years since the USSR collapsed.
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TABLE 15.1. Cold War Insurgencies (continued)

External Population | Insurgent | Insurgent
Insurgency Methodology Motives COIN" force Centric | Sanctuary | Supporter Outcome
North Yemen (1962-70) | guerrilla antiauthoritarian | Egypt No Yes Jordan & negotiated
Saudi Arabia | outcome
Aden (1963-67) guerrilla, anticolonial, UK No Yes No British withdrawal
terror Marxist
Congo
Simbas (1963-64) guerrilla separatist US. &Belgium | No No No insurgents dis-
mercenaries persed
Kabila/Guevara (1965) | focoist separatist, U.S. (CIA air) Yes Yes Cuba insurgents dis-
Marxist persed
Shaba 1&I1(1977-78) | guerrilla separatist France, Belgium | Yes Yes Angola insurgents
& Morocco dispersed
Rhodesia (1965-80) | guerrilla anticolonial No partial Yes China, negotiated
(Maoist) USSRetal. | surrender
Namibia (1966-90) guerrilla anticolonial South Africa No Yes Angola, South African
Cuba withdrawal
Venezuela, Peru, guerrilla Marxist No varied varied Cuba COIN success
Guatemala (1960s)
Bolivia (1967) focoist Marxist U.S. advisers Yes No Cuba COIN success
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External Popul I
Methodol Motives COIN- force Centric | Sanctuary | Supporter Outcome
Greece (1946-49) guerrilla Marxist, UK &US. limited Yes Yugoslavia | COIN success
antiauthoritarian | advisers
Baltic States/Ukraine | guerrilla nationalist Soviet MVD No No limited U.S. | COIN success
(1944-52)
China (1945-49) guerrilla/ Marxist, No No No No insurgent success
conventional | Maoist
Indonesia (1945-48) guerrilla anticolonial Dutch & UK No No U.s. Dutch withdrawal
diplomatic
Israel (1946-48) terror nationalist, UK No No us. Israel
anticolonial diplomatic | independence
Philippines (1946-54) | guerrilla Marxist, U.S. advisers Yes No No COIN success
peasant concerns
Indochina (1946-54) | guerrilla/ anticolonial, French Union | No Yes China insurgent success
conventional | Marxist
South Korea (1948-50) | guerrilla Marxist U.S. advisers No Yes N. Korea COIN success
Malaya (1948-57) guerrilla anticolonial, UK & Yes limited No COIN success
Marxist Commonwealth
Kenya (1952-56) guerrilla anticolonial UK limited No No COIN success
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